

Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan



An International Peer-Reviewed Scientific Journal

Financed by the Scientific Research and Innovation Support Fund



http://jjbs.hu.edu.jo/

المجلة الأردنية للعلوم الحياتية Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences (JJBS) http://jjbs.hu.edu.jo

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences (JJBS) (ISSN: 1995–6673 (Print); 2307-7166 (Online)): An International Peer- Reviewed Open Access Research Journal financed by the Scientific Research and Innovation Support Fund, Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research, Jordan and published quarterly by the Deanship of Scientific Research , The Hashemite University, Jordan.

Editor-in-Chief

Professor Atoum, Manar F. Molecular Biology and Genetics, The Hashemite University

Assistant Editor

Dr. Muhannad, Massadeh I. Microbial Biotechnology,

The Hashemite University

Editorial Board (Arranged alphabetically)

Professor Al-Eitan, Laith

Biotechnology and Genetic Engineering Jordan University of Science and Technology

Professor Al-Khateeb , Wesam M.

Plant Genetics and Biotechnology

Yarmouk University

Professor Al-Ghzawi , Abdul Latief A.

Plant biotechnology The Hashemite University Professor Al-Najjar , Tariq Hasan Ahmad.
Marine Biology
The University of Jordan/ Aqaba
Professor Khleifat, Khaled M.
Microbiology and Biotechnology
Mutah University
Professor Odat , Nidal

Plant biodiversity Al Balqa Applied University

Associate Editorial Board

Professor Al-Hindi, Adnan I.

Parasitology The Islamic University of Gaza, Faculty of Health Sciences, Palestine

Dr Gammoh, Noor

Tumor Virology Cancer Research UK Edinburgh Centre, University of Edinburgh, U.K.

Professor Kasparek, Max Natural Sciences Editor-in-Chief, Journal Zoology in the Middle East, Germany

Editorial Board Support Team

Language Editor Dr. Shadi Neimneh

Submission Address

Professor Atoum, Manar F

The Hashemite Universit y P.O. Box 330127, Zarqa, 13115, Jordan Phone: +962-5-3903333 ext.4147 E-Mail: jjbs@hu.edu.jo **Professor Krystufek, Boris** Conservation Biology Slovenian Museum of Natural History, Slovenia

Dr Rabei, Sami H. Plant Ecology and Taxonomy Botany and Microbiology Department, Faculty of Science, Damietta University,Egypt

Professor Simerly, Calvin R. Reproductive Biology Department of Obstetrics/Gynecology and Reproductive Sciences, University of Pittsburgh, USA

Publishing Layout Eng.Mohannad Oqdeh

المجلة الاردنية للعلوم الحياتية Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences (JJBS)

http://jjbs.hu.edu.jo

International Advisory Board (Arranged alphabetically)

Professor Ahmad M. Khalil Department of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Science, Yarmouk University, Jordan

Professor Anilava Kaviraj Department of Zoology, University of Kalyani, India

Professor Bipul Kumar Das Faculty of Fishery Sciences W. B. University of Animal & Fishery Sciences, India

Professor Elias Baydoun Department of Biology, American University of Beirut Lebanon

Professor Hala Gali-Muhtasib Department of Biology, American University of Beirut Lebanon

Professor Ibrahim M. AlRawashdeh Department of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Science, Al-Hussein Bin Talal University, Jordan

Professor João Ramalho-Santos Department of Life Sciences, University of Coimbra, Portugal

Professor Khaled M. Al-Qaoud Department of Biological sciences, Faculty of Science, Yarmouk University, Jordan

Professor Mahmoud A. Ghannoum Center for Medical Mycology and Mycology Reference Laboratory, Department of Dermatology, Case Western Reserve University and University Hospitals Case Medical Center, USA

Professor Mawieh Hamad Department of Medical Lab Sciences, College of Health Sciences , University of Sharjah, UAE

Professor Michael D Garrick Department of Biochemistry, State University of New York at Buffalo, USA

Professor Nabil. A. Bashir Department of Physiology and Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Jordan University of Science and Technology, Jordan

Professor Nizar M. Abuharfeil Department of Biotechnology and Genetic Engineering, Jordan University of Science and Technology, Jordan

Professor Samih M. Tamimi Department of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Science, The University of Jordan, Jordan

Professor Ulrich Joger

State Museum of Natural History Braunschweig, Germany

Professor Aida I. El Makawy Division of Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology, National Research Center. Giza, Egypt

Professor Bechan Sharma Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Science University of Allahabad, India

Professor Boguslaw Buszewski Chair of Environmental Chemistry and Bioanalytics, Faculty of Chemistry, Nicolaus Copernicus University Poland

Professor Gerald Schatten Pittsburgh Development Center, Division of Developmental and Regenerative Medicine, University of Pittsburgh, School of Medicine, USA

Professor Hala Khyami-Horani Department of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Science, The University of Jordan, Jordan

Professor James R. Bamburg Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Colorado State University, USA

Professor Jumah M. Shakhanbeh Department of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Science, Mutah University, Jordan

Dr. Lukmanul Hakkim Faruck Department of Mathematics and Sciences College of Arts and Applied Sciences, Dhofar, Oman

Professor Md. Yeamin Hossain Department of Fisheries, Faculty of Fisheries, University of Rajshahi, Bangladesh

Professor Mazin B. Qumsiyeh Palestine Museum of Natural History and Palestine Institute for Biodiversity and Sustainability, Bethlehem University, Palestine

Professor Mohamad S. Hamada Genetics Department, Faculty of Agriculture, Damietta University, Egypt

Professor Nawroz Abdul-razzak Tahir Plant Molecular Biology and Phytochemistry, University of Sulaimani, College of Agricultural Sciences, Iraq

Professor Ratib M. AL- Ouran Department of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Science, Mutah University, Jordan

Professor Shtaywy S. Abdalla Abbadi Department of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Science, The University of Jordan, Jordan

Professor Zihad Bouslama

Department of Biology, Faculty of Science Badji Mokhtar University, Algeria

Instructions to Authors

Scopes

Study areas include cell biology, genomics, microbiology, immunology, molecular biology, biochemistry, embryology, immunogenetics, cell and tissue culture, molecular ecology, genetic engineering and biological engineering, bioremediation and biodegradation, bioinformatics, biotechnology regulations, gene therapy, organismal biology, microbial and environmental biotechnology, marine sciences. The JJBS welcomes the submission of manuscript that meets the general criteria of significance and academic excellence. All articles published in JJBS are peer-reviewed. Papers will be published approximately one to two months after acceptance.

Type of Papers

The journal publishes high-quality original scientific papers, short communications, correspondence and case studies. Review articles are usually by invitation only. However, Review articles of current interest and high standard will be considered.

Submission of Manuscript

Manuscript, or the essence of their content, must be previously unpublished and should not be under simultaneous consideration by another journal. The authors should also declare if any similar work has been submitted to or published by another journal. They should also declare that it has not been submitted/ published elsewhere in the same form, in English or in any other language, without the written consent of the Publisher. The authors should also declare that the paper is the original work of the author(s) and not copied (in whole or in part) from any other work. All papers will be automatically checked for duplicate publication and plagiarism. If detected, appropriate action will be taken in accordance with International Ethical Guideline. By virtue of the submitted manuscript, the corresponding author acknowledges that all the co-authors have seen and approved the final version of the manuscript. The corresponding author should provide all co-authors with information regarding the manuscript, and obtain their approval before submitting any revisions. Electronic submission of manuscripts is strongly recommended, provided that the text, tables and figures are included in a single Microsoft Word file. Submit manuscript as e-mail attachment to the Editorial Office at: JJBS@hu.edu.jo. After submission, a manuscript number will be communicated to the corresponding author within 48 hours.

Peer-review Process

It is requested to submit, with the manuscript, the names, addresses and e-mail addresses of at least 4 potential reviewers. It is the sole right of the editor to decide whether or not the suggested reviewers to be used. The reviewers' comments will be sent to authors within 6-8 weeks after submission. Manuscripts and figures for review will not be returned to authors whether the editorial decision is to accept, revise, or reject. All Case Reports and Short Communication must include at least one table and/ or one figure.

Preparation of Manuscript

The manuscript should be written in English with simple lay out. The text should be prepared in single column format. Bold face, italics, subscripts, superscripts etc. can be used. Pages should be numbered consecutively, beginning with the title page and continuing through the last page of typewritten material.

The text can be divided into numbered sections with brief headings. Starting from introduction with section 1. Subsections should be numbered (for example 2.1 (then 2.1.1, 2.1.2, 2.2, etc.), up to three levels. Manuscripts in general should be organized in the following manner:

Title Page

The title page should contain a brief title, correct first name, middle initial and family name of each author and name and address of the department(s) and institution(s) from where the research was carried out for each author. The title should be without any abbreviations and it should enlighten the contents of the paper. All affiliations should be provided with a lower-case superscript number just after the author's name and in front of the appropriate address.

The name of the corresponding author should be indicated along with telephone and fax numbers (with country and area code) along with full postal address and e-mail address.

Abstract

The abstract should be concise and informative. It should not exceed **350 words** in length for full manuscript and Review article and **150 words** in case of Case Report and/ or Short Communication. It should briefly describe the purpose of the work, techniques and methods used, major findings with important data and conclusions. No references should be cited in this part. Generally non-standard abbreviations should not be used, if necessary they should be clearly defined in the abstract, at first use.

Keywords

Immediately after the abstract, **about 4-8 keywords** should be given. Use of abbreviations should be avoided, only standard abbreviations, well known in the established area may be used, if appropriate. These keywords will be used for indexing.

Abbreviations

Non-standard abbreviations should be listed and full form of each abbreviation should be given in parentheses at first use in the text.

Introduction

Provide a factual background, clearly defined problem, proposed solution, a brief literature survey and the scope and justification of the work done.

Materials and Methods

Give adequate information to allow the experiment to be reproduced. Already published methods should be mentioned with references. Significant modifications of published methods and new methods should be described in detail. Capitalize trade names and include the manufacturer's name and address. Subheading should be used.

Results

Results should be clearly described in a concise manner. Results for different parameters should be described under subheadings or in separate paragraph. Results should be explained, but largely without referring to the literature. Table or figure numbers should be mentioned in parentheses for better understanding.

Discussion

The discussion should not repeat the results, but provide detailed interpretation of data. This should interpret the significance of the findings of the work. Citations should be given in support of the findings. The results and discussion part can also be described as separate, if appropriate. The Results and Discussion sections can include subheadings, and when appropriate, both sections can be combined

Conclusions

This should briefly state the major findings of the study.

Acknowledgment

A brief acknowledgment section may be given after the conclusion section just before the references. The acknowledgment of people who provided assistance in manuscript preparation, funding for research, etc. should be listed in this section.

Tables and Figures

Tables and figures should be presented as per their appearance in the text. It is suggested that the discussion about the tables and figures should appear in the text before the appearance of the respective tables and figures. No tables or figures should be given without discussion or reference inside the text.

Tables should be explanatory enough to be understandable without any text reference. Double spacing should be maintained throughout the table, including table headings and footnotes. Table headings should be placed above the table. Footnotes should be placed below the table with superscript lowercase letters. Each table should be on a separate page, numbered consecutively in Arabic numerals. Each figure should have a caption. The caption should be concise and typed separately, not on the figure area. Figures should be self-explanatory. Information presented in the figure should not be repeated in the table. All symbols and abbreviations used in the illustrations should be defined clearly. Figure legends should be given below the figures.

References

References should be listed alphabetically at the end of the manuscript. Every reference referred in the text must be also present in the reference list and vice versa. In the text, a reference identified by means of an author's name should be followed by the year of publication in parentheses (e.g. (Brown, 2009)). For two authors, both authors' names followed by the year of publication (e.g.(Nelson and Brown, 2007)). When there are more than two authors, only the first author's name followed by "et al." and the year of publication (e.g. (Abu-Elteen et al., 2010)). When two or more works of an author has been published during the same year, the reference should be identified by the letters "a", "b", "c", etc., placed after the year of publication. This should be followed both in the text and reference list. e.g., Hilly, (2002a, 2002b); Hilly, and Nelson, (2004). Articles in preparation or submitted for publication, unpublished observations, personal communications, etc. should not be included in the reference list but should only be mentioned in the article text (e.g., Shtyawy,A., University of Jordan, personal communication). Journal titles should be abbreviated according to the system adopted in Biological Abstract and Index Medicus, if not included in Biological Abstract or Index Medicus journal title should be given in full. The author is responsible for the sccuracy and completeness of the references and for their correct textual citation. Failure to do so may result in the paper being withdraw from the evaluation process. Example of correct reference form is given as follows:-

Reference to a journal publication:

Bloch BK. 2002. Econazole nitrate in the treatment of Candida vaginitis. S Afr Med J., 58:314-323.

Ogunseitan OA and Ndoye IL. 2006. Protein method for investigating mercuric reductase gene expression in aquatic environments. *Appl Environ Microbiol.*, **64**: 695-702.

Hilly MO, Adams MN and Nelson SC. 2009. Potential fly-ash utilization in agriculture. *Progress in Natural Sci.*, **19**: 1173-1186.

Reference to a book:

Brown WY and White SR.1985. The Elements of Style, third ed. MacMillan, New York.

Reference to a chapter in an edited book:

Mettam GR and Adams LB. 2010. How to prepare an electronic version of your article. In: Jones BS and Smith RZ (Eds.), **Introduction to the Electronic Age**. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Netherlands, pp. 281–304.

Conferences and Meetings:

Embabi NS. 1990. Environmental aspects of distribution of mangrove in the United Arab Emirates. Proceedings of the First ASWAS Conference. University of the United Arab Emirates. Al-Ain, United Arab Emirates.

Theses and Dissertations:

El-Labadi SN. 2002. Intestinal digenetic trematodes of some marine fishes from the Gulf of Aqaba. MSc dissertation, The Hashemite University, Zarqa, Jordan.

Nomenclature and Units

Internationally accepted rules and the international system of units (SI) should be used. If other units are mentioned, please give their equivalent in SI.

For biological nomenclature, the conventions of the *International Code of Botanical Nomenclature, the International Code of Nomenclature of Bacteria,* and the *International Code of Zoological Nomenclature* should be followed.

Scientific names of all biological creatures (crops, plants, insects, birds, mammals, etc.) should be mentioned in parentheses at first use of their English term.

Chemical nomenclature, as laid down in the *International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry* and the official recommendations of the *IUPAC-IUB Combined Commission on Biochemical Nomenclature* should be followed. All biocides and other organic compounds must be identified by their Geneva names when first used in the text. Active ingredients of all formulations should be likewise identified.

Math formulae

All equations referred to in the text should be numbered serially at the right-hand side in parentheses. Meaning of all symbols should be given immediately after the equation at first use. Instead of root signs fractional powers should be used. Subscripts and superscripts should be presented clearly. Variables should be presented in italics. Greek letters and non-Roman symbols should be described in the margin at their first use.

To avoid any misunderstanding zero (0) and the letter O, and one (1) and the letter l should be clearly differentiated. For simple fractions use of the solidus (/) instead of a horizontal line is recommended. Levels of statistical significance such as: ${}^*P < 0.05$, ${}^{**}P < 0.01$ and ${}^{***}P < 0.001$ do not require any further explanation.

Copyright

Submission of a manuscript clearly indicates that: the study has not been published before or is not under consideration for publication elsewhere (except as an abstract or as part of a published lecture or academic thesis); its publication is permitted by all authors and after accepted for publication it will not be submitted for publication anywhere else, in English or in any other language, without the written approval of the copyright-holder. The journal may consider manuscripts that are translations of articles originally published in another language. In this case, the consent of the journal in which the article was originally published must be obtained and the fact that the article has already been published must be made clear on submission and stated in the abstract. It is compulsory for the authors to ensure that no material submitted as part of a manuscript infringes existing copyrights, or the rights of a third party.

Ethical Consent

All manuscripts reporting the results of experimental investigation involving human subjects should include a statement confirming that each subject or subject's guardian obtains an informed consent, after the approval of the experimental protocol by a local human ethics committee or IRB. When reporting experiments on animals, authors should indicate whether the institutional and national guide for the care and use of laboratory animals was followed.

Plagiarism

The JJBS hold no responsibility for plagiarism. If a published paper is found later to be extensively plagiarized and is found to be a duplicate or redundant publication, a note of retraction will be published, and copies of the correspondence will be sent to the authors' head of institute.

Galley Proofs

The Editorial Office will send proofs of the manuscript to the corresponding author as an e-mail attachment for final proof reading and it will be the responsibility of the corresponding author to return the galley proof materials appropriately corrected within the stipulated time. Authors will be asked to check any typographical or minor clerical errors in the manuscript at this stage. No other major alteration in the manuscript is allowed. After publication authors can freely access the full text of the article as well as can download and print the PDF file.

Publication Charges

There are no page charges for publication in Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences, except for color illustrations,

Reprints

Ten (10) reprints are provided to corresponding author free of charge within two weeks after the printed journal date. For orders of more reprints, a reprint order form and prices will be sent with article proofs, which should be returned directly to the Editor for processing.

Disclaimer

Articles, communication, or editorials published by JJBS represent the sole opinions of the authors. The publisher shoulders no responsibility or liability what so ever for the use or misuse of the information published by JJBS.

Indexing JJBS is indexed and abstracted by:

DOAJ (Directory of Open Access Journals) Google Scholar Journal Seek HINARI Index Copernicus NDL Japanese Periodicals Index SCIRUS OAJSE ISC (Islamic World Science Citation Center) Directory of Research Journal Indexing (DRJI) Ulrich's CABI

EBSCO CAS (Chemical Abstract Service) ETH- Citations Open J-Gat SCImago Clarivate Analytics (Zoological Abstract) Scopus AGORA (United Nation's FAO database) SHERPA/RoMEO (UK)



The Hashemite University Deanship of Scientific Research TRANSFER OF COPYRIGHT AGREEMENT

Journal publishers and authors share a common interest in the protection of copyright: authors principally because they want their creative works to be protected from plagiarism and other unlawful uses, publishers because they need to protect their work and investment in the production, marketing and distribution of the published version of the article. In order to do so effectively, publishers request a formal written transfer of copyright from the author(s) for each article published. Publishers and authors are also concerned that the integrity of the official record of publication of an article (once refereed and published) be maintained, and in order to protect that reference value and validation process, we ask that authors recognize that distribution (including through the Internet/WWW or other on-line means) of the authoritative version of the article as published is best administered by the Publisher.

To avoid any delay in the publication of your article, please read the terms of this agreement, sign in the space provided and return the complete form to us at the address below as quickly as possible.

Article entitled:-----

Corresponding author: -----

To be published in the journal: Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences (JJBS)

I hereby assign to the Hashemite University the copyright in the manuscript identified above and any supplemental tables, illustrations or other information submitted therewith (the "article") in all forms and media (whether now known or hereafter developed), throughout the world, in all languages, for the full term of copyright and all extensions and renewals thereof, effective when and if the article is accepted for publication. This transfer includes the right to adapt the presentation of the article for use in conjunction with computer systems and programs, including reproduction or publication in machine-readable form and incorporation in electronic retrieval systems.

Authors retain or are hereby granted (without the need to obtain further permission) rights to use the article for traditional scholarship communications, for teaching, and for distribution within their institution.

I am the sole author of the manuscript

I am signing on behalf of all co-authors of the manuscript

The article is a 'work made for hire' and I am signing as an authorized representative of the employing company/institution

Please mark one or more of the above boxes (as appropriate) and then sign and date the document in black ink.

Signed:	Name printed:
Title and Company (if employer representative) :	
Date:	

Data Protection: By submitting this form you are consenting that the personal information provided herein may be used by the Hashemite University and its affiliated institutions worldwide to contact you concerning the publishing of your article.

Please return the completed and signed original of this form by mail or fax, or a scanned copy of the signed original by e-mail, retaining a copy for your files, to:

Hashemite University Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences Zarqa 13115 Jordan Fax: +962 5 3903338 Email: jjbs@hu.edu.jo

EDITORIAL PREFACE

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences (JJBS) is a refereed, quarterly international journal financed by the Scientific Research and Innovation Support Fund, Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research in cooperation with the Hashemite University, Jordan. JJBS celebrated its 12th commencement this past January, 2020. JJBS was founded in 2008 to create a peer-reviewed journal that publishes high-quality research articles, reviews and short communications on novel and innovative aspects of a wide variety of biological sciences such as cell biology, developmental biology, structural biology, microbiology, entomology, molecular biology, biochemistry, medical biotechnology, biodiversity, ecology, marine biology, plant and animal physiology, genomics and bioinformatics.

We have watched the growth and success of JJBS over the years. JJBS has published 14 volumes, 60 issues and 800 articles. JJBS has been indexed by SCOPUS, CABI's Full-Text Repository, EBSCO, Clarivate Analytics- Zoological Record and recently has been included in the UGC India approved journals. JJBS Cite Score has improved from 0.7 in 2019 to 1.4 in 2021 (Last updated on 6 March, 2022) and with Scimago Institution Ranking (SJR) 0.22 (Q3) in 2021.

A group of highly valuable scholars have agreed to serve on the editorial board and this places JJBS in a position of most authoritative on biological sciences. I am honored to have six eminent associate editors from various countries. I am also delighted with our group of international advisory board members coming from 15 countries worldwide for their continuous support of JJBS. With our editorial board's cumulative experience in various fields of biological sciences, this journal brings a substantial representation of biological sciences in different disciplines. Without the service and dedication of our editorial; associate editorial and international advisory board members, JJBS would have never existed.

In the coming year, we hope that JJBS will be indexed in Clarivate Analytics and MEDLINE (the U.S. National Library of Medicine database) and others. As you read throughout this volume of JJBS, I would like to remind you that the success of our journal depends on the number of quality articles submitted for review. Accordingly, I would like to request your participation and colleagues by submitting quality manuscripts for review. One of the great benefits we can provide to our prospective authors, regardless of acceptance of their manuscripts or not, is the feedback of our review process. JJBS provides authors with high quality, helpful reviews to improve their manuscripts.

Finally, JJBS would not have succeeded without the collaboration of authors and referees. Their work is greatly appreciated. Furthermore, my thanks are also extended to The Hashemite University and the Scientific Research and Innovation Support Fund, Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research for their continuous financial and administrative support to JJBS.

Professor Atoum, Manar F. March, 2021

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

Volume 15, Number 1, March 2022 ISSN 1995-6673

CONTENTS

Original Articles

1 - 6	The Evaluation of Secondary Metabolites in <i>accharum officinarum</i> L. and <i>Mimosa invisa</i> Mart. as Natural Herbicides
1-0	Dyah Roeswitawati, Zahid Hussain, Asad Jan, Ivar Zekker, Maizirwan Mel, Roy Hendroko Setyobudi, Muhidin Muhidin, and Davit Hudin
7 - 14	Characterization of Actinomycetes Strains Isolated from Cheliff Estuary in the North-West of Algeria
, 11	Meriem F. Meliani, Françoise Denis, Mustapha Mohamed-Benkada, Noujoud Gabed, Aurore Caruso, Nolwenn Callac, Sidi-Mohammed E.A. Abi-Ayad
15 - 20	Biological Activities and Metabolite Profiling of <i>Polycarpa aurata</i> (Tunicate, Ascidian) from Barrang Caddi, Spermonde Archipelago, Indonesia
15 20	Mada Triandala Sibero, Agus Trianto, Evan Hansel Frederick, Aldi Pratama Wijaya, Arif Nur Muhammad Ansori, Yasuhiro Igarashi
21 - 28	Analysis of Phytochemical Constituents by Using LC-MS, Antifungal and Allelopathic Activities of Leaves Extracts of <i>Aloe vera</i>
21 20	Samira Bendjedid, Ismahene Bazine, Aicha Tadjine, Radia Djelloul, Abbes Boukhari and Chawki Bensouici
29 - 36	Anisakis Infection of Belanger's Croaker (Johnius Belangerii Cuvier 1830) at The Indian Ocean Coast of Yogyakarta, Indonesia
	Nisa Qurota A'yun, Rizka Fauziana Syarifah, Murwantoko, and Eko Setyobudi
37 - 42	A Comparative Study of Onion Purple Blotch (caused by <i>Alternaria porri</i>) and Tomato Early Blight (caused by <i>A. solani</i>) Diseases in Southern Ghors of Jordan
57 - 12	Al-Rawashdeh, Ziad B., Muwaffaq R. Karajeh, Ezz Al-Dein M. Al-Ramamneh and Mustafa S. Al-Rawashdeh
43 - 57	Suppression of <i>Aspergillus</i> and <i>Penicillium</i> Species by Organic Extracts of Common Soft Corals and Sponge Species Habited in Hurghada, Red Sea, Egypt
- J7	Hassan A.H. Ibrahim, EL-Sayed M. El-Morsy, Mohamed S. Amer, Aml Z. Farhat, Marwa T. Mohesien
50 66	The Inhibitory Effect of Different Ephedra Plant Extracts on the Aspergillus flavus Growth and Aflatoxin B1 gene Expression
59-00	Mohamed M. Deabes, Wagdy K.B Khalil , Abd-El-Aal S.Kh. Shafik D. Ibrahim and Khayria M. Naguib
67 – 73	Bioactivity of Four Nigerian Wild Mushrooms Against Some Typed Clinical Isolates Mobolaji A. Titilawo, Abidemi O. Faseun, Sunday B. Akinde, Janet O. Olaitan and Olu Odevemi
	Serum Levels of Interleukin 10, Interleukin 17A, and Calcitriol in Different Groups of
75 - 81	Colorectal Cancer Patients
	Ghassan M. Sulaiman, Raghad F. Al-ansari , Abdulnasser M. AL-Gebori, Khalil A. A. Khalil, Salim Albukhaty, Elsadig M. Ahmed, Mohamed T. A. Soliman
83 - 91	Medicinal Poisonous Plants of the Tomsk Region (Siberia) A.N. Nekratova, N.S. Zinner
93 - 100	Histopathological Analysis of Striped Catfish, <i>Pangasianodon hypophthalmus</i> (Sauvage, 1878) Spontaneously Infected with <i>Aeromonas hydrophila</i>
	Md. Abdullah-Al Mamun, Shamima Nasren, Sanjay Singh Rathoreand M. M. Mahbub Alam
101 – 106	Physiological Response and Detection of Inh2 Gene in Dieng Red Potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) Affected by Frost
101 100	Wa Ode Kamillah, Hermin Pancasakti Kusumaningrum, Rejeki Siti Ferniah , Azalia Puspa Herida, Garinda Linggar Nasansia

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ 2022 Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences. All rights reserved - Volume 15, Number 1

Agus Sabdono,
ıyroid
tus (Blume)
cies Isolated
st
ynthesis by ssan
1

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

The Evaluation of Secondary Metabolites in Saccharum officinarum L. and Mimosa invisa Mart. as Natural Herbicides

Dyah Roeswitawati^{1,*}, Zahid Hussain^{2,3}, Asad Jan⁴, Ivar Zekker⁵, Maizirwan Mel⁶, Roy Hendroko Setyobudi^{7,8}, Muhidin Muhidin¹, and Davit Hudin¹

¹Department of Agrotechnology, Faculty of Agriculture and Animal Science, University of Muhammadiyah Malang, Jl. Raya Tlogomas 246 Malang, 65144, East Java, Indonesia; ²Department of Weed Science and Botany, The University of Agriculture, Peshawar, 25130, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, Pakistan; ³Postdoc Scientist, The Ohio State University, 281 W Lane Ave, Columbus, OH 43210, USA; ⁴Biotechnology and Genetic Engineering, The University of Agriculture, Peshawar, 25130, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, Pakistan; ⁵Institute of Chemistry, University of Tartu, Ravila 14a 50411 Tartu, Estonia; ⁶Department of Biotechnology Engineering, International Islamic University Malaysia, 50728 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia ⁷Department of Agriculture Science, Postgraduate Program, University of Muhammadiyah Malang, Malang 65144, East Java, Indonesia.; ⁸Indonesian Society of Cane and Sugar Technologists (ICST), Kantor Taman E.3.3. Lt. 3, Unit C.6. Jl. Dr. Ida Anak Agung Gde Agung, Mega Kuningan, Jakarta 112950, Indonesia.

Received: Oct, 11, 2021; Revised: Dec, 30, 2021; Accepted Jan, 16, 2022

Abstract

The giant sensitive plant (*Mimosa invisa* Mart.) is a major weed found in the sugarcane (*Saccharum officinarum* L.) farming areas, which dominates and adversely affects the quantity and quality of the harvest. This weed poses a threat to both the sugarcane farmers and sugar companies because it causes about a 6 % to 9 % decline in the plant's biomass and a 0.09 % reduction in the crop yield. *M. invisa* has great competitiveness against the crop plant *S. officinarum* and also an increased population efficiency of 14.08 % in the first year (plant cane) to 38.55 % in the third year (3rd ratoon). Therefore, this research aims to determine the metabolic compounds in the rhizosphere of *M. invisa* and *S. officinarum* and assess their roles as allelochemicals. Research was conducted at the Laboratory of Agrotechnology, Faculty of Agriculture and Animal Science, University of Muhamadiyah Malang, and Central Laboratory of the Indonesian Legume and Tuber Crops Research Institute, Malang. The field research was carried out in the Research Garden Krebet Baru Sugar Factory, Malang, East Java, Indonesia. The descriptive qualitative research design was used and data were arranged randomly in groups of three treatments and three replications. The treatment details were planted in different plots of land each as, T₁: *Mimosa invisa* only, T₂: *Mimosa invisa* mixed *Saccharum officinarum*, and T₃: *Saccharum officinarum* only. Furthermore, the analysis of metabolic compounds, using the Gass Cromatografy Mass Spectromotometry (GCMS), showed the presence of octadecanoic acid (an allelochemical compound) and methyl ester (2.06 %) in the rhizosphere of *M. invisa* and *S. officinarum*. These metabolite compounds are commonly used as herbicide activators.

Keywords: Allelochemical, Bio-herbicide, Eco-friendly technology, Giant sensitive plant, Sugarcane.

1. Introduction

According to the Central Statistics Agency (*Badan Pusat Statistik*) in 2019, the required consumption of sugar in Indonesia reached 5.1×10^6 t, while national sugar production is currently 2.36×10^6 t. In addition, there was a decline in national sugar production which was up to 2.22×10^6 t (Cindy, 2020). This decrease in sugar production was a result of the raw material, i.e. sugarcane (*Saccharum officinarum* L.), facing challenges such as competition with weeds which has, in turn, impacted the yield of sugarcane farmers and sugar companies because it causes about a 6 % to 9 % decline in the plant's biomass and a 0.09 % reduction in the crop yield. Additionally, the presence of this weed during the vegetative growth stage of the sugarcane crops results in a yield reduction of up to

In this stuation, the giant sensitive plant — *Mimosa invisa* Mart (also referred to in the literature as *Mimosa diplotrica*, C Wright) is a field crop weed that causes a decrease in the quality and quantity of crop production (Dania and Bamidele, 2006; Osariyekemwen, 2020; Prajal *et al.*, 2020; Rao *et al.*, 2018). It has been shown in previous research that *M. invisa* has great competitiveness against the crop plant *S. officinarum* and also an increased population efficiency of 14.08 % in the first year (plant cane) to 38.55 % in the third year (3rd ratoon) (Aekrathok, *et al.* 2021; Jayasree, 2006; Phil and Emilie, 2017; Zainol, 2017). Additionally, the mechanism of competition

^{40 %.} Conversely, the weed competition at the growth stages of 3 wk, 6 wk, and 9 wk after planting the crop resulted in a decrease of 77.6 %, 50.6 %, and 4.7 % in the yield (Concenço *et al.*, 2016; Faheem and Muhammad, 2015; Fanny *et al.*, 2019; Gulshan and Bhagirath, 2020; Peng 2012; Sugar Research Australia, 2021).

^{*} Corresponding author e-mail: dyahwati@umm.ac.id.

between weeds and cultivated plants growing around them is through allelopathy, whereby biochemicals released by the weeds inhibit the growth of other plants around them (Abu-Romman et al., 2015; Chauhan, 2008; Dania and Bamidele, 2006; Gulshan and Bhagirath 2020). Conversely, allelopathy occurs when a chemical component produced by plants interacts with other plants growing around them. It is used by weeds to compete with other plants growing around them (Aliyu et al, 2018; Ejaz, 2003; Erida et al. 2019). Subsequently, the results obtained will reveal that M. invisa weed extract can inhibit the germination of seeds of other plants growing in its vicinity, giving it the potential of a bioherbicide (Albuquerque et al., 2011; Ejaz, 2003; Hussain et al., 2021; Permatasari et al., 2020; Sadiqullah et al., 2019). Therefore, this research aims to determine the metabolite compounds in the giant sensitive plant (M. invisa) weed rhizosphere and sugarcane plant (S. officinarum) together with their roles as allelochemicals.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Field Research

This research was conducted in the upland (nonirrigated) area of the Research Garden Farming Facilities (*Bina Sarana Tani*) Krebet Baru Sugar Factory, Bululawang, Malang, East Java, Indonesia (coordinant $120^{\circ} 37' 30"$ to $70^{\circ} 58' 10"$) in Latosol soil, pH 5.5. Additionally, the climate classification of Schmidt and Ferguson was included in type C (slightly wet) grading. The average monthly rainfall data for the last 10 yr also showed that it amounted to 1 898.2 mm, with rainfall of about 102.5 d.

The plant *S. officinarum* was planted in a double row system using the stem cutting BL (Bululawang) cultivar, with a center-to-center spacing of 100 cm to 110 cm and a width of 50 cm to 60 cm. The fertilizers NPK were used at the rates of 150 (N), 105 (P_2O_5), and 150 Kg (K_2O), respectively. The BL stem cutting was also planted in October during the beginning of the rainy season.

Consequently, the seeds of M. *invisa* were taken from the sugarcane cultivated fields and sown in polybags. These weeds were then maintained up to a height of approximately 10 cm. Furthermore, after the sugarcane seeds had sprouted, these weeds were planted with them according to the treatment.

The descriptive qualitative design was used for this research, and the experimental units were arranged randomly in groups consisting of three treatments and three replications. T_1 plot of land was planted with *M. invisa* only, T_2 with *M. invisa* and *S. officinarum*, and T_3 with *S. officinarum* only. The data was analyzed using the standard deviation with the Equation (1) (Adinurani 2016; Iftikhar and Hayat, 2021)

$$s = \sqrt{\frac{n\sum_{i=n}^{n} x_i^2 - (\sum_{i=1}^{n} x_1)^2}{n(n-1)}}$$
(1)

Notes: S = standard deviation ; X_i = value of X to i ; n = sample size

2.2. Laboratory Test

This research was conducted in the Laboratory of Agrotechnology, Faculty of Agriculture and Animal

Science, University of Muhamadiyah Malang, and the Central Laboratory of the Indonesian Legume and Tuber Crops Research Institute, Malang, East Java, Indonesia within February to May 2019. Furthermore, the metabolite compound was analyzed using a Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrophotometry (GC-MS) type QP2010S Shimadzu (Japan), semi-polar column RXi-5MS, with Helium carrier gas flow rate of 0.5 mL min⁻¹, and pressure of 27.4 kPa. The initial temperature of the GC 120 °C oven was increased with a speed of 5 °C min⁻¹ until it reached 320 °C min⁻¹ and the sample volume of 1 uL to 2 uL (Ahmed and Annadurai, 2017). Also, the data obtained were analyzed with the NCBI (National Center for Biotechnology Information) database to obtain specific metabolites.

2.3. Roots Extract of Saccharum officinarum and Mimosa invisa

The roots of S. officinarum and M. invisa weeds were extracted using the reference-based method (Gusthinnadura, et al. 2017; Kokosa, et al., 2019; Ram, et al. 2019). Conversely, the roots of both plants were taken 15 cm to 20 cm from the base of the rootstock in a circle as deep as 25 cm to 30 cm, to ensure they remained intact without damage. After collection, these roots were washed with water and extracted as follows; 10 g of the roots sample were crushed by Bamix, and 1:2.5 mL of absolute methanol solvent was added. The Rotator shaker gemmy-VRN-360 was then used as an extractor for 2 h. Afterward, 5 mL supernatant was added at an absolute methanol ratio of 1:1, after which the extract underwent centrifugation using the Centrifuge Digital DLABDM 0412 at a speed of 4 000 rpm for 15 min (1 rpm = 1/60 Hz).

Furthermore, 7.5 mL each of supernatant and cold methanol was added in the ratio 1:1. This also underwent centrifugation using Centrifuge Digital DLABDM 0412 at a speed of 4 000 rpm for 15 min. Lastly, the pellets were taken and 1 mL absolute methanol was added in preparation for GC-MS testing which was done at a retention time of 39.46 min.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Results

The results of the analysis of four rhizosphere samples from *M. invisa* and *S. officinarum* plants showed the presence of many types of allelopathic compounds, also known as allelochemical compounds. These different compounds are identified as shown in the following, Figure 1, Figure 2, and Figure 3.



Figure 1. Allelochemical compounds from rhizosphere samples of *M. invisa*

From Figure 1 above, the results showed that the *M. invisa* root extracts from the rhizosphere when grown alone contained allelochemical compounds such as Dodecane (6.83 %), 2-Furan carboxaldehyde, 5-methyl (7.28 %), and Pentadecane (6.10 %).



Figure 2. Allelochemical compounds from rhizosphere samples of *S.officinarum* mixed with *M. invisa*.

Figure 2 above showed both *S. officinarum* and *M. invisa* in the rhizosphere when grown side by side contained Octadecanoic acid, methyl ester (2.06 %), and 9,12-Octadecadienoic acid (Z, Z)-methyl ester (3.86 %).



Figure 3. Allelochemical compounds from rhizosphere samples of *S. officinarum*

The Figure 3 above shows that the results of the identification of *S. officinarum* root extract from the rhizosphere when grown alone contained allelochemical compounds such as 9-Octadecenoic acid (Z) 4.64 %.

The results of the GC-MS chromatogram of dodecane compounds are presented in Figure 4.



Figure 4. The GC-MS chromatogram of dodecane compounds.

Figure 4 above showed that the rhizosphere of the weeds contained allelopathic compounds such as dodecane (6.83 %). Additionally, dodecane is a metabolite

compound in plants that has the molecular formula $C_{12}H_{26}$ with a molecular weight of 170.33 g mol⁻¹. This compound is classified as essential oil which has the chemical name dihexil. Furthermore, dihexil is used in micro-extraction solvents for the formation of the herbicide, Triazine, which is an active herbicide used to control both grassy and broadleaf weeds. (Kokosa, 2019).

The results of the GC-MS chromatogram for the compound 2-furan carboxaldehyde, 5-methyl are presented in Figure 5.



Figure 5. The GC-MS chromatogram for the compound 2-furan carboxaldehyde, 5 methyl.

Figure 5 above shows the results of the GC-MS chromatogram of 2-furan carboxaldehyde, 5-methyl compounds. Conversely, the compound 2-furan carboxaldehyde, 5-methyl, with the molecular formula, $C_6H_6O_2$ are found in weed root extracts and belong to a class of furfural compounds that have allelopathic potential in plants. In addition, it is also one of the main allelochemical compounds in the methanol root extract from the marigold plant (Genus: *Tegetes* L.) (Chotsaeng, 2018).

The results of the GC-MS chromatogram of pentadecane compounds are presented in Figure 6.



Figure 6. The GC-MS chromatogram of pentadecane compounds

The results in the figure above showed that pentadecane metabolites with the molecular formula $C_{15}H_{32}$ are a group of essential oils whose presence in plants functions as metabolites. Conversely, the pentadecane compounds released by plants have the potential to cause negative effects on the growth of surrounding plants. Furthermore, several essential oil components screened for allelopathic activity showed growth inhibition in *Lactuca sativa* L. and *Lactuca perenne* L. (Jones, 2012).

The results of the GC-MS chromatogram for the compound 9-Octadecenoic acid (Z, Z) are presented in Figure 7.



Figure7.The GC-MS chromatogram for the compound 9-Octadecenoic acid (Z, Z)

The results in Figure 7 above showed that the *S. officinarum* and *M. invisa* rhizosphere contained 9,12octadecadienoic acid (Z, Z), methyl ester (3.86 %) compounds. Additionally, the *S. officinarum* root rhizosphere extraction contains the allelochemical compound 9,12-octadecadienoic acid (Z, Z) which has the molecular formula $C_{19}H_{34}O_2$ and is known to inhibit plant's growth. Karimi *et al.*, (2011) stated that the ethyl acetate extract of walnut tree roots containing nhexadecanoic acid, 9, 12-octadecadienoic acid (Z, Z), and 8-octadecenoic acid was able to suppress the germination and growth of cabbage (*Brassicaoleracea* L. var. capitata) seedlings (Chauhan, 2008).

4. Discussion

The results of the GC-MS analysis showed that the extracts of *S. officinarum* and *M. invisa* in the environment of different rhizosphere ecosystems contained different secondary metabolite compounds. This is presumbly due to the different conditions of the plant rhizosphere ecosystem making the compound contents within also different. Therefore, the research results showed that the diversity of secondary metabolite compounds was influenced by the environment in which the plants grew, specifically the soil nutrient content and the type of material to be identified (Asadi *et al.,* 2019; Sirikantaramas, 2008).

Furthermore, plants were shown to have growth organs that contained metabolite compounds. Conversely, the process of synthesis of plant secondary metabolite compounds is influenced by several factors including genetics, environmental stress, and physical factors (Aliyu *et al.*, 2018; Andrew *et al.*, 2014; Darmanti, 2018). Additionally, the difference in the content of these compounds is due to the different metabolite synthesis patterns between *S. officinarum* and *M. invisa*. The results of the identification of metabolite compounds in the four samples contained the same pattern of interaction of metabolites between these two plants for several compounds.

Consequently, the rhizosphere of M. *invisa* contained a dodecane allelopathic compound (6.83 %), which is a plant metabolite compound that has a molecular formula of

C₁₂H₂₆ and a molecular weight of 170.33gmol⁻¹ (Ram et al., 2019; Karimi et al., 2011). This dodecane compound is classified as essential oil which has the chemical name dihexil and is used in micro-extraction solvents for the formation of Triazine herbicide (Kokosa, et al., 2019). Similarly, this triazine is an active ingredient of herbicides used to control broadleaf and grassy weeds. Additionally, compound 2-Furan carboxaldehyde, 5-methyl with the molecular formula $C_6H_6O_2$, found in weed root extracts, is a class of furfural compounds that has allelopathic potentials in plants (Ram et al., 2019). Moreso, pentadecane metabolite compounds, with the molecular formula C15H32, is a group of essential oils in plants functioning as metabolites with the potential to cause negative effects on the growth of plants surrounding them. Conversely, it was also shown that some components of essential oils which were screened for allelopathic activity showed growth retardation (Enyiukwu and Ononuju, 2016; Karimi et al., 2011; Lucas et al., 2021).

Furthermore, allelochemicals do not affect the activity of cells that synthesize and store them because plants have a mechanism of resistance to self-produced toxic compounds (Aliyu et al., 2018; Asyraf and Micheal, 2011; Chauhan, 2008). This resistance mechanism occurs through a biosynthetic process outside the cell such as in the secretory cell wall, storing it in vacuoles. Other than that, the allelochemical is transported from the cytoplasm to the vacuole by vesicles, where they experience enzymatic detoxification. Conversely, there is a mutation in the gene encoding the protein at the target sites of allelochemicals leading to a non-toxic accumulation of these chemicals in the vacuole (Erida et al., 2019; Marvillo et al., 2011; Sirikantaramas et al., 2008). Further, the allelochemical compounds released by roots into the soil can cause growth disorders in plants depending on the concentration of the allelochemicals. Additionally, these chemicals, when released into the environment, result in interactions between its biotic and abiotic factors such as physical-chemical processes, absorption by plants, and microbial breakdown (Albuquerque et al., 2011; Darmanti, 2018).

Consequently, chemicals that are secreted from plants that affect other plants are called allelochemicals (Riajeng, 2019; Suresh et al., 2017). Moreover, these chemicals are secondary metabolites produced by plants that can inhibit or stimulate the growth of plants in the vicinity. Therefore, most of these chemicals are classified as plant secondary metabolites which are produced from primary metabolites. A wide variety of these chemicals has been identified including phenolic acids, coumarins, terpenoids, flavonoids, alkaloids, glycosides, and gluconates (Karimi et al., 2017). Additionally, potential allelochemicals are found in almost all plant tissues, including the leaves, flowers, fruits, seeds, and root tissues. Also for decades, these chemicals were mostly used in agriculture, forestry, ornamental plants, and gardening. The results showed that they contain several naturally occurring chemical substances such as alcohol, organic acids, aliphatic and aromatic components.

Moreover, the effect of competition in plant communities can occur indirectly on individual plants, and this is usually due to allelochemical interactions. Therefore, based on the results of this research and discussion, it is concluded that the allelochemicals secreted by donor plants will be released into the environment through root exudation by the process of diffusion, evaporation from leaves, leaching, and biomass decomposition (Euis and Ratag, 2017; Mohammad *et al.*, 2021; Sirikantaramas *et al.*, 2008). Similarly, the effect of these chemicals on seed germination, seedling growth gives it its allelopathic property. Therefore, allelopathy is a chemical component produced by plants to interact with other plants that grow around them (Erida *et al.*, 2019; Lucas *et al.*, 2021). It is used by weeds to compete with other plants that grow around it. The results of this research showed that weed extract can inhibit the germination of seeds of other plants growing in its vicinity, giving it the potential to be developed as a bioherbicide.

5. Conclusion

It can be concluded, based on the results of this research, that the *S. officinarum* rhizosphere contains an octadecanoic acid allelochemical compound, and methyl ester (2.06 %). Additionally, weed roots and *S. officinarum* each contained metabolite compounds which are usually used as herbicide activators.

Reference

Abu-Romman SM, Moawiya AH, and Khaldoun JAH. 2015.. The potential allelopathic effects of *Varthemia iphionoides* and the identification of phenolic allelochemical. *Jordan J. Biol. Sci.*, **8(4):** 301–306.

Adinurani, P.G. 2016. Design and Analysis of Agro Trial Data: Manual and SPSS. Plantaxia, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

Aekrathok P, Songsri P, Jongrungklang N and Gonkhamdee S. 2021. Efficacy of post-emergence herbicides against important weeds of sugarcane in North-East Thailand. *Agronomy* **11(429)**: 1–19.

Ahmed JS. and Annadurai, A. 2015. GC-MS screening of active secondary metabolites present in the *Cleome gynandra*. *Int. J. Phytopharm. Res.*,**5**(4):47–52.

Albuquerque MBD, Sanntos RDC and Lima LM. 2011. Allelopathy, an alternative tool to improve cropping systems. *Agron Sustain Dev.*, **31(2):** 379–395.

Aliyu IT, Jurami ASB, Yusop MR, Othman RB and Singh A. 2018. Weed competitioness of some aerobic rice genotypes. *Int J Agric Biol.*, **20**: 583–593.

Andrew JG, Adam DM, Matthew RR, Stephen HR and Katriana S. 2014. Stacked crop rotation exploit weed-weed competition for sustainable weed management. *Weed Sci.*, **62(1)**: 166–176.

Asadi S, Moghadam H, Badi HN, Naghavi MR, Salami SAR. A review on agronomic, phytochemical and pharmacological aspects of Cannabis (*Cannabis sativa L.*), J. Med. Plants, **18**(**70**): 1–20.

Asyraf M and Micheal JC. 2011. Current status of *Mimosa pigra* L. investation in Peninsular Malaysia. Trop. Life Sci. Res. **22(1)**: 37–49.

Chauhan B. 2008. Seed germination and seedling emergence of Giant Sensitive plant (*Mimosa invisa*). Weed Sci. Soc. Am., **56(6)**: 244–248.

Chotsaeng N, Chamroon L and Patchanee C. 2018. Inhibitory effects of variety of aldehydes on *Amaranthus tricolor* and *Echinochola crus-galli* L Beauv. Molecules, **23(471)**:1–15.

Cindy MA. 2020. What is the volume of sugar imports during the last five years. Source: Central Bureau of Statistics (BPS) on November 30, 2020. *Databox, Data Stories* 2/12/2020.

Concenço G, Filho JRAL, Silva CJ, Marques RF, Silva LBX, Correia IVT. 2016. Weed occurrence in sugarcane as function of variety and ground straw management. *Planta Daninha*, **34** (2): 219–228.

Dania FMO and Bamidele JF. 2006. Incidence and spread of an invasive weed, *Mimosa invisa* Mart. in Benin city metropolis. *Int. J. Botany.*, **2(3):** 336–339

Darmanti S. 2018. Interaction of allelopathy and allelochemicals compound: Its potential as Bioherbicide. *Bulletin of Anatomy and Physiology*, **3(2)**: 181–187.

Ejaz AK. 2003. Studies on weed control in sugarcane and allelopathic effects of Eucalyptus on field crops. PhD. Dissertation. Department of Agronomy, Faculty of Agriculture, Gomal University, D. I. Khan – Pakistan.

Enyiukwu DN and Ononuju CC. 2016. Comparative priming effects of phytochemicals from *Alchornea cordifolia* and piper guineese on Cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L. Walp) seeds. *Journal of Plant and Pest Science*, **3**(1): 1–4.

Erida G, Saidi N, Hasanuddin and Syafruddin. 2019. Allelopathic screening of several weed species as potential Bioherbicides. *IOP Conf. Ser. Earth Environ. Sci.*, **334 (012034):** 1–12.

Euis FSP and Ratag SP. 2017. Response of Sengon Laut (*Paraserianthes falcataria* (L.) Nelsen) seed germination on leave and rhizomes Cogongrass (*Imperata cylindrica* L.) allelopathy. *Eugenia.* **23(1):** 41–47.

Faheem K and Muhammad ZK. 2015. Weeds and weed control methods in sugarcane: A case study of Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Pakistan. *Pak. J. Weed Sci. Res.*, **21**(2): 217–228.

Fany YK, Anggi IY and Yudhy W. 2019. The effect of herbiside and weeding on vegetative growth of cane (*Saccharum officinarum* L.) of Bululawang variety. *Jurnal Agroteknologi Merdeka Pasuruan*, **3(2)**:1–6.

Gulshan M and Bhagirath SC. 2020. Weed biology – a required foundation for effective weed management. *Journal of Asian-Pasific Weed Science Society*, **2**(1): 30–34.

Gusthinnadura ODS, Obeysundara AT and Aponso MMW. 2017. Extraction method, qualitative and quantitative technicques for screening of phytochemichals from plants. *American Journal of Essential Oil and Natural Products*, **5(2)**: 29–32.

Hussain, MI, Subhan D, Sánchez-Moreiras A, Óscar V, Khawar J, Usman KC, Ferdinando B and Manuel J. R. 2021. Unraveling sorghum allelopathy in agriculture: Concepts and implications. *Plants* **10(1795):**1–21.

Iftikhar ud D and Y Hayat. 2021. Anova or manova for correlated traits in agricultural experiments. *Sarhad J. Agric*, **37(4)**: 1250-1259.

Jayasree PK. 2006. Biology and management of *Mimosa invisa* Mart in Kerala. PhD Thesis, Kerala Agricultural University, India.

Jones CD, Wood KE and Setzer WN. 2012. A chemical ecological investigation of the allelopathic potential of *Lamium amplexicaule* and *Lamium purpureum*. J. Ecol., **2(4):** 167–177.

Karimi E, Jaafar HZE and Ahmad S. 2011. Phytochemical analysis and antimicrobial activities of methanolic extracts of leaf, stem and root from different varieties of *Labisa pumila* Benth. Molecule, **16(6)**: 4438–4450.

Kokosa JM. 2019. Selecting an extraction solvent for a greener liquid phase microextraction (LPME) mode-base analytical method. *Trends Analyt Chem.*, **118**(**3**):238–247.

Lucas AC, Danillo OB, Santos PGA, Carvalho YB, Filho NRN, Costa JPL, Marques E. 2021. Allelopathic effect of crude plant extract on *Ipomea purpurea* L. J. Res. *Weed Sci*, **4**(3): 188–199. Marvillo CM, de la Fuente EB, Gil A, Ghersa MAM, Andujar JIG. 2011. Competitive and allelopathic interference between soybean crop and annual Worm Wood (*Artemisia annua* L.) under field conditions. *Eur J Agron.*, **34**(4): 211–221.

Mohammad S, Jabran K, Hussain M, Raza MAS, Wijaya L, Sheikh MAE, Alyemeni MS. 2021. The impact of different weed management strategies on weed flora of wheat-based cropping systems. *Plos One*, **16(2)**: e0247137.

Osariyekemwen U. 2020. *Mimosa diplotricha*: A review and synthesis of its problem and control options. CAB Reviews **15** (014): 1–8.

Peng S. 2012. **The Biology and Control of Weeds in Sugarcane**. Print Replica - Kindle Edition. Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

Permatasari GW, Putranto RA and Widiastuti H. 2020. Structurebased virtual screening of bioherbicide candidates for weeds in sugarcane plantation using in silico approaches. *Menara Perkebunan.*, **88(2):**100–110.

Phil R and Emilie F. 2017. Weed Management in Sugarcane Manual. Sugar Research Australia, Indooroopilly QLD 4068 Australia.

Prajal B, Barman U, Sonowal M, Nath M and Baishya BC. 2020. *Mimosa invisa* poisoning in dairy cows and its therapeutic management. *J. Entomol. Zool. Stud.*, **8**(4): 509–511. Ram LA, Bhoj RP, Surendra KG, Hari P, Megh RP and Kedar NG. 2019. Removal of fluoride from aqueous solution using biomass-based adsorbents: A review, *J. Nepal Chem. Soc.*, **40**: 44–51.

Rao, A.N., Mahayan R.G., Wani SP. 2018. Weed research issue, challenges an apportunities in India. *Crop Prot.*, **134**:104451.

Riajeng K. 2019. Review on the roes of allelochemical in agriculture. Bioedukasi, **12(1):** 41–46.

Sadiqullah K, Muhammad IS, Khawaja WA, Tabassum R, Saima K, and Said AK. 2019. Allelopathic potential of 73 weed species in Pakistan. *Rev. Biol. Trop.*, **67**(6):1418–1430.

Sirikantaramas S., Yamazaki M and Saito K. 2008. Mechanisms of resistence to self-produced toxic secondary metabolies in plant. *Phytochem Rev.*, **7**: 467-477.

Sugar Research Australia (SRA). 2021. Weed Management Manual. Sugar Research Australia Limited, Brisbane, Australia.

Suresh W, Saha S, Tripathi V, Sharma KK. 2017. Phytochemical biopesticides: Some recent developments. *Phytochem. Rev.* **16(5)**:989–1007.

Zainol A. 2017. Effect of weed control system on early growth of sugar cane (*Saccharum officinarum* L.). *Jurnal Folium* 1(1): 48–59.

Characterization of Actinomycetes Strains Isolated from Cheliff Estuary in the North-West of Algeria

Meriem F. Meliani^{1,*}, Françoise Denis^{2,3}, Mustapha Mohamed-Benkada⁴, Noujoud Gabed⁵, Aurore Caruso³, Nolwenn Callac⁶, Sidi-Mohammed E.A. Abi-Ayad¹

¹Department of Biotechnology, Faculty of Nature and Life Sciences, University of Oran 1 Ahmed Ben Bella, B.P 1524, El M'Naouer -31000 Oran, Algeria; ²7208/IRD 207/UPMC, Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, Station de Biologie Marine de Concarneau, 29900 Concarneau, France; ³Laboratoire Mer, Molécules, Santé, Faculté des Sciences et Techniques, Le Mans Université, 72085 Le Mans, France; ⁴Faculty of Nature and Life Sciences, University of Sciences and Technology-Mohamed Boudiaf, El Mnaouar BP 1505, Bir El Djir 31000, Oran, Algeria; ⁵High Schcool of Biological Sciences ESSB, Oran, Algeria. Researcher city (Ex. IAP), Essenia -Oran. B P 1042, Saim Mohamed 31003 Oran 31003 Oran Algeria; ⁶IFREMER, IRD, CNRS, Univ. Nouvelle Calédonie, Univ. La Réunion, UMR 9220 ENTROPIE, 101 Promenade Roger Laroque, 98897 Nouméa

Received: September 22, 2020; Revised: December 25, 2020; Accepted: March 7, 2021

Abstract

This study focused on the investigation of Actinomycetes strains isolated from sediment sample of Cheliff River estuary in Mostaganem (North-west of Algeria). Identification of the 5 strains of Actinomycetes isolated from sediments by morphological, biochemical methods and by16S rRNA gene sequence analysis revealed that four strains belonged to the genus *Streptomyces* and one - to the genus *Nocardia*. No strains of Actinomycetes were isolated from water samples. The optimum growth of all strains was recorded between 28°C and 30°C and at pH 7-9. All strains had halotolerant and mesophile behavior except SSG which grew very well at 45°C and could be considered as thermotolerant bacteria. Antibacterial activity was tested against five pathogenic bacteria as *Escherichia coli* ATCC 25922, *Staphylococcus aureus* ATCC 6538, *Salmonella typhi* ATCC 9289, *Bacillus subtilis* ATCC 6633 and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* ATCC 2785. All isolated strains exhibited an inhibitory activity against at least one human pathogenic bacterium. *Streptomyces* sp. SSB1, *Streptomyces* sp. SSM and *Nocardia sp.* NSR. This study revealed that Cheliff River estuary contains Actinomycete species (*Streptomyces* and *Nocardia*) with proved antibacterial activity and could be a new source for isolation of antibiotic producing bacteria against human pathogenic bacteria.

Keywords: Actinomycetes, Cheliff River, Estuary, Sediments, Phylogeny, Antimicrobial activity.

1. Introduction

Marine microorganisms such as Actinobacteria are important sources of biomolecules (Shepherd et al., 2010; Blunt et al., 2016; Giraou et al., 2019). This important microbial group has been explored for biotechnology and provides excellent sources of medication especially against multidrug resistant pathogens (Abdelfattah, 2016; Newman, 2016; Ramachandran et al., 2019). Previous studies were focused on new bioactive natural compounds from unexploited habitats (freshwater, mangrove, invertebrate, macroalgae) to find out potential diseases therapy (Ganesan et al., 2016, Rotich et al., 2017; Rangseekaew and Pathom-aree, 2019). Aquatic environment provides interesting prospects to find out new bioactive components (Gomez-Escribano et al., 2016, Lee et al., 2018). The Actinobacteria are widespread in various environments, and their presence in estuarine ecosystem might be promoted probably by the high nutrient content of this setting (Rosmine and Sramma, 2016). Actinobacteria are Gram-positive bacteria known to produce a panel of natural compounds exhibiting a wide range of biological activities (Prasad *et al.*, 2013; Abdelfattah, 2014; Sharma, 2016; Gamaleldin *et al.*, 2020). A single actinomycete strain can produce from 10 to 20 different secondary metabolites molecules (Sosio *et al.*, 2000; Bentley *et al.*, 2002) such as antibiotic (Tetracyclines) (Hopwood, 2007); antifungal (Amphotericin), anticancer (Adriamycin) and immunosuppressant molecules (Tacrolymus).

Our work was oriented to the estuary of Cheliff River, which is one of the longest in Algeria. It takes its source from Algerian Sahara Atlas and empties into the Mediterranean Sea, across 733 km (Figure 1). We isolated five strains: for *Streptomyces* and one *Nocardia* strain, from estuarine sediment of Cheliff River, characterized using polyphasic taxonomy (using phenotypic and genotypic approaches) and investigate their potential to produce antibacterial molecules.

^{*} Corresponding author e-mail: meriemfmeliani@gmail.com.

2. Material and Methods

2.1. Sampling

Sediment samples from Cheliff estuary (36°02'18.8"N 0°08'04.8"E) were collected aseptically in duplicates. After *in situ* pH and temperature were measured, sediment samples were collected by sterile scraper at about 50 cm deep below the estuarine floor using sterile scrapper surface and aseptically transferred to sterile polyethylene bags. All samples were directly transferred in travel cool box for further microbiological analysis, performed immediately after arrival to the laboratory.



Figure 1: Cheliff River estuary geography location (Google Earth version 7.3, image © 2021 Maxar Technologies. Data SIO. NOAA. U.S.Navy. NGA. GEBCO)

2.2. Isolation and purification of actinomycetes

Prior to Actinomycetes isolation and in order to promote their growth, all the samples were oven-heated at 55°C and 1% of phenol was added for 6 min.

Actinomycetes isolation was performed using serial dilution method. One gram of sediment was suspended in 9 mL of Cheliff estuary water sterilized and diluted up to 10⁻⁴. One milliliter of each dilution was spread on the surface of Petri dishes containing 20 mL of the solid culture media. Five different culture media (Starch Casein Agar, Glucose Asparagine Agar, Yeast Extract Glycerol Agar, Yeast Extract Glycerol Agar, malt extract- yeast extract agar (ISP-2: International Streptomyces Project-2 medium; composition: yeast extract: 4g, malt extract: 10, glucose: 4g, agar: 20g, pH 7.2) and malt extract-peptone yeast extract (GLM) were prepared using sterilized estuarian water amended with nalidix acid (10 µg/mL) and amphotericine B (25 $\mu L/mL)$ sterilized on 0.22 μm filters (Ellaiah et al., 1996; Cuesta et al., 2010) and were tested to identify the most suitable one to study the actinomycetes. This different culture medium were amended with nalidix acid (10 µg/mL sterilized on 0.22 µm filters) and amphotericin B (25 µL/mL) to ovoid Gram-negative bacteria and fungi growth and to boost the

actinomycetes development (Ellaiah *et al.*, 1996; Cuesta *et al.*, 2010). The inoculated Petri dishes have been incubated at 28°C for 2 weeks. The actinomycetes look-like colonies were then isolated and transferred on ISP-2 (Shirling and Gottlieb, 1966) agar plate medium for further characterizations. For short term preservation, monoclonal colonies on ISP-2 plates were stored at 4°C. For long term conservation, mycelia suspension was conserved with glycerol (50/50 v/v) and stored at -20°C (Sheperd *et al.*, 2010).

2.3. morphological, biochemical and physiological characterization

Actinomycetes strains were macroscopically characterized by the coloration of their areal mycelium and by the presence of diffusible pigments and morphological features. Gram staining was used both to distinguish the specific microscopic features and the Gram classification (Goodfellow *et al.*, 2004)

For biochemical characteristics, the API 20^{E} kit (bioMérieux Inc., Durham, NC) was used. Oxidase and catalase (Bactident ®Oxydase MERCK) activity were verified for *Streptomyces*-like bacteria. The effect of temperature, pH and salinity on the growth of the 5 strains was tested on Petri dishes solid ISP-2 media. Different incubation temperatures (4, 30, 37 and 45°C) and three pH values (5, 7 and 9) were tested using ISP-2 culture media. Salinity tolerance tests were carried out with ISP-2 supplemented respectively with 1, 3, 5, 7 and 10% of sodium chloride. Petri dishes were then streaked with actinomycetes monoclonal isolated strains and incubated at 30°C for 7 days. Daily visual observations were done for growth records.

2.4. Molecular characterization

Analysis of the 16S rDNA sequence and construction of phylogenetic tree using the neighbor joining method were used to confirm the actinomycetes identification. DNA extraction was done using the CTAB method associated to the boiling DNA from 3 days old strain cultures grown in 10 mL ISP-2 liquid medium (Cook and Meyers, 2003). The 16S rDNA amplification was performed using universal primers 9F (5'GAGTTTGATCMTGGCTCAG 3') and SO6 (5'CGGTGTGTACAAGGCC3') (Weisburg et al., 1991).

The final volume of the PCR reaction was 50 µL including Taq Buffer (Promega) 1/10, dNTPs (0.4 mM), MgCl₂ (4 mM) and 0.6 U Taq polymerase (Thermoscientific, UK), and 10 nM of forward and reverse primers. PCR was performed according to the following program: initial denaturation at 98°C for 3 min, followed by 30 cycles of reaction with denaturation at 94°C for 1 min, annealing at 53°C for 1 min, extension at 72°C and final extension at 72°C for 10 min. The amplicons were sequenced on an ABI PRISM 377 genetic analyzer (Applied Biosystems, USA) with the same primers as above to generate a nearly complete gene sequence (1167 to 1250). The 16S rRNA sequences were compared to database in NCBI -GenBank using Basic alignment Search tool (BLAST) (Altschul et al., 1990). Multiple sequence alignment was compared with the sequences generated in this study using CLUSTAL W program (Larkin et al., 2007). Phylogenetic evolutionary tree was conducted using the neighbor-joining methods in Molecular Evolutionary

genetic Analysis (MEGA version 6.0) software based on boostrap values of 100 replications (Tamura *et al.*, 2013).

The Genbank/EMBL/DDBJ accession number of the 16S rDNA sequences of the isolate SSB1 is MH398042, for the strain SSB2: MH398493, for the strain SSG: MH398494 for the isolate SSM: MH398495) and for the strain NSR: MH398496.

2.5. Antimicrobial activity tests

The antibacterial activity of the 5 isolated actinomycete strains was tested against five human pathogen bacterial strains: *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* ATCC 27857 (*P. aeruginosa*), *Escherichia coli* ATCC 25922 (*E. coli*), *Salmonella typhi* ATCC 9289 (*S. typhi*), *Staphylococcus aureus* ATCC 6538 (*S. aureus*) and *Bacillus subtilis* ATCC 6633(*B. subtilis*) kindly provided by the Pediatric Hospital of Oran (Algeria). One milliliter of the human pathogens ATCC standardized bacterial inoculum (10^6 UFC/mL) was incorporated to melted Mueller-Hinton agar in Petri dishes. Cylinders cut from cultures of our 5 strains grown on agar medium were inverted deposited on the surface of the Petri dishes containing the human pathogens; and were then incubated at 37°C for 24 hours. Inhibition zone diameter was measured.

2.6. antimicrobial metabolites production through the cultivation time

We used wells agar diffusion assay method on the same pathogenic ATCC bacterial strains previously used for antibacterial tests to investigate the inhibitory action of the 5 isolates on the growth of pathogenic strains. Crude supernatant (100 μ L) obtained from 12 days old liquid cultures of our 5 isolated strains was dispensed aseptically into 8 mm diameter agar drilled wells. In addition, Streptomycin (0.2 μ g/mL) used as a positive control was placed into the agar well; and sterile distilled water was also filled into a well and served as negative control. The assays were incubated at 37°C, and the bacterial inhibition zones around the well were visually controlled every 24 hours as clear zones around the wells. Their diameters were measured daily through the 12 days of the experiment.

3. Results and discussion

3.1. isolation and characterization

The pH of sediments sample varied from 7 to 8. The temperature at the collection site was 18°C.

Based on morphological characteristics (Figure 2), five different strains of actinomycetes (named SSB1, SSB2, SSG, SSM and NSR) were isolated from sediments. The dilution factor of 10^{-4} on ISP-2 medium gave the best monoclonal well separated colonies and allowed the isolation of the *Streptomyces* and *Nocardia* strains. In addition, all the strains were isolated in ISP-2. This result may be attributed to differences between the compositions of the different media. Higher amounts of complex nitrogen and carbon sources, such as yeast and malt extract may preferably promote the growth of estuarine *Actinobacteria* strains (Ozcan *et al.*, 2013).

The isolates grown on ISP-2 medium exhibited cream to white chalky colonies, with aerial and substrate multicolored mycelia and have slow growth rate. The colonies were elevated, convex and powdery. Under optic microscopy, hook-like structures were found only with the isolates belonging to *Streptomyces* genus. The hook-like structures are characteristic of the *Streptomyces* genus and their evidence on our colonies reinforced the morphological characterizations of the 5 isolates. *Streptomyces* strains are also known to be able to produce a large variety of pigment responsible for the coloration of aerial and substrate mycelia which can be considered as a criterion for their classification using ISCC-NBS color chart (Kelly and Judd, 1955).



Figure2.Agar plates showing the color and morphology of the colonies of *Streptomyces* strains isolated **from** estuarian sediments. SSG: *Streptomyces* sp. G; SSM: *Streptomyces* sp. M; SSB1: *Streptomyces* sp. B1; SSB2: *Streptomyces* sp. B2; NSR: *Nocardia* sp. R.

3.2. biochemical and physiological characterization

API 20^{E} plate results (table 1) showed that all the strains were β -galactosidase producers except strain SSM. Strains SSB1, SSB2 and SSG possessed ADH and ODC enzymes and produce acetoin. SSB1, SSB2 and SSG strains were citrate positive. SSG was lysine decarboxylase positive. All strains were catalase, gelatin and indole positive but oxidase negative. Except for strain SSG, all other strains were gelatin and indole negative.

In addition, the availability of using various carbon substrates was tested, and the results varied among the isolates. All the strains used amygdalin as source of carbon. Strain SSM did not produce tryptophane desaminase and all of them were urease negative. Only strain SSG produced melanoid pigment. Comparing the five isolates, we considered that all strains were different from each other. However, the strains SSB1, SSB2 and SSG presented closely biochemical profile of carbon use (sorbitol, rhamnose, sucrose, melobiose, amygdalin and arabinose) and enzyme production (galactosidase, arginine hydrolase and ornithine decarboxylase). The use of different carbon sources by all strains indicated a wide pattern of carbon assimilation (Valan Arazu et al., 2013). Most actinomycetes are known to use a wide range of organic compounds as carbon source for their growth.

Table 1. Characterization of the biochemical activity of the
isolates using the API 20E test (BioMérieux Inc., Durham, NC

Activity	Substrate	SSB1	SSB2	SSG	SSM	NSR
β- galactosidase	ONPG	+	+	+	-	+
Arginine dihydrolase	ADH	+	+	+	+	-
Ornithine decarboxylase	ODC	+	+	+	-	-
Acetoin production	VP	+	+	+	-	-
Citrate use	CIT	+	+	+	-	-
Lysine decarboxylase	LDC	-	-	+	-	-
H ₂ S production	$\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{S}$	-	-	-	-	-
Urease	URE	-	-	-	-	-
Tryptophan desaminase	TDA	-	+	+	-	+
Indole	IND	-	-	+	-	-
Gelatinase	GEL	-	-	+	-	-
Glucose	GLU	-	+	-	-	-
Manitol	MAN	+	+	-	+	-
Inositol	INO	-	-	+	-	-
Sorbitol	SOR	+	+	+	-	-
Rhamnose	RHA	+	+	+	+	-
Sucrose	SAC	+	+	+	-	+
Meliobiose	MEL	+	+	+	-	-
Amygdalin	AMY	+	+	+	+	+
Arabinose	ARA	+	+	+	-	-
Melanoid pigment		-	-	+	-	-
Catalase		+	+	+	+	+
Oxydase		-	-	-	-	-

The growth temperatures tested (table 2) indicated that the strains SSB1 and NSR were able to grow from 7 to 37°C, SSB2, SSM from 28 to 37°C; while the strain SSG was able to grow from 28°C to 45°C. No growth, even moderate, was found at temperature below 28°C. All strains were mesophile except strain SSG which can be considered as thermotolerant bacteria. The thermotolerant actinomycetes play a significant role in the mineralization of nutrients and degradation of organic matter (Nayaka *et al.*, 2020).

Most of the strains were mesophiles, neutrophiles, growing in NaCl concentration ranged between 1 % and 10 %. However, some species showed a wide range of tolerance, like the eurythermal NSR strain which was psychrotolerant and mesophile. In terms of pH, the strains SSB2, SSG, SSM and NSR were acidotolerant and alkalitolerant. Also, all the strains were halotolerant which can be explained by the fact that estuary is a transition zone between two aquatic ecosystems: fresh and marine water. Estuarine systems are affected by riverine and marine influences such waves, influx of saline water, flows of fresh water and sediment which create an unstable environment (Sobha *et al.*, 2014). Our strains developed an adaptive capacity to balance the osmotic pressure of the environment. This phenomenon was reported by many studies (Enache and Kamekura 2010; Caton *et al.*, 2009; Elshahed *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, physiological and biochemical characteristics are directly related to the enzymatic activity of the bacteria and to the regulation proteins (Li *et al.*, 2016). Morphology, metabolism and physiology of *Actinobacteria* differ from one species to another so they can be considered as strong tools for *Actinobacteria* differentiation and taxonomy (Pridham *et al.*, 1958; Wink *et al.*, 2016).

 Table 2: Effects of temperature, pH and salinity on the growth of isolated strains (SSB1, SSB2, SSG, SSM and NSR)

		SSB1	SSB2	SSG	SSM	NSR
	7	++	-	-	-	++
Temperature	28	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++
(°C)	37	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++
	45	-	-	+++	+	+
	4.9	-	+	+	+	+
pН	7	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++
	9	++	+++	+++	+++	+++
	1	++++	++++	++++	++++	++++
$N_{0}C_{1}(9/)$	3	+++	++++	++++	+++	+++
NaCI (70)	5	+	++++	++++	++++	++
	7	+	+++	++++	+++	+
	10	+	+++	++++	++	+

- : No growth; +: poor growth; ++: Moderate growth; +++: Good growth; ++++: abundant growth.

3.3. molecular characterization

Following the sequencing of the entire 16S rRNA gene of the five isolated strains, the comparison with sequence available in the NCBI database the BLAST analysis showed that all the strains were related to the Actinobacteria phyla. The isolates SSB1, SSB2, SSG and SSM were affiliated within the Streptomyces genus. Indeed, the strain SSB1 (GenBank accession number MH398042) exhibited 92.50% of similarity with Streptomyces pratensis type strain and Streptomyces cyaneofuscatus type strain. The isolate SSB2 (GenBank accession number MH398493) showed 96.55% of similarity with Streptomyces pactum type strain, while the strain SSG presented (GenBank accession number MH398494) 96.54% of similarity with Streptomyces olivaceus type strain. The strain SSM (GenBank accession number MH398495) showed 95.67% of similarity with Streptomyces intermidius type strain. The fifth isolated strain NSR (GenBank accession number MH398496) was assigned to Nocardia genus, by presenting 95.29% of similarity with Nocardia thailandica type strain. It was placed with three strains: Nocardia thailandica type strain, Nocardia neocaledonensis type strain and Nocardia asteroides type strain. Comparing the data, the strain NSR was biochemically, physiologically and phylogenetically distinct from Nocardia thailandica type strain. Strains SSB2 and SSG were close to each other and share 97, 09% of similarity. The two other sequences related to the Streptomyces genus were widespread in the phylogenetic

tree and were grouped in 2 different clusters. The first group encompassed the SSB1 sequence which was closely related to *Streptomyces pratensis* type strain, *Streptomyces cyanofuscatus* type strain and *Streptomyces lavendulae* type strain, while the second group with the SSM sequence was located between *Streptomyces distaticus* (Krainsky, 1914) and *Streptomyces intermidus* (Waksman et Lechevalier, 1953) and *Streptomyces rutgersensis*16s rRNA gene sequences. The phylogenetic tree showed that the *Streptomycete* isolates (SSB1, SSB2, SSG and SSM) were distributed in different clusters. Moreover, they exhibited a significant difference with phenotypical, biochemical and physiological characteristics.

To distinguish between the closely related species of the genus *Streptomyces* and *Nocardia* cited above in tree, the polyphasic approach (Vandamme *et al.*, 1996; Goodfellow *et al.*, 2004) such as morphological, physiological, biochemical including genetic characterization were used to identify and classify the isolated species. Then, comparing the physiology, metabolic activities and 16S rRNA gene sequences of the isolates SSB1, SSB2, SSG, SSM, with the nearest *Streptomyces* strains and NSR with the closest *Nocardia* strains. The results show that each of our isolated strains have less than 97% of 16S rRNA gene similarity from their closest relatives in addition to several differentiating features (profile of carbon use, production of ADH, ODC, LDC and tyrosinase enzymes and culture characteristics). We deduct that the isolated strains SSB1, SSB2, SSG, SSM and NSR might be new species (Janda and Abbott, 2007).



0,02

Figure 3. Phylogenetic tree based on 16S rRNA sequences of actinomycetes isolates (*Streptomyces* sp. **SSB1**, *Streptomyces* sp. **SSB2**, *Streptomyces* sp **SSG**, *Streptomyces* sp **SSM** and *Nocardia* sp. **NSR**) using the Neighbor-Joining method (Saitou and Nei, 1987). The number on branch nodes were boostrap values (from 100 replicates) (Felsenstein, 1985). Evolutionary analyses were performed in **MEGA 6.1.** (Tamura *et al., 2013*). The genus *Bifidobacterium* type strain was used as an out-group.

3.4. antimicrobial Activity

The results of the screening for the antibacterial activity were represented in table 3. Strains SSB1, SSG, SSM and NSR exhibited different spectrum of antibacterial activity (table 3). *Escherichia coli* ATCC 25922 was inhibited by four isolates (SSB1, SSG, SSM and NSR), while all strains did not show any antibiosis activity against *P. Aeruginosa* ATCC 27857. Among the 5 isolates, strain SSG exhibited the largest antibacterial activity as it inhibited the growth of all tested pathogenic strain at the exception of *Staphylococcus aureus* ATCC 6538. The antibiotic resistance shown by *S. aureus* ATCC 6538, for which the growth was inhibited by none of the tested strains, was probably due to mutations by a modification in ribosomal RNA methylase (Heelan *et al.*, 2004; Martinez *et al.*, 2018), by acquisition of resistance genes (plasmid-

2019).

mediated resistance) (Foster, 2017), by the presence of

Staphylococcus biofilm's (Craft et al., 2019; Saxena et al.,

Table 3. Maximal diameter values in millimeters of the inhibition zones displayed by the 5 isolated Actinomycetes against pathogenic ATCC bacterial strains

	ISOLATED BACTERIAL STRAINS			CONTROLS			
	SSB1	SSB2	SSG	SSM	NSR	Positive	Negative
TESTED BACTERIA							
Escherichia coli ATCC 25922	8	-	8	7	10	+	-
Staphylococcus aureus ATCC 6538	-	-	-	-	-	+	-
Salmonella typhimurium ATCC 9289	4	-	11	-	-	+	-
Bacillus subtilis ATCC 6633	3	-	12	-	-	+	-
Pseudomonas aeruginosa ATCC 14028	-	-	8	-	-	+	-

The largest inhibition zones were obtained with the strain SSG against 4 bacterial pathogenic species; B. subtilis ATCC 6633, S. typhi ATCC 9289, E. coli ATCC 25922, P. aerugenosa ATCC 14028 (8-12mm, figure 4). Antibacterial activity was early observed with E. coli ATCC25922. In fact, after 24 hours of incubation, the maximum of bacterial growth inhibition reached and then decreased gradually, to finally disappear at day 9. Streptomyces strains are known to produce bacteriocin as a protein produced by ribosomes with large bactericidal spectrum activity against both Gram negative and positive bacteria (Jung et al., 1992; Lee et al., 2014; Hernandez-Saldana et al., 2020). Antibacterial activity of the strain SSG against B. subtilis ATCC 6633 occurs after 2 incubation days and after 4 days against S. typhi ATCC 9289. This bioactivity was optimal at day 7 and decreases

gradually after. Likewise P. aerugenosa ATCC 14028 was susceptible to strain SSG bioactive compounds after 6 incubation days with maximum inhibition effect at day 10 and then decreases. Owing that the antibacterial activity of the strain SSG beginning at day 1, against only one of the bacterial strains tested (Escherichia coli ATCC 25922) and then through the incubation time, affecting the other bacterial strains, we suspected that a mix of bioactive metabolites was produced by the isolate SSG at different bacterial growth steps. Streptomyces are known to produce antimicrobial secondary metabolites, as single or mix (Macagnan et al., 2006; Procopio et al., 2012; Song et al., 2013; Song et al., 2015). Previous studies showed that different strains of Streptomyces albus possess different gene cluster encoding the production of specific secondary metabolites (Seipke, 2015).



Figure 4: Antibacterial production of strain SSG through the cultivation time: (a) against *E. coli*. (b) against *S. typhi*. (c) against *B. subtilis*. (d) against *P. Aeruginosa*

4. Conclusion

This work showed that the studied estuarian actinomycete strains could be new species of the genus

Streptomyces and *Nocardia*. On the basis of phenotypic characteristics, growth parameters (temperature, pH, salinity), metabolic and antimicrobial activity in addition to the 16s rRNA gene sequences analysis of the 5 isolated strains (SSB1, SSB2, SSG, SSM and NSR) we conclude

that these ones can be new strains belonging to *Actinobacteria* phyla. The strains SSB1, SSB2, SSG and SSM were affiliated within the *Streptomyces* genus and strain NSR within *Nocardia* genus. Owing the 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity with their closest neighbor sequence, the strains SSB1, SSB2, SSG, SSM and NSR could be considered as 5 novel species. However, more analysis, like DNA-DNA hybridization is needed to prove that. In addition, our investigation showed that the estuarine sediment harbored actinomycetes that could produce secondary metabolites with antibacterial activity.

The optimization of the culture conditions (temperature, shaking, pH and medium composition) was conducted (data not shown), and the characterization of the antimicrobial molecules is in progress. Further purification, characterization and structural elucidation of biomolecules are needed to explore the antimicrobial activity of these molecules.

5. Compliance with ethical standards

6. Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Acknowledgments

We gratefully thank the Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research, DGRSDT (general directorate of Scientific Research and technological development) and the National Museum of Natural History, Station de Biologie Marine de Concarneau, France for financial support.

References

Abdelfattah MS. 2014. Isolation and crystal structure of a new anthraquinone derivative from actinomycete. *Chem Nat Compd.*, **50**: 613-616.

Abdelfattah MS, Arai MA and Ishibashi M. 2016. Bioactive secondary metabolites with unique aromatic and heterocyclic structures obtained from terrestrial actinomycetes species. *Chem. Pharm. Bull.*, **64**(7): 668-675.

Altschul SF, Gish W, Miller W, Myers EW and Lipman DJ. 1990. Basic local alignment search tool. *J Mol Biol.*, **215**(3): 403-410.

Bentley SD, Chater KF, Cerdeno AM and Arraga T. 2002. Complete genome sequence of the model actinomycete *Streptomyces coelicolor* A3 (2). *Nature*, **417** (85): 141–147.

Blunt JW, Copp BR, Keyzers RA, Munroa MH and Prinsepd MR. 2016. *Nat Prod Rep.*, **33**: 382–431.

Caton TM, Caton I, Witte LR and Schneegurt MA. 2009. Archaeal diversity at the Great Salt Plains of Oklahoma described by cultivation and molecular analyses. *Microb Ecol.*, **58**(3): 519–528.

Cook AE and Meyers PR. 2003. Rapid identification of filamentous actinomycetes to the genus level using genus-specific 16S rRNA gene restriction fragment patterns. *Int J Syst Evol Microbiol.*, **53**: 1907–1915.

Cuesta G, García-de-la-Fuente R, Abad M and Fornes F. 2010. Isolation and identification of actinomycetes from a compostamended soil with potential as biocontrol agents. *J Environ Manage.*,**11**: 10-16. Craft KM, Nguyen JM, Berg LJ and Townsend SD. 2019. Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA): antibiotic-resistance and the biofilm phenotype. *Med chem comm.* **10**: 1231–1241.

Ellaiah P, Kalyan D, Rao VSV and Rao BVLN. 1996. Isolation and characterization of bioactive actinomycetes from marine sediments. *Hindustan Antibiot Bull.*, **38**(1-4): 48- 52.

Elshahed MS, Najar FZ, Roe BA, Oren A, Dewers TA and Krumholz LR. 2004. Survey of archaeal diversity reveals an abundance of halophilic Archaea in a low-salt, sulfide-and sulfurrich spring. *Appl Environ Microbiol.*, **70**(4): 2230–2239.

Enache M and Kamekura M. 2010. Hydrolytic enzymes of halophilic microorganisms and their economic values. *Rom J Biochem.*, **47**: 47–59.

Felsenstein J. 1985. Confidence limits on phylogenies: An approach using the bootstrap. *Evol.*, **39**: 783-791.

Foster TJ. 2017. Antibiotic resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus*. Current status and future prospects. *FEMS Microb Rev.*, **41**:430–449.

Gamaleldin NM, Bakeer W, Sayed AM, Shamikh YI, El-Gendy AO, Hassan HM, Horn H, Abdelmohsen UR and Hozzein WN. 2020. Exploration of Chemical Diversity and Antitrypanosomal Activity of Some Red Sea-Derived Actinomycetes Using the OSMAC Approach Supported by LC-MS-Based Metabolomics and Molecular Modelling. *Antibiotics*, **9**: 629.

Ganesan P., Reegan and Antony Davis R.H. 2016. Antimicrobial activity of some actinomycets from Western Ghats of Tamil Nadu, India. *Alexandria J Med.*, **53**: 101-110.

Girao M, Ribeiro I, Ribeiro T, Azevedo IC, Pereira F, Urbatzka R, Leão PN and Carvalho MF. 2019. *Actinobacteria* Isolated From *Laminaria ochroleuca*: A Source of New Bioactive Compounds. *Front Microbiol.*, **10**: 683.

Gomez-Escribano JP, Alt S and Bibb MJ. 2016. Next Generation Sequencing of *Actinobacteria* for the Discovery of Novel Natural Products. *Mar Drugs*, **78** (14): 2–19.

Goodfellow M, Jones AL, Maldonado LA and Salanitro J. 2004. *Rhodococcusaethrivoran* ssp. nov., a new species that contains methyl-t-butyl ether degrading actinomycetes. *Syst Appl Microbiol.*, **27**: 61–65.

Heelan JS, Hasenbein ME and McAdam AJ. 2004. Resistance of group B *Streptococcus* to selected antibiotics, including erythromycin and clindamycin. *J Clin Microbiol.*, **42**: 1263–1264.

Hernández-Saldaña OF, Barboza-Corona JE, Bideshi DK and Casados-Vázquez LE. 2020. New bacteriocin-like substances produced by *Streptomyces* species with activity against pathogens. *Folia Microbiol.*, **65**: 669–678.

Hopwood DA. 2007. Therapeutic treasures from the deep. *Nat Chem Biol.*, **3**(8): 457–458.

Janda JM and Abbott SL. 2007. 16S rRNA gene sequencing for bacterial identification in the diagnostic laboratory: pluses, perils, and pitfalls. *J Clin Microbiol*, **45**(9): 2761-2764.

Jung K, Tahara T and Yoshida K. 1992. Plasmid-associated bacteriocin production and immunity of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* TK8912. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem.*, **70**: 337-349.

Kämpfer P, Whitman WB, Goodfellow M, Busse HJ, Trujillo ME, Ludwig W and Suzuki KI. 2015. The *Actinobacteria*. In: John wiley and Sons (Eds.), **Bergey's Manual of Systematics of Archea and Bacteria**. Springer . New York, p. 1750.

Kelly K and Judd D. 1955. The ISCC-NBS color names dictionary and the universal color language. NBS Circular 553.

Larkin MA, Blackshields G, Brown NP, Chenna R, McGettigan PA, McWilliam H, Valentin F, Wallace IM, Wilm A, Lopez R,

Thompson JD, Gibson TJ and Higgins DG. 2007. Clustal W and Clustal X version 2.0. *Bioinformatics*, **23**: 2947-2948.

Lee LH, Zainal N and Azman AS 2014. Streptomyces pluripotens sp.nov., a bacteriocin-producing Streptomycete that inhibits meticillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol., 64: 3297–3306.

Lee LH, Chan KG, Stach J, Wellington EMH and Goh BH. 2018. Editorial: The Search for Biological Active Agent(s) From *Actinobacteria*. *Front Microbiol.*, **9**: 824.

Li Q, Chen X, Jiang Y and Jiang C. 2016. Cultural, Physiological and Biochemical Identification of Actinobacteria. In : Dhanasekaran D and Jiang Y (Eds.), Basics and Biotechnological applications. EBook.

Macagnan D, Romeiro RDS, de Souza JT and Pomella AW. 2006. Isolation of actinomycetes and endosporeforming bacteria from the cacao pod surface and their antagonistic activity against the witches' broom and black pod pathogens. *Phytoparasitica*, **34**(2): 122–132.

Martinez N, Luque R, Milani C, Ventura M, Banuelos O, and Margolles A. 2018. A gene homologous to rRNA methylase genes confers erythromycin and clindamycin resistance in *Bifidobacterium breve. Appl Environ Microbiol.*, **84**: 166–176.

Nayaka S, Nagaraja SK, Chakraborty B, Bhat MP, Swamy PS, Airodagi D, Hiremath H, Rudrappa M, Basavarajappa DS and Pednekar AR. 2020. Antimicrobial and Enzymaticpotential of *Streptomyces* sp. KAS-1 isolated from the microbiologically unexplored estuary of Kali river ecosystem. *Int J Res Pharm Sci.*, **11**(2): 1655-1666.

Newman DJ. 2016. Developing natural product drugs: Supply problems and how they have been overcome. *Pharmacol Ther.*, **162**: 1–9.

Ozcan K, Aksoy SC & Orçun Kalkan O, Uzel A, Hames-Kocabas EE and Bedir E. 2013. Diversity and antibiotic-producing potential of cultivable marine-derived actinomycetes from coastal sediments of Turkey. *J Soils Sediments*, **13**:1493–150.

Prasad P, Singh T and Bedi S. 2013. Characterization of the cellulolytic enzyme produced by Streptomyces griseorubens(Accession No. AB184139) isolated from Indian soil. Jordan J Biol Sci., 25: 245-250.

Pridham T, Hesseltine C and Benedict R. 1958. A guide for the classification of *Streptomycetes* according to selected groups. Placement of strains in morphological sections. *Appl Microbiol.*, 6(1): 52.

Procopio RE, Silva IR and Martins MK. 2012. Antibiotics producedby *Streptomyces. Braz J Infect Dis.*,**164**: 66-71.

Ramachandran G, Rajivgandhi G, Maruthupandy M, Manoharan N. 2019. Extraction and partial purification of secondary metabolites from endophytic actinomycetes of marine green algae *Caulerpa racemosa* against multi drug resistant uropathogens. Biocatal Agric Biotechnol., 17.

Rangseekaew P and Pathom-aree W. 2019. Cave Actinobacteria as Producers of Bioactive Metabolites. Front Microbiol., **10**: 387.

Rosmine E and Saramma AV. 2016. Isolation of actinomycetes from mangroves and estuarine sediments of Cochin and screening for antimicrobial activity. *J Coast Life Med.*, 4(3): 201-207.

Rotich M, Magiri E, Bii C and Naomi M. 2017. Bio-Prospecting for Broad Spectrum Antibiotic Producing actinomycetes Isolated from Virgin Soils in Kericho County, Kenya. *Adv Microbiol.*, **7**: 56-70.

Saitou N and Nei M. 1987. The neighbor-joining method: A new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. *Mol Biol Evol.*,**4**: 406-425.

Saxena P, Joshi Y, Rawat K and Bisht R. 2019. Biofilms: architecture, resistance, quorum sensing and control mechanisms. *Indian J. Microbiol.*, **59**: 3–12.

Seipke RF. 2015. Strain-level diversity of secondary metabolism in *Streptomyces albus. PLoS One*, 10(1): e0116457.

Sharma M. 2016. Actinomycetes: source, identification, and their applications. J Curr Microbiol App Sci., 3: 801-832.

Shepherd MD, Kharel MK and Bosserman MA *et al.* 2010. Laboratorymaintenance of *Streptomyces* species. *Curr Protoc Microbiol.*, **10**: 11-18.

Shirling EB and Gottlieb D. 1966. Methods for characterization of *Streptomyces* species. *Int J Syst Bacteriol.*, **16** (3): 313-340.

Song Y, Huang H and Chen Y et al. 2013. Cytotoxic and antibacterial marfuraquinocins from the deep South China seaderived *Streptomyces niveus* SCSIO 3406. *J Nat Prod.*, **76**(12): 2263–2268.

Song Y, Liu G and Li J. 2015. Cytotoxic and antibacterial angucycline and prodigiosin analogues from the deep sea derived *Streptomyces* sp. SCSIO11594. *Marine Drugs*, **13**(3): 1304–1316.

Sosio M, Bossi E, Bianchi A, Donadio S. 2000. Multiple peptide synthetase gene clusters in actinomycetes. *Mol Gen Genet.*, **264**:213–221.

Tamura K, Stecher G, Peterson D, Filipski A and Kumar S. 2013. MEGA6: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis Version 6.0. *Mol Biol Evol.*, **30**(12): 2725–2729.

Valan Arasu M, Jung MW, Ilavenil S, Jane M, D.-H. Kim DH, Lee KD, Park HS, Hur TY, Choi GJ, Lim YC, Al-Dhabi NA and Choi KC. 2013. Isolation and characterization of antifungal compound from Lactobacillus plantarum KCC-10 from forage silage with potential beneficial properties. *J Appl Microbiol.*, 115: 1172–1185.

Vandamme P, Pot B, Gillis M, De Vos P, Kersters K and Swings J. 1996. Polyphasic taxonomy, a consensus approach to bacterial systematics. *Microbiol Rev*, **60**: 407–38.

Weisburg WG, Barns SM, Pelletier DA and Lane DJ. 1991. 16s Ribosomal DNA Amplification For Phylogenetic Study. *J Bacteriol.*, **173**(2): 697-703.

Wink J, Mohammadipanah F and Hamedi J. 2016. Biology and biotechnology of *Actinobacteria*. Springer international publishing, Switzerland. Ebook.

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

Biological Activities and Metabolite Profiling of *Polycarpa aurata* (Tunicate, Ascidian) from Barrang Caddi, Spermonde Archipelago, Indonesia

Mada Triandala Sibero^{1,2,*}, Agus Trianto¹, Evan Hansel Frederick^{1,2}, Aldi Pratama Wijaya^{1,2}, Arif Nur Muhammad Ansori³, Yasuhiro Igarashi⁴

¹Department of Marine Science, Faculty of Fisheries and Marine Science, Universitas Diponegoro. Jl. Prof. Soedarto S.H., Tembalang, Semarang 50275, Central Java, Indonesia; ²Natural Product Laboratory, Integrated Laboratory for Research and Services, Universitas Diponegoro. Jl. Prof. Soedarto S.H., Tembalang, Semarang 50275, Central Java, Indonesia; ³Doctoral Program in Veterinary Science, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universitas Airlangga, Surabaya, Indonesia; ⁴Biotechnology Research Center, Department of Biotechnology, Toyama Prefectural University, Imizu, Toyama, Japan

Received: September 26, 2020; Revised: March 4, 2020; Accepted: April 20, 2021

Abstract

The U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has legalized several bioactive compounds from marine organisms, and two of them were isolated from tunicate (ascidians). However, the bioactive compounds from marine tunicate are less reported than other marine organisms. This study was conducted to screen biological activities and secondary metabolite of Indonesia's marine tunicate *Polycarpa aurata* from Barrang Caddi, South Sulawesi. Sample was extracted using methanol for 24 h by maceration. The bioactive compounds were characterized using phytochemical tests and HPLC-DAD. Antibacterial activity was performed against multidrug-resistant (MDR) Methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA), *Bacillus cereus, Salmonella typhi*, together with a non-MDR *Escherichia coli*, while antifungal against *C. albicans* and *T. rubrum*. Antioxidant activity was analyzed using DPPH method; and cytotoxicity against P388 murine leukemia cells using XTT method. The crude extract inhibited all pathogenic bacteria in its lowest concentration (0.5 mg) but did not show antifungal effect, toxicity at 0.08 mg/mL; antioxidant 534.60 ppm. The result of phytochemical test gave positive result for alkaloid and steroid/triterpenoid. In addition, HPLC chromatograms indicated 6 major peaks.

Keywords: antibacterial, cytotoxic, Leukemia, MDR bacteria

1. Introduction

In exploring novel medicine to treat various infections and diseases, marine natural product (MNP) has seized the world's attention through its incredible bioactive compounds (Blunt et al., 2018; Pereira, 2019). Their secondary metabolites exhibit potential biological activities such as antibacterial, anticancer, antitumor, antiviral, immunostimulant, etc (Blunt et al., 2018; Carroll et al., 2019; Hanif et al., 2019). Furthermore, Carroll et al., (2020) stated that bacteria, fungi, sponge, cnidarian, and algae were highlighted as the most productive source of new MNPs. For instance, 8 MNPs have been approved by European Medicines Agency (EMEA), Japanese Ministry of Health and Australia's Therapeutic Goods Administration, and U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) (Pereira, 2019). In addition, several other MNPs such as Plinabulin, Plocabulin, and Salinosporamide A are still under clinical trial before legalized and approved by authorized institutions (Jiménez, 2018; Pereira, 2019).

Prior reports stated discovering new compounds from marine tunicates (ascidian) is less reported than sponge and cnidarian (Blunt et al., 2018; Carroll et al., 2019; Carroll et al., 2020). In 2018, there were only 27 new MNPs from tunicate (Carroll et al., 2019), while in 2019, only 12 new MNPs were recorded (Carroll et al., 2020). Despite the low number of new MNP from tunicate, the metabolites from this sessile animal exhibited outstanding biological activities (Arumugam et al., 2017; Leisch et al., 2019). Moreover, two tunicate-derived MNPs have been approved by internationally authorized institutions for drugs. Besides, other tunicate-derived compounds such as Didemnin B from Trididemnum solidum are examined in Phase II and Phase III for clinical trial as anticancer (Arumugam et al., 2017; Jiménez, 2018; Leisch et al., 2019). Most of the studies on biological activity from tunicate-derived MNPs are focused on anticancer; however, other properties are pretty neglected (Palanisamy et al., 2017). Hence, screening of biological properties from marine tunicate is essential.

Although Indonesia harbors various tunic species, a survey by Hanif et al. (2019) indicated a lack of MNP data from this animal. Palanisamy et al. (2017) stated that among all reported MNPs from marine tunicate, only 12% of them were isolated from family Stylidae. *Polycarpa aurata* is one of marine tunicate from family Stylidae that is scattered in the center and eastern part of Indonesia nevertheless, only a few studies reported its biological

^{*} Corresponding author e-mail: madatriandalasibero@lecturer.undip.ac.id.

activity (Litaay, 2018; Litaay et al., 2018; Ayuningrum et al., 2019; Sumilat et al., 2019). Therefore, the study of biological properties of Indonesia's *P. aurata* is interesting to be conducted. This current study aimed to obtain a crude extract of *P. aurata* collected in Barrang Caddi, analyse the bioactive compounds, and study the biological properties such as antibacterial, antifungal, anticancer, and antioxidant.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Sampling

Sampling was conducted in Barrang Caddi waters, Spermonde Archipelago, South Sulawesi, Indonesia (Figure 1). *P. aurata* was collected by SCUBA diving. Samples were put into ziplock plastics, then transferred into a cold box to retain the quality then sent to Laboratory of Tropical Marine Biotechnology (TMB), Universitas Diponegoro, Semarang. The sample was identified by comparing the morphology to a previous report by Ayuningrum et al. (2019).

2.2. Metabolite Extraction

Samples were cleaned using flowing marine and freshwater. The internal organs were discarded while the other part (flesh) was resized and homogenized using a blender machine. The extraction was conducted using methanol (2:1 %v/w) then agitated using an orbital shaker for 24 h (Sibero et al., 2019^1). The metabolites were concentrated using a rotary evaporator. Afterward, ethyl acetate was added into the unevaporated part then agitated for 1h and separated using separatory funnel. The ethyl acetate layer was collected, then evaporated to get the crude extract then kept at -20 before use for further analysis (Sibero et al., 2020^1).



Figure 1. Sampling site in Barrang Caddi, Spermonde Archipelago, South Sulawesi, Indonesia

2.3. Bioassay

2.3.1. Antimicrobial activity

Antimicrobial activity consisted of an antibacterial assay against multidrug-resistant (MDR) *B. cereus*, Methicillin-Resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA), *Salmonella typhi* and non-MDR *E. coli* obtained from Dr. Kariadi Hospital, Semarang, Indonesia; while antifungal assay against *C. albicans* and *T. rubrum* were from Toyama Prefectural University, Japan. The assay was conducted using the Kirby-Bauer disc diffusion method with a modification that has been published in our previous report (Sibero et al., 2019^1 ; Sibero et al., 2020^1). The crude extract was diluted in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) with 4 concentrations (0.5; 1.0; 1.5 and 2.0 mg/mL) then 15 µL of each concentration was injected into paper disc (Advantec, Ø 6mm). Amoxicillin + clavulanic acid 30 µg/disc (Oxoid) was carried out as positive control for antibacterial and Cyclohexamide (Wako, Japan) 30 µg/mL was prepared as positive control for antifungal. The presence of a clear zone around the paper disc indicated the presence of antimicrobial.

2.3.2. Antioxidant activity

Antioxidant activity was determined using 2,2diphenyl-1-picryl-hydrazyl-hydrate (DPPH) free radical method according to Sejati et al. (2020). A total of 3.94 mg DPPH crystal was dissolved into 10 mL absolute methanol (Merck) to prepare a DPPH stock solution with a concentration 0.1 mM. Extract was dissolved in methanol to reach the concentration of 200, 400, 600, 800 and 1000 ppm. In total 160 μ L of each concentration was transferred into a 96-wells plate, then 40 μ L of DPPH stock was added to reach 200 μ L/well. Then it was kept for 30 mins in an incubator (37 °C) without any light exposure. Afterward, the absorbance was measured at 517 nm using a microplate reader with three replications. The IC₅₀ values for antioxidant activity were calculated by linear regression method.

DPPH Scavenging effect =
$$\frac{A_{control} - A_{test}}{A_{control}} \times 100$$

2.3.3. Cytotoxicity

The cytotoxic potential of *P. aurata* methanol extract was tested against P388 murine leukemia cells. This step was done according to our previous works with XTT cell proliferation assay (Sibero et al., 2020^1 ; Sibero et al., 2020^2). The crude extract was diluted in DMSO to reach concentration of 0.0002; 0.002; 0.02; and 2 mg/mL. Doxorubicin was used as positive control while DMSO as negative control. The cell viability was counted using a microplate reader at 540 nm. The results of experiments were plotted on single-logarithmic charts to deduce IC₅₀ values.

2.4. Metabolite Profiling

2.4.1. Phytochemical test

The presence of bioactive compounds in the crude extract such as alkaloid, flavonoid, glycoside, saponin, steroid and triterpenoid were detected by phytochemical test, following our previous study (Sibero et al., 2019¹; Sibero et al., 2020²).

2.4.2. High Performance-Liquid Chromatography with Diode Array Detector (HPLC-DAD)

Metabolite profile of *P. aurata* crude extract was carried out using HPLC-DAD (Sibero et al., 2020^{1} ; Sibero et al., 2020^{3}). The crude extract was prepared in DMSO to reach concentration of 1 mg/mL, filtered using cosmonice filter pore size 0.45 μ m (Nacalai Tesque, Inc) then injected into HPLC-DAD (Agilent 1100 Series). Acetonitrile (CH₃CN) and 0.1% formic acid buffer were applied as the

eluent while COSMOSIL 3C18-AR-II (4.6ID \times 100 mm) from Nacalai Tesque was set as the column. The sample was analyzed with the following condition: 0-40 % of acetonitrile for 0- 25 min, 40-85 % for 25-28 min, 85 % for 28-30 min, and 85-90 % for 30-35 min with flow rate was 1.2 mL/min and pressure 160 bar. Metabolite in the crude extract was compared to the database in the computer.

3. Result

3.1. Sample identification

Barrang Caddis is one of the small islands in the Spermonde Archipelago, South Sulawesi Indonesia with abundance of marine resources. In this location, samples were collected at 5-10 m depth. The samples had an urn shape and two siphons at the top with yellow color in the inner part. Blue and white colors dominated the body while blue line color separated the compartment in the tunic (Figure 2). Samples were found attached on coral as solitary tunicate and co-presence with other organisms.



Figure 2. Morphology of *Polycarpa aurata* from Barrang Caddi, Spermonde Archipelago

3.2. Antibacterial activity

The samples were extracted using methanol to obtain the secondary metabolites then tested their biological activities. The antimicrobial activity of *P. aurata* is presented in Table 1, while Figure 3 shows the inhibition zone of each extract concentration.



Figure 3. Result of antibacterial activity against pathogenic bacteria

(A. Bacillus cereus, B. MRSA, C. Escherichia coli, D. Salmonella typhi)

((1) DMSO, (2) 0.5 mg/mL, (3) 1.0 mg/mL, (4) 1.5 mg/mL, (5) 2.0 mg/mL)

 Table 1. Antimicrobial activity of P. aurata crude extract against pathogens after 24 h incubation

		Diameter of
Pathogen	Concentration (mg/mL)	Inhibition Zone
		(mm)
Bacillus cereus	DMSO	$0.00\pm0.00^{\rm a}$
	0.5	3.90 ± 1.50^{b}
	1.0	$5.90 \pm 1.20^{\rm c}$
	1.5	$6.15 \pm 0.21^{\circ}$
	2.0	6.65 ± 0.49^{d}
	Amoxicillin + clavulanic	$6.20 \pm 0.70^{\circ}$
	acid 30 µg/disc	
MRSA	DMSO	0.00 ± 0.00^{a}
	0.5	7.05 ± 0.07^{b}
	1.0	$9.75 \pm 0.35^{\circ}$
	1.5	$9.95 \pm 0.91^{\circ}$
	2.0	11.5 ± 0.75^{d}
	Amoxicillin + clavulanic	$7.80 \pm 1.13^{\circ}$
	acid 30 µg/disc	
Escherichia coli	DMSO	0.00 ± 0.00^{a}
	0.5	$6.30\pm0.98^{\mathrm{b}}$
	1.0	7.55 ± 1.48^{b}
	1.5	$11.65 \pm 0.49^{\circ}$
	2.0	$12.60 \pm 1.41^{\circ}$
	Amoxicillin + clavulanic	21.65 ± 0.49^{d}
	acid 30 µg/disc	
Salmonella typhi	DMSO	0.00 ± 0.00^{a}
	0.5	2.25 ± 0.77^{b}
	1.0	$5.75 \pm 0.21^{\circ}$
	1.5	7.60 ± 1.41^{d}
	2.0	7.10 ± 0.84^{d}
	Amoxicillin + clavulanic	$5.80\pm0.28^{\rm c}$
	acid 30 µg/disc	
Carriel I. I. alle in	DMSO	0.00 ± 0.00
Canaiaa albicans	0.5	0.00 ± 0.00
	1.0	0.00 ± 0.00
	1.5	0.00 ± 0.00
	2.0	0.00 ± 0.00
	Nystatin 30 µg/mL	18.00 ± 0.00
Trichophyton	DMSO	0.00 ± 0.00
rubrum	0.5	0.00 ± 0.00
	1.0	0.00 ± 0.00
	1.5	0.00 ± 0.00
	2.0	0.00 ± 0.00
	Nystatin 30 µg/mL	18.00 ± 0.00
(/D-t	- total and deviation Diffe	

((Data were average \pm standard deviation. Different notations indicate significant difference at P < 0.05)

The data (Table 1) shows that the crude extract of *P*. *aurata* inhibited all pathogenic bacteria; however, it did not show antifungal activity against *C. albicans* and *T. rubrum*. It was highlighted that the crude extract gave the best antibacterial activity against *E. coli*, followed by MRSA, then *S. typhi* while the narrowest antibacterial was shown against *B. cereus*. It was also noted that the enhancement of crude extract concentration was in line with increasing the inhibition zone diameter.

3.3. Antioxidant activity

Another important biological activity is antioxidants. The result of antioxidant activity of the crude extract is shown in Table 2 and Figure 4.

© 2022 Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences. All rights reserved - Volume 15, Number 1

Table 2. Antioxidant activity of P. aurata crude extract					
Concentration (ppm)	Inhibition (%)	IC ₅₀ (ppm)			
200	$21.63 \pm 2,85$				
400	$44{,}23\pm2.05$				
600	58.42 ± 1.32	534.60 ppm			
800	67.95 ± 1.19				
1000	80.93 ± 1.32				



Figure 4. IC_{50} value of *P. aurata* crude extract using DPPH method

The ability of *P. aurata* crude extract on inhibiting DPPH was applied to screen the antioxidant activity. The result in Table 2 and Figure 4 shows that this extract had IC_{50} value of 534.60 ppm. It means that the crude extract scavenged 50% of DPPH activity at that particular concentration.

3.4. Cytotoxicity

The ability of *P. aurata* crude extract against P388 murine leukemia cancer cells is presented in Figure 5. It was noted that the crude extract exhibited anticancer potential with IC_{50} value of 0.08 mg/mL or equal to 80 µg/mL.



Figure 5. Cytotoxicity of *P. aurata* crude extract against P388 murine leukemia cancer cell

3.5. Metabolite profile

The presence of antibacterial, antioxidant, and cytotoxic properties leads to an understanding that *P. aurata* from Barrang Caddi is a potential source of bioactive compounds. Hence, profiling the secondary metabolites was conducted in this study. A fundamental analysis to detect the presence of bioactive compounds was performed using the phytochemical test. The result of this test is presented by Table 3.

	Table 3.	Phytochemical	content of P.	aurata crude	extract
--	----------	---------------	---------------	--------------	---------

Target	Indicator	Result
Alkaloid	Formation of yellow to orange feculence after addition of Dragendorff reagent	Detected
Flavonoid	Formation of yellow to orange color in amyl alcohol layer	Not Detected
Glycoside	Formation of a brown ring between the layer	Not Detected
Saponin	Formation of a stable foam after 30 min and addition of 2N HCl	Not Detected
Steroid/Triter penoid	Formation of green color at the upper layer and maroon to brown color at the lower layer	Detected



Figure 6. Metabolite profile of *P. aurata* crude extract using HPLC

According to the phytochemical test, the crude extract of *P. aurata* contained alkaloid and steroid/triterpenoid. Further, the HPLC chromatogram of the crude extract is presented by Figure 6. The HPLC analysis discovered 6 major peaks from *P. aurata* at retention time of 7.07 min (peak A), 8.97 min (peak B), 9.21 min (peak C), 13.71 min (peak D), 23.48 min (peak E) and 26.63 min (peak F).

4. Discussion

Morphology and molecular studies by Ayuningrum et al. (2019) successfully explained that the diverse color variations in P. aurata are probably induced by multiple allele inheritance with codominance. The existence of marine tunicate P. aurata in Barrang Caddi has been reported before, moreover, this species was noted as a cosmopolitan tunicate in Spermonde archipelago, South Sulawesi (Litaay, 2018). In addition, several tunic color variations of P. aurata are blue color with blue lines, orange color, yellow color with a blue line and white spots and blue lines (Ayuningrum et al., 2019). This species was also found in Indonesia, such as Bali, North Sulawesi, South Sulawesi, and Maluku (Wainwright et al., 2013; Litaay, 2018; Ayuningrum et al., 2019; Casertano et al., 2019; Sumilat et al., 2019). Even though this species has been studied widely, there are only a few reports about its biological activity, especially as antimicrobial and antioxidant agents.

The methanol crude extract was noted to possess alkaloid and steroid/triterpenoid (Table 3). Alkaloid derivatives compounds were commonly isolated from P. aurata such as N,N-Didesmethylgrossularine-1 (DDMG-1); polycarpaurines A-C; polyaurines A-B; and polycarpathiamines A-B (Wang et al., 2007; Pham et al., 2013; Casertano et al., 2019; Sumilat et al., 2019). Palanisamy et al. (2017) noted that most of the reported compounds from tunicates were alkaloid, consisting of indole 48%, pyrocridine 18%, β-carboline 8%, and saturosporine 5%. In addition, steroid only possesses 2% of the total tunicate-derived MNPs. Other chemical classes from marine tunicate were peptide 4%, alkene 3%, alkyl sulfate 3%, polyketide 2%, polysaccharide 2%, esters 1% and spiroketal 1%. In addition, HPLC chromatogram (Figure 6) endorsed the presence of secondary metabolites in P. aurata. The HPLC chromatogram and U.V. spectrum could be used to isolate the lead compounds from the sample. Previous studies successfully isolated new compounds from marine organisms through HPLC-UV guided isolation method (Sibero et al., 2019; Karim et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2020). Furthermore, bioguided fractionation could also be combined with HPLC to obtain active fractionations based on the retention time (Sibero et al., 2020). Therefore, a further study is suggested to isolate the lead compounds. The presence of bioactive compounds in P. aurata crude extract is expected to influence its biological activities.

It was highlighted that the crude extract only inhibited the bacterial growth; however, it did not show any antifungal effect to C. albicans and T. rubrum. The ability of the crude extract on inhibiting gram positive pathogens (B. cereus, MRSA) and gram negative pathogens (E. coli and S. typhi) indicated the broad-spectrum antibacterial property (Kaur et al., 2011). Our data shows that the crude extract could inhibit MDR pathogens such as B. cereus, MRSA, and S. typhi. This result was expected to strengthen P. aurata as a prospective source of new antibiotics to overcome multidrug-resistance (MDR) bacterial infection. Although there are several studies about P. aurata crude extract's antimicrobial property nonetheless, there is no study about the lead compound of antibacterial activity within the past 5 years (Casertano et al. 2020). Palanisamy et al. (2017) stated that among all tunicate-derived MNPs, only 12% had antibacterial activity, and 3% had antifungal effect. Antifungal compounds combat the pathogens by inhibiting and or disrupt ergosterol, glucan, chitin, nucleic acids, and protein synthesis (Kathiravan et al., 2012). Some compounds reported to have antifungal activity are arylamidine, azoles, echinocandin, enfumafungin pyrrole, and quinazoline derivatives (Kathiravan et al., 2012; Castelli et al., 2016). These compound derivatives are barely isolated from Polycarpa spp. In addition, Casertano et al. (2020) stated that most antimicrobial compounds from ascidian are sulfur-containing compounds, meroterpenes, alkaloids, peptides, furanones derivatives. Therefore, only a few antifungal compounds were discovered from ascidian (Palanisamy et al., 2017).

The screening of antioxidant activity gave IC₅₀ value of 534.60 ppm. A substance will be considered as a powerful antioxidant agent if it has IC₅₀ values < 50 ppm, strong activity if the IC₅₀ value is 50-100 ppm, moderate activity if the IC₅₀ value is 100-150 ppm, and weak if the IC₅₀

value is > 150 ppm (Haerani et al., 2019). Hence, our crude extract was not suggested as a candidate for a new antioxidant agent. Study of antioxidant property of marine tunicate is less popular than other biological activity. The latest update stated that only 2% of all reported compounds had antioxidant properties (Palanisamy et al., 2017). The presence of hydroxyl (HO) functional group in a compound is positively correlated to antioxidant activity; therefore, most phenolic-derivate compounds such as flavonoid have strong antioxidant activity (Chandra et al., 2020). Flavonoid was not detected in the crude extract; hence, it generally explains the infectivity of *P. aurata* as an antioxidant agent.

The anticancer property of P. aurata was evaluated by cytotoxicity test against P388 murine leukemia cancer cells. There are 4 categories of cytotoxicity according to U.S. National Cancer Institute, namely non-toxic if the IC_{50} value is > 500 µg/mL, weak cytotoxic if the IC_{50} value is 201-500 μ g/mL, moderate cytotoxic if the IC₅₀ is 21-200 μ g/mL and very toxic if it has IC₅₀ value < 20 µg/mL (Sajjadi et al., 2015; Alabsi et al., 2016; Amaani and Dwira, 2018; Widiyastuti et al., 2019). This bioassay gave IC₅₀ value of 0.08 mg/mL or equal to 80 µg/mL, it means the P. aurata crude extract had moderate cytotoxicity against P388 murine leukemia cancer cell. It is suggested that the presence of alkaloid compounds in the crude extract has correlation to the anticancer activity. Plenty of alkaloid-derivative compounds were widely reported as the anticancer agent from marine tunicate (Cooper and Yao, 2012; Palanisamy et al., 2017; Arumugam et al., 2020). Previous studies successfully discovered several cytotoxic compounds from P. aurata such as polycarpaurines A-C and polycarpathiamines (Wang et al., 2007; Pham et al., 2013). Interestingly, isolation of new cytotoxic compounds from P. aurata is less reported; therefore, this preliminary study gives an additional data on its prospect as an anticancer agent (Cooper and Yao, 2012; Arumugam et al., 2017, 2020; Khalifa et al., 2019).

5. Conclusion

Marine *P. aurata* from Indonesia exhibited antibacterial activity against MDR *B. cereus*, MRSA, *S. typhi* and non-MDR *E. coli*, while the antifungal assay indicated the absence of bioactivity. The crude extract showed very weak antioxidant activity with 534.60 ppm and a moderate cytotoxic against P388 murine leukemia cancer cell with IC_{50} value of 0.08 µg/mL. Phytochemical test indicated the presence of alkaloid and steroid/triterpenoid. The HPLC chromatogram gave six major peaks in the crude extract.

Acknowledgment

The authors would like to acknowledge the Ministry of Research and Technology, Indonesia who supported this research through a research grant under Konsorsium Riset Unggulan Perguruan Tinggi (KRU-PT) with contract number 201-/UN7.P4.3/PP/2019 to Dr. Agus Trianto. We would also express our gratitude to Biotechnology Research Center, Department of Biotechnology, Toyama Prefectural University, Japan who provided the chemical reagent, instrument and bioassay under fellowship grant to Dr. Sibero (2019-2020).

References

Alabsi AM, Lim KL, Paterson IC, Saeed RA, and Muharram BA. 2016. Cell cycle arrest and apoptosis induction via modulation of mitochondrial integrity by Bcl-2 family members and caspase dependence in Dracaena cinnabari -treated H400 human oral squamous cell carcinoma. BioMed Res Int.

Amaani R and Dwira S. 2018. Phytochemical content an in vitro toxicity of *Glycine soja* ethanol extract on the A549 lung cancer line cell. J. Physics: Conf. Ser., **1073(3)**.

Arumugam V, Venkatesan M, Ramachandran S, and Sundaresan U. 2017. Bioactive peptides from marine Ascidians and future drug development–A review. Int. J. Peptide Res. Therap., **24(1)**: 13–18.

Arumugam V, Venkatesan M, Ramachandran K, Sundaresan U, and Ramachandran S. 2020. Ascidians: A potential source for pharmaceutical development. In: Se-Kwon Kim, **Encyclopedia of Marine Biotechnology**. John Wiley & Sons Ltd, USA.

Ayuningrum D, Kristiana R, Nisa AN, Radjasa SK, Muchlissin SI, Radjasa OK, Sabdono A and Trianto A. 2019. Bacteria associated with tunicate, *Polycarpa aurata*, from Lease sea, Maluku, Indonesia exhibiting anti-multidrug resistant bacteria. Biodiversitas, **20(4)**: 956–964.

Blunt JW, Carroll AR, Copp BR, Davis RA, Keyzers RA, Prinsep MR. 2018. Marine natural Product. Nat. Prod. Rep., **35**(1): 8-53.

Carroll AR, Copp BR, Davis RA, Keyzers RA, and Prinsep MR. 2019. Marine natural product. Nat. Prod. Rep., **36(1)**: 122-173.

Carroll AR, Copp BR, Davis RA, Keyzers RA, and Prinsep MR. 2020. Marine natural product. Nat. Prod. Rep., **37**(2): 175-223.

Casertano M, Imperatore C, Luciano P, Aiello A, Putra MY, Gimmelli R, Ruberti G, and Menna M. 2019. Chemical investigation of the Indonesian tunicate *Polycarpa aurata* and evaluation of the effects against Schistosoma mansoni of the novel alkaloids Polyaurines A and B. Marine Drugs, **17**(5): 1–12.

Casertano M, Menna M, and Imperatore C. 2020. The ascidianderived metabolites with antimicrobial properties. Antibiotics, **9(8)**: 510.

Cooper EL, and Yao D. 2012. Diving for drugs: Tunicate anticancer compounds. Drug Discov. Today., **17(11–12)**: 636–648.

Haerani A, Chaerunisa AY, and Subarnas A. 2019. Antioxidant activities of *Muntingia calabura*, *Syzygium cumini*, *Ocimum basilicum*, and *Eleutherine bulbosa* using DPPH Method. Indo. J. Pharm., **1(2)**: 57–61.

Hanif N, Murni A, Tanaka C, and Tanaka J. 2019. Marine natural products from Indonesian waters. Marine Drugs, **17(6)**: 364..

Jiménez, C. 2018. Marine natural products in medicinal chemistry. ACS Med. Chem. Lett., **9(10)**: 959–961.

Karim MRU, Harunari E, Oku N, Akasaka K, and Igarashi Y. 2020. Bulbimidazoles A-C, antimicrobial and cytotoxic alkanoyl imidazoles from a marine gammaproteobacterium *Microbulbifer* species. J. Nat. Prod., **83(4)**: 1295-1299..

Kaur SP, Rao R, and Nanda S. 2011. Amoxicillin: A broad spectrum antibiotic. Int. J. Pharm. Pharma. Sci., **3**(**3**): 30–37.

Khalifa SAM, Elias N, Farag MA, Chen L, Saeed A, Hegazy MEF, Moustafa MS, Wahed AAE, Mousawi SMA, Musharraf SG, Chang FR, Iwasaki A, Suenaga K, Alajlani M, Göransson U, and Seedi HRE. 2019. Marine natural products: A source of novel anticancer drugs. Marine Drugs, **17(9)**: 491..

Leisch M, Egle A, and Greil R. 2019. Plitidepsin: A potential new treatment for relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma. Future Oncol., **15(2)**: 109–120.

Litaay M, Santosa S, Johannes E, Agus R, Moka W, and Tanjung JDD. 2018. Biodiversity of marine tunicates in Samalona waters, Sangkarang Archipelago, Indonesia. Spermonde, **4(1)**: 26-31.

Litaay M. 2018. Marine tunicates from Sangkarang Archipelago Indonesia: Recent finding and bio-prospecting. J. Physics: Conf. Ser., **979(1)**.

Palanisamy SK, Rajendran NM, and Marino A. 2017. Natural products diversity of marine Ascidians (Tunicates; Ascidiacea) and successful drugs in clinical development. Nat. Prod. Biopros., **7(1)**: 1–111.

Pereira F. 2019. Have marine natural product drug discovery efforts been productive and how can we improve their efficiency?. Expert Opin. Drug Discov., **14(8)**: 717–722.

Pham CD, Weber H, Hartmann R, Wray V, Lin W, Lai D, and Proksch P. 2013. New cytotoxic 1,2,4-thiadiazole alkaloids from the ascidian Polycarpa aurata. Organic Lett. **15(9)**: 2230-2233.

Sajjadi SE, Ghanadian M, Haghighi M, and Mouhebat L. 2015. Cytotoxic effect of *Cousinia verbascifolia* Bunge against OVCAR-3 and HT-29 cancer cells. J. Herb. Med. Pharm., **4(1)**: 15-19.

Sedjati S, Pringgenies D, and Fajri M. 2020. Determination of the pigment content and antioxidant activity of the marine microalga *Tetraselmis seucica*. Jordan J. Biol. Sci., **13**(1): 55–58.

Sibero¹ MT, Radjasa OK, Bondar KG, Simbolon LMI, Meilana L, and Ayuningrum D. 2019. Antibacterial activity and phytochemical content of *Holothuria atra* from Panjang Island, Jepara, Indonesia. AIP Conf. Proceed., **2120(08005)**: 1-9..

Sibero² MT, Zhou T, Fukaya K, Urabe D, Radjasa OK, Sabdono A, Trianto A, and Igarashi Y. 2019. Two new aromatic polyketides from a sponge-derived *Fusarium*. Beilstein J. Org. Chem. **15**: 2941-2947.

Sibero MT¹, Siswanto AP, Murwani R, Frederick EH, Wijaya AP, Syafitri E, Farabi K, Saito S, and Igarashi Y. 2020. Antibacterial, cytotoxicity and metabolite profiling of crude methanolic extract from andaliman (*Zanthoxylum acanthopodium*) fruit. Biodiversitas, **21(9)**: 4147-4154..

Sibero MT², Siswanto AP, Pribadi R, Sabdono A, Radjasa OK, Trianto A, Frederick EH, Wijaya AP, Haryanti D, Triningsih DW, Hayuningrat SJ, and Igarashi S. 2020. The effect of drying treatment to metabolite profile and cytotoxic potential of *Rhizophora apiculata* leaves. Biodiversitas, **21**(5): 2180-2187.

Sibero MT³, Sitepu NF, Zhou T, and Igarashi Y. 2020. Antibacterial activity of semi purified extract of marine-derived *Trichoderma reesei* PDSP 5.7 using bioguided fractionation method. Bul. Oseano. Mar. **9(1)**: 45-54.

Sumilat DA, Oda T, Wewengkang DS, Namikoshi M, and Yamazaki H. 2019. Inhibition of interleukin-8 production in interleukin-1 stimulated human monocytic THP-1 cells by N,N didesmethylgrossularine-1 obtained from an Ascidian *Polycarpa aurata* collected in North Sulawesi. IOP Conf. Ser.: Mat. Sci. Eng., **567(012021)**.

Wainwright BJ, Arlyza IS, and Karl SA. 2013. Isolation and characterization of twenty-one polymorphic microsatellite loci for *Polycarpa aurata* using third generation sequencing. Conserv. Gen. Resour., **5**: 671-673.

Wang W, Oda T, Fujita A, Mangindaan REP, Nakazawa T, Ukai K, Kobayashi H, and Namikoshi M. 2007. Three new sulfurcontaining alkaloids, polycarpaurines A, B, and C, from an Indonesian ascidian *Polycarpa aurata*. Tetrahedron **63**: 409-412...

Widiyastuti Y, Sholikhah IYM, and Haryanti S. 2019. Cytotoxic activities of ethanolic and dichloromethane extract of leaves, stems, and flowers of Jarong [*Stachytarpheta jamaicensis* (L.) Vahl.] on HeLa and T47D cancer cell line. AIP Conf. Proceed., **2202(020101)**: 1-6.

Zhang Z, Zhou T, Harunari E, Oku N, and Igarashi Y. 2020. Iseolides A–C, antifungal macrolides from a coral-derived actinomycete of the genus *Streptomyces*. J. Antibiot., **73(8)**: 534-541. Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

Analysis of Phytochemical Constituents by using LC-MS, Antifungal and Allelopathic Activities of Leaves Extracts of *Aloe vera*

Samira Bendjedid^{1,*}, Ismahene Bazine², Aicha Tadjine¹, Radia Djelloul¹, Abbes Boukhari² and Chawki Bensouici³

¹Departement of Biology, Faculty of Natural sciences and Life, Research Laboratory of Functional and Evolutionary Ecology, Chadli Bendjedid University, El Tarf, 36000, Algeria; ²Departement of Chemical sciences, Research Laboratory of Organic Synthesis Modelling and Optimization of the chemical processes, Badji Mokhtar University, Annaba, 23000, Algeria ³Biotechnology Research Center, Constantine, 25000, Algeria.

Received: September 28, 2020; Revised: March 20, 2021; Accepted: April 25, 2021

Abstract

This study was conducted to investigate the phytochemical compounds of Aloe vera leaves by using LC-MS and evaluate their antifungal and allelopathic activities in vitro. The ethanol extract of Aloe vera leaves was subjected to evaluate their antifungal activity against three plants pathogenic fungi, Fusarium roseum, Fusarium oxysporum lycopersici and Botrytis cinerea by using the agar plate diffusion plate method. The aqueous extract of Aloe vera leaves was subjected to evaluate the allelopathic potential on germination and seedling growth of durum wheat Triticum durum and Amaranthus hybridus which is an advantice species of cereals. We used the bioassay of germination and seedling growth of both species. By LC-MS analysis, 11 bioactive phytochemical compounds were identified in ethanol extract:5-((S-2'-oxo-4'-hydroxypentyl-2(Bglucopyranosyl-oxy-methyl)chromone, isoaloerisin D, aloenin, aloeninB, aloenin-2'-p-coumaroyl ester, aloe-emodindiglucoside, 10-hydroxyaloin B, 10-hydroxyaloin A, aloin B, aloin A, aloveroside B. The antifungal activity showed that the ethanol extract has an inhibitory activity against all the mycelial strains. The allelopathic effect of different concentrations slowed the kinetics of germination of Triticum durum and Amaranthus hybridus and significantly decreased the rate of final germination of Amaranthus hybridus (100% at C10% and C25%), and a weak effect of inhibition of the germination was noticed for Triticum durum (40% at C25%). The aqueous extract has an inhibitory effect on the length of the roots (98% at C25%) and the height of the stems (100% at C25%) of Triticum durum. All concentrations of the aqueous extract have an inhibitory effect on the root length of Amaranthus hybridus. These results showed that Aloe vera would be suggested as a new potential source of natural herbicides and fungicides.

Keywords: Aloe vera, allelopathic potential, antifungal activity, extract, LC-MS.

1. Introduction

Aloe vera is a medicinal and ornamental plant belonging to *Lilaceae* family, usually originating in the dry regions of Africa, Asia, and Southern Europe, especially in the Mediterranean regions (Urch, 1999; Rodr'iguez *et al.* 2010). It is being cultivated in other areas with different climatic conditions (Rodr'iguez *et al.* 2010). Mexico is the main producer of *Aloe vera*, followed by Latin America, China, Thailand, and the United States (Rodr'iguez *et al.* 2010). Vitamins, enzymes, minerals, starch, lignin, anthraquinones, saponins, salicylic acid, and amino acids are among the more than 75 nutrients and 200 active compounds contained in *Aloe vera* (Park and Jo, 2006).

Previous research has revealed that phenolics such as chromone, anthrone, and phenyl pyrone are the most common secondary metabolites found in Aloe species' exudates. It is noteworthy that C-glycosylated chromones are found to represent a class of naturally occurring secondary metabolites that are known to be unique compounds in aloe, not having been reported in other plants (Franz and Grün, 1983).

This plant has several biological properties: antiinflammatory (Afzal *et al.*, 1991; Malterud *et al.*, 1993), immuno-stimulatory (Ramamoorthy and Tizard, 1998), antiviral (Khalon *et al.*, 1991), cell growth stimulatory activity (Tizard *et al.*, 1994), and antifungal (Kawai *et al.*, 1998).

Fungal diseases of crops are usually controlled using resistant cultivars, fumigants and long rotations, but mainly by using fungicides (Rongai *et al.*, 2015). The widespread use of fungicides to combat plant diseases has resulted in the accumulation of toxins in both humans and the environment. (Cherkupally *et al.*, 2017).

In an effort to minimize the use of synthetic fungicides, alternative methods to combat fungal diseases have been investigated using compounds obtained from plant sources. More than 500 plant species have recently been tested for antifungal activity. (Rongai *et al.*, 2012). Just

^{*} Corresponding author e-mail: samiraphyto@gmail.com.

3% of the plants studied had significant antifungal activity. Many authors have also studied the importance of secondary metabolites in antifungal activity (Rongai *et al.*, 2015). The relationship between antifungal activity and total phenolic content has also been reported (Stanković *et al.*, 2012; El-Khateeb *et al.*, 2013).

The presence of weeds in a cereal field can be harmful in many ways. The phenomena of competition between weeds and crops, in particular, contribute to yield losses (Le Bourgeois and Merlier, 1995) by directly affecting crop growth. To control these weeds, massive quantities of chemical herbicides are used around the world (Turk and Tawaha, 2003). Synthetic herbicides, on the other hand, are often harmful and trigger environmental issues (Sharifi Rad et al., 2014; Khanh et al., 2004; Sodaeizadeh et al., 2009). Mechanical weeding methods used in biological agriculture offer an alternative (Mason and Spanner, 2006; Bond and Grundy, 2001; Jordan, 1993), but their limit is linked to energy costs and working time for the farmer. Allelopathy is considered a promising technique for biological control (Ravlić et al., 2017; Lovett, 1991). Allelopathy is a biological process in which plants interact with one another, either negatively or positively, by releasing allelochemicals into the environment. (Ravlić et al., 2017; Rice, 1984). Allelochemicals are found in the stems, leaves, seeds, inflorescences, fruits, roots, and seeds of plants as end products, by-products, and metabolites (Sisodia and Siddiqui, 2010).

Other organisms, such as plants, animals, and microorganisms, are affected by the release of these chemical compounds into the atmosphere, and their behavior is either inhibited or stimulated (Fujii et al., 2003). There is mounting evidence that these plant chemicals can inhibit weed species' germination and development (Mohsenzadeh *et al.*, 2011; Singh *et al.*, 2003; Turk and Tawaha, 2003; Sampietro and Vattuone, 2006).

Allelopathy's role in the natural management of weeds and crop growth is now widely acknowledged. (Sharifi Rad *et al.*, 2014; Mohsenzadeh *et al.*, 2010; Khan *et al.*, 2009). In recent years, medicinal plants have been increasingly explored for their allelopathic potential (Modallal and Al-Charchafchi, 2006; Anjum *et al.*, 2010).

The present study aims to investigate the *Aloe vera* phytochemical compounds by using LC-MS and to evaluate their antifungal and allelopathic activities *in vitro*.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Chemicals and Reagents

Ethanol, methanol, acetonitrile, DMSO and water were obtained from Sigma Chemical Co (Sigma-Aldrich GmbH, Stern-heim, Germany). Formic acid was obtained from Biochem Chemopharma.

2.2. Plant materials

The leaves of *Aloe vera* were collected in October 2016 from the *Aloe vera* farm in Almeria (Spain). Then, the leaves of the plant were cleaned, dried and ground into powder.

Triticum durum and *Amaranthus hybridus* seeds were collected in El Tarf (Algeria) and stored in paper bags.

2.3. Fungal agents

Three plant pathogenic strains, *Fusarium roseum*, *Fusarium oxysporum lycopersici* and *Botrytis cinerea* were obtained from Biotechnology Research Center (CRBT), Laboratory of Mycology, Constantine, Algeria.

2.4. Preparation of ethanol extract

10 g of leaf powder was mixed with 100 mL of ethanol/water (80:20, v/v) for 24 h at room temperature. The extraction was performed 3 times with renewal of the solvent. A double-layered muslin cloth was used to filter the contents, followed by Whatman filter paper n°1. The bacteria were then removed using a micro-filter with a pore size of 0.22 μ m. The filtrate was evaporated to dryness using a rotary evaporation at 40° C to yield 19% of the dry weight of residue which was stored at 4° C until use. The extraction yield was calculated and expressed as the percentage of the extract in relation to the mass of crushed leaves (%, w/w).

2.5. Qualitative determination of the phenolic contents of Aloe vera leaves

Qualitative analysis of phenolic compounds in the ethanol extract of *Aloe vera* leaves was carried out according to the protocol described by Bidel *et al.*(2015). 5mg of ethanol extract was mixed with 1mL of the methanol-water mixture (50/50, v/v). The sample was then ultrafiltered (10 min at 1000 rpm on Eppendorf centrifuge). 10 μ L of the supernatant solution were injected into the chromatography chain via its automatic injector.

Chromatographic separation was carried out on a XTerra MS equipped with a binary HPLC pump (Waters 15251, Waters, Manchester, UK), ESCi multimode ionization mass spectrometer (Micromass Ltd. Manchester, UK) equipped with an electrospray ionization ion source (ZSpray MKII) and a Waters 996 photodiode array detector. The tested extract was separated on an Agilent C₁₈ column (3.5 µm particle size, 2.1×100 mm) at 40° C. A flow rate of 210 µL/min was used. Mobile phases consisted of water (solvent A) and acetonitrile (solvent B), both acidified with 0.1 % (v/v) formic acid to minimize the ionization of phenolics (around pH 3.0). The capillary voltage was 2.5 kV. Nitrogen was used as the desolation gas (400 L/h) and cone gas (50 L/h). In the first step, spectra were reported in both negative and positive modes in full scan mode over the m/z 50-1200 range. Absorbance spectra in the 210-800 nm range. Mass spectra and absorbance were handled using MassLynx 3.5 software (Micromass Ltd).

2.6. Antifungal activity

The antifungal activity of *Aloe vera* leaves against three plant pathogenic fungi (*Fusarium roseum*, *Fusarium oxysporum lycopersici* and *Botrytis cinerea*) was tested using the agar plate diffusion plate method.

Six dilutions of the ethanol extract were prepared in DMSO (dimethylsulfoxide) (0.15%, 0.31%, 0.62%, 1.25%, 2.5% and 5%). 1 mL of each concentration was added to 15 mL of PDA culture medium (Potato dextrose agar). After solidification of the medium, 5 mm diameter mycelial discs from the margin of seven days old fungal cultures were placed in the center of each petri plate. (1disc/petri plate). Three replicates were performed for each extract concentration. Untreated medium (0%) was
used as control. The petri plates were incubated for 144 hours in the oven at a temperature of $20\pm 2^{\circ}$ C.

Fungal growth was measured by averaging the two perpendicular diameters of each growing colony. The following formula was used to calculate the growth inhibition percentage (%):

Growth inhibition $\% = [(dc - dt)/dc] \times 100$

Where dc is the colony diameter in control plates and dt is the colony diameter in treated plates.

The minimum inhibitory concentrations (MIC) of the effective plant extract is defined as the lowest concentration of the antifungal agent that inhibits the fungal growth.

2.7. Allelopathic potential

2.7.1. Preparation of concentrations

Different concentrations (1%, 5%, 10% and 25%) were prepared by maceration the powder from the leaves of *Aloe vera* under agitation in distilled water for 24 hours. The content was then filtered through Whatman filter paper $n^{\circ}1$, and then the extract obtained was stored at 4° Cuntil use.

2.7.2. Test for inhibition of germination and growth of Amaranthus hybridus and Triticum durum

Amaranthus hybridus and Triticum durum seeds were arranged in petri plates (10 seeds/petri plate) with filter paper moistened with *Aloe vera* aqueous extract at various concentrations. The control was prepared with distilled water. Germination tests were conducted in an oven at a constant temperature of 25°C.

2.7.3. Observations and Measurement

Observations and measurements included the kinetics, seed germination rate and seedling growth (stem height, root length) of *Amaranthus hybridus* and *Triticum durum*. The notations were carried out daily for 8 days. Three repetitions were performed out for each concentration of the extract.

2.7.3.1. Determination of germination percentages

After 8 days of incubation, the germination percentage of each species is determined. Sprouted seeds are any seed that has developed a coleorhiz in monocotyledonous species or a radical in dicotyledonous species.

2.7.3.2. Determination of inhibition percentages

Inhibition percentages were calculated according to the formula used by Dhima *et al.* (2006) and Chung *et al.* (2003):

Germination inhibition $\% = [(G-g) / G] \times 100$

Where G is the germination in the control (distilled water) and g is germination in different concentrations of the extract.]

Growth inhibition $\% = [(H-h) / H] \times 100$

Where H is stem height or root length in the control (distilled water) and h is stem height or root lengthin different concentrations of the extract.

2.8. Statistical analysis

All assays were estimated in triplicates and the results were presented as means \pm standard deviation (SD). Statistical analysis was performed using Variance Analysis (ANOVA, SAS), and averages were compared according to the student test. The results are considered to be significant when p < 0.05.

3. Results

3.1. Qualitative determination of the phenolic contents of Aloe vera leaves

Chromatogram of ethanolic extract by LC-MS analysis was shown in Figure 1 and the characterized compounds were presented in Table 1, identified with the numbers 1-11 considering the elution order. The compounds were divided into four classes in this study: chromones, phenyl pyrones, naphthalene derivatives, and anthrones.

The determination of phenolic compounds classes found were identified using their UV spectra obtained by LC-MS data, and then confirmed by comparison with literature data.

Two peaks 2 and 3 from 5-((S-2'-oxo-4'-hydroxypentyl-2(β -glucopyranosyl-oxy-methyl)chromone and isoaloerisin D, respectively) were identified as chromones. These compounds have been identified by Wu *et al.*(2013); Fanali *et al.* (2010). Three phenyl pyrones (peaks 4, 8 and 11) eluting at 23.2, 32.8 and 55 min, giving [M– H]– ions, were identified as aloenin, aloenin B and aloenin-2'-p-coumaroyl ester, respectively (Wu *et al.*, 2013).

Five Peaks 1, 5, 6, 9 and 10 (from Aloe-emodindiglucoside,10-Hydroxyaloin B, 10-Hydroxyaloin A, Aloin B, Aloin A, respectively) were characterized as anthrones. The results were in accordance with those reported by Wu *et al.*(2013); Fanali *et al.* (2010); Quispe *et al.*(2018). Peak 7 was characterized as aloveroside B (Naphthalene derivative), similar to previously reported aloveroside A (Wu *et al.*, 2013; Yang *et al.*, 2010).

© 2022 Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences. All rights reserved - Volume 15, Number 1

Peak	Retention	Molcular	MS	5	Fragments	Tentative Identification	References
number ^a	time	formula		ion	MS^2		
	(min)						
1	14.97	$C_{27}H_{29}0_{15}$	593	[M-H]-	377	Aloe-emodin- diglucoside	(Quispeetal.,2018)
2	15.6	$C_{21}H_{26}O_{10}$	461	[M+H]+	443, 417, 399, 249, 185	5-((S-2'-oxo-4'- hydroxypentyl2((Wu <i>et al.</i> 2013)
						β- glucopyranosyl-oxy- methyl)chromone	((
3	21	C ₂₉ H ₃₂ 0 ₁₁	557.13	[M+H]+	437,513,393, 291,247,217	isoaloerisin D	(Wu <i>et al.</i> , 2013; Fanali <i>etal.</i> , 2010)
4	23.2	$C_{19}H_{22}O_{10}$	409.11	[M-H]-	247, 203, 171	Aloenin	(Wu et al., 2013)
5	23.9	$C_{21}H_{22}O_{10}$	433	[M-H]-	270	10-Hydroxyaloin B	(Wu et al., 2013)
6	27.9	$C_{21} H_{22} O_{10}$	433	[M-H]-	270	10-Hydroxyaloin A	(Wu et al., 2013)
7	29.5	$C_{30}H_{40}O_{17}$	695	[M+H]+	549, 335	Aloveroside B	(Wu et al., 2013)
8	32.8	$C_{34}H_{38}O_{17}$	717	[M-H]-	247, 555	Aloenin B	(Wu <i>et al.</i> , 2013;Fanali <i>etal.</i> , 2010)
9	48.5	$C_{21}H_{22}O_9$	417	[M-H]-	297, 268, 239	Aloin B	Wu <i>et al.</i> , 2013 ;Fanali <i>etal.</i> , 2010 ;Quispe <i>etal.</i> , 2018.)
10	53	$C_{21}H_{22}O_9$	417	[M-H]-	297, 268, 239	Aloin A	Wu <i>et al.</i> , 2013 ;Fanali <i>etal.</i> , 2010 ;Quispe <i>etal.</i> , 2018.)
11	55	$C_{28}H_{28}O_{12}$	555	[M-H]-	247, 391, 307	Aloenin-2`-p- coumarovl ester	(Wu et al., 2013)

Table 1. Peak assignments of metabolites identified by LC-MS of ethanol extract of Aloe vera leaves.

^a: The notation for peak number refers to figure 1.





3.2. Antifungal activity of Aloe vera

Antifungal activity of ethanol extract was determined against three plant pathogenic fungi, Fusarium roseum, Fusarium oxysporum lycopersici and Botrytis cinerea. The results of the Growth inhibition percentage of ethanol extract show that the ethanol extract has an inhibitory activity against the tested mycelial strains (Figures 2 and 3).

It is noted that the ethanol extract at concentrations (5%, 2.50%, 1.25% and 0.62%) partially inhibited the growth of *Fusarium roseum* with an inhibition rate (92% \pm 2.64, 85% \pm 3.60, 77.33% \pm 1.15 and 51% \pm 2.64, respectively), and at the concentrations (5% and 2.50%) partially inhibited the growth of *Fusarium oxysporum*

lycopersici with an inhibition rate $(71\% \pm 4.58$ and $55\% \pm 1.63$).

Results showed that the ethanol extract at the concentrations (5%, 2.50% and 1.25%) totally inhibited the growth of *Botrytis cinerea* (100% \pm 0.00) and MIC of about 1.25%. The ethanol extract at concentrations (0.62% and 0.31%) partially inhibited the growth of this plant pathogenic fungi with an inhibition rate (72% \pm 2.16 and 63.67% \pm 0.57, respectively).

²⁴



Figure 2. Growth inhibition percentage of ethanol extract concentrations of *Aloe vera* leaves.



Figure 3. Fusarium roseum (A), Fusarium oxysporum lycopersici (B) and Botrytis cinerea (C) colonies grown on PDA medium supplemented with ethanol extract of Aloe vera leaves, tested at six concentrations (5%, 2.5%, 1.25%, 0.62%, 0.31% and 0.15%,) recorded after 144 hours of incubation at 20°C. Negative control (D): Untreated control (PDA + DMSO).

3.3. Allelopathic potential

3.3.1. Effects of the aqueous extract of Aloe vera on germination of Triticum durum and Amaranthus hybridus

Different concentrations of the aqueous extract of *Aloe vera* leaves slow the germination kinetics of *Triticum durum* and *Amaranthus hybridus* seeds (Figures 4 and 5) and significantly reduce the rate of final germination of *Amaranthus hybridus*.

The germination inhibition effect of *Amaranthus hybridus* reaches a maximum value of 100% for C10% and

C25%. However, a weaker germination inhibition effect (40%) was observed for *Triticum durum* at the concentration C25%.



Figure 4. Effect of the aqueous extract of *Aloe vera* leaves on the germination kinetics of *Triticum durum*.



Figure 5. Effect of the aqueous extract of *Aloe vera* leaves on germination kinetics of *Amaranthus hybridus*

Most of the studied concentrations of aqueous extract have an important inhibitory effect on root length and stem height of *Triticum durum* and *Amaranthus hybridus* seedlings (Table 2). The aqueous extract has an inhibitory effect on the length of the roots and the height of the stems of *Triticum durum* from the concentration C5% and reaches a maximum value at the concentration C25% (98.08%, 96.97% for roots and stems). At the C1% concentration, however, the aqueous extract does not represent an inhibitory effect on the root length and height of *Triticum durum* stems, which is respectively $7.20\pm$ 0.16cm, $4.4\pm$ 0.96cm.

The aqueous extract from the leaves of *Aloe vera* has an inhibitory effect on the length of the roots of *Amaranthus hybridus* at all concentrations and completely inhibits root growth (100%) at C10% and C25% concentrations.

Table 2. Effect of the aqueous extract of *Aloe vera* leaves on the growth of the roots and stems of *Triticum durum* and *Amaranthus hybridus*.

Concentrations	Length of Tritic	Length of Triticum durum roots		s of Triticum durum	Length of Amaranthus hybridus roots		
	cm	Inhibition%	cm	Inhibition%	cm Ir	nhibition%	
Control	$7.8{\pm}0.28^{a}$	$0.0{\pm}0.00$	5.5 ± 0.70^{a}	$0.0{\pm}0.00$	5.16±0.62 ^a	$0.0{\pm}0.00$	
C1%	$7.20{\pm}0.16^{a}$	8.05±1.41	$4.4{\pm}0.96^{a}$	23.02±3	$1.8 \pm \! 0.28^{\rm b}$	64.44 ± 3.84	
C5%	$1.83{\pm}0.28^{b}$	75.97±4.57	$0.63{\pm}0.15^{\rm b}$	88.56±1.25	$0.16{\pm}0.05^{c}$	93.84±4.31	
C10%	$1.7{\pm}0.36^{b}$	79.13±4.39	0.16±0.05°	90.1±2.15	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{d}$	100 ± 0.00	
C25%	$0.15{\pm}0.05^{\circ}$	98.08±0.62	$0.1{\pm}0.05^{\circ}$	96.97±1.00	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{d}$	100 ± 0.00	

In the same column, the means followed by the same letter are not significantly different according to the student test at p<0.05. Each value represents a mean standard deviation (n=3).

4. Discussion

Evaluation of the antifungal potential of Aloe vera leaves in our study is consistent with previous work reports. It should be noted that Casian et al. (2007) showed that the Aloe vera leaf extract inhibit the mycelial growth of Penicillium gladioli, Fusarium oxysporum, Heterosporium pruneti and Botrytis gladiolorum. Jasso et al. (2005) assessed the antifungal potential of Aloe vera leaf extract against the mycelium development of Rhizoctonia solani, Fusarium oxysporum and Collectotrichum coccodes and found positive results. Saks and Barkai-Golan (1995) tested the antifungal potential of Aloe vera leaf on four plant pathogenic fungi, Botrytis cinerea, Alternaria alternata, Penicillium digitatum and penicillium expansum; the result of this study showed that the Aloe vera leaves suppress the mycelial growth of all mycelial strains tested. In our study, the Aloe vera leaves completely inhibited the growth of Botrytis cinerea (100%). However, Saks and Barkai-Golan (1995) showed that Aloe vera leaves partially inhibited the growth of Botrytis cinerea (67%), The difference between these results may be due to geographical and climatic conditions, which may affect the phytochemical composition of the plant and its antifungal activity (Jeyasakthy et al., 2017).

Bajwa and Shafique (2007) used *Aloe vera* extract against plant pathogenic strains, *Alternaria alternata, Alternaria citri* and *Alternaria tenuissima*. The results of this study reflect that *Aloe vera* has an inhibitory effect on mycelial growth and the proliferation of these fungi.

Cooposamy and Magwa (2007) also proved that *Aloe* vera extract had an antifungal effect on *A. flavus, A.* glaucus, *C. albicans, C. tropicalis, T. mentagrophytes* and *T. rubrun.* The study by Sitara *et al.*(2011) showed that *Aloe vera* gel extract completely inhibited the growth of *Drechslera hawaiensis* and *Alternaria alternata.*

Eugene *et al.* (2011) showed that aloin and aloeemodin have a significant inhibitory effect on the growth of *C.gloeosporioides* and *C.cucumerinum*. Aloin and aloeemodin are anthraquinone derivatives, and antifungal activity of several anthraquinone derivatives in other plants has been reported by Agarwal *et al.*(2000); Singh *et al.* (2006). These studies were consistent with our study.

Results obtained on seed germination and development of the seedlings of *Triticum durum* and *Amaranthus hybridus* show that the aqueous extract of *Aloe vera* delays seed germination to the point of interruption.

Kruse *et al.* (2000) showed that when susceptible plants are exposed to allelochimical substances, seed germination is delayed. For some seeds, germination stops in the swelling stage of the seed. For others, germination stops at the beginning of the radicle's appearance.

When seed germination is not inhibited, other effects on seedling development have been observed. In the case of inhibition, we noted effects on the root and stem or both. In some cases, the root development is delayed; in other cases, the root development stops. For the aerial part, the effect is manifested by the delay of development or by the absence of stem.

In most of the tests carried out in our study, the aqueous extract's inhibitory effect is more important on the growth of the seedlings (root length and aerial length) and increases when the concentration of the extract increases, Arslan *et al.* (2005), Uremis *et al.* (2005), Turk and Tawaha (2003) and Batish *et al.* (2002), Baličević *et al.* (2014) also showed that inhibition increases with increased concentration of extracts.

Seed germination of the adventitious species Amaranthus hybridus is completely inhibited by Aloe vera extract at C10% and C25% concentrations. We also tested a variety of wheat to see if the allelopathic plant also affects wheat crops or not. Based on the results obtained, the aqueous extract has no effect on wheat seed germination. However, the aqueous extract affects the development of the roots of the species Triticum durum at concentrations C5%, C10% and C25%. These results were in agreement with those of Hussain et al. (2007), which showed that the extract (C10%) of Cassia angustifolia inhibits root length but does not affect wheat seed germination. Another study by Alipoor et al (2012) showed that Aloe vera leaf extract exhibited a significant inhibitory effect on the seed germination and seedling lengths of Triticum aestivum, Secale cereale, Lepidium sativum, Amaranthus retroflexus, Taraxacum officinalis. Wheat seeds (Triticum aestivum) were least affected by the Aloe vera extract. Seed germination and seedling growth of Lepidium sativum, Amaranthus retroflexus, and Taraxacum officinalis were almost completely inhibited at 2.5% of leaf extract.

In our study, seed germination of the adventitious species, *Amaranthus hybridus*, is completely inhibited by the aqueous extract at concentrations C10% and C25%. However, other studies have reported negative effects of aqueous extract from *Aloe vera* leaves on crops such as the results observed by Lin *et al.* (2004); they reported a negligible effect on germination of *Lactuca sativa*, *Raphanus raphanistrum*, *sativus*, *Brassica rapa* and *Oryza sativa*. Also, the study by Ravlić *et al.* (2017) showed that the aqueous extract from the leaves of *Aloe vera* does not affect germination of *Amaranthus retroflexus L*, *Tripleurospermum inodorum L*, *Abutilon theophrasti.*

The inhibitory effect of *Aloe vera* leaf extract on seed germination and seedling development may be related to the presence of allelochimic compounds, including tannins, flavonoids and phenolic acids. In addition, toxicity may be caused by a synergistic effect of several secondary metabolites (Saharkhiz *et al.* 2009; Nourimand *et al.* 2011).

5. Conclusion

In this study, the analysis of Phytochemical Constituents attested to the presence of chromones, phenyl pyrones, naphthalene derivative, and anthrones in ethanol extract of *Aloe vera* leaves. Our results bring new information to the literature data about the antifungal activity of *Aloe vera* extract against *Botrytis cinerea*; the ethanol extract at the concentrations (5%, 2.50% and 1.25%) completely inhibited the growth of these mycelial strains. The aqueous extract of *Aloe vera* inhibits the germination of a wheat weed species (*Amaranthus hybridus*) without affecting the germination of durum wheat. Total germination inhibition of *Amaranthus hybridus* is noted at C10% and C25%.

The isolation and purification of several polyphenolic components of *Aloe vera* are necessary for the development of natural derived herbicides and fungicides. Their use would minimize the use of synthetic herbicides and fungicides over time, which would be a significant economic benefit to farmers and would also reduce adverse impacts on the environment.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to express thanks to Algerian minister of higher education and scientific research (MESRS) for the support, and to Mr. Manuel Navarro (Agricultural engineer, Owner of *Aloe vera* farm in Almeria, Spain) for the harvest of plant.

References

Afzal MRA, Hassan H, Sweedan N and Dhami MSI. 1991. Identification of someprostanoids in *Aloe vera* extracts. *Planta Medica.*, **5**:38-40.

Aggarwal BB, Vijayalekshmi RV and Sung B. 2009. Targeting inflammatory pathways for prevention and therapy of cancer: short-term friend, long-term foe.*Clin. Cancer Res.*, **15**:425-430.

Alipoor M, Mohsenzadeh S, Teixeira da silva JA and Niakousari M. 2012. Allelopatic potentiel of *Aloe vera*. *Med Aromat Plant SciBiotechnol.*, **6**(1):78-80.

Anjum A, Hussain U, Yousaf Z, Khan F and Umer A. 2010. Evaluation of allelopathic action of some selected medicinal plant on lettuce seeds by using sandwich method. *J. Med. Plants Res.*, **4:**536-541.

Arslan M, Uremis I and Uludag A. 2005. Determining bioherbicidal potential of rapeseed, radish and turnip extracts on germination inhibition of cutleaf ground-cherry (*PhysalisangulataL*.) seeds. J. Agron., **4:**134-137.

Bajwa R and Shafique S. 2007. Apprasial of antifungal activity of *Aloe vera. J. Mycopath.*, **5**(1):5-9.

Baličević R, Ravlić M, Knežević M and Serezlija I. 2014. Allelopathic Effect of Field Bindweed (*Convolvulus arvensisL.*) Water Extracts on Germination and Initial Growth of Maize. J. Anim. Plant Sci., **24(6)**:1844-1848.

Batish DR, Singh HP, Kohlir K, Saxena DB and Kaur S. 2002. Allelopathiceffects of parthenin against two weedy species, *Avena fatua* and *Biden spilosa. Environ Exp Bot.*, **4(2)**:149-155.

Bidel LP, Chomicki G, Bonini F, Mondolot L, Soule J, Coumans M, La Fisca P, Baissac Y, Petit V, Loiseau A, Cerovic ZG, Gould KS and Jay Allemand C. 2015. Dynamics of flavonol accumulation in leaf tissues under different UVB regimes in *Centellaasiatica* (Apiaceae). *Planta.*, **242**:545-559.

Bond W and Grundy. 2001. Non-chemical weedmanagement in organic farming systems. *Weed Res.*, **41**:383-405.

Casian OR, Parvu M, Vlase L and Tamas M. 2007. Antifungal activity of *Aloe vera* leaves. *Fitoterapia.*, **78**(3):219-222.

Sharifi Rad j , Sharifi Rad M and Teixeira da Silva JA. 2014. Evaluation of allelopathic effects of methanolic extracts from *Salicornia herbacea* seed and leaves on germination and seedling growth *in vitro* of two medicinal plants and two weeds. *Environ. Exp. Bot.*, **12:** 83-8

Cherkupally R, Reddy Kota S, Amballa H and Narasimha Reddy B. 2017. In vitro antifungal potential of plant extracts against Fusarium oxysporum, Rhizoctoniasolani and Macrophominaphaseolina. *Ann.Plant. Sci.*, **6(9):**1676-1680. Chung IM, Kim KH, Ahn JK, Lee SB, Kim SH and Hahn SJ. 2003. Allelopathy: Comparison of Allelopathic Potential of Rice Leaves, Straw and Hull Extracts on Barnyardgrass. *J. Agron.*, **95**:1063-1070.

Coopoosamy RM and Magwa ML. 2007. Traditional use, antibacterial activity and antifungal activity of crude extract of *Aloe excelsa. Afr. J. Biotechnol.*, **6(20)**: 2406-2410.

Dhima KV, Vasilakoglou IB, Eleftherohorinos IG and Lithourgidis AS. 2006. Allelopathic potential of winter cereal cover crop mulches on grass weed suppression and sugarbeet development. *Crop Sci.*, **46**:1682-1691.

El-Khateeb AY, Elsherbiny EA, Tadros LK, Ali SM and Hamed HB. 2013. Phytochemical analysis and antifungal activity of fruit leaves extracts on the mycelial growth of fungal plant pathogens. *J Plant Pathol Microb.*,**4**:199.

Esteban-Carrasco A, López-Serrano M, Zapata JM, Sabater B and Martín M. 2001. Oxi-dation of phenolic compounds from Aloe barbadensis by peroxidase activity: possible involvement in defence reactions. *Plant Physiol Biochem.*, **39**: 521–527.

Eugene S, Nidiry J, Girijia G and Lokecha AN. 2011. Antifungal of some extractives and costituents of *Aloe vera*. J. *Med. Plant Res.*, **5(2):1**96-200.

Fanali S, Aturki Z, D'Orazio G, Rocco A, Ferranti A, Mercolini L and Raggi MO. 2010. Analysis of Aloe-based phytotherapeutic products by using nano-LC-MS. *J Sep Sci.*, **33**:2663-2670.

Franz G and Grün M. 1983. Chemistry, occurrence and biosynthesis of C-glycosyl com-pounds in plants. *Planta Medica*. **47**:131-140.

Fujii Y, Parvez SS, Parvez MM, Ohmae Y and Iida O. 2003. Screening of 239 medicinal plant species for allelopathic activity using sandwich method. *WeedBiol. Manag.*, **3:** 233-241.

Hussain S, Siddiqui SU, Khalid S, Jamal A, Qayyum A and Ahmad Z. 2007. Allelopathic Potential of Senna (*Cassia Angustifolia*vahl.) on Germination and Seedling Characters of Some Major Cereal Crops and their Associated Grassy Weeds. *Pak. J. Bot.*, **39**(**4**):1145-1153.

Jasso de Rodriguez D, Hernandez-Castillo D, Rodriguez-Gracia R and Angulo-Sanchez JL. 2005. Antifungal activity *In vitro* of *Aloe vera* pulp and liquid fraction against plant pathogenic fungi. *IndCrops Prod.*, **21**(1):81-87.

Jeyasakthy S, Rosdan S, Irfan M and Azian H. 2017. Antifungal Effect of Malaysian *Aloe vera* Leaf Extract on Selected Fungal Species of Pathogenic Otomycosis Species in In Vitro Culture Medium. *Oman Med. J.*, **32**(1): 41–46.

Jordan, N. 1993. Prospects for weed control through crop interference. *Ecol Appl.*, **3**:84-91.

Kahlon J, Kemp MCX, Yawei N, Carpenter RH, McAnalley HR, Shannon WM and Mc Daniel BH. 1991. In evaluation of the synergistic antiviral effects of acemannan in combination with azidothymidine and acyclovir. *Mol Biother.*, **3:** 214-223.

Kawai K, Beppu H,Simpo K, Chihara T, Yamamoto N, Aggatsu T, Ueda *H* and Yamada Y. 1998. *In vivo* effects of *Aloe arborescens Miller* varnatalensis Berger (Kidachi aloe) on Experimental TineaPidis in guinea pig feet. *Phytother. Res.*, **12**: 178-182.

Khan AL, Hussain J, Hanyun M, Shinwari ZK, Khan H, Kang YH, *Kang* SM, Lee IJ. 2009. Inorganic profile and allelopathic effect of endemic *Inula koelzii* from Himalaya Pakistan. *Pak. J. Bot.*, **41**(5):2517-2527.

Khanh MA, Marwat KB, Hassan Z. 2004. Allelopathic potential of some multipurpose trees species (MPTS) on the wheat and some of its associate's weeds. *Int. J. Biol. Biotech.*, **1**:275-278.

Kolai N, Saiah Fand Boudia A. 2012. Effet inhibiteur *in vitro* de l'huile essentielle d'*Artimesia herba alba* sur deux souches de *Fusarium oxysporum f. sp. radicis-lycopersici. AJAE.*, **2:**71-76.

Kruse M, Strandberg M and Strandberg B. 2000. Ecological Effects of Allelopathic Plants- a Review. NERI Technical Report N°315. National Environmental Research Institute, Silkeborg, Denmark.

Le Bourgeois T and Merlier H. 1995. Adventrop: Les adventices d'Afrique soudano-sahélienne. Quae Editions. Paris, France.

Lovett JV. 1991. Changing perceptions of allelopathy and biological-control. *Biol. Agric. Hortic.*, **8**:89-100.

Lin D, Tsuzuki E, Sugimoto Y, Dong Y, Matsuo M and Terao H. 2004. Allelopathic effects of aqueous *Aloe vera*leaf extracts on selected crops. *Allelopathy J*., **13**:67-74.

Malterud KE, Fabrot TL and Huse AE. 1993. Antioxidant and radical scavenging effects of anthraquinones and anthrones. *J. Pharmacol.*, **47**:77-85.

Mason HE and Spanner D. 2006. Competitive ability of wheat in conventional and organic management systems: a review of the literature. *Can. J. Plant Sci.*, **86**:333-343.

Modallal M and Al-Charchafchi FMR. 2006. Allelopathic effect of Artemisia harba alba on germination and seedling growth of *Anabasis setifera*. *Pak J Biol Sci.* **9(9)**: 1795-1798.

Mohsenzadeh S, Gholami M and Teixeira da Silva JA . 2011 Allelopathic potential of *Ephedra*. *Med Aromat Plant SciBiotechnol.*, **5**(2):160-162.

Mohsenzadeh S, Zaboli J, Teixeira da Silva JA . 2012. Allelopathic Potential of Ajwain (*Trachyspermum copticum*). *Med Aromat Plant Sci Biotechnol.*, **6(1):** 72-74

Nourimand M, Mohsenzadehn S, Teixeira da Silva JA and Saharkhiz MJ. 2011. Allelopathicpotential of fennel (*Foeniculum vulgare* Mill.). *Med Aromat Plant SciBiotechnol.*,**5**(1):54-57.

Okamura N, Hine N, Harada S, Fujioka T, Mihashi K and Yagi A., 1996. Three chromone components from *Aloe vera* leaves. *Phytochemistry.*, **43**: 495-498.

Park YI and Jo TH. 2006. Perspective of industrial application of *Aloe vera*. In: Park YI and Lee SK (Eds.), New Perspective on Aloe. Springer Verlag, New York, USA, pp. 191-200

Quispe C, Villalobos M, Borquez J and Simirgiotis M. 2018. Chemical Composition and Antioxidant Activity of *Aloe vera* from the Pica Oasis (Tarapac'a, Chile) by UHPLC-Q/Orbitrap/MS/MS. *J. Chem.*, 1-12.

Turk MA and Tawaha AM. 2003. Allelopathic effect of black mustard (*Brassica nigraL.*) on germination and growth of wild oat (*Avenafatua* L.). Crop Prot., **22**(**4**):673-67.

Ramamoorthy L and Tizard IR. 1998. Induction of opoptosis in a macrophage cell line RAW 264.7. *Mol. Pharmacol.*, **53:**415-421.

Ravlić M, Baličević R, Visković M and Smolčić I. 2017. Response of weed species on allelopathic potential of *Aloe vera* (L.) Burm.F. *Herbologia.*, **16(2):**49-55

Rice EL. 1984. Allelopathy. Academic Press, London, England.

Rodriguez Rodriguez E, Darias Martin J and Diaz Romero C. 2010. *Aloe vera* as a functional ingredient in foods. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.*, **50(4)**:305-326.

Rongai D, Pulcini P, Pesce B and Milano F. 2015. Antifungal activity of some botanical extracts on *Fusarium oxysporum*. *Open Life Sci.*, **10**:409-416.

Rongai D, Milano F and Scó E. 2012. Inhibitory Effect of Plant Extracts on Conidial Germination of the Phytopathogenic Fungus *Fusarium oxysporum. Am J Plant Sci.*, **12**:1693-1698.

Saks y and Barki-Golan R. 1995. *Aloe vera* gel activiy against plant pathogenic fungi. *Postharvest Biol. Technol.*, 6(1-2):159-165.

Saharkhiz MJ, Ashiri F, Saleh MR, Ghaemaghami J and Mohammadi SH. 2009. Allelopathic potential of essential oils from *Carum copticum* L.,*Cuminum cyminumL., Rosmarinus officinalis* L. and *Zataria multiflora* Boiss. *Medicinal Aromatic Plant Sci Biotech.*, **3**:32-35.

Sampietro DA and Vattuone MA. 2006. Sugarcane straw and its phytochemicals as growth regulators of weed and crop plants. *Plant Growth Regul.*, **48**:21-27.

Singh Ahlawat K and Singh Khatkar B. 2011. Processing, food applications and safety of aloe vera products: a review. *J. Food Sci. Technol.*, **48**(5):525-533.

Singh HP, Batish DR, Kaur S and Kohli RK. 2003. Phytotoxic interference of *Ageratum conyzoides* with wheat (*Triticum aestivum*). J Agron Crop Sci., **189**:341-346.

Sisodia S and Siddiqui B. 2010. Allelopathic effect by aqueous extracts of different parts of *Croton bonplandianum* Baill. On some crop and weed plants. *Agric Ext Rural Dev.*, **2:**22-28.

Sitara U, Hassan N and Naseem J. 2011. Antifungal activity of *Aloe vera* gel against plant pathogenic fungi. *Pak. J. Bot.*, **43(4)**: 2231-2233.

Sodaeizadeh H, Rafieiolhossaini M, Havlk J and Damme PV. 2009. Allelopathic activity of different plant parts of *Peganum harmala* L. and identification of their growth inhibitors substances. *Plant Growth Regul.*, **59**(3):227-236.

Stanković MS, Stefanović O, Čomić L, Topuzović M, Radojević I and Solujić S. 2012. Antimicrobial activity, total phenolic content and flavonoid concentrations of *Teucrium* species. *Cent Eur J Biol.*, **7**:664-671.

Uremis I, Arslan M and Uludag A. 2005. Allelopathic effects of some brassica species on germination and growth of cutleaf ground-cherry (*Physalis angulataL.*) seeds. *J Biol Sci.*, **5:**661-665.

Urch D. 1999. *Aloe vera*- Nature's gift. Blackdown Publications, Bristol, England.

Tizard I, Busbee D, Maxwell Band Mc K. 1994. Effect of Acemannan, a complex carbohydrate, on wound healing in young and aged rats. *J. Wounds.*, **6**:201-209.

Turk MA and Tawaha AM. 2003. Weed control in cereal in Jordan. J.Crop.Prot., 22:239-246.

Wu X, Ding W, Zhong J, Wan J and Xie Z. 2013. Simultaneous qualitative and quantitative determination of phenolic compounds in *Aloe barbadensis* Mill by liquid chromatography–mass spectrometry-ion trap-time-of-flight and high performance liquid chromatography-diode array detector. *J Pharm Biomed Anal.*, **80**:94-106.

Yang QY, Yao CS and Fang WS. 2010. A new triglucosylatednaphthalene glycoside from *Aloe vera* L. *Fitoterapia.*, **81(1):59-62**.

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

Anisakis Infection of Belanger's Croaker (Johnius Belangerii Cuvier 1830) at The Indian Ocean Coast of Yogyakarta, Indonesia

Nisa Qurota A'yun, Rizka Fauziana Syarifah, Murwantoko, and Eko Setyobudi*

Fisheries Department Faculty of Agriculture Universitas Gadjah Mada Jl. Flora Bulaksumur Yogyakarta Indonesia 55281 Phone/Fax: +62-274-551218

Received: October 6, 2020; Revised: February 27, 2021; Accepted: March 16, 2021

Abstract

This research intended to find out the prevalence, intensity, and species of *Anisakis* (Nematoda) larvae infecting Belanger's croaker (*Johnius belangerii*) at Indian Ocean coast of Yogyakarta. Totally, 150 samples of Belanger's croaker fish collected from fishermen were used for this experiment. After measuring the total length and weight, each sample was examined for *Anisakis* larvae infection in the body cavity, internal organ, and muscle. Results showed that Belanger's croaker was susceptible to *Anisakis* infection by moderate prevalence (48.7%) with a mean intensity of 5.7 larvae/individual. All *Anisakis* larvae were found in the abdominal cavity (100%). Morphological identification by Scanning Electron Microscopy showed that the *Anisakis* larvae infecting the Belanger's croaker was *Anisakis* Type I, marked by a boring tooth on the anterior part and a mucron at the caudal end. Molecular identification applying PCR-RFLP of the ITS region, sequencing, and phylogenetic analysis of the mitochondrial DNA cox2 gene confirmed the larvae as *Anisakis typica* var. *indonesiensis*. The presence of *A. typica* in Belanger's croaker is estimated to pose a small risk to human health. *Anisakis typica* is known as not zoonotic *Anisakis* species. Moreover, the infection occurred in a relatively moderate prevalence, low intensity, and larvae were not found at the edible part of fish. From another point of view, these larvae are considered as useful biological indicators for several ecological parameters and further studies.

Keywords: Infection Rates, Prevalence, Zoonosis, Human Health Risk, Food Safety

1. Introduction

The genus Anisakis (Nematoda, Family Anisakidae) is strictly parasitic, infecting various marine organisms. These parasites are cosmopolitans and have a wide distribution, although the species are found in limited, partly overlapping, areas (Kuhn et al., 2013). Anisakis has been studied because of its zoonotic effect on human health, impact to the fisheries industries economy (Pozio, 2013), and was subject of ecological studies, e.g. for fish stock separation (Palm, 2011). Anisakis spp. are potentially zoonotic endoparasites; several species are known to cause the anisakiasis, a disease that is transmitted from fish to humans (Sakanari and Mc Kerrow, 1989). The 3rd-stage larvae of Anisakis spp. are transmitted to humans consuming raw or uncooked infected fish. Symptoms of Anisakis infection in humans include vomiting, nausea, diarrhea, or allergic reactions (Adroher and Benitez, 2020). Ecological studies used Anisakis as biological tags of fish migration and movement pattern, stock discrimination, recruitment, reproduction, and for food web structure analyses (MacKenzie, 2002; Podolska et al., 2006; Palm, 2011)

Nowadays, various fish species and cephalopods are infected with *Anisakis* larvae. *Anisakis* on

fish/cephalopods have been well studied in Europe and America, and e.g. parts of Asia (Kuhn et al., 2013). Many pelagic and demersal fish species with high economic value, such as scad (Decapterus spp.), frigate tuna (Auxis thazard), mackerel (Scomber spp.), skipjack tuna (Katsuwonus pelamis), hairtail fish (Trichiurus spp.), and jack/trevallies (Caranx spp.), are potential hosts and have been reported infected with Anisakis. Several studies related to local Indonesian Anisakis species and infection patterns have been conducted (Hutomo et al., 1978; Setyobudi et al., 2007; Suadi et al., 2007; Palm et al., 2008; Setyobudi et al., 2011a; Anshary et al., 2014; Palm et al., 2017, Theisen, 2019), but the number of known local fish hosts is still relatively small when compared with the total number of marine fish species in Indonesian waters. There are 6 genotypes of Anisakis found in Indonesian and adjacent waters. Among these nematodes, Anisakis typica is the most common, and there are even some local genotypes that may differ from the genotypes that have been published so far. Therefore, in order to avoid identification confusion in the future, the Indonesian A. typica genotype was noted as the sub-specific entity namely A. typica var. indonesiensis (Palm et al., 2017). Similar result was shown of A. typica T isolated from Priacanthus tayenus in Gulf Thailand, and that local

^{*} Corresponding author e-mail: setyobudi_dja@ugm.ac.id.

genotype was considered not a variety but a distinct species status (Eamsobhana *et al.* 2018).

Belanger's croaker is a demersal fish, not yet reported to be infected with Anisakis in Indonesia (compare hostparasite checklist for Indonesia in Theisen-2019), even though several studies reported Anisakis infection was found on other demersal fish. Interestingly, Anisakis infections of Indonesian croakers (Sciaenidae) seem to be rare generally as listed in the local host-parasite checklist for fish parasites (Theisen 2019). Therefore, the detected presence of Anisakis spp. on Belanger's croaker makes this fish species a promising biological indicator for subsequent ecological studies (MacKenzie, 2002; Mattiucci et al., 2008, Palm 2011; Munster 2015), and can help to improve handling and processing of this consumable fish. The presence of Anisakis in marine fish can also be used as an indicator for fish quality. Anisakis infection in fish can cause aesthetic deterioration and reduce product value (Aspholm, 1995). Thus, fish with massive infections are regularly avoided by salesmen and consumers, consequently with economical loss, but also preventing human anisakiasis (McClelland, 2002).

Anisakis nematodes can be identified morphologically and molecularly. However, the larvae in fish are morphologically difficult to distinguish. Compared with morphological identification, molecular identification is more efficient and accurate and can overcome its limitations, because reference DNA regions for every valid Anisakis species are known and available (Mattiucci and Nascetti, 2008). Molecular techniques that can accurately identify the species of Anisakis have been developed rapidly and widely used, such as Polymerase Chain Reaction-Restricted Fragment Length Polymorphism (PCR-RLFP) and direct sequencing (D'Amelio et al., 2000; Nadler et al., 2005). PCR-RFLP of the Internal Transcribed Spacer (ITS) and 5.8S ribosomal DNA (rDNA) regions can be applied for Anisakis species identification (Umehara et al., 2006; Anshary et al., 2014). However, PCR-RFLP method cannot be used to study in detail the genetic variation of both intra and inter species. Furthermore, ITS region and mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) cox2 gene analyses have been used to determine the genetic relationship and genetic variation between Anisakis species (Farjallah et al., 2008; Umehara et al., 2010; Eamsobhana et al. 2018). Recently, Mattiucci et al. (2017) reviewed and discussed taxonomical aspects related to biodiversity assessment, emphasizing on fish parasitic worm taxa recognized as biological species based on molecular/genetic markers.

2. Material and Methods

2.1. Fish Sampling and Anisakis Larvae Collection

This study sampled 150 Belanger's croaker fish (*Johnius belangerii*) (107 male and 43 female) caught by artisanal fishermen during February–August 2019 from the coast of Yogyakarta, Indonesia (Indian Ocean) (7°53'47"-8°11'56" SL; 110°17'32"-110°47'32" EL). The samples were identified based on Carpenter and Niem (2001), then measured for its total length using meter scale (accuracy 0.1 cm) and weight using electronic balance (accuracy 0.1 g), dissected, then observed for *Anisakis* at the abdominal cavity, liver, digestive tract, gonads, and muscle. The

collected *Anisakis* were immersed and washed in 0.9% solution of sodium chloride and water, then stored in absolute ethanol for subsequent analysis (Setyobudi *et al.*, 2019). The infection parameters, i.e. prevalence (P) and mean intensity (MI), were determined following Bush *et al.* (1997).

2.2. Anisakid Identification

2.2.1. Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)

Anisakis larvae were processed and cleaned at 4°C using cacodylate buffer for 6 h, prefixed using 2.5% glutaraldehyde for 12 hours, and then fixed with 2% tannic acid for 6 hours. After fixation process, the samples were washed in cacodylate buffer and gradually dehydrated in 30, 50, 70, 85, 90, and 99.6% ethanol. Specimens were positioned on the stub accordingly, and then covered with Au using Ion Coater SPT-20. The morphological characters of *Anisakis* were observed via a Hitachi SU-3500 SEM.

2.2.2. Molecular Identification

Twenty *Anisakis* larvae individuals were randomly selected for molecular identification. The DNA was extracted using Tissue/Blood DNA minikit extraction (Geneaid) by adhering to the manufacturer's procedure. The genomic DNA was used for further molecular analysis.

2.2.2.1. PCR-RFLP Analysis

The ITS region of rDNA (ITS-1, 5.8 S and ITS-2) of n = 20 worms was amplified using primer A (5'-GTC GAA TTC GTA GGT GAA CCT GCG GAA GGA TCA-3') and primer B (5'-GCC GGA TCC GAA TCC TGG TTA GTT TCT TTT CCT-3') (D'Amelio et al. 2000). The PCR conditions were: 94°C for 10 min for denaturation; 35 cycles of 94°C for 40 s, 54°C for 40 s, and 72°C for 90 s; and post amplification at 72°C for 7 min. Amplification products were analyzed by RFLP using TaqI, HhaI, and HinfI DNA endonuclease restriction enzymes (D'Amelio et al. 2000). The digestion was carried out using 0.5 µL of endonuclease restriction enzyme, 1 µL of buffer, 3 µL of PCR product and 5.5 µL distilled water. Digestion with the HinfI and HhaI enzymes was carried out at 37°C for 90 min, while digestion with the TaqI enzyme was carried out at 65°C for 90 min. The PCR-RFLP products were analyzed with 1.5% agarose gel electrophoresis with fluorosafe stain. The observed bands were used to determine the species following the previous research (D'Amelio et al., 2000; Anshary et al., 2014).

2.2.2.2. mtDNA cox2 Gene Sequencing

Polymerase Chain Reaction of the mitochondrial DNA cox2 gene (n = 4 worms) was conducted using primer 210 (5'-CAC CAA CTC TTA AAA TTA TC-3') and primer 211 (5'-TTT CTA GTT ATA TAG ATT GRT TYA T-3' (Nadler and Hudspeth 2000). The amplification was conducted under the reaction conditions: 94° C for 5 min; 35 cycles of 94° C for 40 s, 42° C for 40 s, and 72° C for 75 s; then post amplification at 72° C for 7 min. Then, the product was sequenced through a DNA sequencing service company (1stBase Laboratory in Malaysia through PT Genetika Science Indonesia). The results of nucleotide sequences were verified using BioEdit 7.0.4 software. The nucleotide's alignment was conducted using MEGA X,

followed by the construction of a phylogenetic tree based on mitochondrial DNA cox2 gene nucleotide sequences using the maximum likelihood method and Tamura-Nei model (Kumar *et al.*, 2018).

3. Results

3.1. Anisakis Infection

Belanger's croaker (Johnius belangerii, family Sciaenidae) is an economically important fish commonly caught locally. This demersal fish is distributed throughout Indonesian waters, inhabits coastal waters and estuaries, and feeds mainly on penaeid prawn and polychaeta (Simanjutak and Raharjo, 2001). In total, 150 fish samples with body length 14.6-28.2 cm and weight 35.6-339 g were collected from the coast of Yogyakarta, Indonesia. This research showed that Belanger's croaker was susceptible to Anisakis larvae infection. Anisakis infections of J. belangerii at the coast of Yogyakarta were moderate in prevalence (P) and mean intensity (MI) (P=48.7%, MI=5.7 larvae/fish individual). The increasing prevalence and intensity of Anisakis in relation to increasing fish length are shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Infection rates of *Anisakis* on Belanger's croaker *Johnius belangerii* caught from the Indian Ocean coast of Yogyakarta

Figure 1 shows that the highest prevalence (100%) was observed in the fish with 21-25 cm length (W=109.7-121.8 g) (n=5), and 26-30 cm (W=282.0-339.0 g) (n=2), whereas the lowest prevalence (7.7%) was found in the fish with 10-15 cm body length (W=32.5-55.0 g) (n=13). The highest mean intensity of Anisakis infection was observed in the fish with 26-30 cm length (W=282.0-339.0 g) (37.0 larvae/fish individual), and the lowest was in the fish with 10-15 cm (W=32.5-55.0 g) (2.7 larvae/fish individual). These results indicate a relationship between the infection and body length. Both the prevalence and mean intensity of Anisakis infection tend to increase with increase in the body length. All Anisakis larvae were found freely or coiled the abdominal cavity and were not found in the other locations. The mean intensity distribution of Anisakis infection on Belanger's croaker is shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Distribution of intensity of *Anisakis* infection on Belanger's croaker *Johnius belangerii*

As shown in Figure 2, the collected Belanger's croakers were infected by *Anisakis* larvae in low intensity (<5 larvae/fish ind., 76.7 %), and only few were infected in high intensity (>20 larvae/fish ind., 5.5%).

3.2. Anisakis Identification

3.2.1. Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)

Morphological identification was carried out by analyzing four *Anisakis* samples via SEM (Plate 1).



Plate 1. SEM Analysis (A: [b] = boring tooth; B: [m] = mucron) of Anisakis typica from Johnius belangerii

Figure 3 shows that *Anisakis* isolated from Belanger's croakers was Type I, marked by a boring tooth (b) on the anterior part and a mucron (m) on the posterior part.

3.2.2. Molecular Identification

3.2.2.1. PCR-RFLP Analyses

Amplification of the ITS region resulted in a band with a size of \sim 1 kb (Plate 2). The amplification product of the ITS region was then analyzed by RFLP. The results of digestion restriction enzyme are illustrated in Plate 3.



Plate 2. Electrophoresis visualization of the ITS rDNA region of *Anisakis typica* from *Johnius belangerii* (M=marker, 1-4: samples in this study)



Plate 3. Visualization of digestion restriction enzymes of *Anisakis typica* from *Johnius belangerii* (M = marker, 1-4 = sample in this study)

Plate 3 shows the pattern after digestion of the PCR product using *Taq*I, *Hinf*I, and *Hha*I restriction enzymes. The digestion using *Taq*I formed two bands (400 base pairs (bp), 350 bp), *Hinf*I formed two bands (600 bp, 350 bp), and *Hha*I formed two bands (320 bp, 240 bp). All of the samples produce a similar pattern and corresponded to *Anisakis typica* (D'Amelio *et al.*, 2000; Anshary *et al.*, 2014).

3.2.2.2. Sequencing mtDNA cox2

PCR of the mtDNA cox2 gene showed band DNA with nucleotide length \pm 600 bp. The electrophoresis results are shown in Plate 4.



Plate 4. Visualization of *Anisakis typica* from *Johnius belangerii* electrophoresis with the mtDNA cox2 gene (M= marker, 1–4 = samples of this study).

Molecular identification using the mtDNA cox2 target gene confirmed that the *Anisakis* species infecting the Belanger's croaker was *A. typica*.

Anisakis infecting Belanger's croaker is similar to A. typica from the Philippines, the Persian Gulf, Thailand, Indonesia, Papua New Guinea, Egypt, Adriatic Sea, Brazil, and Japan. The phylogenetic tree constructed based on mitochondrial DNA cox2 genes sequences explains the genetic relationship of A. typica found in Belanger's croaker isolated from the coast of Yogyakarta with references from the NCBI GenBank (Figure 3). The phylogenetic tree shows that the Anisakis isolated from Belanger's croaker from Yogyakarta forming into two groups closely related to A. typica from the Philippines water, the Gulf of Thailand, the Papua New Guinea, and closely related to A. typica from the Persian Gulf.



Figure 3. The molecular phylogenetic tree showing the genetic relationship among *Anisakis* species samples based on mtDNA cox2 genes. The phylogenetic tree was constructed using the maximum likelihood method according to the Tamura–Nei model (bootstrap=1000). The GenBank Accession numbers for the sequences from this study are: MW591688-MW591691. *= this study

4. Discussion

4.1. Locality and Host Records

Anisakis is a parasite infecting pelagic and demersal fish. Belanger's croaker Johnius belangerii is a paratenic host of Anisakis similar to other local demersal fish, such as Trichiurus spp., Selaroides leptolepis, and Terapon jarbua (Palm et al., 2017). It has never been reported to be infected in Indonesia (Theisen 2019). Belanger's croaker captured at the coast of Yogyakarta has a moderate prevalence and relatively high infection rate (P = 48.7%; MI = 5.7 larvae/fish individual). Previous studies reported variation in the prevalence, mean intensity and target organ of Anisakis larvae infection in marine demersal fish species. Setyobudi et al. (2011a) showed the differences of the prevalence of Anisakis infecting demersal fish caught at the coast of Yogyakarta; a high prevalence was found in Three-striped tiger fish (Terapon jarbua) (66.67%) with a mean intensity of 1.0 larvae/fish ind.

4.2. Host Feeding Ecology and Age/Size

For almost all fish species, host size (in terms of length and weight) is one of the main factors affecting parasitation. Larger fish preying on infected small fish, taking a higher risk of infection and acting as accumulating hosts compared to small host fishes, which are infected only by preying on the first intermediate host, namely Euphausiacea. The prevalence of Anisakis infection in Belanger's croaker caught in the waters of the coast of Yogyakarta increased with increasing body size of fish (Figure 1). Most studies on various fish species reported a positive correlation between the host body size with the prevalence and mean intensity of infection (Quiazon et al., 2009; Setyobudi et al., 2011b; Mladineo et al., 2012; Bao et al., 2015; Pierce et al., 2017; Debendetti et al., 2019; Setyobudi et al., 2019). In general, large fish had more time in their life to accumulate Anisakis compared to small fish; thus, the former has a higher infection rate than the latter (Abattuoy et al., 2011). In addition, the total amount of different food items consumed and food habits, and also switches in feeding ecology while growing bigger (Munster et al., 2015) affect the mean intensity of Anisakis infection on fishes. Anisakis infection occurs through predation; therefore, adult fish have a higher risk of infection (Mattiucci et al., 2018). For example, cod from Greenland shows the apparent correlation between the size of fish and their food habits with parasitic abundance (Munster et al., 2015).

4.3. Microhabitats

The Anisakis infection of Belanger's croaker at the coast of Yogyakarta was restricted to the body cavity. In some fish species with high infection rates, Anisakis larvae can also be isolated from internal organ, such as the liver, gonads, mesentery, or are attached to the intestinal wall (Mattiucci *et al.*, 2018). The variation of infection in different microhabitats could be determined by species and age of fish, parasite species, and the environmental condition of the host after its capture (Lymbery and Cheah, 2007). Similarly, several studies reported that Anisakis larvae are mostly found in the abdominal cavity, such as in *Trichiurus lepturus* from Bali (Semarariana *et al.*, 2012) and in some fishes in the Makassar Strait (Anshary *et al.*, 2014) and Spain (Debendetti *et al.*, 2019).

Previous studies indicated that Anisakis dominates the host's body cavity, and only a small proportion is found in the muscle (Palm et al., 2008, 2017). However, most Anisakis simplex (s.s.) larvae, which is the Anisakis species with the highest zoonotic potential, causing most anisakiasis cases worldwide, that infect chum salmon (Onchoryncus keta) were found in the muscle (98%), and only few (2%) were found in the abdominal cavity and liver (Setyobudi et al., 2011b). Anisakis simplex and A. pegreffii larvae are also known to undergo a post-mortem habitat shift migrating from internal organs towards the muscle tissue of the fish host (Šimat 2015, Cipriani et al., 2016), but this is not known nor assumed for A. typica. On the basis of the relative distribution of infection between the abdominal cavity and the muscle of the hosts, some Anisakis species migrate to the muscle stimulated by fatty acid content gradients (Smith, 1983), or thermophilic. Larvae of A. typica have been found in the muscle tissue of Auxis rochei, but only 2.5% (1/40) (Palm et al., 2008).

4.4. Morphology and DNA

Morphological identification of *Anisakis* isolated from Belanger's croaker in the coast of Yogyakarta was led to Type I, which is indicated by a long ventriculus and the existence of a mucron (Berland, 1961). Up to now, the presence of *Anisakis* Type II has not been reported in the Indian Ocean from the south coast of Java (Theisen 2019). Klimpel and Palm (2011) stated that *Anisakis* Type II is not found in Asian waters but has a zoogeography restricted to the Central Atlantic and South Africa.

Currently, molecular methods such as DNA sequencing and PCR-RFLP are widely used to identify Anisakis species (D'Amelio et al., 2000; Pontes et al., 2005). In this study, restrictions of PCR product using three enzymes (TaqI, HinfI, and HhaI) were successfully used to identify Anisakis larvae. PCR-RFLP analysis produces the banding pattern corresponding to A. typica. PCR-RFLP can be used to identify species generally by observing the bands formed by digestion of restriction enzymes on the specific site of nucleotide sequence on a certain species. This simple and cheaper method is more appropriate when used for the identify process in a large amount of sample. However, to study the genetic variations of a species, the direct sequencing method was commonly used. For A. typica, the digestion of the ITS region using Hinfl produces two bands (620 and 350 bp), that using HhaI produces four bands (320, 240, 180, and 160 bp), and that using TaqI produces two bands (400 and 350 bp).

The Anisakis nucleotide sequencing of the mtDNA cox2 gene produced around 590 bp. The nucleotide sequencing showed that the A. typica that infects Belanger's croaker at the coast of Yogyakarta has genetic diversity among samples. Anisakis isolated from Belanger's croaker from Yogyakarta formed two groups which are closely related to A. typica from the Philippines water, the Gulf of Thailand, the Papua New Guinea, and closely related to A. typica from the Persian Gulf. Besides, this A. typica slightly different from those isolated from Egypt, Brazil, Japan, Adriatic Sea, even other isolates from Makassar Strait and Philippines waters. This finding is in line with Palm et al. (2017) regarding the possibility that there are varieties/sister species of A. typica (var. indonesiensis) isolated locally from Indonesia and adjacent waters. Eamsobhana et al. (2018) reported the Anisakis

larvae isolated from *P. tayenus* show the similar genetic lineage as the A. typica var. indonesiensis. Due to the closely related between A. typica isolated from the Gulf of Thailand and this finding, supposed that A. typica var. indonesiensis was distributed from Indian Ocean coast of Yogyakarta in the south to the Gulf of Thailand in the north. Phylogenetic analysis is appropriate in investigating the genetic composition of the Anisakis population and its biology (Jabbar et al., 2013). Anisakis typica has a wide distribution; it has infected several marine fish worldwide circumequatorial, and showed a unique distribution pattern (Klimpel and Palm, 2011). It is distributed from 35-40°N to 36°S in warm and tropical climates. The adult stage of A. typica is found in marine dolphins (Mattiucci and Nascetti, 2008; Colon-Llavina et al., 2009; Iniguez et al., 2009; Klimpel and Palm, 2011). The larval stages are found in many marine fish species and are known to have infected several fishes in Western Indonesia, Japan, Taiwan, Papua New Guinea, the Adriatic Sea in Croatia, China, Brazil, Portugal, Morocco, Mauritania, and several regions in the Mediterranean Sea (Zhu et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2008; Farjallah et al., 2008; Palm et al., 2008, 2017; Umehara et al., 2010; Borges et al., 2012; Smrzlic et al., 2012; Koinari et al., 2013; Palm et al., 2017; Theisen 2019). Infection by A. typica was also reported in marine mammals, i.e. dwarf sperm whales, Kogia breviceps from the Brazilian Atlantic coast (Iniguez et al., 2011) and Sotalia fluviatilis from the Atlantic coast (Mattiucci et al., 2002).

4.5. Human Impact, Biohazard and Zoonosis

Anisakiasis, which is mostly caused by A. simplex and A. pegreffii, has been reported in various Asian and European countries (Baird et al., 2014; Aibinu et al., 2019). Anisakiasis caused by A. typica infection is uncommon. Reports on the presence of A. typica in humans suffering from anisakiasis are unknown; thus, its zoonotic effect may be ignored. However, Palm et al. (2008) indicated that aside from the body cavity, A. typica can also be found in muscles of fish hosts; therefore, these parasites might cause anisakiasis by way of consumption of raw or undercooked fish. Anisakiasis has been widely reported around the world (Lymbery & Cheah, 2007). More than 90% of anisakiasis cases originate in Asia, especially Japan, but several cases have also occurred from western countries (Audicana & Kennedy, 2008; Mattiucci et al., 2018). Report on human health risk due to Anisakis larvae infection in Indonesia is still rare. However, seropositive against excretory-secretory antigen of thirdstage larvae of Anisakis spp. have been found from 11% of inhabitants in Sidoarjo, East Java (Uga et al., 1996).

This study indicated that various fish species in Indonesia are susceptible to *Anisakis* infection and new hosts can be recorded locally; however, still only a small number compared to the fish species inhabiting Indonesian waters is investigated. Therefore, further investigation is necessary to understand the geographical distribution, prevalence, and epidemiology of the local *Anisakis*.

5. Conclusion

Belanger's croaker at the coast of Yogyakarta was susceptible to *Anisakis* infection by a moderate prevalence (48.7%) with a mean intensity of 5.7 larvae/fish individual.

All *Anisakis* larvae were found in the abdominal cavity (100%). Molecular analysis identifies those larvae as *A. typica* (var. *indonesiensis*).

Acknowledgments

This research was funded by Universitas Gadjah Mada (Grant Number: 2866/UN1/DITLIT/DIT-LIT/LT/2019 and 3235/UN1/DITLIT/DIT-LIT/LT/2019).

References

Abattuoy N, Valero A, Benajiba MH, Lozano J, and Martin-Sanchez J. 2011. *Anisakis simplex* (s.l.) parasitization in mackerel (*Scomber japonicus*) caught in the North of Morocco-Prevalence and analysis of risk factor. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.*, **150**: 136-139.

Adroher AFJ and Benitwz RR. 2020. Anisakiasis and *Anisakis*: An underdiagnosed emerging disease and its main etiological agents. *Vet. Sci. Res. J.*, **132**: 535–545.

Aibinu IE, Smooker PM and Lopata A.L. 2019. *Anisakis* Nematodes in Fish and shellfish-from infection to allergies. *Int. J. Parasitol. Parasites Wildl.*, **9**: 384-393.

Anshary H, Sriwulan MAF and Ogawa K. 2014. Occurrence and molecular identification of *Anisakis* Dujardin, 1845 from Marine Fish in southern Makassar Strait, Indonesia. *Korean J. Parasitol.*, **52** (1): 9-19.

Aspholm PE. 1995. Anisakis simplex Rudolphi, 1809, infection in fillet of Barent Sea cod Gadus morhua L. Fish. Res., 23: 375-379.

Audicana MT and Kennedy MW. 2008. *Anisakis simplex*: from Obscure Infectious Worm to Inducer of Immune Hypersensitivity. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.*, **21** (2): 360-379.

Baird FJ, Su X, Aibinu I, Nolan MJ, Sugiyama H, Otranto D, Lopata AL and Cantacessi C. 2016. The Anisakis transcriptome provides a resource for fundamental and applied studies on allergy-causing parasites. *PLOS Negl. Trop. Dis.*, **10** (7): e0004845. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0004845

Bao M, Roura A, Mota M, Nachón DJ, Antunes C, Cobo F, MacKenzie K and Pascual S. 2015. Macroparasites of allis shad (*Alosa alosa*) and twaite shad (*Alosa fallax*) of the western Iberian Peninsula Rivers: ecological, phylogenetic and zoonotic insights. *Parasitol. Res.*, **114** (**10**): 3721-3739.

Berland B. 1961. Nematodes from some Norwegian marine fishes. *Sarsia*, **2**: 1-50.

Borges JN, Cunha LFG, Santos HLC, Monteiro-Neto C and Portes Santos CP. 2012. Morphological and molecular diagnosis of anisakid nematode larvae from cutlassfish (*Trichiurus lepturus*) off the coast of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. *PLoS One*, **7** (**7**): e40447. https://dx.doi.org/10.1371%2Fjournal.pone.0040447

Bush AO, Lafferty KD, Lotz JM and Shostak AW. 1997. Parasitology meets ecology on its own terms: Margolis et al. revisited. *J. Parasitol.*, **83** (4): 575-583.

Carpenter KE and Niem VH. 2001. FAO Species Identification Guide for Fishery Purposes. The Living Marine Resources of the Western Central Pacific Volume 5: Bony Fishes Part 3 (Menidae to Pomacentridae). Rome, 2791-3380

Chen Q, Yu HQ, Lun ZR, Chen XG, Song HQ, Lin RQ and Zhu XQ. 2008. Specific PCR assays for the identification of common anisakid nematodes with zoonotic potential. *Parasitol. Res.*, **104** (1): 79-84.

Cipriani P, Acerra V, Bellisario B, Sbaraglia GL, Cheleschi R, Nascetti G and Mattiucci S. 2016. Larval migration of the zoonotic parasite *Anisakis pegreffii* (Nematoda: Anisakidae) in European anchovy, *Engraulis encrasicolus*: Implications to seafood safety. *Food Control*, **59**:148-57.

Colón-Llavina MM, Mignucci-Giannoni AA, Mattiucci S, Paoletti M, Nascetti G and Williams EH. 2009. Additional records of metazoan parasites from Caribbean marine mammals, including genetically identified anisakid nematodes. *Parasitol. Res.*, **105** (5): 1239-1252.

D'Amelio S, Mathiopoulos KD, Santos CP, Pugachev ON, Webb SC, Picanço M and Paggi L. 2000. Genetic Markers in ribosomal DNA for the identification of Members of the Genus *Anisakis* (Nematoda: Ascaridoidea) Defined by polymerase Chain Reaction base restriction fragment length polymorphism. *Int. J. Parasitol.*, **30** (2): 223-226.

Debenedetti ÁL, Madrid E, Trelis M, Codes FJ, Gil-Gómez F, Sáez-Durán S and Fuentes MV. 2019. Prevalence and risk of anisakid larvae in fresh fish frequently consumed in Spain: an overview. *Fishes*, **4** (13): 1-16.

Eamsobhana P, Yong HS, Song SL, Tungtrongchitr A and Roongruangchai K. 2018. Genetic differentiation of *Anisakis* species (Nematoda: Anisakidae) in marine fish *Priacanthus tayenus* from Gulf of Thailand. *Trop. Biomed.*, **35** (3): 669–677.

Farjallah S, Busi M, Mahjoub MO, Slimane BB, Paggi L, Said K and D'Amelio, S. 2008. Molecular characterization of larval anisakid nematodes from marine fishes off the Moroccan and Mauritanian coasts. *Parasitol. Int.*, **57**: 430-436.

Hutomo M, Burhanuddin and Hadidjaja, P. 1978. Observations on the incidence and intensity of infection of nematode larvae (Family: Anisakidae) in certain marine fishes of waters around Panggang Island, Seribu Islands. *Mar. Res. Indonesia*, **21**: 49-60.

Iñiguez AM, Santos CP and Vicente ACP. 2009. Genetic characterization of *Anisakis typica* and *Anisakis physeteris* from marine mammals and fish from the Atlantic Ocean off Brazil. *Vet. Parasitol.*, **165**: 350-356.

Iñiguez AM, Carvalho VL, Monica R. Alves Mottac MRA, Pinheiro DCSN and Vicente ACP. 2011. Genetic analysis of *Anisakis typica* (Nematoda: Anisakidae) from cetaceans of the northeast coast of Brazil: New data on its definitive hosts. *Vet Parasitol.*, **178**: 293-299. Jabbar A, Fong RW, Kok KX, Lopata AL, Gasser RB, Beveridge I. 2013. Molecular characterization of anisakid nematode larvae from 13 species of fish from Western Australia. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.*, **161** (3): 247-253.

Koinari M, Karl S, Elliot A, Ryan U, Lymbery AJ. 2013. Identification of Anisakis species (Nematoda: Anisakidae) in marine fish hosts from Papua New Guinea. *Vet. Parasitol.*, **193**: 126-133.

Kuhn T, Hailer F, Palm HW and Klimpel S. 2013. Global assessment of molecularly identified *Anisakis* Dujardin, 1845 (Nematoda: Anisakidae) in their teleost intermediate hosts. *Folia Parasitol.*, **60** (2): 123-134.

Kumar S, Stecher G, Li M, Knyaz C, and Tamura K. 2018. MEGA X: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis across computing platforms. *Mol. Biol. Evol.*, **35**:1547-1549.

Lymbery AJ and Cheah FY. 2007. Anisakids Nematodes and Anisakiasis. In: Murrell KD, Fried B (Eds.), Food-borne parasitic zoonoses. Fish and plant-borne parasites. Springer Sciences and Busines Media, LLXC, New York USA, pp 185-207.

MacKenzie K. 2002. Parasites as biological tags in population studies of marine organisms: An update. *Parasitology*, **124**: 153-163

Mattiucci S, Paggi L, Nascetti G, Portes Santos C, Costa G, Di Beneditto AP, Ramos R, Argyrou M, Cianchi R, and Bullini L. 2002. Genetic markers in the study of *Anisakis typica* (Diesing, 1860): larval identification and genetic relationships with other species of *Anisakis* Dujardin, 1845 (Nematoda: Anisakidae). *Syst. Parasitol.*, **51** (3): 159-170.

Mattiucci S, Farina V, Campbell N, Mackenzie K, Ramos P, Pinto A, Abaunza LP and Nascetti G. 2008. *Anisakis* spp. larvae (Nematoda: Anisakidae) from Atlantic horse mackerel: their genetic identification and use as biological tags for host stock identification. *Fish. Res.*, **89**: 146-151.

Mattiucci S and Nascetti G. 2008. Advances and trends in the molecular systematics of *Anisakis* nematodes, with implications for their evolutionary ecology and host-parasite co-evolutionary processes. *Adv. Parasitol.*, **66**: 47-148.

Mattiucci S, Cipriani P, Paoletti M, Levsen A and Nascetti G. 2017. Reviewing biodiversity and epidemiological aspects of anisakid nematodes from the North-east Atlantic Ocean. *J. Helminthol.*, doi:10.1017/S0022149X1700027X.

Mattiucci S, Cipriani P, Levsen A, Paoletti M and Nascetti G. 2018. Molecular epidemiology of *Anisakis* and anisakiasis: an ecological and evolutionary road map. *Adv Parasitol.*, **99**: 93-263.

McClelland G. 2002. The trouble with sealworms (*Pseudoterranova decipiens* species complex, Nematoda): a review. *Parasitology*, **124**: 183-203.

Mladineo I, Simat V, Miletić J, Beck R and Poljak V. 2012. Molecular identification and population dynamic of *Anisakis pegreffii* (Nematoda: Anisakidae Dujardin, 1845) isolate from the European anchovy (*Engraulis encrasicolus* L.) in the Adriatic Sea. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.*, **157** (2): 224-229.

Munster J, Klimpel S, Fock HO, MacKenzie K and Kuhn T. 2015. Parasites as biological tags to track an ontogenetic shift in the feeding behaviour of *Gadus morhua* off West and East Greenland. *Parasitol. Res.*, **114**: 2723–2733.

Nadler SA and Hudspeth DSS. 2000. Phylogeny of the Ascaridoidea (Nematoda: Ascaridida) based on three genes and morphology: hypotheses of structural and sequence evolution. *J. Parasitol.*, **86** (2): 380-393.

Nadler SA, D'Amelio S, Dailey MD, Paggi L, Siu S and Sakanari JA. 2005. Molecular phylogenetics and diagnosis of *Anisakis*, *Pseudoterranova*, and *Contracaecum* from northern Pacific Marine Mammals. J. Parasitol., **91** (6): 1413-1429.

Palm HW, Damriyasa IM, Linda IB and Oka M. 2008. Molecular genotyping of *Anisakis* Dujardin, 1845 (Nematoda: Ascaridoidea: Anisakidae) Larvae from Marine Fish of Balinese and Javanese Waters, Indonesia. *J. Helminthol.*, **45**: 3-12.

Palm HW. 2011. Fish Parasites as Biological Indicators in a Changing World: Can We Monitor Environmental Impact and Climate Change? In. Mehlhorn H (Ed.) **Progress in Parasitology, Parasitology Research Monographs 2**. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, pp 223-250.

Palm HW, Theisen S, Damriyasa IM, Kusmintarsih ES, Oka IBM, Setyowati EA, Suratma NA, Wibowo S and Kleinertz S. 2017. *Anisakis* (Nematoda: Ascaridoidea) from Indonesia. *Dis. Aquat. Org.*, **123** (2): 141-157.

Pierce GJ, Bao M, MacKenzie K, Dunser A, Giulietti L, Cipriani P, Mattiucci S and Hastie LC. 2018. Ascaridoid nematode infection in haddock (*Melanogrammus aeglefinus*) and whiting (*Merlangius merlangus*) in northeast Atlantic waters. *Fish. Res.*, **202**: 122-133.

Podolska M, Horbowy J and Wyszynski M. 2006. Discrimination of Baltic herring population with respect to *Anisakis simplex* larvae infection. *J. Fish. Biol.*, **68**: 1241-1256.

Pontes T, D'Amelio S, Costa G, Paggi L. 2005. Molecular characterization of larval anisakid nematodes from marine fishes of Madeira by a PCR-based approach, with evidence for a new species. *J. Parasitol.*, **91** (6): 1430-1434.

Pozio E. 2013. Integrating Animal Health Surveillance and Food Safety: The Example of *Anisakis. Rev. sci. Tech. Off. int. Epiz.*, **32**(2): 487-496.

Quiazon KM, Yoshinaga T, Santos MD, Ogawa K. 2009. Identification of larval *Anisakis* spp. (Nematoda: Anisakidae) in Alaska pollock (*Theragra chalcogramma*) in Northern Japan using morphological and molecular markers. *J. Parasitol.*, **95** (5): 1227-1232.

Sakanari JA and McKerrow JH. 1989. Anisakiasis. *Clin Microbiol Rev.*, **2**: 278-284. Semarariana IWY, Suratma INA and Oka IBM. 2012. Infection of *Anisakis* spp. larvae on hairtail (*Trichiurus lepturus*). *Indones. Med. Veterinus*, **1** (2): 293-304. [Indonesian]

Setyobudi E, Senny H and Soeparno 2007. Infection of *Anisakis* sp. in hairtail (*Trichiurus* sp.) in the Southern Coast of Purworejo Regency. *J. Fish. Sci.*, **IX**: 142-148. [Indonesian]

Setyobudi E, Soeparno and Helmiati S. 2011a. Infection of *Anisakis* sp. Larvae in Some Marine Fishes from the Southern Coast of Kulon Progo, Yogyakarta. *Biodiversitas*, **12** (1): 34-37.

Setyobudi E, Jeon CH, Lee CI, Seong KB and Kim JH. 2011b. Occurrence and identification of *Anisakis* spp. (Nematoda: Anisakidae) isolated from chum salmon (*Oncorhynchus keta*) in Korea. *Parasitol. Res.*, **108** (3): 585-592.

Setyobudi E, Rohmah I, Fauziana SR, Ramatia L, Murwantoko and Sari DWK. 2019. Presence of *Anisakis* nematode larvae in Indian mackerel (*Rastrelliger* spp.) along the Indian Ocean southern coast of east Java, Indonesia. *Biodiversitas*, **20** (1): 313-319.

Simanjuntak PH and Rahardjo MF. 2001. Food Habits of Belanger's Croaker, *Johnius belangerii* in Mangrove Waters, Mayangan Coast, West Java. *Indones. J. Ichthyol.*, **1** (2): 11-17 [Indonesian].

Šimat V, Miletić J, Bogdanović T, Poljak V and Mladineo I. 2015. Role of biogenic amines in the post-mortem migration of *Anisakis pegreffii* (Nematoda: Anisakidae Dujardin, 1845) larvae into fish fillets. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.*, **214**: 179–186.

Smith HK. 1983. Fishery and biology of *Nototodarus gouldi* (McCoy, 1888) in western Bass Strait. *Mem. Mus. Vic.*, **44**: 285-290.

Smrzlic IV, Valic D, Kapetanovic D, Kurtovic B, Teskeredzic E. 2012. Molecular characterisation of Anisakidae larvae from fish in Adriatic Sea. *Parasitol. Res.*, **111** (6): 2385-2391.

Suadi S, Helmiati R and Widaningroem R. 2007. Parasite *Anisakis* sp. in Hairtails (*Trichiurus* sp.) population landed at Cilacap fishing port. *J. Fish. Sci.*, **IX (2)**: 226-232 [Indonesian].

Theisen S. 2019. Indonesian Marine Fish Parasite Biodiversity. Dr. *rer. nat.* Dissertation. University of Rostock, Germany. https://doi.org/10.18453/rosdok id00002745.

Uga S, Ono K, Kataoka N and Hasan H. 1996. Serioepidemiology of five major zoonotic parasit on inhabitatns in Sidoarjo East Java. *Southeast Asian J. Trop. Med. Public Health*, **27 (3)**: 556-561.

Umehara A, Kawakami Y, Matsui T, Araki J and Uchida A. 2006. Molecular identification of *Anisakis simplex* sensu stricto and *Anisakis pegrefii* (Nematoda: Anisakidae) from Fish and Cetacean in Japanese Waters. *Parasitol. Int.*, **55** (**4**): 267-271.

Umehara A, Kawakami Y, Ooi HK, Uchida A, Ohmae H and Sugiyama H. 2010. Molecular identification of *Anisakis* type I larvae isolated from hairtail fish off the coasts of Taiwan and Japan. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.*, **143** (3): 161-165.

Zhu XQ, Podolska M, Liu JS, Yu HQ, Chen HH, Lin ZX, Luo CB, Song HQ and Lin RQ. 2007. Identification of anisakid nematodes with zoonotic potential from Europe and China by single-strand conformation polymorphism analysis of nuclear ribosomal DNA. *Parasitol. Res.*, **101** (6): 1703-1707.

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

A comparative Study of Onion Purple Blotch (Caused by Alternaria porri) and Tomato Early Blight (Caused by A. solani) Diseases in Southern Ghors of Jordan

Al-Rawashdeh, Ziad B.¹, Muwaffaq R. Karajeh^{2,*}, Ezz Al-Dein M. Al-Ramamneh¹ and Mustafa S. Al-Rawashdeh²

¹ Al-Shoubak University College, Al-Balqa Applied University, Al-Shoubak, Jordan; ² Faculty of Agriculture, Mutah University, P.O. Box 7, Karak (61710), Jordan

Received: October 2, 2020; Revised: February 11, 2021; Accepted: February 26, 2021

Abstract

Two species of *Alternaria* were collected from southern Ghors of Jordan, isolated and characterized: *A. porii*, the causal agent of purple blotch of onion, and *A. solani*, the causal agent of early blight of tomato. Among planted onion cultivars, Beit Alpha was found to be highly susceptible to purple blotch, and Tebal was highly resistant under field conditions. Morphologically, there were distinct differences in conidia and mycelial growth rates between *A. porri* and *A. solani*. *Alternaria porii* was able to infect tomato and cause severe symptoms on its leaves; however, *A. solani* was not able to infect onion *in vitro*. Copper sulfate was the most effective salt in reducing the growth of both species *in vitro* and completely inhibited their fungal growth.

Keywords: Disease management, fungal diseases, plant pathogens, vegetable crops.

1. Introduction

Alternaria is a fungal genus that belongs to class Ascomycetes (formerly, classified in domain Eukaryota, kingdom Fungi, phylum Deuteromycota, class Hyphomycetes, order Hyphales, series Porosporae (Ellis & Gibson, 1975) and includes 299 species (saprophytic and pathogenic species). They are environmentally ubiquitous and are a part of common fungal flora that act as natural agents of decay and decomposition. About 20% of agricultural spoilage and decay are caused by Alternaria species. Crop losses caused by Alternaria species may reach up to 80% of the yield (Kirk et al., 2008; Nowicki et al., 2012). Variability is a well-known phenomenon in genus Alternaria and was noticed as changes in spore shape and size, mycelial growth, sporulation and pathogenicity (Mohsin et al., 2016). Based on phylogenetic and morphological studies, Alternaria is currently divided into 26 sections (Woudenberg et al., 2015). Alternaria sect. porri is the largest section containing most Alternaria species that have medium to large conidia and long beaks, some of which are important plant pathogens. The porri clade includes A. porri (Ellis) Cif. which causes purple blotch disease of onion as well as A. solani which causes early blight disease of tomato (Simmons, 1995).

Tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.) is an economic solanaceous vegetable crop of high importance worldwide. Tomato is grown in an area of more than 5 million hectares around the world (WPTC, 2018) and of about

24500 hectares in Jordan with a local production of about 1.7 million tons (Anonymous, 2016). Onion (*Allium cepa* L.) is an important bulbous vegetable crop of a high global importance grown in an area of 3.7 million hectares (FAO, 2010). In Jordan, onion occupies an area of 5700 hectares that produce about 12200 tones of yield (Anonymous, 2016).

Early blight (target leaf spot) disease of tomato caused by *A. solani* is one of the world's most destructive diseases which affect tomato crops. The causal organism is airborne and soil inhabiting. It is responsible for early blight, collar rot and fruit rot of tomato (Datar and Mayee, 1981). Symptoms of the disease usually appear on leaves, stems, petioles, twigs and fruits under favorable conditions resulting in defoliation, drying off of twigs and premature fruit drop; thus, the disease causes 50-86% loss in fruit yield (Mathur and Shekhawat, 1986).

Purple blotch of onion is a major disease throughout the world including Jordan, which is caused by *A. porri* (Islam *et al.*, 2001). This disease can cause 30-50% yield reduction (Pascua *et al.*, 1997). It causes extensive damage to bulb- as well as seed-crops. It is also a major limiting factor in the cultivation of onion (Savitha *et al.*, 2014; Priya *et al.*, 2015, Ramesh *et al.*, 2017).

Conidia, chlamydospores mycelia of *A. solani* and *A. porri* survive on plant debris and in soil. Both species have typical dry-dispersed conidia that are produced away from the host surface on aerial conidiophores (Fitt *et al.*, 1989; Everts and Lacy, 1996). Atmospheric temperature, humidity, wind speed and conidial spore concentration are the factors that are closely correlated with *A. solani* and *A.*

^{*} Corresponding author e-mail: muwaffaq@mutah.edu.jo.

porri disease occurrence. Wind, rain and insects are the primary source of disseminating inoculum of the pathogen (Rotem, 1994).

Presently, the two diseases are mainly managed by chemical fungicides, although the international trend is shifting towards more environmentally safe measures of plant disease control (Sallam, 2011; Savitha *et al.*, 2014).

The objectives of this study are to isolate and characterize the species of *Alternaria*, which cause diseases of onion and tomato grown in southern Ghors' open fields and to investigate the effects of different treatments on the suppression of the characterized pathogenic *Alternaria* species *in vitro*.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Field work

Several field trips were made to southern Ghors of Jordan, which is a common agricultural area under drip irrigation planted with tomato and onion crops during the pre-harvest stage of 2017/2018 fall. Visual disease observations of tomato and onion were carried out, particularly for diseases caused by Alternaria under open field conditions. Many diseased-plant samples were collected for laboratory pathogen isolation and identification. Disease incidence was assessed as the proportion % of diseased plants. Disease severity was scored by following 0-5 scale (Sharma, 1986) and further as a per cent disease index that was worked out by using a formula proposed by Wheeler (1969). Loss in crop yield was visually estimated in the field as the percentage of reduction in bulb size due to purple blotch disease.

2.2. Laboratory work

2.2.1. Pathogen isolation and characterization

Pathogen isolation was done by taking some superficial fungal growths of *A. solani* and *A. porri* from leaf lesions showing the typical symptoms of early blight of tomato and purple blotch of onion, respectively. They were cultured on potato dextrose agar (PDA) medium at 25°C in darkness for two weeks. The culture was then visually examined after slide preparation under a stereoscopic microscope at 100 and 400X for conidial morphology and characterization.

2.2.2. Pathogenicity test

Pathogenicity of the two *Alternaria* species was tested on tomato and onion leaves *in vitro*. A 5 cm-in-diameter piece of tomato (GS12, a susceptible cultivar) compound leaf or mature onion (Beit Alpha, a susceptible cultivar) leaf was rinsed in sterile distilled water, plated on Petridish and sprayed with a conidial suspension (at 10^6 conidia per ml) of each pathogen. Three plates were assigned for each treatment as replicates and three plates were sprayed with distilled water as non-treated control. All inoculated plates were incubated at 25°C and 16/8 light/dark inside a plant growth chamber for one week. Disease-symptoms development was visually monitored and photographed at the end of the incubation period.

2.2.3. In vitro fungicide bioassay

To investigate the effects of different chemical treatments on the suppression of the two pathogenic species *in vitro*, homogenized solutions of copper sulfate

(at 2.5 g/l), sulfur (80% of a commercial product (c.p.) at 7 g/l), carbendazim (50% of c.p. at 2.5 g/l) and thiophenate methyl (70% c.p. at 1 g/l) were prepared under laboratory conditions. A 0.5 cm-in-diameter disc was taken from a pure culture of *A. porri* or *A. solani* and placed on the center of a freshly prepared PDA plate after treating it uniformly with 0.5 ml of each of the previous solutions. Five treated and cultured plates were assigned as replicates for each treatment and five untreated cultured plates were kept as a control. All plates were incubated at 25° C in darkness for one week. After one week, the diameter of the fungal growth on the plate of each species per treatment was measured using a 20 cm-in-length ruler and compared with that of the untreated control.

2.3. Statistical Analysis

Data was analyzed statistically using regression models where general linear model (GLM) procedure was implemented (SPSS software version 11.5; SPSS Inc., Chicago, USA). Least significance difference (LSD) test and t-test were applied for mean separation at the 0.05 probability level (Steel *et al.*, 1997).

3. Results

3.1. Field work

All planted tomato cultivars were found highly susceptible to early blight caused by *A. solani* as indicated by high disease incidence (about 85%) and severity (about 62%). No tomato cultivars resistant or tolerant were noticed during the trips in southern Ghors. Onion cultivar Tebal was found highly resistant to purple blotch (the disease incidence and severity were less than 15 %) compared to another cultivar (Beit Alpha) that was highly susceptible with a disease incidence and severity higher than 85% (Table 1). Purple blotch of onion was a highly destructive disease that had caused high economic losses especially in the susceptible cultivar Beit Alpha with approximately 39.3 % compared to 4.2 % bulb reduction in the resistant one, Tebal.

 Table 1. Disease incidence and severity of purple blotch disease on two onion cultivars at fully mature bulb stage under field conditions of southern Ghors of Jordan:

Cultivar	Disease incidence %	Disease severity %
Beit Alpha	87.3 ¹ a ²	91.7 a
Tibal	12.8 b	13.6 b
1		

¹ Average of 10 plants/ treatment

 2 Means within columns followed by the same letters are not significantly different at 0.05 probability level using t-test.

3.2. Laboratory work

3.2.1. Pathogen isolation and characterization

Morphologically, there were distinct differences in conidia morphology and mycelial growth rates between *A. porri* and *A. solani* (Figure 1). The conidia of *A. solani* are relatively larger in size and their cells are more swollen than that of *A. porri*. Furthermore, the growth rate of *A. solani* was faster than *A. porri*. The mycelium of *A. solani* was able to cover the whole plate within a week (see the control plates, Figure 3).



Figure 1. Conidia of Alternaria porii (left) and conidia of A. solani (right) under 400X total magnification.

3.2.2. Pathogenicity test

Alternaria porii was able to infect tomato and cause severe symptoms on its leaves, but *A. solani* was not able to infect onion *in vitro* (Figure 2). The pathogenicity of *A.* *porri* on tomato was confirmed by the positive re-isolation of the pathogen from symptomatic tomato leaves showing wide light brown lesions surrounded by wide yellow halo at the end of incubation period (Figure 2).



Figure 2 Symptoms resulted from artificial inoculation and infection of tomato with *Alternaria porii* (in A: after one week and in B: after two weeks) or with *A. solani* (in A: after one week and in B: after two weeks).

3.2.3. In vitro fungicide bioassay

Copper sulfate was the most effective treatment. It was more effective than sulfur and even than the two systemic fungicides; carbendazim and theophenate methyl in reducing the growth of *A. porri* and *A. solani* in the bioassay test. Copper sulfate treatment completely inhibited the fungal growth of both *Alternaria* species *in vitro* (Figures 3 & 4).



Figure 3: Fungal growth of Alternaria porii and A. solani on PDA treated with different chemical treatments.



Figure 4: Fungal growth (in cm) of Alternaria solani and A. porii on PDA treated with different treatments.

4. Discussion

The two diseases caused by *A. solani* and *A. porii*, common in southern Ghors of Jordan, resulted in considerable plant-yield losses as indicated from our field observations. The influence of purple blotch disease was more severe in the susceptible onion cv. Beit Alpha than cv. Tebal which appeared to be resistant. Therefore, the use of resistant cultivars of onion could be a useful, easy-to-use and effective tool to reduce crop losses due to the disease. The use of resistant cultivars of tomato could be useful also in tomato since no cultivars resistant or tolerant to early blight disease were noticed during the trips in southern Ghors. It might be due to the loss of high genetic variability. Low genetic resistance to pest and diseases in commercial tomato cultivars induces farmers, under conventional crop systems, to use high levels of pesticides

that do not meet consumer requirements (Modolon *et al.*, 2012). Epidemics do not generally occur until late in the season, when the plants are most susceptible. However, disease-progress curves differ depending on location and prevailing weather conditions.

Early blight can be controlled by effective use of cultural practices such as a 3-5 year crop rotation with non-host crops or resistant cultivars, site selection, sanitation of fields, providing proper plant nutrition, avoiding water stress and planting disease-free seed (Madden *et al.*, 1978). Generally, the best crops for rotation are forage crops and grains, including maize. Successive or consecutive cropping of tomato or potato in one field promotes an earlier appearance of early blight (Shtienberg and Fry, 1990).

As it is revealed by the morphological observations, the two *Alternaria* species (*A. solani* and *porii*) have variations in the shape and size of conidia. In addition, there are differences in the growth rate between them on PDA medium. These results agree with the previous studies (Ellis & Gibson, 1975; Pryor and Gilbertson, 2000; Hussein, 2019).

Alternaria porii was able to infect tomato and causes severe symptoms on its leaves but *A. solani* was not able to infect onion *in vitro*. The pathogenicity of *A. porri* on tomato was confirmed by the positive re-isolation from symptomatic tomato leaves showing wide light brown lesions surrounded by wide yellow halo. In a study using ITS and mitochondrial SSU sequences of *Alternaria* species,) showed a distinct number of species-clades. Although the porri clade includes both *A. porri* and *A. solani* as related species, there are differences in their pathogenicity to different hosts that could be due to phylogenetic and enzymatic variability (Pryor and Gilbertson, 2000; Hussein, 2019).

Our study revealed that both *Alternaria* species (*A. porri* and *A. solani*) were destructive plant pathogens. This result has an agreement with the previous studies (Pelletier, 1988; Shuman, 1995). *Alternaria solani* is a polycyclic pathogen as many cycles of infection are possible during a season (Shuman, 1995). Primary infections on new plantings of potatoes or tomatoes are caused by over-wintering inoculum (Pscheidt, 1985). The pathogen over-winters as mycelium or conidia in plant debris, soil, infected tubers and fruits or other host plants (Pelletier, 1988; Shuman, 1995; Al-Ameiri *et al.*, 2015).

Among tested salts and fungicides, copper containing fungicides (e.g. copper sulfate) could be effective in protecting plants from both diseases. A number of foliar fungicides can be used to manage early blight of tomato as they were effective. Copper-oxychloride, mancozeb and chlorothalonil are the most frequently used protectant fungicides for early blight management but they provide insufficient control under high disease pressure (Holm *et al.*, 2003; Pasche and Gudmestad, 2008).

5. Conclusion

Both *Alternaria* species (*A. solani* and *A. porii*) were found naturally occurring in southern Ghors of Jordan and causing purple blotch of onion and early blight of tomato that resulted in considerable yield losses. Onion cv. Tebal was found to be resistant to purple blotch under field conditions. *Alternaria porii* was able to infect both crops *in vitro*. Copper sulfate was effective in the suppression of fungal growth of both *Alternaria* species *in vitro*.

Acknowledgement

Great thanks are extended to Mutah University's Center for Research, Training and Agricultural Extension in southern Ghors of Jordan and to the local farmers for assisting us in conducting the research.

References

Al-Ameiri NS, Karajeh MR and Qaraleh SY. 2015. Molds associated with olive fruits infested with Ooive fruit fly (*Bactrocera oleae*) and their effects on oil quality. *Jordan J Biol Sci.*, **8(3)**: 217-220.

Anonymous. 2016. Agricultural Statistics. Department of Public Statistics. Amman, Jordan.

Datar VV and Mayee CD. 1981, Assessment of loss in tomato yield due to early blight. *Indian Phytopathol.*, **34**: 191-195.

Everts KL and Lacy ML. 1996. Factors influencing infection of onion leaves by *Alternaria porri* and subsequent lesion expansion. *Plant Dis.*, **80**: 276-280.

Ellis MB and Gibson IA. 1975. *Alternaria solani*. CMI Descriptions of Pathogenic Fungi and Bacteria. 475 p.

Fitt BDL, McCartney HA, and Walklate PJ. 1989. The role of rain in dispersal of pathogen inoculum. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.*, **27**: 241-270.

FAO. 2018. World Food and Agriculture Statistical Pocketbook. Rome.

Holm AL, Rivera VV, Secor GA and Gudmestad NC. 2003. Temporal sensitivity of Alternaria solani to foliar fungicides. *American J. of Potato Res.*, **80**(1): 33-40.

Hussein MA. 2019. Phylogenetic and enzymatic variability of Alternaria species isolated from various substrates in Qena governorate of Upper Egypt. *Arch. Phytopathol. Plant Prot.*, **52**: Doi.org/10.1080/03235408.2019.1651580.

Islam MR, Akter N, Chowdhury SM, Ali M and Ahmed KU. 2001. Evaluation of fungicides against *Alternaria porri* causing purple blotch of onion. J. *Agric. Sci. and Technol.*, **2**(1):27-30.

Kirk PM, Cannon PF, Minter DW and Stalpers JA. 2008. Dictionary of the Fungi. 10th ed. Wallingford: CABI.

Madden L, Pennypacker SP and Mac Nab AA. 1978. FAST, a forecast system for *Alternaria solani* on tomato. *Phytopathol.*, **68**: 1354-1358.

Mathur K and Shekhawat KS. 1986. Chemical control of early blight in Kharif sown tomato. *Indian J. Mycol. Plant Pathol.*, **16**: 235-238.

Modolon T, Boff P and Miquelluti D. 2012. Homeopathic and high dilution preparations for pest management to tomato crop under organic production system. *Horticultura Brasileira*, **30**: 51-57.

Nashwa SMA and Abo-Elyousr KAM. 2012. Evaluation of various plant extracts against the early blight disease of tomato plants under greenhouse and field conditions. *Plant Protect. Sci.*, **48**: 74–79.

Nowicki M, Nowakowska M, Niezgoda A. and Kozik EU. 2012. Black spot of crucifers: symptoms, importance of disease, and perspectives of resistance breeding. *Vegetable Crops Res. Bulletin*, **76**: 5-19.

Pasche JS and Gudmestad NC. 2008. Prevalence, competitive fitness and impact of the F129L mutation in *Alternaria solani* from the United States. *Crop Prot.*, **27(3-5)**: 427-435.

Pelletier JR. 1988. Computer simulation of cultivar resistance and fungicide effects on epidemics of potato early blight. Ph.D. thesis, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY, USA.

Priy R, Sataraddi A and Darshan S. 2015. Efficacy of nonsystemic and systemic fungicides against purple blotch of onion (*Allium cepa l.*) Caused by *Alternaria porri* (ellis) cif. *Int. J. Recent Sci. Res.*, **6(9)**: 6519-6521.

Pryor BM and Bigelow, DM 2003. Molecular characterization of Embellisia and Nimbya species and their relationship to Alternaria, Ulocladium and Stemphylium. *Mycologia*, **95**: 1141–1154.

Pscheidt JW. 1985. Epidemiology and control of potato early blight, caused by Alternaria solani. PhD thesis, University of Wisconsin-Madison, USA. Ramesh G, Ajithkumar K, Amaresh YS and Savitha AS. 2017. Influence of Integrated Nutrient Management on Growth Parameters, Yield and Severity of Disease in Onion (*Allium cepa* L.). *Int. J. Curr. Microbiol. App. Sci.*, **6(8)**: 1020-1028.

Rotem J. 1994. The genus Alternaria: biology, epidemiology and pathogenicity. APS Press, St Paul, Minnesota.

Sallam N. 2011. Control of Tomato Early Blight Disease by Certain Aqueous Plant Extracts. *Plant Pathol. J.*, **10**: 187-191.

Savitha AS, Ajithkumar K, and Ramesh G. 2014. Integrated disease management of purple blotch [Alternaria porri (Ellis) Cif] of onion, *Pest Manage. Horti. Ecosystems*, **20**: 97-99.

Sharma SR. 1986. Effect of fungicidal on purple blotch and bulb yield of onion. *Indian Phytopathol.*, **39**: 78-82.

Shtienberg D and Fry WE. 1990. Influence of host resistance and crop rotation on initial appearance of potato early blight. *Plant Dis.*, **74**: 849-852.

Shuman JL. 1995. Integrating a host resistance factor into a potato early blight-forecasting model. M.Sc. thesis, Pennsylvania State University, USA.

Simmons EG. 1995. Alternaria themes and variations. *Mycotaxon*, **55**: 55–163.

Steel RGD, Torrie JH, and Dickey DA. 1997. Principles and procedures of statistics: A biometrical approach. 3rd McGraw Hill Book Co. Inc. New York: 400-428.

Wheeler BE. 1969. An introduction to plant diseases. John Wiley and Sons Ltd., London.

Woudenberg JH, Seidi MF, Groenewald JZ and Crous PW. 2015. Alternaria section Alternaria: Species, formae speciales or pathotypes?. *Studies in Mycol.*, **82**: 1-21.

WPTC. 2015. Crop update as of 3 April 2015. World Tomato Processing Council, Avignon, France. Available at: http://wptc.to/pdf/releases/WPTC%20World%20Production%20e stimate%20as%20of%203%20April%202015.pdf. Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

Suppression of Aspergillus and Penicillium Species by Organic Extracts of Common Soft Corals and Sponge Species Habited in Hurghada, Red Sea, Egypt

Hassan A.H. Ibrahim^{1,*}, EL-Sayed M. El-Morsy², Mohamed S. Amer¹, Aml Z. Farhat³, Marwa T. Mohesien²

¹National Institute of Oceanography and Fisheries (NIOF), Alexandria Branch, Alexandria, Egypt; ²Botany and Microbiology Department, Faculty of Science, Damietta University, Damietta, Egypt; ³National Institute of Oceanography and Fisheries, Red Sea Branch, Hurghada, Egypt

Received: October 22, 2020; Revised: March 30, 2021; Accepted: April 15, 2021

Abstract

The ethanolic extracts of eight soft corals and five sponges were screened for antifungal activity (AU) against pathogenic fungi infected corals. The data revealed that the AUs, recorded by different crude extracts (ethanol and ethyl acetate) of soft corals, ranged between 0.0 and 49.0, which was achieved by the extract of S. gracile against A. fumigatus. In addition, the values of AUs, recorded by different crude extracts (ethanol and ethyl acetate) of sponge species, revealed that the AU ranged between 0.0 and 36.0, which was achieved by extract of Suberea mollis Row against P. auratiogriseum. Cleary, our findings proved that both ethanolic and ethyl acetate extracts of soft corals (S. polydactyla, S. gracile, S. glaucum, S. trocheliophorum, S. ehrenbergi, and X. macrospiculata) were the most effective extracts that exhibited the most potent AUs. Moreover, the most effective extracts were tested to determine the MICs against the most affected fungi and the lowest effective MIC was 10 mg/mL against several pathogenic fungi. On the other hand, the GC/MS profiles of the most effective extracts were: fatty acids and their derivatives, terpenoid (Nootkaton-11,12-epoxide, caryophyllene, geranyl-a-terpinene, etc.), steroid (corticosterone, cis-calamenene, etc.), and others. An additional trail proved the efficacy of palmitic acid (as a potent example of bioactive constituents found in crude extracts) when was compared to Treflucan.

Keywords: Antifungal Activity, Organic Extract, Soft Corals, Sponge, Red Sea.

1. Introduction

Marine invertebrates have been considered as potent resources for bioactive metabolites that are new in structure and biologically active. Potential bioactivities of numerous compounds extracted from marine species include: anti-fungal, antibacterial, antiviral, antimalarial, anti-cancer. antihelmintic, anti-inflammatory, anticoagulant, and other bioactivities (Somnath and Ghosh, 2010; Datta et al., 2015). Soft corals, besides sponges, are among common marine invertebrates which have been concerned for new bioactive substances (Ibrahim et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2019).

In particular, soft corals are known to produce a wide array of secondary metabolites, particularly diterpenoids and steroids, and often characterized by uncommon structural features and potent bioactivities (Liu et al., 2019). The remarkable abundance and diversity of bioactive small molecule which have been isolated from soft corals have made these organisms an important source of new drug candidates for human diseases, particularly for their anti-inflammatory activity (Putra and Murniasih, 2016). For instance, Kelman et al. (1998) studied different developmental and reproductive features of the Red Sea soft coral; Parerythropodium fulvum, which showed

antimicrobial activity towards many co-occurring and potentially pathogenic marine bacteria. Cheng et al. (2009) obtained antimicrobial activities from the soft coral; Nephthea erecta and Nephthea chabroli. Furthermore, Ibrahim et al. (2012) examined the extracts of ten soft corals from Egyptian Red Sea, which exhibited clear antibacterial activities against tested pathogens.

In addition, sponges are considered promising resources to supply future treatments for sever diseases such as cancer, a number of viral diseases, malaria and inflammation (Ibrahim et al., 2018). Sponges produce a different kind of chemical substances with numerous carbon skeletons (such as fatty acids, terpenoids, alkaloids, polyketides, polyacetylenes, sterols, peptides, etc.), which have been found to be the main component interfering with human pathogenesis at different sites. The fact that different diseases have the capability to fight at different sites inside the body can increase the chances to produce targeted medicines (Anjum et al., 2016). Many of such compounds possess antibacterial, antiviral, antifungal, antimalarial, antitumor, immunosuppressive, and cardiovascular activity (Anjum et al., 2016), besides antifouling properties (Qian, et al., 2006).

Thus, the current work investigated the suppression of Aspergillus and Penicillium growth in vitro by marine bioactive products extracted from soft corals and sponges

^{*} Corresponding author e-mail: drhassan1973@yahoo.com.

species in Hurghada, Red Sea, Egypt. In addition, this study extended to determine the general nature of the most potent compounds via gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS) technique.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. The study area

Marine living samples were collected away from 5 km a way of Hurghada city centre, Egyptian Red Sea. This area is adjacent to the National Institute of Oceanography and Fisheries, Red Sea branch, at latitudes of 27° 17' 13" N and longitudes of 33° 46' 43" E. It extends to about 150 m seawards and ends with a lagoon of 5 m depth. This area forms a lagoon, which has a sandy bottom and is covered with algal and sea grass mats. The reef following it is ribbon-like and composed of many hard and soft coral species.

2.2. Fungal culture and reference fungi

Potato dextrose agar (PDA) medium was applied to isolate and culture fungi. It was also used in the suppression trails. Pathogenic fungi isolated from infected hard corals were identified by the same authors and then used as reference pathogenic strains. However, they were: *Aspergillus niger, A. flavus, A. terreus, A. parasiticus, A. fumigatus, Penicillium chrysogemnum, P. oxalicum, P. crustosum, P. aurantiogriseum*, and *P. echinulatum* (El-Morsy *et al.*, 2017).

2.3. Sampling and identification marine organisms

SCUBA and snorkeling diving were followed to collect eight soft coral and five sponge samples. Soft corals species were identified according to Reinicke (1995) and Fabricious and Aldersdale (2001), while sponges' species were identified according to Collin *et al.* (2005)., including; morphological characteristics such as the color, size, shape, and form of the sampled specimens were examined and compared. Underwater images are especially important because soft corals emit different colors in the water. Moreover, certain organs in the specimen were observed under light microscope (Olympus CX41 with 100× and 400× magnification).

2.4. Preparation of different organic extracts

With 200 mL of ethanol and ethyl acetate solvent, 80 g of each marine sample (sponges and soft coral) were macerated well. They were filtered by filter paper after soaking for two weeks. In order to obtain crude extracts, solvents were evaporated using a rotary evaporator (Ballantine, 1987). Following the Backus and Green Process, bioactive substances were extracted from the sponge with some modifications. A weight of 5 g of the sponge was placed in 100 mL methanol. The quantity of ethanol and ethyl acetate used was 20 times as much as the sponge weight (5%, w/v). After the solution filtration, the residue was dried in the air in the room and then stored in a 4°C refrigerator until the next level (Hutagalung *et al.*, 2014).

2.5. Antifungal activity of different extracts against reference fungi

The suppression of different extracts from selected sponges and soft corals against the isolated fungi was assessed by the well-cut diffusion method. Three hundred milliliters of PDA medium were prepared and then inoculated with 1.5 mL of fungal spore suspension (10^6 spores/mL). Fifty millimetres of PDA were poured into all plates. After solidifying, 5 mm-wells were punched out and 100 µL of extracts were moved into each well. At 28°C, all plates were incubated for 5 days. A good result was shown by measuring the radius of inhibition zone (Y) around the each well (X) linearly in mm after the incubation period. The activity was expressed as absolute unit (AU) was calculated by dividing Y² per X² (El-Masry *et al.*, 2002).

2.6. Minimal inhibitory concentrations (MICs)

The MICs were also determined by well-cut diffusion method through preparing five concentrations in mg/mL (10, 30, 50, 100, and 200) for each extract against tested fungi (A. niger, A. terreus, A. fumigatus, P. chrysogenum, P. oxalicum, and P. aurantiogriseum). All extracts were previously prepared as stock solutions (500 mg/mL) and then were sterilized by 0.45 µL filter and stored at 4°C. After preparing and autoclaving PDA medium, the tested fungi were amended in ratio of 5 mL spore suspension (10⁶ spores/mL) per a litre of medium. The tested extracts were added in the five concentrations as mentioned and then all plates were incubated for 5 days at 28°C. It should be taken in consideration that the MIC of certain extract is determined as "the lowest concentration of extract, which inhibits visible growth of the microbe around the well or disc" (Devi et al., 2013).

2.7. Composition analysis of potent extracts using GC/MS spectroscopy

The crudes extracted from collected soft coral and sponge species, either in ethanol and ethyl acetate, were prepared for GC/MS analysis. Extracts prepared as mentioned before were concentrated until complete dryness and finally re-suspend in appropriate volume of solvent. However, the filtrate was subjected to GC/MS analysis (Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA, USA) according to Muller *et al.* (2002) and Thakur and Pandey (2016) procedures.

2.8. Effect of common constituents in extracts and antifungal drug (Treflucan)

From the GC/MS profile of ethanolic and ethyl acetate extracts, the presence of many potent compounds [such as; 6-octen-1-ol, 3,7-dimethyl-, (R)- (citronellol); 5,8,11,14-Eicosatetraenoic acid, methyl ester, (all-Z); pentadecanoic acid, 14-methyl-, methyl ester (palmitic acid); Trans-13octadecenoic acid, methyl ester (Stearic acid); tridecanoic acid, methyl ester] was revealed as the common constituents in both extracts. The commercial palmitic acid was selected to be examined against the most affected fungi during the screening tests in comparison to commercial antifungal drug (Treflucan). However, the fungal discs of strains A. niger and P. auratiogriseum were inoculated individually on the top of the sterilized PDA plates according to Amer and Ibrahim (2019). The punched wells were filled with different concentrations of palmitic acid and Treflucan. Later, all plates were incubated at 28°C for 5 days. The results were obtained by measuring the diameter of inhibition zone around each well in millimeter.

shown in Figure 1.

2.9. Statistical treatment

Data were expressed as mean of three readings \pm SD and was treated with a ANOVA test using SPSS software version. A P-value of < 0.05 is considered as significant value.

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Identification of marine organisms

Eight soft coral species collected from Red Sea were identified as: *Nephthya pacifica, Sarcophyton ehrenbergi,*



S. ehrenbergi



S. gracile



Amphimedon sp



Calliospongia sp.





X. macrospiculata



S. glaucum, S. trocheliophorum, S. gracile, Sinularia polydactyla, Xenia macrospiculata, and Dendronephthya

klunzingeri. Also, five selected sponge species collected

from Red Sea were identified as: Hyrtios erectus,

Calliospongia sp., Amphimedon sp., Suberea mollis, and

Ircinia sp. However, macrographs of these species are

S. trocheliophorum



S. glaucum



D. klunzingeri



Suberea mollis

H. erectus

N. pacifica





Figure 1. Selected soft coral and sponge species used in screening the antifungal activity, collected from Egyptian Red Sea, at Hurghada city.

Mycopathogens of aquatic animals have become the focus of considerable attention because of the high occurrences of fungal diseases in wild populations and aquaculture. Most marine fungal infections, once established in an individual, are often lethal and difficult to treat. This suggests that these fungi will continue to be troublesome pathogens of marine organisms (Noga, 1990). In comparison, marine species, such as sponges, soft corals, sea hares, bryozoans, sea slugs, and marine microorganisms, etc., are rich sources of novel bioactive metabolites (Blunt *et al.*, 2005). Recently, many studies have confirmed the antibacterial, antifungal and antiviral activities of bioactive compounds extracted from marine organisms (Somnath and Ghosh, 2010; Ibrahim *et al.*, 2018; 2020a; 2020b).

3.2. Screening of antifungal activity of coral extracts

Preliminarily, the present study investigated the inhibition of the fungal growth *in vitro* through applying selected marine bioactive extracts came from common Red Sea soft corals and sponges, Egypt.

In general, ethanolic extracts of eight soft coral and five sponge species were then screened for antifungal activity expressed as AU using well-cut diffusion technique. Result shown in Table 1 presents the AU recorded by different extracts (ethanol and ethyl acetate) of soft coral species against tested fungi. However, data revealed that the AU ranged between 0.0 and 49.0, which was achieved by the extract of *S. gracile* against *A. fumigatus*. This AU value was followed by 42.3 for extracts of both *S. glaucum* and *S. trocheliophorum* against *P. auratiogriseum* and *A. fumigatus*, respectively. Relatively, there were many other high records. The lowest value, rather than negative records, was 1.4 against *P. echinulatum*, which was given by extract of *X. macrospiculata*.

In addition, result shown in Table 2 presents the AU recorded by different extracts (ethanol and ethyl acetate) of sponge species against tested fungi. However, data revealed that the AU ranged between 0.0 and 36.0, which was achieved by extract of *Suberea mollis* against *P. auratiogriseum*. This value was followed by *Amphimedon* sp. extract against both *P. oxalicum* (AU = 31.6) and *P. crustosum* (AU = 30.0). However, there were many other relatively high records. Also, the lowest value, rather than negative records, was 2.0 against *P. echinulatum* which was occurred by extract of *Calliospongia sp.*

Table 1: Screening of antifungal activity for soft coral species extracts by well-cut diffusion technique (AU) against both *Aspergillus* and *Penicillium* species.

1, A. flavus; 2, A. niger; 3, A. fumigatus, 4, A. parasiticus; 5, A. terreus; 6, P. auratiogriseum; 7, P. chrysogenum; 8, P. oxalicum; 9, P. echinulatum; 10, P. crustosum.

Species/extract	Antifungal activity (AU)									
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Ethanol crude extrac	et:									
D. klunzingeri	0.0±0.0	9.6±0.17	4.4±0.06	3.6±0.10	0.0±0.0	0.0±0.0	4.4±0.0	0.0±0.0	1.2±0.06	6.8±0.06
N. molle	6.3±0.06	9.0±0.10	23.0±0.17	8.4±0.15	1.4±0.0	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	4.8±0.12	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	1.4±0.12	4.0±0.21
S. ehrenbergi	7.8±0.06	7.3±0.15	13.7±0.20	6.3±0.25	12.3±0.21	4.4±0.20	4.0±0.0	4.0±0.15	9.0±0.26	4.0±0.21
S. glaucum	6.8±0.21	4.8±0.15	5.8±0.10	4.8±0.06	0.0 ± 0.0	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	12.30.15	12.3±0.15	13.7±0.25	12.3±0.15
S. trocheliophorum	4.0±0.12	5.8±0.21	5.8±0.12	0.0 ± 0.0	4.0±0.20	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	4.0±0.12	12.3±0.15	16.0±0.12	7.80.10
S. gracile	5.3±0.15	4.0±0.15	6.8±0.26	0.0 ± 0.0	0.0 ± 0.0	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	9.0±0.25	0.8±0.0	0.0 ± 0.0
S. polydactyla	17.6±0.31	17.6±0.12	23.0±0.21	10.9±0.17	21.2±0.15	24.0±0.15	16.0±0.12	25.0±0.15	16.0±0.21	7.8±0.15
X. macrospiculata	4.8±0.06	5.3±0.21	10.9±0.12	8.4±0.21	5.3±0.12	4.8±0.12	9.0±0.06	8.4±0.06	12.3±0.12	12.3±0.06
Ethyl acetate crude	extract:									
D. klunzingeri	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	6.8±0.06	4.0±0.18	0.0 ± 0.0	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	2.6±0.06	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	5.3±0.12	4.0±0.15
N. molle	0.0 ± 0.0	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	0.0 ± 0.0	0.0 ± 0.0	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$
S. ehrenbergi	5.8±0.10	10.9±0.15	5.7±0.23	9.0±0.10	20.3±0.17	2.6±±0.0	16.0±0.21	5.3±0.12	10.9±0.15	4.0±0.12
S. glaucum	2.6±0.0	22.1±0.23	36.0±0.29	16.0±0.15	20.3±0.20	3.2±±0.06	36.0±0.30	4.0±0.20	20.3±0.25	6.3±0.21
S. trocheliophorum	2.6±0.0	4.0±0.0	42.3±0.87	3.6±0.15	4.4±0.0	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	4.0±0.15	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	6.3±0.15
S. gracile	4.8±0.15	6.5±0.20	49.0±1.04	7.3±0.10	25.0±0.36	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	30.3±1.01	4.0±0.20	32.5±1.51	$0.0{\pm}0.0$
S. polydactyla	5.8±0.10	9.0±0.31	10.9±0.89	4.4±0.06	6.3±0.26	4.0±0.15	12.3±0.15	5.3±0.20	16.0±0.36	4.0±0.0
X. macrospiculata	4.0±0.15	9.0±0.31	10.2±0.12	6.3±0.42	7.3±0.12	3.2±±0.0	4.8±0.26	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	1.4±0.0	4.0±0.10

Actually, soft corals have been investigated by scientists globally for their diversity of chemical

constituents and biological activities (Liang and Fang, 2006). Bowden et al. (1984) discovered that soft coral;

Lobophytum crasscopiculatum yielded cembranolides compound, which have antimicrobial activities. Kelman *et al.* (1998) studied the Red Sea soft coral; *Parerythropodium fulvum*, which exhibited antimicrobial activity against several co-occurring and potentially pathogenic marine bacteria. Geffen and Rosenberg (2005) showed antibacterial from the coral; *Pocillopora damicornis*. Cheng *et al.* (2009) obtained antimicrobial activities from *N. erecta* and *N. chabroli*. Ibarhim *et al.* (2012) previously investigated number of these corals from Egyptian Red Sea (particularly; *S. acutum, S. spongosium, S. gracile, S. glaucum, Sinularia gardineiri, S. leptoclados, Lopophytum pauciliforum, Dendronephthea sp., N. pacifica, and X. macrospiculata).* However, their extracts showed obvious antibacterial activities against some common pathogens.

Table 2: Screening of antifungal activity for sponge species extracts by well-cut diffusion technique against both Aspergillus and Penicillium species.

Species/extract					Antifungal	ntifungal activity (AU)				
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Ethanol crude extract:										
H. erectus	4.9±0.10	10.9±0.15	16.0±0.55	6.3±0.12	9.0±0.21	9.0±0.35	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	2.2±0.12	7.3±0.17
Calliospongia	2.6 ± 0.12	$23.0{\pm}0.38$	0.0 ± 0.0	0.0 ± 0.0	0.0 ± 0.0	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	0.0 ± 0.0	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	2.3±0.15	0.0 ± 0.0
Amphimedon	5.3 ± 0.25	18.5 ± 0.90	$25.0{\pm}0.75$	5.7 ± 0.06	$16.0{\pm}0.44$	$16.0{\pm}0.55$	$12.9{\pm}0.20$	$20.3{\pm}0.75$	13.7 ± 0.30	$23.0{\pm}0.82$
Suberea mollis	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	0.0 ± 0.0	4.0 ± 0.06	0.0 ± 0.0	12.3 ± 0.35	16.0 ± 0.30	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	4.0 ± 0.15	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	4.0±0.15
Iricinia sp.	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	4.0±0.21	16.0±0.44	4.0±0.10	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	9.0±0.31	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	5.7±0.36	9.0±0.31	9.0±0.45
Ethyl acetate crude ext	ract:									
H. erectus	3.6±0.15	23.0±0.55	13.7±0.45	10.9±0.45	9.0±0.35	13.7±0.36	16.0±0.56	$16.0{\pm}0.10$	16.0±0.42	16.0±0.31
Calliospongia	0.0 ± 0.0	17.6 ± 0.31	$16.0{\pm}0.25$	5.8 ± 0.31	0.0 ± 0.0	$13.7{\pm}0.40$	15.2 ± 0.21	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	2.0±0.21	0.0 ± 0.0
Amphimedon	0.0 ± 0.0	9.0±0.50	$20.2{\pm}0.51$	16.0 ± 0.65	$13.0{\pm}0.31$	$28.1{\pm}0.56$	13.7 ± 0.31	$31.6{\pm}0.20$	16.0 ± 0.20	$30.0{\pm}0.56$
Suberea mollis	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	0.0 ± 0.0	25.0 ± 0.46	4.0±0.10	7.8±0.32	36.0±0.50	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	0.0 ± 0.0	2.3 ± 0.06	9.0±0.46
Iricinia sp.	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	16.0±0.21	7.8±0.20	12.3±0.26	0.0±0.0	9.0±0.40	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	0.0±0.0	4.0±0.30	$0.0{\pm}0.0$

1. A. flavus; 2, A. niger; 3, A. fumigatus, 4, A. parasiticus; 5, A. terreus; 6, P. auratiogriseum; 7, P. chrysogenum; 8, P. oxalicum; 9, P. echinulatum; 10, P. crustosum.

Additionally, sponge extracts exhibited antimicrobial activities. For instance, sponge aqueous extract was used as antifungal activity (Perdicaris et al., 2013) and antibacterial against certified strains of bacteria (Galeano and Martínez, 2007; Ibrahim et al., 2018). Dhinakaran and Lipton (2012) examined the antifungal activity of the organic extracts of the sponge; Sigmadocia pumila against various fungal strains such as: Trichoderma viride, Fusarium spp., A. niger, Candida albicans, P. chrvsogenum, and A. flavis. Hence it is assumed that the sponge exhibited high antimicrobial activities. Ibrahim et al. (2018) also collected five marine sponges from the Levantine Basin in the vicinity of Alexandria city, Egypt (Spongia sp., Cinachyrella sp., Ciocalypta penicillus, Axinella verrucosa, and Plakortis simplex) and their results showed that the acetone extract of Spongia sp. had a broad spectrum followed by extracts of C. penicillus and A. verrucosa.

More recently, Ibrahim et al. (2020a) studied treating pathogenic bacteria (Escherichia coli, Klebsiella

pneumonia and Staphylococcus aureus) isolated from human stool and urine samples by the crudes extracted from sponge (Negombata magnifica, Siphonochalina siphonella, and H. erectus) and soft coral (S. glaucum and X. macrospiculata). Their data were also promising in such manner. Ibrahim et al. (2020b) evaluated the antimicrobial properties of three species of sponge collected from Red Sea, Hurghada, Egypt. They were identified as; Cinachyrella arabica, Ciocalypta penicillus and Axinella verrucosa. Their data revealed the positive values of antifungal and antibacterial activities in extracts, especially against A. hydrophila, S. aureus and P. notatum.

Data in both Table 1 and 2 were expressed as mean of three readings \pm SD. Correlations between antifungal activities and fungal species in case of ethanol crude extracts were significant; where P-value < 0.001. Also, they were significant in case of ethyl acetate crude extracts; where P-value < 0.05. In very few cases of the latter condition, they were not significant; where P-value > 0.05 (Table 3).

Table 3: Results of the ANOVA test showing significance between type of crude extract and antifungal activity (AU) presented in Table 1 and 2.

AU/Fungal	For data in Table 1				For data in Table 2			
species	Ethanol crud	e extract	Ethyl acetate	e extract	Ethanol crud	Ethanol crude extract		extract
	F	Significance	F	Significance	F	Significance	F	Significance
AU/1	3208.538	0.000	1946.164	0.000	1100.923	0.000	1635.571	0.000
AU/2	2227.401	0.000	1.541	0.223	1335.330	0.000	1711.002	0.000
AU/3	6310.098	0.000	1.288	0.317	1435.691	0.000	1.223	0.361
AU/4	2190.637	0.000	2747.693	0.000	5235.750	0.000	451.171	0.000
AU/5	11384.127	0.000	4.172	0.009	2271.668	0.000	1547.146	0.000
AU/6	11384.127	0.000	2940.268	0.000	1066.844	0.000	1921.672	0.000
AU/7	127.686	0.000	3593.907	0.000	12870.750	0.000	2255.653	0.000
AU/8	9916.997	0.000	902.128	0.000	1470.158	0.000	60203.400	0.000
AU/9	4928.935	0.000	1237.145	0.000	2213.636	0.000	2148.664	0.000
AU/10	2846.210	0.000	1233.613	0.000	1258.791	0.000	3847.546	0.000

1. A. flavus; 2, A. niger; 3, A. fumigatus, 4, A. parasiticus; 5, A. terreus; 6, P. auratiogriseum; 7, P. chrysogenum; 8, P. oxalicum; 9, P. echinulatum; 10, P. crustosum.

3.3. MICs of the most effective extracts

Thereafter, the MICs were determined against the most affected fungal pathogens. The MICs were detected by applying five concentrations (10, 30, 50, 100, and 200 mg/mL) for each extract obtained from soft corals (*S. polydactyla, S. gracile, S. glaucum, S. trocheliophorum, S. ehrenbergi,* and *X. macrospiculata*) against the most affected fungal pathogens (*A. niger, A. terreus, A. fumigates, P. aurantiogriseum, P. chrysogenum,* and *P. oxalicum*).

Data in Table 4 illustrates the MICs of *S. polydactyla* ethanolic extracts were 10 mg/mL against all tested *Aspergillus* species. The MICs of *S. gracile* ethanolic extracts were 30 mg/mL against *A. niger* and *A. fumigatus*

and 200 mg/mL against *A. terreus.* The MICs of *S. glaucum* ethanolic extracts were 50 mg/mL against both of *A. niger* and *A. fumigatus* and 100 mg/mL against *A. terreus.* The MICs of *S. trocheliophorum* ethanolic extracts were 30 mg/mL against both of *A. niger* and 50 mg/mL against *A. fumigatus* and *A. terreus.* The MICs of *S. trocheliophorum* ethanolic extracts were 30 mg/mL against *A. fumigatus* and *A. terreus.* The MICs of *S. trocheliophorum* ethanolic extracts were 30 mg/mL against *A. fumigatus* and *A. terreus.* The MICs of *S. trocheliophorum* ethanolic extracts were 30 mg/mL against *A. fumigatus* and *A. terreus.* The MICs of *S. ehrenbergi* ethanolic extracts 10 mg/mL against both of *A. terreus* and *A. fumigatus* and 30 mg/mL against *A. niger* The MICs of *X. macrospiculata* ethanolic extracts 30 mg/mL against all tested *Aspergillus* species.

Table 4: MICs of extracts (mg/mL) from selected soft coral against the most previously affected *Aspergillus* species [a= concentration of extract (mg/mL), while b= zone, mm].

	MICs (mg/mL)/Fungus								
	A. niger		A. terreus		A. fumigatus				
Species/extract	Ethanol	Ethyl acetate	Ethanol	Ethyl acetate	Ethanol	Ethyl acetate			
S. polydactyla	10 ^a	30 ^a	10^{a}	30 ^a	10 ^a	30 ^a			
	10 ^b	9 ^b	11 ^b	9 ^b	10 ^b	9 ^b			
S. gracile	30 ^a	30 ^a	200^{a}	10^{a}	30 ^a	10^{a}			
	5 ^b	5 ^b	11 ^b	13 ^b	9 ^b	11 ^b			
S. glaucum	50 ^a	10^{a}	100^{a}	10^{a}	50 ^a	10^{a}			
	10 ^b	10 ^b	9 ^b	10 ^b	12 ^b	10 ^b			
S. trocheliophorum	30 ^a	50 ^a	50 ^a	30 ^a	50 ^a	10^{a}			
	5 ^b	10 ^b	11 ^b	8 ^b	11 ^b	11 ^b			
S. ehrenbergi	30 ^a	10^{a}	10^{a}	30 ^a	$10^{\rm a}$	10^{a}			
	8 ^b	7 ^b	12 ^b	11 ^b	8 ^b	9 ^{b b}			
X. macrospiculata	30 ^a	30 ^a	30 ^a	30 ^a	30 ^a	30 ^a			
	10 ^b	9 ^b	10 ^b	8 ^b	11 ^b	10 ^b			

On the other side, the MICs of both of *S. polydactyla* and *X. macrospiculata* ethyl acetate extract were 30 mg/mL against all tested *Aspergillus* species. The MICs of both of *S. S. gracile* ethyl acetate extract were 10 mg/mL against both of *A. terreus* and *A. fumigatus* and 30 mg/mL against A. *niger*. The MICs of both of *S. S. glaucum* ethyl acetate extract were 10 mg/mL against all tested *Aspergillus* species. The MICs of both of *S. S. glaucum* ethyl acetate extract were 10 mg/mL against all tested *Aspergillus* species. The MICs of both of *S. trocheliophorum* ethyal acetate extract were 50, 30 and 10 mg/mL against A. *niger, A. terreus* and *A. fumigatus*,

respectively. The MICs of both of *S. ehrenbergi* ethyl acetate extract were 10 mg/mL A. *niger* and *A. fumigatus* and 30 mg/mL against *A. terreus*.

The results in Table 5 revealed that the MICs of *S. polydactyla* ethanolic extract were recorded as 10 mg/mL against both of *P. aurantiogriseum* and *P. chrysogenum* and 30 mg/mL against *P. oxalicum*. The MICs of *S. gracile* ethanolic extract were 50, 100 and 30 mg/mL against *P. aurantiogriseum*, *P. chrysogenum* and *P. oxalicum*, respectively. The MICs of *S. glaucum* ethanolic

extract were 10 mg/mL against *P. chrysogenum* and 30 mg/mL against both of *P. aurantiogriseum*, and *P. oxalicum*. The MICs of *S. trocheliophorum* ethanolic extract were 30 mg/mL against *P. oxalicum* and 50 mg/mL against both of *P. aurantiogriseum* and *P. chrysogenum*. The MICs of *S. ehrenbergi* ethanolic extract were 30 mg/mL against *P. aurantiogriseum* and 50 mg/mL against both of *P. chrysogenum* and *P. oxalicum*. The MICs of *X. macrospiculata* ethanolic extract were 10, 30 and 100 mg/mL against *P. aurantiogriseum*, *P. chrysogenum* and *P. oxalicum*, respectively.

On the other hand, the MICs of *S. polydactyla* ethyl acetate extract were recorded to be 10 mg/mL against *P. aurantiogriseum* and 30 mg/mL against both of *P.*

chrysogenum and P. oxalicum. The MICs of both of S. gracile and S. glaucum ethyl acetate extract was recorded to be 10 mg/mL against P. aurantiogriseum and 50 mg/mL against both of P. chrysogenum and P. oxalicum. The MICs of both of S. trocheliophorum ethyl acetate extract was recorded to be 10, 100 and 50 mg/mL against P. aurantiogriseum, P. chrysogenum and P. oxalicum, respectively. The MICs of both of S. ehrenbergi ethyl acetate extract was recorded to be 30 mg/mL against P. aurantiogriseum and 50 mg/mL against P. chrysogenum and P. oxalicum, respectively. The MICs of both of S. ehrenbergi ethyl acetate extract was recorded to be 30 mg/mL against P. aurantiogriseum and 50 mg/mL against both of P. chrysogenum and P. oxalicum, The MICs of both of S. ehrenbergi ethyl acetate extract was recorded to be 30 mg/mL against alt tested Penicillium species.

Table 5: MICs of extracts (mg/mL) from selected soft coral against the most previously affected *Penicillium* species [a= concentration of extract (mg/mL), while b= zone, mm].

	MICs (mg/mL)/Fungus								
	P. aurantiog	griseum	P. chrysogen	ит	P. oxalicum				
Species/extract	Ethanol	Ethyl acetate	Ethanol	Ethyl acetate	Ethanol	Ethyl acetate			
S. polydactyla	10 ^a	10 ^a	10 ^a	30 ^a	30 ^a	30 ^a			
	9 ^b	9 ^b	9 ^b	9 ^b	11 ^b	9 ^b			
S. gracile	50 ^a	10 ^a	100 ^a	10 ^a	30 ^a	50 ^a			
	9 ^b	13 ^b	9 ^b	11 ^b	11 ^b	9 ^b			
S. glaucum	30 ^a	10 ^a	$10^{\rm a}$	10 ^a	30 ^a	50 ^a			
	11 ^b	13 ^b	9 ^b	12 ^b	11 ^b	9 ^b			
S. trocheliophorum	50 ^a	10 ^a	50 ^a	100 ^a	30 ^a	50 ^a			
	11 ^b	12 ^b	9 ^b	9 ^b	10 ^b	10 ^b			
S. ehrenbergi	30 ^a	30 ^a	50 ^a	50 ^a	50 ^a	50 ^a			
	10 ^b	9 ^b	9 ^b	9 ^b	9 ^b	9 ^b			
X. macrospiculata	$10^{\rm a}$	30 ^a	30 ^a	30 ^a	100 ^a	30 ^a			
	9 ^b	11 ^b	$10^{\rm b}$	9 ^b	9 ^b	10 ^b			

This trail proved the high efficiency of crude extracts under investigation as antifungal agents. Despite of, the crudes of the soft corals that were applied varied in their extract concentration and were not consistent with their antifungal activities; they are very promising based on their AUs and MICs values. polydactyla, S. gracile, S. glaucum, S. trocheliophorum, S. ehrenbergi, and X. macrospiculata) as antifungal agents either ethanolic or ethyl acetate crudes after confirming their high positive records as antifungal agents. The GC/MS chromatogram of them with their retention times (RT), molecular formula, molecular weight, and peak area are presented in Tables 6 & 7 and Figure 2.

3.4. Composition of potent extracts using GC/MS spectroscopy

The current study was extended to determine the GC/MS profiles of the most potent extracts (from; S.



Figure 2: Different mass spectra of ethanolic and ethyl acetate of the most potent extracts from soft coral species.

3.4.1. GC/MS profile of major components in the most effective ethanolic extracts

The GC/MS chromatogram of ethanol extract of S. polydatyla showed the presence of several active principle compounds. Eleven compounds were identified in this extract. However, the prevailing compounds were (Table 5); 6-octen-1-ol, 3,7-dimethyl-, (R)- (32.7%), 3,7octadiene-2,6-diol, 2,6-dimethyl- (14.9%), caryophyllene (26.7%), trans-calamenene (42.3%), 8-epi-.gama.-(32.1%), (22.1%), 1-heptatriacotanol eudesmol hexadecanoic acid, ethyl ester (40.2%), 2-hexadecanol (15.3%), 5,8,11,14-Eicosatetraenoic acid, ethyl ester, (all-Z)- (19.0%), diisooctyl phthalate (14.3%), and cholest-5en-3-ol, 24-propylidene-, (3β)- (36.5%). The GC/MS chromatogram of ethanol extract of X. macrospoculata showed the presence of several active principle compounds. Six compounds were identified in this extract. However, the prevailing compounds were; naphthalene, 1,2,3,4-tetrahydro-1,6-dimethyl-4-(1-methylethyl)-, (1Scis)- (54.5%), isolongifolene, 7,8-dehydro-8a-hydroxy-(22.6%), cycloisolongifolene, 8,9-dehydro- (21.2%), naphthalenemethanol, 1,2,3,4-tetrahydro-8-methyl-(12.5%), murolan-3,9(11)-diene-10-peroxy (27.3%), and nootkaton-11,12-epoxide (32.0%). The GC/MS

chromatogram of ethanol extract of S. ehrenbergi showed the presence of several active principle compounds. Nine compounds were identified in this extract. However, the prevailing compounds were; cubedol (42.9%), tricyclo[5.2.2.0(1,6)]undecan-3-ol, 2-methylene-6,8,8trimethy (12.8%), (Z)6,(Z)9-pentadecadien-1-ol (37.2%), hexadecanoic acid, ethyl ester (55.5%), geranyl-aterpinene (21.7%), 3,7-cyclodecadien-1-one (23.8%), 3,7dimethyl-10-(1-methylethylidene)-, (E,E) (9.38%), isoaromadendrene epoxide (50.6%), and 3-oxo-10(14)epoxyguai-11(13)-en-(34.2%). GC/MS The chromatogram of ethanol extract of S. tocheliophorum showed the presence of several active principle compounds. Seven compounds were identified in this extract. However, the prevailing compounds were; isolongifolene, 7,8-dehydro-8a-hydroxy (19.4%), 9,12,15octadecatrienoic acid, 2,3-dihydroxypropyl ester, (Z,Z,Z) (10.5%), thunbergol (41.2%), androstan-17-one, 3-ethyl-3hydroxy-, (5a) (10.5%), 1,1,6-trimethyl-3-methylene-2-(3,6,9,13-tetramethyl-6-ethenye-10,14-dimethylenepentadec-4-enyl)cyclohexane (8.37%), isoaromadendrene

epoxide (11.7%), and 4,8,13-cyclotetradecatriene-1,3-diol, 1,5,9-trimethyl-12-(1-methylethyl) (16.5%).

Crude extract	Name	RT (min)	Formula	Molecular weight	Probability (%)
	6-Octen-1-ol, 3,7-dimethyl-, (R)-	8.768	$C_{10}H_{20}O$	156	32.7
	3,7-Octadiene-2,6-diol, 2,6-dimethyl-	10.747	$C_{10}H_{18}O_2$	170	14.9
	Caryophyllene	12.506	$C_{15}H_{24}$	204	26.7
	trans-calamenene	14.203	$C_{15}H_{22}$	202	42.3
	8-epigamaeudesmol	16.023	$\mathrm{C_{15}H_{26}O}$	222	22.1
S. polydatyla	1-Heptatriacotanol	19.847	$\mathrm{C_{37}H_{76}O}$	536	23.1
	Hexadecanoic acid, ethyl ester	22.036	$\mathrm{C}_{18}\mathrm{H}_{36}\mathrm{O}_2$	284	40.2
	2-Hexadecanol	23.733	$\mathrm{C_{16}H_{34}O}$	242	15.3
	5,8,11,14-Eicosatetraenoic acid, ethyl ester, (all-Z)-	28.080	$\mathrm{C}_{22}\mathrm{H}_{36}\mathrm{O}_2$	332	19.0
	Diisooctyl phthalate	31.376	$\mathrm{C}_{24}\mathrm{H}_{38}\mathrm{O}_4$	390	14.3
	Cholest-5-en-3-ol, 24-propylidene-, (3β)-	43.895	$\mathrm{C_{30}H_{50}O}$	426	36.5
	Naphthalene, 1,2,3,4-tetrahydro-1,6-dimethyl-4-(1-	12.832	$C_{15}H_{22}$	202	54.5
	methylethyl)-, (1S-cis)-				
	Isolongifolene, 7,8-dehydro-8a-hydroxy-	13.471	$\mathrm{C_{15}H_{24}O}$	220	22.6
X. macrospoculata	Cycloisolongifolene, 8,9-dehydro-	14.016	$C_{15}H_{22}$	202	21.2
	-Naphthalenemethanol, 1,2,3,4-tetrahydro-8-methyl-	15.746	$\mathrm{C_{12}H_{16}O}$	176	12.5
	Murolan-3,9(11)-diene-10-peroxy	18.870	$\mathrm{C_{15}H_{24}O_{2}}$	236	27.3
	Nootkaton-11,12-epoxide	22.034	$\mathrm{C_{15}H_{22}O_2}$	234	32.0
	Cubedol	14.111	$\mathrm{C_{15}H_{26}O}$	222	42.9
	Tricyclo[5.2.2.0(1,6)]undecan-3-ol, 2-methylene-6,8,8- trimethy	16.029	$\mathrm{C_{15}H_{24}O}$	220	12.8
	(Z)6,(Z)9-Pentadecadien-1-ol	19.559	$C_{15}H_{28}O$	224	37.2
S. ehrenbergi	Hexadecanoic acid, ethyl ester	22.024	$\mathrm{C}_{18}\mathrm{H}_{36}\mathrm{O}_2$	284	55.5
	geranyl-a-terpinene	24.176	C ₂₀ H32	272	21.7
	3,7-Cyclodecadien-1-one, 3,7-dimethyl-10-(1- methylethylidene)-, (E,E)	27.158	$\mathrm{C_{15}H_{22}O}$	218	23.8
	Isoaromadendrene epoxide	29.384	$C_{15}H_{24}O$	220	9.38
	3-Oxo-10(14)-epoxyguai-11(13)-en-6,12-olide	31.296	$C_{15}H_{18}O_4$	262	50.6
	Androstan-17-one, 3-ethyl-3-hydroxy-, (5a)	33.621	$C_{21}H_{34}O_2$	318	34.2
	Isolongifolene, 7,8-dehydro-8a-hydroxy	14.867	$C_{15}H_{24}O$	220	19.4
	9,12,15-Octadecatrienoic acid, 2,3-dihydroxypropyl ester, (Z,Z,Z)	19.614	$C_{21}H_{36}O_4$	352	10.5
	Thunbergol	23.678	$C_{20}H_{34}O$	290	41.2
	Androstan-17-one, 3-ethyl-3-hydroxy-, (5a)	24.945	$\mathrm{C}_{21}\mathrm{H}_{34}\mathrm{O}_2$	318	10.5
S. tocheliophorum	1,1,6-trimethyl-3-methylene-2-(3,6,9,13-tetramethyl-6- ethenye-10,14-dimethylene-pentadec-4- enyl)cvclohexane	26.660	C ₃₃ H ₅₆	452	8.37
	Isoaromadendrene epoxide	29.366	C15H24O	220	11.7
	4,8,13-Cyclotetradecatriene-1,3-diol, 1,5,9-trimethyl-	32.090	$C_{20}H_{34}O_2$	306	16.5
	12-(1-methylethyl)				

Table 6: GC/MS data of major components in the most effective ethanolic extracts.

3.4.2. GC/MS profile of major components in the most effective ethyl acetate extracts

The GC/MS chromatogram of ethyl acetate extract of *S. polydatyla* in ethyl acetate showed the presence of several active principle compounds. Three compounds were identified in this extract. However, the prevailing compounds were (Table 6); hexadecanol, 2-methyl (9.42%), dasycarpidan-1-methanol, acetate (ester) (12.1%) and tert-hexadecanethiol (10.5%).

The GC/MS chromatogram of ethyl acetate extract of *X. macrospiculata* showed the presence of several active principle compounds. Four compounds were identified in this extract. However, the prevailing compounds were; naphthalene, 1,2,3,4-tetrahydro-1,6-dimethyl-4-(1-methylethyl), (1S-cis) (27.5%), isolongifolene, 7,8-dehydro-8a-hydroxy, isolongifolene, 7,8-dehydro-8a-hydroxy (20.6%), isoshyobunone (13.0%), and hexaethylene glycol (55.3%). The GC/MS chromatogram of ethyl acetate extract of *S. ehrenbergi* showed the

presence of several active principle compounds. Six compounds were identified in this extract. However, the prevailing compounds were; alloaromadendrene (12.7%), geranyl-a-terpinene (12.9%), 3,7-cyclodecadien-1-one, 3,7-dimethyl-10-(1-methylethylidene)-, (E,E) (13.5%), 4,8,13-cyclotetradecatriene-1,3-diol, 1,5,9-trimethyl-12-(1methylethyl) (28.9%), 3-oxo-10(14)-epoxyguai-11(13)-en-6,12-olide (12.1%), and campesterol (25.6%). The GC-MS chromatogram of ethyl acetate extract of S. galucum showed the presence of several active principle compounds. Six compounds were identified in this extract. The prevailing compounds were; alloaromadendrene (12.2%), tricyclo[5.2.2.0(1,6)]undecan-3-ol, 2-methylene-6,8,8-trimethyl (12.8%), 3,7-cyclodecadien-1-one, 3,7dimethyl-10-(1-methylethylidene)-, (E,E) (13.0%), 4,8,13cyclotetradecatriene-1,3-diol, 1,5,9-trimethyl-12-(1methylethyl) (28.6%), 3-oxo-10(14)-epoxyguai-11(13)-en-6,12-olide (23.7%), and campesterol.(31.8%).

Crude extract	Compound name	RT (min)	Formula	Molecular weight	Probability (%)
	-Hexadecanol, 2-methyl	23.715	$C_{17}H_{36}O$	256	9.42
S. polydatyla	Dasycarpidan-1-methanol, acetate (ester)	29.396	$C_{20}H_{26}N_{2}O_{2} \\$	326	12.1
	tert-Hexadecanethiol	32.090	$C_{16}H_{34}S$	258	10.5
	Naphthalene, 1,2,3,4-tetrahydro-1,6-dimethyl-4- (1-methylethyl)-, (1S-cis)	13.477	$C_{15}H_{22}$	202	27.5
X macrospiculata	Isolongifolene, 7,8-dehydro-8a-hydroxy	15.002	$\mathrm{C_{15}H_{24}O}$	220	20.6
A. mucrospiculata	Isoshyobunone	16.275	$\mathrm{C_{15}H_{24}O}$	220	13.0
	Hexaethylene glycol	24.084	$C1_2H_{26}O_7$	282	55.3
	Alloaromadendrene	13.244	$\mathrm{C_{15}H_{24}}$	204	12.7
	Geranyl-a-terpinene	24.207	$C_{20}H_{32}$	272	12.9
	3,7-Cyclodecadien-1-one, 3,7-dimethyl-10-(1- methylethylidene)-, (E,E)	27.201	$C_{15}H_{22}O$	218	13.5
	4,8,13-Cyclotetradecatriene-1,3-diol, 1,5,9- trimethyl-12-(1-methylethyl)	29.618	$C_{20}H_{34}O_2$	306	28.9
S. ehrenbergi	3-Oxo-10(14)-epoxyguai-11(13)-en-6,12-olide	34.654	$\mathrm{C_{15}H_{18}O_4}$	262	12.1
	Campesterol	44.178	$\mathrm{C}_{28}\mathrm{H}_{48}\mathrm{O}$	400	25.6
	Alloaromadendrene	13.250	$\mathrm{C_{15}H_{24}}$	204	12.2
	Tricyclo[5.2.2.0(1,6)]undecan-3-ol, 2-methylene- 6,8,8-trimethyl	6.048	$C_{15}H_{24}O$	220	12.8
	3,7-Cyclodecadien-1-one, 3,7-dimethyl-10-(1- methylethylidene)-, (E,E)	27.165	$C_{15}H_{22}O$	218	13.0
S. galucum	4,8,13-Cyclotetradecatriene-1,3-diol, 1,5,9- trimethyl-12-(1-methylethyl)	29.526	$C_{20}H_{34}O_2$	306	28.6
	3-Oxo-10(14)-epoxyguai-11(13)-en-6,12-olide	31.358	$\mathrm{C_{15}H_{18}O_{4}}$	262	23.7
	Campesterol	44.209	$\mathrm{C}_{28}\mathrm{H}_{48}\mathrm{O}$	400	31.8

Table 7: GC/MS data of major components in the most effective ethyl acetate extracts.

Furthermore, the structures of the most common compounds are illustrated in Figure 3. However, the prevailing compounds were: fatty acids and their derivatives (tetradecanoic acid, ethyl ester and methyl ester of hexadecanoic acid, methyl ester of pentadecanoic acid, methyl ester of octadecenoic acid, methyl ester of tridecanoic acid, Trans-13-octadecenoic acid, methyl ester, and octadecatrienoic acid), terpenoid (Nootkaton-11,12epoxide, caryophyllene, geranyl-a-terpinene, etc.), steroid (corticosterone, cis-calamenene, etc.), and others.

The previous data revealed that the extracts of current corals differ in their chemical composition besides the potency of the active metabolites. The GC/MS profiles of the potent extracts from either ethanolic or ethyl acetate crudes were obtained, and it was found that the most found compounds were: fatty acids and their derivatives, terpenoid (nootkaton-11,12-epoxide, caryophyllene, geranyl-a-terpinene, etc.), steroid (corticosterone, ciscalamenene, etc.), and others. As the same, several workers employed the GC/MS of *Spongia officinalis* extracts conducting the major constituents were fatty acids and their esters (hexadecanoic acid and octadecanoic acid) which have antimicrobial effect (Abou-Elela *et al.*, 2009; Ibrahim *et al.*, 2012).





-Hexadecanol, 2-methyl

Geranyl-a-terpinene



3-Oxo-10(14)-epoxyguai-11(13)-en-6,12-olide



Cycloisolongifolene, 8,9-dehydro-



6-Octen-1-ol, 3,7-dimethyl-, (R)-(called also; Citronellol)

OH

5,8,11,14-Eicosatetraenoic acid, ethyl ester, (all-Z)-



Hexadecanoic acid, ethyl ester

Caryophyllene



4,8,13-Cyclotetradecatriene-1,3-diol, 1,5,9-trimethyl-12-(1-methylethyl)



9,12,15-Octadecatrienoic acid, 2,3-dihydroxypropyl ester, (Z,Z,Z)



Pentadecanoic acid, methyl ester

Figure 3: Structures of the most common compounds in the potent extracts.

Furthermore, the GC/MS patterns conducted by several workers (Ibrahim *et al.*, 2018; Ibrahim *et al.*, 2020a; Ibrahim *et al.*, 2020b) were rather in the same direction, which reported that the major constituents of the effective extracts were: fatty acids (tridecanoic acid, hexadecanoic



trans-13-Octadecenoic acid, methyl ester



Tridecanoic acid, methyl ester



Hexadecanoic acid, methyl ester

acid, pentadecanoic acid, oleanoic acid, etc.) and their esters, terpenoids, carotenoids, other compounds. These findings also observed most of these bioactive constituents had antimicrobial activities. Most fatty acids found in the crudes were palmitic acid, oleanolic acid and octadecanoic acid, while fatty acids derivatives were ethyl ester of pentadecanoic, hexadecanoic, tetradecanoic, otadecanoic acids and methyl ester of hexadecanoic, nonadecanoic and tetradecanoic acids. Similarly, many significant constituents such as: palmitic acid, stearic acid, myristic acid, phenols, acetogenins, terpenes, labdane diterpenes, brominated hydroquinones, phlorotannins, and tropodithietic acid, which may produce antibiosis against fungi (Agoramoorthy *et al.*, 2007; Balamurugan *et al.*, 2013).

In addition, Duh et al. (2002) discovered four new the soft coral; diterpenes from Cespitularia hypotentaculata, besides six cadinene new sesquiterpenoids, xenitorins A-F, were isolated from the soft coral; X. puertogalerae. Moreover, Duh et al. (2004) discovered new cytotoxic steroids from both soft corals Dendronephthya gigantean and Lemnalia cervicorni. Liang and Fang (2006) obtained diterpenes from some Sarcophyton species. Sponges are also a good source of unusual sterols. The sulphated and alkaloidal sterols showed potential antimicrobial activity. The existence of terpenoids in sponges is widespread. Most of these compounds exhibit bioactivities. The marine sponge Tethya aurantia produces the ether lipids (2S)-1propane-2, (hexadecyloxy) 3-diol, (2S)-1-(16 methylheptadecyloxy) propane-2, 3-diol (Ibrahim et al., 2017). Moreover, Spongia officinalis is well kwon as a source of terpenoids. Antifungal and antibacterial activities have been recorded by the tetracyclic furanoditerpenes isolated from sponge S. officinalis (Abou-Elela et al., 2009).

3.5. Comparing efficacy of palmitic acid and commercial antifungal drug (Treflucan)

Later, we carried out a trail on the effect of selected fatty acids (especially on palmitic acid as a potent example of bioactive constituents present in extracts) in comparison to antifungal drug (Treflucan) against both A. niger and P. auratiogriseum,, which they were chosen based on results of MICs in Tables 3 and 4. Data shown in Table 8, revealed that low concentrations (10 and 20 mg/mL) of both palmitic acid and Treflucan did not exhibit any activity against A. niger. This appeared because the extracts actually had other constituents not palmitic acid alone. From 50 to 150 mg/mL of both antifungal agents, the AU activity raised from 3.1 to 6.3 against A. niger. Only 150 mg/mL showed moderate activities recorded by palmitic acid (AU = 2.3) and Treflucan (AU = 3.1) against P. auratiogriseum, respectively. Surprisingly, most of these components, especially palmitic, stearic and tridecanoic acids, methyl ester, had been proven to possess antifungal activities (Rajeswari et al., 2013; Revathi et al., 2014; Kaur et al., 2016).

Table 8: Comparison of (palmitic acid) as representative for the most effective compounds detected in the extracts detected by GC/MS analysis and commercial antifungal drug (Treflucan; Fluconazole).

Agent concentration	Antifungal (AU)/A. nig	activity ger	Antifungal activity (AU)/P. auratiogriseum		
(mg/mL)	Palmitic acid	Treflucan	Palmitic acid	Treflucan	
10	- ve	- ve	- ve	- ve	
25	- ve	- ve	- ve	- ve	
50	3.1	3.1	- ve	- ve	
75	4.0	4.0	- ve	- ve	
100	4.0	5.1	- ve	- ve	
150	6.3	6.3	2.3	3.1	

4. Conclusion

Data obtained during the current study confirmed the idea of the marine invertebrates' usage, particularly soft coral and sponge species, as promising sources for antifungal medication. However, our results proved that both of ethanolic and ethyl acetate extracts of soft corals glaucum. polydactyla, S. gracile, S. (*S*. S trocheliophorum, S. ehrenbergi, and X. macrospiculata) were the most effective extracts that exhibited the most potent antifungal activity (AU). Moreover, the most effective extracts were tested to determine the MICs against the most affected fungi and the lowest effective MIC was 10 mg/mL against several pathogenic fungi. Furthermore, the GC/MS analysis for the most effective extracts showed that fatty acids and their derivatives, terpenoid, steroid, and others were the major constituents. Data also proved the efficacy of palmitic acid as a potent example included in the bioactive constituents present in the extracts, especially when it was compared to Treflucan (a commercial antifungal drug).

Acknowledgement

Authors are greatly grateful to Prof. Dr. Mohamed Abu El-Regal, Marine Science Department, Faculty of Science, Port Said University, Port said, Egypt, for his help in the identification of soft coral and sponge species. Also, authors are deeply thankful to Prof. Dr. Yassin M. Al-Sodany, Professor of Plant Ecology Botany Microbiology, Faculty of Science, Kafr Elsheikh University, for his help in some statistical analysis.

Authors' Contributions

Study Design- Hassan A.H. Ibrahim and EL-Sayed M. El-Morsy; Data Collection- Mohamed S. Amer, Aml Z. Farhat and Mohamed Abu El-Regal; Data Interpretation-Hassan A.H. Ibrahim and EL-Sayed M. El-Morsy; Manuscript Preparation and Literature Search- Marwa T. Mohsien, Mohamed S. Amer and Aml Z. Farhat; Manuscript Revision and Supervision- Hassan A.H. Ibrahim and EL-Sayed M. El-Morsy

Conflict of Interest Disclosure

The above-mentioned manuscript has not been published before and is not under consideration for publication anywhere else. The publication of this article was approved by all authors, as well as by the responsible authorities.

References

Abou-Elela GM, Abd-Elnaby H, Ibrahim HAH and Okbah MA. 2009. Marine natural products and their potential applications as anti-infective agents. *World Appl Sci J.*, **7(7)**: 872-880.

Agoramoorthy G, Chandrasekaran M, Venkatesalu V and Hsu MJ. 2007. Antibacterial and antifungal activities of fatty acid methyl esters of the blind-your-eye mangrove from India. *Braz J Microbiol.*, **38**:739-742.

Amer MS and Ibrahim HAH. 2019. Chitosan from marine-derived *Penicillumspinulosum* MH2 cell wall with special emphasis on its antimicrobial and antifouling properties. *Egyptian J Aqua Res.*, **45**: 359-365.

Anjum K, Abbas SQ, Shah SAA, Akhter N, Batool, S and Shams ul Hassan S. 2016. Marine sponges as a drug treasure. *Biomol Ther (Seoul).*, **24(4)**: 347-362.

Balamurugan V, Thirumalesh SRA, Sridevi R, Mohandoss N, Govindaraj G, Hemadri D, Gajendragad MR and Rahman H. 2013. Seroprevalence of bovine Leptospirosis in Odisha, India. *World J Vet Sci.*, **1**: 1-7.

Ballantine DL, Gerwick WH, Velez SM, Alexander E and Guevara P. 1987. Antibiotic activity of lipid-soluble extracts from Caribbean marine algae. *Hydrobiol.*, **151/152**: 463-469.

Blunt JW, Copp BR, Munro MHG, Northcote PT and Prinsep MR. 2005. Marine natural products. *Nat Prod Rep.*, **22**: 16-61.

Bowden J, Digby PGN and Sherlock PL. 1984. Studies of elemental composition as a biological marker in insects. I. The influence of soil type and host-plant on elemental composition of *Noctua pronuba* (L.) (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae). *Bull Entomol Res.*, **74**: 207-225.

Cheng S-Y, Huang Y-C, Wena Z-H, Chio S-F, Hsu WC-H, Dai C-F and Duh C-Y. 2009. Novel sesquiterpenes and norergosterol from the soft corals *Nephthea erecta* and *Nephthea chabroli*. *Tetrahedron Lett.*, **50**: 802- 806.

Collin R, Diaz MC, Norenburg J, Rocha RM, Sanchez JA, Schulze A, Schwartz M and Valdes A 2005. Photographic identification guide to some common marine invertebrates of Bocas Del Torn, Panama. *Caribian J Sci.*, **41**: 638-707.

Datta D, Talapatra SN and Swarnakar S. 2015. Bioactive compounds from marine invertebrates for potential medicines-an overview. *Int Lett Nat Sci.*, **34**: 42-61.

Devi P, Ravichandran S, Ribeiro M and Ciavatta ML. 2013. Antifungal potential of marine sponge extract against fish and plant pathogenic fungi. *Oceanog.*, **1**(3): 1-4.

Dhinakaran DI and Lipton AP 2014. Bioactive compounds from *Holothuria atra* of Indian ocean. *Springer Plus*, **3**: 673-683.

Duh A, El-Gamal AH, Wang S-K and Dai C-F. 2002. Novel terpenoids from the Formosan soft coral *Cespitularia hypotentaculata. J Nat Prod.*, **65**: 1429-1433.

El-Masry MH, Khalil AI, Hassouna MS and Ibrahim HAH. 2002. *In situ* and *in vitro* suppressive effect of agricultural composts and their water extracts on some phytopathogenic fungi. *World J Microbiol Biotechnol.*, **18**: 551-558.

El-Morsy EM, Ibrahim HAH, Farhat AZ, Mohsien MT and Abu El-Regal M 2017. Pathogenicity of fungi colonizing some hard

corals and invertebrates from the Egyptian Red Sea coast. *Egyptian J Aqua Biol Fish.*, **21**(2): 46-60.

Fabricious K and Aldersdale P. 2001. Soft corals and sea fans: A comprehensive guide to the shallow-water genera of the Central West Pacific, the Indian Ocean and the Red Sea. Australian Institute of Marine Science, Townsville, Australia. p. 264.

Geffen Y and Rosenberg E. 2005. Stress-induced rapid release of antibacterials by scleractinian corals. *Mar Biol.*, **146**: 931-935.

Gohar HAF and Roushdy HM. 1961. On the embryology of the Xeniidae (alcyonarian) (with notes on the extrusion of larvae). *Pub Marine Biol Sta.*, Ghardaqa (Red Sea) **11**:43-70.

Gohar HAF. 1940. Studies on the Xeniidae of the Red Sea. *Publ Mar Biol Sta.*, Ghardaqa, Red Sea, Egypt **2**: 25-118.

Hutagalung RA, Karjadidjaja VM, Prasasty V and Mulyono N. 2014. Extraction and characterization of bioactive compounds from cultured and natural sponge, *Haliclona molitba* and *Stylotella aurantium* origin of Indonesia. *Int J Biosci Biochem Biomform.*, **4**(1): 14-18.

Ibrahim HAH, Ahmed HO, Abd El Razek FA and Elmasry E. 2018. Proteolysis and heat-sensitive antibacterial agents from several Levantine sponge species. *Int J Adv Res.*, **6(2)**: 14-27.

Ibrahim HAH, El-Naggar HA, El-Damhougy KA, Bashar MAE and Abou Senna FM. 2017. *Callyspongia crassa* and *C. siphonella* (Porifera, Callyspongiidae) as a potential source for medical bioactive substances, Aqaba Gulf, Red Sea, Egypt. *JoBAZ.*, **78**: 7-11.

Ibrahim HAH, Mohamed, SZ, Abu El-Regal M and Farhat AZ. 2012. Antibacterial activity of some Red Sea soft corals, Egypt. *Blue Biotechnol J.*, **1(4)**: 497-516.

Ibrahim HAH, Shaaban MT, Hanafi AAM and Abdelsalam, KM. 2020a. Inhibition of bacteria isolated from human specimens by selected marine-origin extracts. *Egyptian J Exp Biol.*, **16(1)**: 91-103.

Ibrahim HAH, Elabiary DE and Hamed MM. 2020b. Antimicrobial activity of some Egyptian marine invertebrates, Red Sea. *Egyptian J Aqua Biol Fish.*, **24**(**4**): 321-340.

Kaur TA, Sharma V and Manhas RK. 2016. Purification and characterization of a new antifungal compound 10-(2,2-dimethyl-cyclohexyl)-6,9-dihydroxy-4,9-dimethyl-dec-2-enoic acid methyl ester from *Streptomyces hydrogenans* strain DH16. *Front Microbiol.*, **7(1004)**: 1-10.

Kelman D, Kashman Y, Rosenberg E, Ilan M, Ifrach I and Loya Y. 2001. Antimicrobial activity of the reef sponge *Amphimedon viridis* from the Red Sea. *Aquat Microb Ecol.*, **24**: 9-16.

Liang X-T and Fang W-S. (Eds.) 2006. Medicinal chemistry of bioactive natural products. John Willey and Son: New Jersey, USA.

Liu L, Zheng Y-Y, Shao C-L and Wang, C-Y. 2019. Metabolites from marine invertebrates and their symbiotic microorganisms: molecular diversity discovery, mining, and application. *Mar Life Sci & Technol.*, 1: 60-94.

Muller A, Duchting P and Weiler EW. 2002. A multiplex GC-MS/MS technique for the sensitive and quantitative single-run analysis of acidic phytohormones and related compounds, and its application to *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Planta* **216**: 44-56.

Noga EJ. 1990. A synopsis of mycotic diseases of marine fishes and invertebrates. Pathology in Marine Science, pp. 143-159. New York: Academic Press.

Perdicaris S, Vlachogianni T and Valavanidis A. 2013. Bioactive natural substances from marine sponges: new developments and prospects for future pharmaceuticals. *Nat Prod Chem Res.*, **1**(3): 3-8.

57

Putra MY and Murniasih T. 2016. Marine soft corals as source of lead compounds for anti-inflammatories. *J Coastal Life Med.*, **4**(1):73-77.

Qian PY, Dobretsov S, Dahms HU and Pawlik J. 2006. Antifouling activity and microbial diversity of two congeneric sponges *Callyspongia* spp. from Hong Kong and the Bahamas. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser.*, **324**: 151-165.

Rajeswari G, Murugan M and Mohan VR. 2013. GC-MS analysis of bioactive components of Hugonia mystax L. bark (Linaceae). *J Pharm Biomed Sci.*, **29(29)**: 818-824.

Reinicke G. 1995. Xeniidae Des Roten Meeres (Octocorallia, Alcyonacea), Essener Okologische Schriften.

Revathi P, Jeyaseelansenthinath T and Thirumalaikolundhusubramaian P. 2014. Preliminary phytochemical screening and GC-MS analysis of ethanolic extract of mangrove plant-bruguiera cylindrica (rhizho) l. *Int J Pharmacog Phytochem Res.*, **6(4)**:729-740. Somnath C and Ghosh U. 2010. Oceans: a store house of drugs. J Pharm Res., **3**: 4.

Thakur MK and Pandey S. 2016. GC-MS analysis of pytochemical constituents in leaf extract *vitexnegundo* [l.]. *World J Pharm Pharmaceut Sci.*, **5(8)**: 672-675.

Theobald N, Shoolery JN, Djerassi C, Erdman TR and Scheuer PJ. 1978. Minor and trace sterols in marine invertebrates. 24-ethyl-.delta.5,24(28)-cholestatrien-3.beta.-ol-a naturally occurring allenic marine sterol. *J Am Chem Soc.*, **100**: 5571-5575.

Toth SI and Schmitz JF. 1994.Two new cytotoxi peroxidecontaining acids from a new Guinea sponge, *Callyspongia* sp. J *Nat Prod.*, **57**: 123-127.
Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

The Inhibitory Effect of Different Ephedra Plant Extracts on the *Aspergillus flavus* Growth and Aflatoxin B₁ Gene Expression

Mohamed M. Deabes^{1,*}, Wagdy K.B Khalil², Abd-El-Aal S.Kh³. Shafik D. Ibrahim⁴ and Khayria M. Naguib¹

¹Food Toxicology & Contaminants Department, National Research Centre, 33 El-Bohouth St., 12622 Dokki, Giza, Egypt,²Cell Biology Department, National Research Center, 33 El-Bohouth St., 12622 Dokki, Giza, Egypt; ³Microbial Genetics Department, National Research Center, 33 El-Bohouth St., 12622 Dokki, Giza, Egypt;⁴Molecular Genetics and Genome Mapping Department, Agricultural Genetic Engineering Research Institute (AGERI), ARC, Giza, Egypt

Received: October 27, 2020; Revised: February 27, 2021; Accepted: March 15, 2021

Abstract

This study was conducted to investigate the effects of *Ephedra sinica* extracts (ESE) on *Aspergillus flavus* growth, AFB₁ production and *O*-methyltransferase A (*Omt-A*) gene expression. The following various extracts such as Ethanol (EtOH), Ethanol: water (EtOH: H₂O 1:1, v/v), Methanol (MeOH), and Methanol: water (MeOH: H₂O 1:1, v/v) at concentration of 1.0, 2.0, 3.0, 4.0, and 5.0% have been used. AFB₁ production and gene expression were measured using HPLC and real time PCR, respectively. Our findings demonstrated that all ESE has significant inhibition (73.3- 94.6 %) for *Aspergillus flavus* growth based on the dose. Production of AFB₁ was markedly decreased or totally inhibited within range of 10– 99.3% depends on extract type. Supported the effect of ESE at concentrations of 1-5% were suppressed significantly (*P*<0.05) on aflatoxin (*Omt-A*) gene expression. The nucleotides sequence of *Ephedra* plant was submitted in GeneBank under accession number KY310531.1. These outcomes might be used to control the growth of toxigenic fungi and to inhibit the following contamination of feed, food, and agricultural supplies by carcinogenic aflatoxins.

Keywords: Ephedra extracts, Aspergillus, AFB1 Production, HPLC, gene expression, Omt-A, qRT-PCR.

1. Introduction

AFB1 is a highly toxic metabolite of food and agricultural resources formed by Aspergillus species (Leontopoulos et al., 2003). The disease associated with chronic aflatoxin ingestion is hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC or liver cancer) which is the third-leading cause of cancer death globally according to a World Health Organization report (2008), with about 550,000- 600,000 new cases emerging each year. About 83% of these deaths occur in East Asia and sub-Saharan Afrianca (Parkin et al. 2010). 2005. Liu and Wu Hepatotoxic and hepatocarcinogenic effects of aflatoxins are well known (Wogan, 1999). Aflatoxin exposure has disrupted the synthesis of DNA, chromosome separation, and mitosis progression (Deabes et al., 2012). Aflatoxin B1 metabolism is divided into 2 phases (Diaz and Murcia 2011). Phase I consists of enzyme mediated oxidation, hydrolysis, reduction reactions. Phase II metabolism consists of conjugation reaction of the compounds modified from the phase I metabolism. Most of the phase I reactions are oxidation or hydroxylation reactions which are mostly catalyzed by cytochrome P450 enzymes. Cytochrome P450, 1A2 and 3A4 enzymes in the liver metabolize aflatoxin into aflatoxin-8,9-epoxide, which then binds to a protein or to DNA and initiates liver carcinoma (HCC) (Wu and Khlangwiset 2010, Eaton and Gallagher 1994). It is evident that Aflatoxin B1-8,9- epoxide can induce activating mutations in the ras (small GTPase family protein) oncogene in experimental animals. In the presence of water, the epoxide gets hydrolyzed and becomes available to be linked to serum proteins (Groopman et al. 1985). The conjugation step is mostly the detoxification step where aflatoxin undergoes phase II biotransformation (Neal et al. 1998). The resulting aflatoxin conjugates get extracted in the bile. In the deconjugation stage, the biotransformed aflatoxin gets reabsorbed in the body.

In Aspergilli, DNA information is organized into 8 chromosomes, where the genes responsible for the production of aflatoxin are located in the 54th cluster, 80 kb from the chromosome 3 telomere. There are 30 genes in this cluster and its activation is primarily controlled by aflR and aflS. The aflatoxin gene cluster has been extensively studied in Aspergillus species. In Aspergillus flavus, the AflR protein binds to at least 17 genes in the AF cluster, resulting in the activation of the enzyme cascade and leading to the production of different AFs. Interestingly, the over-expression of aflR in Aspergillus flavus regulates several AF genes, increasing the production of aflatoxin by 50-fold (Montibus et al., 2013). Recently, it has been demonstrated that different inhibitors of aflatoxin production are capable to downregulate aflR expression as the key regulator of the aflatoxin biosynthetic pathway. Disruption of aflR completely blocks the expression of the genes in this biosynthetic pathway and aflatoxin/ sterigmatocystin

^{*} Corresponding author e-mail: mydeabes@yahoo.com.

production (Caceres et al., 2020). Shimizu and Keller (2001), De Souza et al. (2013) reported that G-protein receptors, cAMP, and PKA have roles in regulating the aflatoxin biosynthetic pathway. In addition, two global regulators of secondary metabolism, laeA and veA genes regulate the activation of the aflatoxin gene cluster have been documented (Bayram et al., 2008, Sarikaya-Bayram et al., 2015). The LaeA (nuclear protein) contains Sadenosylmethionine binding motif which can activate transcription of a gene cluster in aflatoxin secondary metabolite (Brakhage, 2013). Lae Amethylates histone proteins are associated with cluster for secondary metabolism and make the region accessible to gene transcription. The VeA gene was reported to be essential for the light dependent growth condition. In the absence of light, VeA migrates from cytoplasm into the nucleus to form a complex with LaeA that is essential for both developmental and secondary metabolism (Yin and Keller 2011). Significant decrease in the production of aflatoxin intermediates was reported during the elimination of VeA gene from Aspergillus strains (Calvo et al., 2004).

On the other hand, the decontamination of mycotoxins by natural products using plant extracts is one of the wellknown methods for controlling mycotoxins in foods and feed. Essential oils and aqueous plant extracts have been used as fungal growth inhibitors and to avoid contamination of aflatoxins in food (Abou El-Soud et al., 2012; Ponzilacqua et al., 2018; Deabes et al., 2020). The Ephedra species are widely used for their medicinal properties and considered as a potential antimicrobial substitution agent (Ehrlich, 2014; Elhadef et al, 2020a,b). Actually, their organic, aqueous and spice extracts, as well as their essential oils, have shown fungicidal activities (Kuma et al., 2010; Abou El-Soud et al., 2012; Abou El-Soud et al., 2015; Deabes et al., 2020; Elhadef et al, 2020c). So, the present study is conducted to investigate the ability of Ephedra sinica extracts to inhibit Aspergillus *flavus* growth followed by investigate its AFB₁ production. Finally, examination of their effect on O-methyltransferase A (Omt-A) gene expression.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Fungal strain, chemicals and Medium.

An Aspergillus flavus toxigenic strain (ATCC 28542) was purchased from the Microbial Research Center (MIRCEN), Faculty of Agriculture, Ain-Shams University of Cairo, Egypt. We purchased potato dextrose agar (PDA), yeast extract sucrose (YES) and Na₂SO₃ (Sigma-Aldrich, France). Aflatoxin type B₁ (AFB₁) was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Trifluroacetic acid (TFA), methanol, acetonitrile of HPLC grade were produced by BDH, Chemicals Ltd., Poole, England. The double distilled water was used by Millipore water purification system (Bedford, M A, USA).

2.2. Preparation of Ephedra sinica and Extracts (ESE)

The *Ephedra* plant was obtained from the mountain in Sinai, Egypt. The aerial parts was washed and then dried in the sunshade at room temperature until all of the aerial parts well dried up. The plant materials were then well powdered using a grinder and put in a container that was well sealed. 10 grams of *Ephedra sinica* powder were extracted by using the solvents Ethanol (EtOH), Pure Ethanol: water (EtOH:H2O 1:1v/v), Pure Methanol (MeOH) and Methanol: water (MeOH:H₂O 1:1 v / v) in a room temperature shaker for 24 hours, then under vacuum filtrated (Rustaiyanet al. 2011 and Deabes et al. 2020). Eventually, the extract was concentrated under vacuum using a rotary evaporator and sterilized using a Nylon Syringe Filter, 0.22 μ m.

2.3. Antifungal activity

100 ml of yeast extract sucrose medium were seeded in 500 ml flasks and autoclaved at 120°C for 20 min. The inoculation was added by 1 ml of a spores suspension (10^5 spores) of a aflatoxigenic fungi *A. flavus* ATCC28542 strain with or without of ESE as (1.0, 2.0,3.0, 4.0 and 5.0%) to the medium. The flasks then were incubated for 14 days at 28°C (Munimbazi and Bullerman 1998). Dry film was used for the determination of AFB1 by (HPLC) according to (Nada et al., 2010, Deabes *et al.*, 2011, Abou El-Soud et al., 2012, Eshak et al., 2013, Abou El-Soud et al., 2015, Deabes *et al.*, 2018). The percentage of inhibition of AFB₁ and mycelia dried weight were calculated using equation: % inhibition = (control treatment / control) X 100.

2.4. Extraction of Nucleic Acids

For DNA, the DNA was extracted from stem sample of *Ephedra* Plant by using a DNAeasy Plant Mini Kit (QIAGEN, Santa Clarita, CA) according to (Moawed and Ibrahim, 2016). Also, the genomic DNA was isolated from harvested mycelia of *A. flavus* (25 mg) with or without the treatment with (ESE) following instruction of the protocol for DNA Tissue purification mini kit by grinding the liquid N2 frozen tissue in a mortar. Concentration and purity of the total genomic DNA yield were determined using a NanoDrop 1000 Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, USA), then preserved at -20°C for further use.

For mRNA, total RNA was isolated from selected *A. flavus* strain without treatment (control) or treated with *E. sinica* extracts using RNA Isolation Kit and the mRNA was reverse transcript using cDNA synthesis kit (Roche Applied Science) (Salem et al., 2017; kalill et al., 2018).

2.5. PCR and Sequencing

2.5.1. PCR for rbcL and ITS1

The PCR reaction was carried out as reported by (Ibrahim et al., 2016) in a total volume of 50 μ L consisted of the following: 25 μ L PCR master mixture (Promega, USA), 20 pcoml of each primer (Invitrogen, USA), 40 ng DNA and ultra-pure water to the final volume. Two primer pairs were designed based on the conservative coding sequences of rbcL and ITS1 as shown in table (1).

Table	 List 	of Primer	used	in this	study
-------	--------------------------	-----------	------	---------	-------

Primer	Sequence 5'-3'
rbcL- F	ATGTCACCACAAACAGAGACTAAAGC
rbcL-R	TCGCATGTACCTGCAGTAGC
ITS-1L	CCGCYGAGTAAGTTCGCTCTC
ITS-1R	CCRTTGCCAGATTGCTTCCT
Omt –F	GACCAATACGCCCACACAG
Omt –R	CTTTGGTAGCTGTTTCTCGC

2.5.2. PCR for Aflatoxin B_1 gene

The amplification reactions were carried out in a T100-Bio-Rad Gradient Thermal cycler in mixture of 20 μ l total reaction volume consisting of 10 μ l of 2 X Go Taq master mix (Promega Corporation, Madison, WI) and 10 pmol of each primer of 50ng DNA and following amplification conditions consisting of initial denaturation at 94°C for 5 min (1 cycle), followed by 35 cycles of 94°C for 1 min, annealing at 59°C for 1 min and extension at 72°C for 1 min, with a final amplification of 72°C for 10 min. Aliquot of amplicon (10 μ l) was separated on agarose gel (1.5%) and stained with ethidium bromide (0.1 mg/l) then photographed under Gel Documentation System (Gel DocTM XR+) against size standard consisting of 100 bp DNA Ladder.

2.5.3. PCR Products Purification and Sequencing

PCR products were purified using a QIAquick PCR Purification Kit (Qiagen, USA). The sequencing of the PCR product was carried out using the dideoxynucleotide chain termination method with a DNA sequencer (ABI 3730XL, Applied Biosystems) (Microgen, Korea) and a BigDye Terminator version 3.1 Cycle Sequencing RR-100 Kit (Applied Biosystems, USA) following the protocol supplied by the manufacturer. The data obtained were analyzed using BLAST program (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST) and aligned using Align Sequences Nucleotide BLAST then submitted to GenBank.

2.5.4. Gene Expression by using qRT-PCR

To assess the copy of the cDNA of *A. flavus* strain treated with *E. sinica* by different solvent extraction EtOH:H₂O(1:1v/v), EtOH and MeOH, MeOH:H₂O (1:1v/v) at concentration 1.0, 2.0, 3.0, 4.0 and 5%, a Step One Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystem, USA) was used. The detection of the expression values of the tested gene was performed according to El-Baz et al., (2016).

2.6. Statistical analysis

Data obtained were analyzed statistically using the Statistical Product and Service Solutions IBM SPSS version 22. Waller–Duncan k-ratio was used for determining degree of significance in the differences among all treated groups (Walter et al 1969). The difference was considered significant based on the probability of P < 0.05.

3. Results

3.1. Identification of Ephedra sinica plant on molecular level

The conserved regions (rbcl) were amplified, which is primarily required for establishing the DNA barcodes for identification of species. In Ephedra species, it was noticed that good amplicons were obtained with both universal primers for rbc land ITS1. Both primers resulted in efficient amplification (Figure 1). In this study, samples containing an Ephedra species were sequenced with PCR-amplified fragments of both the rbcL gene and ITS1 regions. Neighbor joining methods were used to establish phylogenetic trees of the rbcL and ITS1 sequences.



Figure 1. PCR result of DNA barcode regions rbcL and ITS. M; 1kb DNA ladder.

The rbcL sequence phylogenetic tree (Fig. 2) showed that five clades of the ten species formed, *E. sinica*, used in this analysis, have been clustered into *E. Fragile*, *E. Aphylla & E. Altissima* which suggested a similar genetic relationship between the three species, but *E. sinica* had a distant relationship with the other clade species.

The Basic Local Alignment Tool (BLAST) used for detecting the homology of sequences amplified. The sequence length of rbcL was 750 bp with Ephedra similarly with ITS1, the sequence homology of Ephedra was 99%-100%.

During the present study, it was suggested that the universal primers (rbcL and ITS) for DNA bar coding successful for amplification, identification and discrimination of above mentioned indigenous plant species.

The NJ tree of rbcL DNA sequences correctly placed for the species with the correct family of high statistical support (bootstraps of 99–100%). Due to higher sequence divergences, the rbcL regions can distinguish plant species and simply place these species in the correct family and genus (Fig. 2).

Based on the obtained data found that DNA barcoding can provide accurate plant identification type. The nucleotides sequence of Ephedra plant used in our study was registered in Gene Bank under accession number KY310531.1 Figure 2. Molecular phylogenetic analysis using rbcL for 10 taxa by Neighbor joining (NJ) method.

3.2. Antifungal Activity

3.2.1. Effect of Ephedra sinica extracts (ESE) on growth of Aspergillus flavus ATCC28542 strain and aflatoxin B_1 production in YES medium.

The effect of Ephedra sinica extracts was used by different solvents, (MeOH), (MeOH: H₂O 1:1 v/v) (EtOH), (EtOH: H₂O 1:1, v/v) at concentration 1.0, 2.0, 3.0, 4.0 and 5% individual of each showed reduce or inhibition the growth. These results were presented in table (2). Delayed or prevented spore germination, growth inhibition, and decreased of A. flavus growth rate at 28 °C in YES broth medium were observed. Increasing concentration of ephedra plant extracts resulted in a decreasing in total mycelial mass and reducing or preventing production of AFB₁ by A. flavus within incubation at 28 °C for 14 days. Compared with other extracts, MeOH/ H2O extract of Ephedra sinica recorded the lowest effect of inhibition of mycelial growth of A. flavus. By increasing concentrations of ephedra extract, the reduction of total mycelia mass was achieved (Figure 2).

Table 2. Percentage of reduction of mycelia dry weight of

 Aspergillus flavus (ATCC 28542) growth (mg/100ml) in YES
 liquid media treated with Ephedra sinica extracts (ESE)

Type of extract*							
MeOH:H ₂ O	MeOH	EtOH:H ₂ O	EtOH				
73.3	70.6	80.0	76.0				
77.3	73.3	82.6	78.6				
80.0	76.0	86.6	82.6				
82.6	81.3	89.3	85.3				
86.6	84.0	94.6	90.6				
	MeOH:H ₂ O 73.3 77.3 80.0 82.6 86.6	Type of e MeOH:H20 MeOH 73.3 70.6 77.3 73.3 80.0 76.0 82.6 81.3 86.6 84.0	Type of extract* MeOH:H2O MeOH EtOH:H2O 73.3 70.6 80.0 77.3 73.3 82.6 80.0 76.0 86.6 82.6 81.3 89.3 86.6 84.0 94.6				

*Mycelia dry weight in control (75mg/100ml)

Indeed, the growth initiation of *A. flavus* was treated by ephedra solvent extract the observed after 14 days incubation in all flasks. However, growth was slightly inhibited at the lower levels of ephedra solvent extract. The results in Table (3) and Figure (3) were shown the inhibition of AFB₁ production in YES medium. A concentration of ESE by solvents (EtOH: H₂O) 1.0, - 5.0% to YES medium inhibited mycelium and AFB₁ production of *A. flavus* by 80%, 94.6 and 42.8, 98.3% respectively. At the higher concentration 5 % *Ephedra sinica* extract

(EtOH: H_2O) in YES average concentration of aflatoxin B_1 was 0.72 µg/100 ml YES medium, and *A. flavus* grew very poorly.

Table 3. Concentrations of AFB_1 (µg/100ml) in liquid media treated with *Ephedra sinica* extracts (n=3)

Concentration	Type of extr	act*			
of extract (%) **	MeOH:H ₂ O	МеОН	EtOH:H ₂ O	EtOH	Mean with extract
1	$36.96{\pm}0.88$	38.57±0.63	33.31±0.46	35.06±0.62	35.97±1.6A
2	30.78±1.4	32.5±1.5	22.9±1.3	28.0 ± 0.78	$28.56{\pm}1.2^{\rm B}$
3	22.5±0.37	23.25±0.98	16.42 ± 0.52	20.6±0.52	20.68±1.01 ^C
4	10.66±0.34	14.9±0.76	2.97±0.3	9.52±0.64	$9.52{\pm}1.3^{\rm D}$
5	5.4±0.75	8.5±1.09	0.72 ± 0.25	3.5±0.68	$4.52{\pm}0.91^{\text{E}}$
Mean with concentration	21.25±3.18 ^a	23.54±2.9 ^b	15.27±3.3°	19.33±3.1 ^d	

*AFB₁ in control (43.53µg/100ml)

**Mean values in the row (as a small letter) or Column (as a capital letter) with the same letter are not significant different ($P \le 0.05$) level.

Data in Table (2) and Figure (3) shown the concentrations of AFB1 were treated by Four (ESE) in YES medium .Which affected significantly differences to the type of (ESE) and also the concentration of type of their extracts. The extracts of Ephedra sinica by different solvent EtOH: H₂O (1:1v/v), EtOH, MeOH, MeOH: H₂O (1:1 v/v) at concentration 1.0, 2.0, 3.0, 4.0 and 5.0% individual of each showed inhibition the AFB1 production by A. flavus in YES medium were determined by HPLC. The percentages of AFB₁ reduction were treated by EtOH: H₂O (42.8, 47.4, 62.3, 93.2 and 98.4 %, respectively) (Figure 4). From the statistical analysis in Table (3), it was found that the effect of mean value with the concentrations of (ESE) for all the treatments EtOH: H₂O (1:1, v/v), EtOH, MeOH and MeOH: H₂O (1:1 v/v), the inhibition percentage of AFB1 production significantly increased in the YES liquid medium to record 64.9, 55.6, 45.9, and 51.9 %, respectively. Based on the results of current study, it was observed that the positive effect of Ephedra extract against AF production and the AFB₁ biosynthesis by A.flavus was limited at all experimented treatments, and the inhibition or prevention depend on the type of solvents extraction and concentration of Ephedra extracts.



Figure 3. HPLC chromatogram of AFB₁with different concentrations of Ephedra (treated by 1-5 % EtOH:H₂O (1:1 v/v)/100 ml media .



Figure 4 Percentage of reduction AFB₁ in liquid media treated by ESE.

3.3. Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) assay.

During the current study, the primers specific for A. *flavus* were designed based on the *omt-A* gene coding for one of the key regulatory enzymes in biosynthesis of AFB₁ (Table 1). Also, they were suitable to detect the fungus. The genomic DNA was extracted from *A. flavus* strain with and without the treatment with aflatoxigenic and then subjected to the PCR using *omt-A* primers. As expected, the DNA fragment with molecular size 300-bp was amplified from tested *A. flavus* (with and without the treatment with (ESE) yielded a single amplified DNA fragment with expected size (300 bp) (Figure 5).



Figure 5. PCR assay using Omt A -primer of *A. flavus*, M. M. Gene Ruler 1kb, lane 1; Cont, lane 2; EtOH, Lane 3; MeOH, Lane 4; EtOH:H₂O and Lane 5 MeOH:H₂O.

3.4. The effect ESE on Aspergillus flavus growth and aflatoxin B1 gene (Omt-A) expression on molecular level (quantitative by Real Time-PCR).

The gene (*Omt-A*) expression was analyzed and quantitative by real-time RT-PCR, and the results obtained are summarized in Fig (6). The gene encoding aflatoxin was determined in *A.flavus* fungus cells after treatment with three Ephedra plant extracts; EtOH: H_2O (1:1, v/v), EtOH, and MeOH: H_2O (1:1, v/v).

The results found that treatment of A. flavus cells with different plant extracts showed lower expression levels of aflatoxin gene than in control samples. Ethanol (EtOH) extract had a higher influence on aflatoxin gene (*Omt-A*) inhibition (80% decreased significantly compared to the control) followed by EtOH: H2O extract (78% decreased significantly compared to control). On the other hand, MeOH: H2O extract had a lower effect on aflatoxin gene expression than the other two extracts (22% decreased significantly compared to the control).

As for EtOH: H2O and EtOH, they were able to reduce *Omt-A* gene expression Figure (6) by 80 % and 73 % equally and had nearly the same effect on AFB_1 production confirmed by HPLC in (Figure 3) as they reduced it to 84.73 % and 80.76 % respectively in mean values (Table 3, Figures 3& 4).



Figure 6. Expression of *Omt_A* gene in *A. flavus* treated with extracts of *Ephedra sinica* by different solvents.

EtOH, EtOH: H₂O (1:1v/v) and MeOHI: H₂O (1:1v/v) at concentrations 1.0, 2.0, 3.0, 4.0 and 5%. Data are presented as mean \pm SE. a, b, c followed by different superscripts are significantly different (P \leq 0.05).

4. Discussion

Mycotoxigenic fungi invade the agriculture commodities and caused Food spoilage and poising causing hazards to humman and animals. So, the researchers looking for untraditional solution for the fungi contaminated food. The Ephedra species have a potent active compounds has the ability to inhibit the fungal growth and have to inhibit the DNA responsible gene of AFB1 produced by A. flavus. The current work was start by extraction a potent active compounds from Ephedra stems using different solvents. Then, the DNA were identified using PCR and the nucleotides sequence of Ephedra plant was registries in Gene Bank under accession number KY310531.1. In this respect order (Group et al., 2009) found that the multilocus DNA barcodes have been proposed to be very effective and precise in plant species identification. The rbcL has been proven to be an effective and precise barcode of DNA for plant species identification (Guo et al., 2011). The antifungal of A. flavus activity using ESE were studied and noted the efficiency as antifungal against A. flavus as well as AFB1 production. In the same regard, Bagheri et al. (2009), Deabes et al. (2020) found that the Ephedra have antifungal effect. Based on inhibition of growth of A. flavus and AFB1 production due to the potent active compounds such as alkaloids, phenols, glycosides, steroids, coumarins and tannins (Masako, et al., 1989; Ebana, et al., 1991, Deabes et al., 2020).

The obtained data demonstrates that the antifungal effect of ESE can regulate the cellular effects of aflatoxins, and this may be due to the aromatic organic compounds of spices or medicinal plants that can control the formation of secondary metabolites aflatoxins (Chatterjee 1990). Ephdra's antimicrobial effect was related to Cis-314-methanoproline (Caveney et al., 2001) and Heptadecane (Bagheri et al., 2009). Linked to Ephedra's antimicrobial activity, the study by Deabes et al. (2020) found that the extraction of *Ephedra sinica* using EtOH: H_2O solvent was established to be a valuable source for natural

polyphenols and alkaloids against pathogenic (K. pneumoniae, E. cloacae, S. marcescens, E. coli, A. flavus, A. ochraceus, A. niger and Coxsackie B3 virus).

Due to flavonoid compounds including p-coumaric acid and quercetin in ESE causing on both growth inhibitor and AFB₁ producer by *A. flavus* and *A. parasiticus* (Aziz et al., 1998; Kim et al., 2004, Deabes et al., 2020).

Most AF biosynthesis inhibitors operate on one of three levels: altering the physiological environment or other signaling inputs perceived by the fungus, interfering with signal transduction and gene expression regulatory networks upstream of AF biosynthesis, or blocking enzymatic activity of a biosynthetic enzyme (Holmes et al., 2008). Several researchers studied the anti-microbial and anti-fungal properties of the species Ephedra. In the another studies, they analysis of plant Ephedra extracts or essential oil (EO) has shown to inhibit A. parasiticus or A. flavus growth. However, the fungal growth significantly inhibited at the maximum concentration (1000 µg/ml) (Bagheri-Gavkosh et al., 2009; Deabes et al., 2020). Ozdemir et al. (2004) reported that two heptadecane and tetradecane derivatives isolated from Spirulina platensis EO had antimicrobial effects on a broad range of microorganisms. Different studies suggest the ability of plant extracts and EOs to inhibit aflatoxigenic fungal growth and AF production. In agreement with our results, organic solvents extract of aerial parts and roots of Ephedra plant were able to inhibit A. parasiticus growth and AFB₁ production (Bagheri-Gavkosh et al., 2009). Some phenolic compounds such as acetosyringone, and syringaldehyde can inhibit aflatoxin biosynthesis in A. flavus efficiently (Hua et al., 1999). There are some studies on using plant extracts such as afoetida, turmeric and Azadirachta indica leaf extract to prevent aflatoxin production (Ghewande and Nagaraj, 1987). Eleven potent active compounds as antioxidant agents and anticancer were detected in ethanol/ water extract of Saussurea costus root, which used to mitigate the oxidative stress (Deabes et al., 2021). On the other hand, Holmes et al., (2008) found that norsolorinic acid (NOR), is stable intermediate in the AF biosynthetic pathway. The findings by Nazareth et al. (2020) indicate that allyl isothiocyanate may be used as a fumigant to prevent A. flavus growth and AFB1 development, further confirming transcriptional alteration of AFB₁ genes.

5. Conclusions

Ephedra sinica extracts showed an antifungal activity and prevented the growth of A. *flavus* cultured on YES medium. EtOH/ H_2O extract was the most effective extract to control the biosynthesis of AFB₁ and *A. flavus* regulatory *Omt-A* gene, in combination with a drastic reduction in AFB₁ production. It is worthy to mention that the obtained findings mentioned that ephedra plant extracts have a positively potent effect on the growth and development of aflatoxigenic fungi in food, feed, and agricultural supplies by carcinogenic aflatoxins.

References

Abou El-Soud NH, Deabes MM, Abou El-Kassem LT and Khalil MY. 2012. Antifungal activity of family apiaceae essential oils .J. Appl. Sci. Res., 8(10): 4964-4973.

Abou El-Soud NH, Deabes MM, El-Kassem LA and Khalil M. 2015. Chemical Composition and Antifungal Activity of *Ocimum basilicum L.* Essential Oil. *Maced. J. Med. Sci.*, **3**(3):374-379.

Aziz NH, Farag SE, Mousa LA and Abo-Zaid MA. 1998. Comparative antibacterial and antifungal effects of some phenolic compounds. *Microbios.*, **93**:43–54.

Bagheri-Gavkosh S, Bigdeli M, Shams GM and Razzaghi AM. 2009. Inhibitory Effects of Ephedra major Host on *Aspergillus parasiticus* Growth and Aflatoxin Production. *Mycopathologia.*, **168**: 249-255.

Bayram O, Krappmann S, Ni M, Bok JW, Helmstaedt K, Valerius O, Braus- Stromeyer S, Kwon NJ, Keller NP, Yu JH and Braus GH. 2008. VelB/VeA/LaeA complex coordinates light signal with fungal development and secondary metabolism. *Sci.*, **320**: 1504-6.

Bluma RV, Amaide'n MR and Etcheverry MG. 2008. Screening of Argentine plant extracts to check their impact on growth parameters and aflatoxin B1 accumulation by Aspergillus section. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.*, **122** (1-2):114-25.

Brakhage AA. 2013. Regulation of fungal secondary metabolism. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.*, **11**: 21-32.

Caceres I, El Khoury A, El Khoury R, Lorber S, Oswald I P, El Khoury A, Atoui A, Puel O and Bailly J-D.2020. Aflatoxin Biosynthesis and Genetic Regulation: A Review. *Toxins.*, **12** (3):150 1-28.

Calvo AM, Bok J, Brooks W and Keller NP. 2004. veA is required for toxin and sclerotial production in *Aspergillus parasiticus*. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **70**: 4733-4739.

Caveney S, Charlet DA, Freitag H, Maier-Stolte M and Starratt AN.2001. New observations on the secondary chemistry of world Ephedra (Ephedraceae). *Am J Bot.*, **88**(7):1199-208.

de Souza WR, Morais ER, Krohn NG, Savoldi M, Goldman MH, Rodrigues F, Caldana C, Semelka CT, Tikunov AP, Macdonald JM and Goldman G H.2013. Identification of metabolic pathways influenced by the G-protein coupled receptors GprB and GprD in *Aspergillus nidulans. PLoS One.*, **8**: e62088.

Deabes MM, Abo El-Soud NH and Taha L. 2011. In vitro Inhibition of growth and aflatoxin B1 production of *Aspergillus flavus* strain (ATCC 16872) by various medicinal plant essential oils. *Maced. J. Med. Sci.*, **4** (4): 345-350.

Deabes MM, Darwish HR, Abdel-Aziz KB, Farag IM, Nada SA and Tewfik NS. 2012. Protective effects of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG on Aflatoxins-induced Toxicities in male Albino Mice. J. Enviro. and Anal. Toxicol; **2**: 2-9.

Deabes, MM, Wagdy KB; Attallah A G, El-Desouky TA and Khayria Naguib.2018. Impact of silver Nanoparticles on gene expression in Aspergillus flavus producer aflatoxin B1.*Open Access Maced. J. Med. Sci.*, **6**(4):600-605.

Deabes MM, Allayeh A K, Seif MM, Rasmey AM and Naguib Kh M. 2020. Antiviral, Antifungal, and Antibacterial Potential Activities of *Ephedra Sinica* in Vitro. *Jordan J Biol Sci.*, **13**(3) :313 – 320.

Diaz GJ and Murcia HW. 2011.Biotransformation of Aflatoxin B1 and Its Relationship with the Differential Toxicological Response to Aflatoxin in Commercial Poultry Species. In Aflatoxins-Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, 1st ed.; Guevara-González, R.G., Ed.; InTech: Rijeka, Croatia, pp. 3–20.

Eaton DL and Gallagher EP. 1994. Mechanisms of aflatoxin carcinogenesis. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.*, **34**:135-72.

Ebana R UB, Madunagu B E, Ekpe ED and Otung I N. 1991. Microbiological exploitation of cardiac glycosides and alkaloids from *Garcinia kola*, Borreria ocymoides, *Kola nitida* and *Citrus aurantiofolia. J. Appl. Bacteriol.*, **71**: 398–401. Ehrlich KC. 2014. Non-aflatoxigenic Aspergillus flavus to prevent aflatoxin contamination in crops: Advantages and limitations. *Front. Microbiol.*, **5**: 1-9.

El-Baz FK, Wagdy KB, Hanan FA and Hoda FB. 2016. Berry extracts improved inflammatory cytokines, antioxidant enzyme and suppressed the gene expression alterations in diabetic rats. *Int. J. Pharm. Sci. Rev. Res.*, **38**(2):219-226.

Elhadef K, Smaoui S, Fourati M, Ben Hlima H, Chakchouk Mtibaa A, Sellem I, Ennouri K and Mellouli L. 2020a. A Review on Worldwide Ephedra History and Story: From Fossils to Natural Products Mass Spectroscopy Characterization and Biopharmacotherapy Potential. *BMC Complement Altern. Med.*, ID **1540638**:1-22.

Elhadef K, Smaoui S, Ben Hlima H, Ennouri K, Fourati M, Chakchouk Mtibaa, A, Ennouri M, Mellouli L. 2020b. Effects of Ephedra alata extract on the quality of minced beef meat during refrigerated storage: A chemometric approach. *Meat Sci.*,**170**: 108246

Elhadef K, Smaoui S, Hlima H B, Ennouri K, Fourati M, Mtibaa A C, Sellem I, Mellouli L. 2020c. Chemometric multivariate analyses of phenolics and biological activities for characterization and discrimination of Tunisian *Ephedra alata*. *Euro. Food Res. and Tech.* **246**: 1495–1513.

Eshak MG, Deabes MM, Farrag AH, Farag IM and Stino FKR. 2013. Effect of ozone-treated aflatoxin contaminated diets on DNA damage, expression of androgen and androgen receptor genes, and histopathological changes in Japanese quail. *Glob. Vet.*, **11** (1): 01-13.

Ghewande MP and Nagaraj G.1987. Prevention of Aflatoxin contamination through some commercial chemical products and plant extracts in groundnut. *Mycotoxin Res.*, **3:** 19-24.

Group CPW, Hollingsworth PM, Forrest LL, Spouge JL, Hajibabaei M, Ratnasingham S, van der Bank M, Chase MW, Cowan RS, Erickson DL and Fazekas AJ.2009. A DNA barcode for land plants. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sci.*, **106**(**31**): 12794-12797.

Groopman J D, Donahue P R, Zhu J Q, Chen JS and Wogan G N. 1985. Aflatoxin metabolism in humans: detection of metabolites and nucleic acid adducts in urine by affinity chromatography. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., U S A.* **82**: 6492-6496.

Guo X, Wang X, Su W, Zhang G and Zhou R. 2011. DNA barcodes for discriminating the medicinal plant scutellaria baicalensis (lamiaceae) and its adulterants. *Biol. Pharm. Bull.*, **34**:1198–1203.

Holmes A, Boston RS and Payne GA .2008. Diverse inhibitors of aflatoxin biosynthesis. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, **78**:559–572.

Hua S S, Grosjean OK and Baker J L. 1999. Inhibition of aflatoxin biosynthesis by phenolic compounds. *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.*, **29**: 289-291.

Hua SST, Sarreal SBL, Chang P and Yu J. 2019. Transcriptional Regulation of Aflatoxin Biosynthesis and Conidiation in *Aspergillus flavus* by *Wickerhamomyces anomalus* WRL-076 for Reduction of Aflatoxin Contamination. Toxins (Basel)., **11(2):**81.

IBM Corp. 2013. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 22.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.

Ibrahim SD, Adawy SS, Atia MAM, Alsamman AM and Mokhtar MM.2016. Genetic diversity, variety identification and gene detection in some Egyptian grape varieties by SSR and SCoT markers. Plant Omics., **9(5)**:311–318

Khalil WKB, Booles HF, Hafiz NA and El-Bassyouni GE .2018. Ameliorative Effects of Brachidontes variabilis Calcium Carbonate against Bone Loss in Ovariectomized Rats. International *J. Pharm.*, **14**: 477-487. Kim JH, Campbell BC, Mahoney NE, Chan KL and Molyneux RJ. 2004. Identification of phenolics for control of *Aspergillus flavus* using Saccharomyces cerevisiae in a model target-gene bioassay. *J. Agric. Food Chem.*, **52**:7814–21.3

Leontopoulos D, Siafaka A and Markaki P.2003.Black olives as substrate for Aspergillus parasiticus growth and aflatoxin B1 production . *Food Micro.*, **20(1)**: 119-126.

Liu Y and Wu F .2010. Global burden of aflatoxin-induced hepatocellular risk assessment. Environ. *Health Perspect.*, **118**: 818-824.

Masako T, Sachis O, Reiko H and Tadakatsu S. 1989. The bacterial activity of tea and coffee. *Lett. in Appl. Micro.*, **8**: 123–125.

Moawed MM and Ibrahim SD. 2016. Discrimination between some species of zygophyllaceae based on sem and start codon targeted (SCoT) markers. *Egypt. J. Exp. Biol., (Bot.,)* **12(1)**: 115 – 124.

Montibus M, Pinson-Gadais L, Richard-Forget F, Barreau C and Ponts N. 2013.Coupling of transcriptional response to oxidative stress and secondary metabolism regulation in filamentous fungi. *Crit. Rev. Microbiol.*,

41:295–308.

Munimbazi C and Bullerman LB .1998.Isolation and partial characterization of antifungal metabolites of *Bacillus pumilus*. J. Appl. Micro., **84**:959-969.

Nada S. Amra H, Deabes M YM and Omara E. 2010.Saccharomyces Cerevisiae and Probiotic Bacteria Potentially Inhibit Aflatoxins Production In Vitro And In Vivo Studies. *Int. J. Toxicol.*, **8** (1): 1-10.

Nazareth TM, Alonso-Garrido M, Stanciu O, Mañes J, Manyes L and Meca G. 2020.Effect of allyl isothiocyanate on transcriptional profile, aflatoxin synthesis, and *Aspergillus flavus* growth. *Food Res Int.*, **128**: 1-9.

Neal G E, Eaton D L, Judah D J and Verma A.1998. Metabolism and toxicity of aflatoxins M1 and B1 in humanderived in vitro systems. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.*, **151**: 152-158.

Ozdemir G, Karabay NU, Dalay MC and Pazarbasi B. 2004. Antibacterial activity of volatile component and various extracts of Spirulina platensis. *Phytother. Res.*, **18**:754–758.

Parkin D M, Bray F, Ferlay J and Pisani P.2005. Global cancer statistics, 2002. *CA.Cancer J. Clin.*, **55**: 74-108.

Ponzilacqua B, Corassin CH and Oliveira CAF. 2018. Antifungal Activity and Detoxification of Aflatoxins by Plant Extracts: Potential for Food Applications. *The Open Food Sci. J.*, **10**:24-32.

Prieto R, Yousibova G L and Woloshuk CP. 1996. Identification of aflatoxin biosynthesis genes by genetic complementation in an *Aspergillus flavus* mutant lacking the aflatoxin gene cluster. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **62**: 3567-71.

Rustaiyan A, Javidnia K, Farjam MH, Aboee-Mehrizi F and Ezzatzadeh E.2011.Antimicrobial and antioxidant activity of the *Ephedra sarcocarpa* growing in Iran. *J. Med. Plants Res.*, **5(17)**: 4251-4255.

Salem NA, Wahba MA, Eisa WH, El-Shamarka M and Khalil W .2018. Silver oxide nanoparticles alleviate indomethacin-induced gastric injury: a novel antiulcer agent. *Inflammopharmacology*, **26**:1025–1035.

Sarikaya-Bayram Ö, Palmer JM, Keller N, Braus GH and Bayram Ö.2015. One Juliet and four Romeos: VeA and its methyltransferases. *Front Microbiol.*, **6**: (1) 1-7.

Shimizu K. and Keller N P .2001. Genetic involvement of a cAMP-dependent protein kinase in a G protein signaling pathway regulating morphological and chemical transitions in *Aspergillus nidulans*. Genetics, **157**:591-600.

Walter A. and Duncan D.B. 1969. Multiple range and multiple test. Biometries., 11:1-9.

Wogan GN. 1999. Aflatoxin as a human carcinogen. *Hepatology*, **30**: 573–575.

Yin W and Keller NP. 2011. Transcriptional regulatory elements in fungal secondary metabolism. *J Microbiol.*, **49**: 329-339.

WHO. The Global Burden of Disease: 2004 Update. Geneva: World Health Organization. 2008. [accessed 27 April 2010]. Available: [accessed 27 April 2010]. http://www.who.int/healthinfo/global_burden_disease/2004_repor t update/en/index.html.

Wu F and Khlangwiset P.2010. Health economic impacts and cost-effectiveness of aflatoxin-reduction strategies in Africa: case studies in biocontrol and post- harvest interventions. *Food Addit. Contam.*, **27**: 496-509.

Yin W and Keller NP.2011. Transcriptional regulatory elements in fungal secondary metabolism. J. Micro., **49**(3): 329–339.

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

Bioactivity of Four Nigerian Wild Mushrooms against Some Typed Clinical Isolates

Mobolaji A. Titilawo^{1,*}, Abidemi O. Faseun¹, Sunday B. Akinde¹, Janet O. Olaitan¹ and Olu Odeyemi²

¹Department of Microbiology, Osun State University, Osogbo, Osun State, Nigeria ; ²Department of Microbiology, Obafemi Awolowo University, Ile-Ife, Osun State, Nigeria

Received: October 27, 2020; Revised: January 20, 2021; Accepted: February 16, 2021

Abstract

This study aimed at investigating the antimicrobial activity of some wild Nigerian mushrooms against selected typed clinical isolates. We collected wild mushrooms from an integrated organic farm in Ilesa, Southwest Nigeria. Crude methanolic extracts of *Lentinus squarrosulus* Mont., *Termitomyces robustus* (Beeli) R. Heim, *Trametes ochracea* (Pers.) Gilb. & Ryvarden and *Xylaria hypoxylon* (L.) Grev. were screened singly and in different combinations for bioactivity against the selected bacterial and yeast isolates. The minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) and chemical constituents of the extracts were studied following standard procedures. Overall, we obtained a total of 16 mushrooms belonging to 14 genera. The extracts showed varied clearance zones against at least one of the eight bacteria, and one yeast when applied singly with the antimicrobial inhibitory zone ranging from 7.2 mm to 20.0 mm in *Staphylococcus aureus* (*T. ochracea* extract) and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (*L. squarrosulus* extract) respectively. Furthermore, the MIC ranged from 2.09 to 16.75 mg/mL. When combined, the blends were active against some Gram-negative bacteria and yeast. Except for *X. hypoxylon*, other extracts contained saponins, tannins and terpenoids. Our findings revealed that the wild mushrooms are potential antimicrobial agents against the tested isolates.

Keywords: Wild mushrooms; Bioactivity; Clinical isolates; Minimum inhibitory concentration; Bacteria; Yeast

1. Introduction

Mushrooms are valuable food source and nutraceuticals owing to their rich nutrient and preventive capability of various ailments (Valverde *et al.*, 2015; Roy *et al.*, 2016). In nature, they are found all-year-round but more abundantly during the wet season in the terrestrial or ligneous habitats (Adeniyi *et al.*, 2018a). Macrofungi thrive on a variety of substrates, especially those rich in lignin, cellulose and organic matter. Thus, they play a significant role in the terrestrial ecosystem as biodegraders (Adebiyi and Yakubu, 2016; Adeniyi *et al.*, 2018a).

In alternative medicine, mushrooms are famous for their therapeutic value against ailments such as rheumatism, kwashiorkor, obesity, diarrhoea, and as a purgative (Apetorgbor et al., 2005; Ejelonu et al., 2013). Earlier studies revealed the anticholesterol, antitumor, antimicrobial, antiviral, antineoplastic, antimutagenic, antioxidant, antilipidemic, antidiabetic, antihyperglycaemic, antihypotensive, antiparasitic, antiinflammatory, hepatoprotective, hypocholesterolemic, immunomodulatory and anti-ageing properties of mushrooms (Iwalokun et al., 2007; Patel et al., 2012; Sevindik, 2019; Mushtaq et al., 2020). However, inadequate scientific investigations, the dearth of clinical trials, and lack of data to validate the evidence limited their acceptance as drugs in modern-day medicine (Sullivan *et al.*, 2006).

The increasing failure of chemotherapeutics recently mandated the quest for newer and less expensive antimicrobials effective against disease-causing microorganisms (Kotra and Mobashery, 1998; Thomson and Moland, 2000; Saki et al., 2020; Sevindik, 2020). The search for inexpensive but potent antimicrobial is essential for the low- and middle-income African countries including Nigeria, that are currently hit by the menace of multidrug resistance and infectious diseases (Okeke et al., 2005). Fortunately, mushrooms, which commonly grow in the wild in Nigeria are getting the scientists' attention for possible development into novel drugs (Alves et al., 2012; Roy et al., 2016; Khatua et al., 2017; Krupodorova and Sevindik, 2020).

About 140,000 mushroom species exist globally, but a small percentage has been investigated for their therapeutic property and pharmacological screening (Wasser, 2002). A recent study, however, documented 158 mushroom species identified as potential antibiotic sources (Shen *et al.*, 2017).

Unfortunately, out of the 172 wild mushrooms reported so far in Nigeria, the most populous black African country, only 26 have been screened for their antimicrobial and pharmacological activities. These include *Auricularia polytricha* (Mont.) Sacc., *Boletus* sp., *Coprinellus*

^{*} Corresponding author. e-mail: mobolaji.adeniyi@uniosun.edu.ng.

micaceus (Bull.) Vilgalys, Hopple & Jacq. Johnson, Corilopsis occidentalis (Klotzsch) Murrill, Daedalea elegans Spreng, D. quercina (L.) Pers., Daldinia concentrica sensu auct. NZ, Flammulina sp., Ganoderma lucidum sensu auct. asiatic., Lentinus squarrosulus Mont., Lenzite quercina (L.) P.Karst., Lycoperdon giganteum Batsch, L. pusillum sensu auct. mult., Marasmius oreades (Bolton) Fr., Pleurotus ostreatus sensu Cooke, P. tuberregium (Fr.) Singer, Psathyrella atroumbonata Pegler, Psalliota campestris (L.) Quél., Schizophyllum commune Fr., Termitomyces robustus (Beeli) R. Heim, Trametes elegans (Spreng.) Fr., T. versicolor (L.) Lloyd, Trichaptum sp., Tricholoma lobayensis R. Heim, T. nudum (Bull.) P. Kumm and Volvariella volvacea (Bull.) Singer from different regions such as Ebonyi (Udu-Ibiam et al., 2014; Udu-Ibiam et al., 2015), Ekiti (David et al., 2012), Abuja (Etim et al., 2014), Kogi (Ayodele and Idoko, 2011), Ondo (Ogidi et al., 2015), Oyo (Jonathan and Fasidi, 2003; Gbolagade and Fasidi, 2005; Awala and Oyetayo, 2015) and Uyo (Etim et al., 2012).

Our previous investigation on the biodiversity of wild mushrooms in ENPOST integrated organic farm, Ilesa, Osun State Southwest Nigeria, had 151 mushroom species documented (Adeniyi *et al.*, 2018a). To our knowledge, none of the species has undergone screening for antimicrobial potential, and it is in this light that the current study aimed at elucidating some wild mushrooms from the farm for possible bioactivity.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. 2.1 Description of the Study Area

Environmental Pollution Science and Technology (ENPOST) integrated organic farm is located between Latitude 4°42'30'E to 4°42'45''E and longitude 7°36'55''N to 7°37'10''N, Ilesa, Osun State, Southwest Nigeria. The farm which is on a large expanse, about 10 hectares of land was established to address the challenges of environmental pollution, food insecurity, agroforestry/biodiversity destruction, and provide research opportunities (Adeniyi *et al.*, 2018a).

2.2. Mushroom Collection and Identification

Fresh mushroom fruiting bodies were collected during May and October 2017. Samples were gently placed in paper bags and immediately transported to the laboratory for identification using standard keys (Odeyemi and Adeniyi, 2015).

2.3. Habitat and Substrate Classification of Mushroom Samples

The habitats and substrates of the mushrooms were differentiated alongside sample collection. Samples obtained were either classified as ligneous or terrestrial habitat whereas, substrate classification was based upon woody or soil-like material.

2.4. Preparation of Crude Extracts

The mushroom samples were oven-dried at 40°C for 1 -5 d, ground into powder using an electric blender, sieved through 160 mesh and preserved in an airtight plastic container prior extraction. After pulverization, four samples were selected for further analysis. Exactly 50 g of the mushroom powder was extracted by soaking in 200

mL of 70 % methanol for 3 d with continuous agitation and thereafter filtered using a muslin cloth and Whatman no. 1 paper. Additionally, the residue was extracted twice using the same solvent, evaporated at 65°C, and the resultant semisolid extract was freeze-dried and kept at 4°C before use.

2.5. Test Organisms

All isolates used in this study were sourced from the National Institute of Medical Research (NIMR), Yaba, Lagos State, Nigeria. They included five Gram-negative bacteria [(Escherichia coli (ATCC 25900), Klebsiella pneumoniae (ATCC 43816), Proteus mirabilis (ATCC 7002), Pseudomonas aeruginosa (ATCC 10145), Salmonella typhimurium (ATCC 14028)], three Grampositive bacteria [Bacillus subtilis (NCTC 8263), Corynebacterium diphtheriae (ATCC 13812), Staphylococcus aureus (NCTC 6571)] and a yeast, Candida albicans (ATCC 10231).

2.6. Antimicrobial Assay

Twenty-four-hour (24 h) old bacterial and 48 h old yeast broth cultures were washed in physiological saline thrice and standardized to 0.5 McFarland standard having 10⁸ CFU/mL for approximately bacteria and 10^7 CFU/mL for C. albicans. Lyophilized extracts were dissolved in 3 % dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) to a concentration of 67 mg/mL, sterilized by passing through a membrane filter (0.22 µm pore size), and kept in amber bottles at 4°C. The antimicrobial assay was carried out using the standardized agar well diffusion method (CLSI, 2018). Exactly 100 µL of 0.5 McFarland standardized culture was spread plated on Mueller Hinton agar (Oxoid, UK) using a sterile swab and allowed to dry. A sterile 7 mm cork borer was used to create wells and 50 µl (67 mg/mL) of mushroom crude extracts were added to the holes. After incubating bacteria at 37°C for 24 h and yeast at 27°C for 48 h, antimicrobial activities were determined by measuring the diameter (in millimetres) of inhibition. Negative control was pure DMSO solvent, whereas positive controls were gentamicin (30 mg) for bacteria and fluconazole (25 µg) for yeast.

2.7. Combination Effect of Extracts on the Test Isolates

The same antimicrobial assay previously described was employed. The synergistic, antagonistic, indifference and additive effects of the extracts were determined in dual, triple and quadruple combinations. Each blend consisted of 67 mg/mL of individual crude extract.

2.8. Determination of Minimum Inhibitory Concentration of the Extracts

The minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) was determined by macro-broth dilution technique as specified (CLSI, 2018). Double-fold dilution of 67 mg/mL extract was prepared in Muller Hinton broth to obtain 6 different concentrations (34.50, 16.75, 8.38, 4.19, 2.09, 1.05 mg/mL). Each dilution was seeded with 100 μ L of the standardized suspension of the test organisms and incubated under standard condition. The lowest concentration that showed no visible growth was considered as MIC.

2.9. Screening of the Mushroom Extracts for Chemical Constituents

The mushroom extracts were qualitatively screened for saponins, tannins, terpenoids and anthraquinones as described (Sofowora, 1993). Briefly, saponins were detected by adding 5 mL distilled water to 5 ml of the extract, with vigorous shaking and warming. The formation of stable foam indicates the presence of saponins. In tannins, 3 mL of the extract was added to 3 mL 10 % FeCl3. A blue/black colouration suggests tannins. Furthermore, 5 mL of the extract mixed with 2 mL chloroform and 3 mL concentrated H₂SO₄ was gently poured into the tube. A reddish-brown colouration at interface indicates the presence of terpenoids. Also, 0.5 g of extract was boiled in 10 % HCl and filtered when hot. To the filtrate, 2 mL of chloroform and 10 % NH₃ solution was added. Development of the pink colour in the aqueous layer indicates anthraquinones.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Mushrooms Species Obtained at the Site of Study

Mushrooms are non-timber forest products and have served as food, medicine, enzymes, and are also an important source of earnings for people in different parts of the world (Boa, 2004). However, human activities such as deforestation, bush burning, application of pesticides and herbicides, urbanization and climate change have resulted in their gradual disappearance in the wild (Adeniyi *et al.*, 2018a).

In the present investigation, a total of 16 mushrooms belonging to 14 genera were obtained, of which eleven species were collected in May, one species in October and four species during both months (Table 1). Representative pictures are in Figure 1. Previous studies in India (Singha *et al.*, 2017), Mexico (Álvarez-Farias *et al.*, 2016), Italy (Leonardi *et al.*, 2017), Ethiopia (Sitotaw *et al.*, 2015) and Nigeria (Adeniyi *et al.*, 2018a,b; Buba *et al.*, 2018), have recorded related mushroom species, with some even at higher frequencies.

Table 1. Sampling months and mushrooms species collected.

Sampling month	Mushroom
May 2017	Cantharellus cibarius Fr.
	Collybia plicatilis (Curtis) Fr.
	Clitopilus prunulus (Scop.) P. Kumm.
	<i>Collybia</i> sp.
	Gloeophyllum sepiarium (Wulfen) P. Karst.
	Hydnellum peckii Banker
	Mycena acicula (Schaeff.) P. Kumm.
	Mycena inclinata (Fr.) Quél.
	Pleurotus lignatilis (Pers.) P. Kumm.
	Stereum hirsutum (Wild.) Pers.
	Tricholoma inocybeoides A. Pearson
October 2017	Termitomyces robustus (Beeli) R. Heim
May and October	Ganoderma resinaceum Boud.
2017	
	Lentinus squarrosulus Mont.

Trametes ochracea (Pers.) Gilb. & Ryvarden Xvlaria hypoxylon (L.) Grev.



Figure 1. Representative pictures of mushrooms obtained from the site of study. (a) Hydnellum peckii (b) Lentinus squarrosulus (c) Mycena inclinata (d) Termitomyces robustus (e) Trametes ochracea (f) Xylaria hypoxylon.

3.2. Habitat and Substrate of Mushroom Samples

Mushrooms have a wide ecological range and can grow in both coniferous and broadleaf forests (Leonardi *et al.*, 2017; Sevindik *et al.*, 2018). While we obtained eleven of our mushrooms from ligneous habitat, the remaining five came from the terrestrial counterpart. This observation concurs with an earlier report (Buba *et al.*, 2018). The number of mushroom species found on decaying ligneous substrates was in the order: 3 (18.75 %) each of mango and palm, 2 (12.5 %) each of kola nut and unidentified trunk logs and bamboo leaves 1 (6.25 %), whereas on terrestrial substrates, were soil debris 4 (25 %) and termite mound 1 (6.25 %) (Figure 2). Additionally, the mushrooms were





Figure 2. The occurrence of the mushroom species on growth substrates.

3.3. Antibacterial and Antifungal Screening

All the extracts screened had varied clearance zones against at least one of the eight bacteria, and the yeast except *X. hypoxylon*. Generally, the inhibitions of the extracts against the test isolates were in the order *T. ochracea* > *T. robustus* > *X. hypoxylon* > *L. squarrosulus* (Table 2). Among the isolates tested, *P. aeruginosa* (*L. squarrosulus* extract) had the highest inhibition (20 mm), whereas *S. aureus* (*T. ochraceus* extract) had the lowest (7.2 mm) (Table 2). Our observation tallies with Chowdhury *et al.* (2015) whose report ranged between 7.0 \pm 0.2 and 30.0 \pm 0.3 mm. The production of slime and capsule in microorganisms are responsible for variability in the potency of the extracts (Awala and Oyetayo, 2015; Murray *et al.*, 2013).

Generally, not all inhibition zones observed in an *in-vitro* sensitivity test are considered sensitive (CLSI, 2018). According to Chowdhury *et al.* (2015), mushroom crude extracts are highly effective when the clearance diameter is greater than 10 mm. In the current investigation, P. aeruginosa and C. albicans were sensitive to L. squarrosulus; E. coli, K. pneumoniae, S. typhimurium and C. albicans to T. robustus; E. coli, K. pneumoniae, B. subtilis, C. diphtheria, S. aureus and C. albicans to T. ochracea; E. coli and B. subtilis to X. hypoxylon (Table 2). Generally, Gram-positive bacteria are more susceptible to different medicinal compounds than Gram-negative because of the porous peptidoglycan layer and single lipid bilayer in Gram-positive bacteria (Khatua et al., 2017). In contrast, the current study observed higher susceptibilities in Gram-negative to the different extracts screened (Table 2). Our finding agrees with Awala and Oyetayo (2015) who also reported low resistance in Gram-positive bacteria in the presence of Trametes elegans extract, suggesting that the antimicrobial activities of the extracts may not be cell wall-related.

Broad-spectrum antimicrobials have played an invaluable role in treating bacterial infections and saved lives in situations where early diagnosis and identification of infectious diseases' causative agents is not possible (Melander et al., 2018). This current study reveals the broad-spectrum activities of T. robustus, T. ochracea and X. hypoxylon extracts against bacteria and yeast screened (Table 2). A previous study (Sharma et al., 2015) reported the broad-spectrum nature of Agaricus bisporus. One strategy being highlighted in the fight against bacteria resistance is the development of narrow-spectrum antimicrobials that are either genus or species-specific (Melander et al., 2018). Our work reveals the speciesspecificity of L. squarrosulus extract and thus, can be a potential drug for P. aeruginosa infections. The range of inhibition by the standard drugs was between 18.2 and 26.0 mm (Table 2).

Mushroom extract	Gram-negative bacteria					Gram-positive bacteria			Yeast
	EC (mm)	KP (mm)	PA (mm)	PM (mm)	ST (mm)	BS (mm)	CD (mm)	SA (mm)	CA (mm)
L. squarrosulus	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	20.0±0.1	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	14.1±0.1
T. robustus	10.2 ± 0.2	$12.0{\pm}0.1$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$14.0{\pm}0.1$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$19.2{\pm}0.1$
T. ochracea	$10.1{\pm}0.1$	14.2 ± 0.2	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	8.1±0.1	9.2±0.2	11.1 ± 0.1	10.0 ± 0.0	7.2±0.2	$17.0{\pm}0.1$
X. hypoxylon	15.2 ± 0.1	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$19.0{\pm}0.0$	14.0 ± 0.3	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$
Negative control	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$
Standard drug	19.0±0.1	21.0±0.1	21.1±0.1	18.2±0.1	26.0±0.0	20.1±0.2	19.0±0.1	18.1±0.0	22.8±0.3

 Table 2. Diameter of inhibition of crude extracts against test microorganisms.

Legend: EC - E. coli; KP - K. pneumoniae; PA - P. aeruginosa; PM - P. mirabilis; ST - S. typhimurium; BS - B. subtilis; CD - C. diphtheria; SA - S. aureus; CA - C. albicans.

3.4. Effect of Different Extract Combinations on the Test Isolates

Combination therapy has been envisaged to be an effective strategy in treating complex infections (Xu *et al.*, 2018) and are more superior compared to single drug dosage (Vakil and, Trappe, 2019). Generally, all the extract blends were resistant to 2 Gram-negative bacteria, *K. pneumoniae* and *S. typhimurium*, all the Gram-positive bacteria and the fungus (Table 3). It is possible that the effects of active ingredient which may be present in some of the extracts were concealed by other compounds in the mixture and thus suggests antagonism between the individual extracts in combination. Usually, drug

antagonism is often undesirable but could be a useful selective factor for drug-resistant mutations (Chait *et al.*, 2007). Furthermore, the extract composites were sensitive to at least one of *E. coli*, *P. aeruginosa* and *P. mirabilis* with different relationships. Except for combination *L. squarrosulus* and *X. hypoxylon* which was antagonistic, other active mixtures were indifferent to *E. coli*. Likewise, an indifferent relationship was observed against *P. aeruginosa* albeit synergistic in *T. ochracea* and *T. robustus* blend. Interestingly, the interactions between A, B and G against *P. mirabilis* were synergistic (Table 3). In drug production, synergistic interaction is preferable due to its effectiveness (Xu *et al.*, 2018).

Extract combinations	Gram-negative					Gram-positive			Fungus
	EC	KP	PA	PM	ST	BS	CD	SA	CA
	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)
Α	15.1±0.1	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	19.1 ± 0.0	10.2±0.2	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$
В	14.2±0.2	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	13.3±0.3	10.0 ± 0.0	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$
С	12.1±0.0	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$11.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$
D	13.0±0.0	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$
E	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$
F	10.2±0.2	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	12.0±0.0	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$
G	8.1±0.0	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	12.0±0.1	11.2±0.1	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$
н	11.4±0.2	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	12.0±0.2	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$
Ι	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	10.0 ± 0.0	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$
J	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	12.0±0.0	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$
Negative control	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$	$0.0{\pm}0.0$
Standard drug	19.0±0.1	21.0±0.1	21.1±0.1	18.2 ± 0.1	26.0 ± 0.0	20.1±0.2	19.0±0.1	$18.1{\pm}0.0$	22.8±0.3

Table 3. Sensitivity pattern of the different crude extract combinations.

Legend: EC – E. coli; KP – K. pneumoniae; PA – P. aeruginosa; PM – P. mirabilis; ST – S. typhimurium; BS – B. subtilis; CD – C. diptheriae; SA – S. aureus; CA – C. albicans

A - T. ochracea + T. robustus; B - T. ochracea + L. squarrosulus; C - T. ochracea + X. hypoxylon; D - T. robustus + L. squarrosulus; E - T. robustus + X. hypoxylon; F - L. squarrosulus + X. hypoxylon; G - T. ochracea + T. robustus + L. squarrosulus; H - T. ochracea + T. robustus + L. squarrosulus; H - T. ochracea + T. robustus + X. hypoxylon; I - T. ochracea + L. squarrosulus + X. hypoxylon; J - T. ochracea + T. robustus + L. squarrosulus; H - T. ochracea + T. robustus + X. hypoxylon; I - T. ochracea + L. squarrosulus + X. hypoxylon; J - T. ochracea + T. robustus + L. squarrosulus + X. hypoxylon; J - T. ochracea + T. robu

3.5. MIC of the Mushroom Extracts

In this investigation, MIC ranged between 2.09 and 16.75 mg/mL (Table 4). While the lowest value (2.09 mg/mL) was recorded in *E. coli* (*T. robustus*), *S. typhimurium* (*T. ochracea*) and *C. diphtheriae* (*T.*

ochracea), the highest (16.75 mg/mL) was obtained in *C. albicans* for *L. squarrosulus* and *T. ochracea* extracts (Table 4). Our observation contradicts the previous report (Chowdhury *et al.*, 2015) on low MIC for their fungal species investigated.

Table 4. MIC values (mg/mL) of the mushroom extracts against the test isolates.

Mushroom	MIC concentration (mg/mL)								
	EC	KP	PA	PM	ST	BS	CD	SA	CA
L. squarrosulus	ND	ND	8.38	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	16.75
T. robustus	2.09	4.19	ND	ND	4.19	ND	ND	ND	8.38
T. ochracea	4.19	8.38	ND	4.19	2.09	4.19	2.09	8.38	16.75
Xylaria hypoxylon	4.19	ND	ND	ND	8.38	8.38	ND	ND	ND

Legend: EC – *E. coli*; KP – *K. pneumoniae*; PA – *P. aeruginosa*; PM – *P. mirabilis*; ST – *S. typhimurium*; BS – *B. subtilis*; CD – *C. diphtheriae*; SA – *S. aureus*; CA – *C. albicans*; ND – Not determined.

3.6. Chemical Components of the Mushroom Extracts

Mushrooms are rich in phytochemicals such as polyketides, steroids, terpenes, ceramides, glycoproteins, proteoglycans, polysaccharides and phenols (Chowdhury *et al.*, 2015). Our findings frequently detected saponins, terpenoids and tannins in *L. squarrosulus, T. robustus* and *T. ochracea* extracts (Table 5). This finding tallies with Gbolagade and Fasidi (2005) and Anyanwu *et al.* (2016) who had similar observations for *Trametes elegans* (Spreng.) Fr. and *Pleurotus tuber-regium* (Fr.) Singer sclerotium. The absence of saponins, terpenoids and

tannins in X. hypoxylon (Table 5) is contrary to the evidence of Jang et al. (2009) and Elias et al. (2018) that genus Xylaria contains a diversity of bioactive substances. Different ecological locations, age of mushroom, time of harvest and extraction protocols might account for the variance. Likewise, anthraquinones were not detected in T. robustus and T. ochracea mushroom extracts (Table 5). Earlier works (Gbolagade and Fasidi, 2005; Wandati et al., 2013) also noted the absence of anthraquinones compounds in mushroom samples.

Mushroom	Saponins	Tannins	Terpenoids	Anthraquinones
L. squarrosulus	+	+	+	ND
T. robustus	+	+	+	-
T. ochraceus	+	+	+	-
X. hypoxylon	-	-	-	ND

Legend: '+' = Present; '-'= Absent; 'ND' – Not determined

4. Conclusion

In this study, 16 wild mushrooms from ligneous and terrestrial habitats were collected from ENPOST farm, Ilesa, Southwest Nigeria and the antimicrobial potential of L. squarrosulus, T. robustus, T. ochracea and X. hypoxylon were investigated. The methanolic crude extracts of the mushrooms were active against at least one of the eight bacteria, and the yeast except for X. hypoxylon. Generally, the extracts were active against the test isolates: T. ochracea > T. robustus > X. hypoxylon > L. squarrosulus.Among the investigated isolates, P. aeruginosa exhibited the highest inhibition zone (20 mm) whereas S. aureus had the lowest (7.2 mm). Furthermore, all the extract combinations were resistant to K. pneumoniae and S. typhimurium, all the Gram-positive bacteria and the fungus, C. albicans. The MIC range of 2.09 and 16.75 mg ml^{-1} was equally obtained. Also, the extracts except X. hypoxylon contained saponins, terpenoids and tannins. Our study reveals the antimicrobial potential of L. squarrosulus, T. robustus, T. ochracea and X. hypoxylon. However, this study is limited by the application of thorough-put techniques such as gas chromatography spectrometry and fourier-transform infrared mass spectrometry for determination of concise constituents of extracts and time-kill assay to assess the in-vitro reduction of test organisms after exposure to the extracts. Extensive screening of more native mushrooms for biomedical potential and the domestication of the therapeutic species is advocated. Therefore, we recommend further investigations on isolation, evaluation, and identification of key constituent(s) with antimicrobial prospects and mechanisms of actions.

5. Acknowledgement

The authors would like to thank the Management of Environmental Pollution Science and Technology (ENPOST) farm, Ilesa, Southwest Nigeria, for the permission to collect mushrooms from the farm and National Institute of Medical Research (NIMR), Yaba, Lagos State for providing the typed clinical isolates used in this study.

6. References

Adebiyi AO and Yakubu HO. 2016. Survey of mushrooms in two local government areas of Ekiti State, Nigeria. *Donnish J Agric Res.*, **3(2):** 013-016.

Adeniyi M, Odeyemi Y and Odeyemi O. 2018a. Ecology, diversity and seasonal distribution of wild mushrooms in a Nigerian tropical forest reserve. *Biodiversitas*, **19(1)**: 285-295.

Adeniyi M, Titilawo Y, Oluduro A, Odeyemi, Nakin M and Okoh AI. 2018b. Molecular identification of some wild Nigerian mushrooms using internal transcribed spacer: Polymerase chain reaction. *AMB Express*, **8**: 148.

Álvarez-Farias ZJ, Díaz-Godínez G, Téllez-Téllez M, Villegas E and Acosta-Urdapilleta ML. 2016. Ethnomycological knowledge of wild edible mushrooms in Tlayacapan, Morelos. *Mycosphere*, **7(10)**: 1491-1499.

Alves MJ, Ferreira ICFR, Martins A and Pintado A. 2012. Antimicrobial activity of wild mushroom extracts against clinical isolates resistant to different antibiotics. *Appl Microbiol.*, **113**: 466-475.

Anyanwu NG, Mboto CI, Solomon L and Frank-Peterside N. 2016. Phytochemical, proximate composition and antimicrobial potentials of *Pleurotus tuber-regium* sclerotium. *N Y Sci J.*, **9(1):** 35-42.

Apetorgbor MM, Apetorgbor AK and Nutako E. 2005. Utilization and cultivation of edible mushrooms for rural livelihood in Southern Ghana. 17th Commonwealth Forestry Conference, Colombo, Sri Lanka.

Awala SI and Oyetayo VO. 2015. The phytochemical and antimicrobial properties of the extracts obtained from *Trametes elegans* collected from Osengere in Ibadan, Nigeria. *Jordan J Biol Sci.*, **8(4)**: 289-299.

Ayodele SM and Idoko ME. 2011. Antimicrobial activities of four wild edible mushrooms in Nigeria. *Int J Sci Nature*, **2(1):** 55-58.

Boa ER. 2004. Wild Edible Fungi: A global Overview of their Use and Importance to People, Non-wood forest products 17, FAO Publishing Management Services, Rome.

Buba T, Agbo V and Abdullahi A. 2018. The ecology of edible mushrooms of the Nigerian savannah: towards their optimal exploitation. *J Appl Biosci.*, **132**: 13439-13451.

Chait R, Craney A and Kishony R. 2007. Antibiotic interactions that select against resistance. *Nature*, **446**: 668-671.

Chowdhury MMH, Kubra K and Ahmed SR. 2015. Screening of antimicrobial, antioxidant properties and bioactive compounds of some edible mushrooms cultivated in Bangladesh. *Ann Clin Microb Anti.*, **14:** 8.

CLSI. 2018. **Performance Standard for Antimicrobial Disk Susceptibility Test MO12-A12**, Clinical and Laboratory Standard Institute, Wayne, PA.

David OM, Fagbohun ED, Oluyege AO and Adegbuyi A. 2012. Antimicrobial activity and physicochemical properties of oils from tropical macrofungi. *J. Yeast Fungal Res.*, **3(1):** 1-6.

Ejelonu OC, Akinmoladun AC, Elekofehinti OO and Olaleye MY. 2013. Antioxidant profile of four selected wild edible mushrooms in Nigeria. *J Chem Pharm Res.*, **7:** 286-245.

Elias LM, Fortkamp D, Sartori SB, Ferreira MC., Gomes LZ, Azevedo JL, Montoya QV, Rodrigues A, Ferreira AG and Lira SP. 2018. The potential of compounds isolated from *Xylaria* spp. as antifungal agents against anthracnose. *Braz J Microbiol.*, **49(4)**: 840-847.

Etim EE, Akpan IU and Edet EJ. 2012. Antimicrobial properties of common mushrooms in Nigeria. *Int J Mod Biol Med.*, **2(2):** 64-71.

Etim VA, Abubakar S, Asemota UK, Okereke OE and Ogbadu GH. 2014. Evaluation of pharmacological potentials of the ethanolic extract of a mushroom (*Ganoderma lucidum*) grown in FCT. *Indian J Pharm Biol Res.*, **2(1):** 1-7.

Gbolagade SJ and Fasidi IO. 2005. Antimicrobial activities of some selected Nigerian mushrooms. *Afr J Biomed Res.*, **8**(2): 83-87.

Iwalokun BA, Usen UA, Otunba AA and Olukoya DK. 2007. Comparative phytochemical evaluation, antimicrobial and antioxidant properties of *Pleurotus ostreatus*. *Afr J Biotechnol.*, **6**: 1732–1739.

Jang YW, Lee IK, Kim YS, Seok SJ, Yu SH and Yun BS. 2009. Chemical constituents of the fruiting body of *Xylaria polymorpha*. *Mycobiology*, **37(3)**: 207-210.

Jonathan SG and Fasidi IO. 2003. Antimicrobial activities of two Nigerian edible macro fungi – *Lycoperdon pusilum* (Bat. Ex) and *Lycoperdon giganteus* (Pers). *Afr J Biomed Res.*, **6:** 85-90.

Khatua S, Ghosh S and Acharya K. 2017. Chemical composition and biological activities of methanol extract from *Macrocybe lobayensis. J Appl Pharm Sci.*, **7(10)**: 144-151.

Kotra LP and Mobashery S. 1998. β -lactam antibiotics, β -lactamases and bacterial resistance. *Bull Inst Pasteur.*, **96:** 139-150.

Krupodorova T and Sevindik M. 2020. Antioxidant potential and some mineral contents of wild edible mushroom *Ramaria stricta*. *AgroLife Sci J.*, **9**: 186-191.

Leonardi P, Graziosi S, Zambonelli A and Salerni E. 2017. The economic potential of mushrooms in an artificial *Pinus nigra* forest. *Ital J Mycol.*, **46**: 48-59.

Melander RJ, Zurawski DV and Melander C. 2018. Narrowspectrum antibacterial agents. *Med Chem Comm.*, 9: 12-21.

Murray PR, Rosenthal KS and Pfaller MA. 2013. **Medical Microbiology**, eighth ed. Elsevier/Saunders, Philadelphia.

Mushtaq W, Baba H, Akata I and Sevindik M. 2020. Antioxidant Potential and Element Contents of Wild Edible Mushroom *Suillus* granulatus. J. Agri. Nat., 23(3): 592-595.

Odeyemi O and Adeniyi MA. 2015. Ecology and pictorial atlas of Nigerian mushrooms, first ed. Signet Impressions and Design Ltd, Nigeria, 1-181.

Ogidi OC, Oyetayo VO and Akinyele BJ. 2015. *In-vitro* evaluation of antimicrobial efficacy of extracts obtained from raw and fermented wild macrofungus, *Lenzites quercina*. *Int J Microbiol.*, 1-7. Article ID 106308.

Okeke IN, Laxminarayan R, Bhutta ZA, Duse AG, Jenkins P, O'Brien TF, Pablos-Mendez A and Klugman KP. 2005. Antimicrobial resistance in developing countries. Part 1: Recent trends and current status. *Lancet Infect Dis.*, **5(8)**: 481-493.

Patel Y, Naraian R and Singh VK. 2012. Medicinal properties of *Pleurotus* species (oyster mushroom): A review. *World J Fungal Plant Biol.*, **3**: 1-12.

Roy DN, Azad AK, Sultana F and Anisuzzaman ASM. 2016. *Invitro* antimicrobial activity of ethyl acetate extract of two common edible mushrooms. *J Phytopharm.*, **5(2)**: 79-82.

Saki M, Seyed-Mohammadi S, Montazeri EA, Siahpoosh A, Moosavian M, Latifi SM. 2020. *In-vitro* antibacterial properties of *Cinnamomum zeylanicum* essential oil against clinical extensively drug-resistant bacteria. *Eur J Integr Med.*, 101146. Sevindik M. 2018. Investigation of antioxidant/oxidant status and antimicrobial activities of *Lentinus tigrinus*. *Adv Pharmacol Sci.*, https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/1718025

Sevindik M. 2019. The novel biological tests on various extracts of *Cerioporus varius*. *Fresen Environ Bull.*, **28**(5): 3713-3717.

Sevindik M. 2020. Antioxidant and antimicrobial capacity of *Lactifluus rugatus* and its antiproliferative activity on A549 cells. *Indian J Tradit Knowl.*, **19(2)**: 423-427.

Sharma MV, Sagar A and Joshi M. 2015. Study on antibacterial activity of *Agaricus bisporus* (Lang.) Imbach. *Int J Curr Microbiol Appl Sci.*, **4(2):** 553-558.

Shen H, Shao S, Chen J and Zhou T. 2017. Antimicrobials from mushrooms for assuring food safety. *Compr Rev Food Sci F.*, **16**: 316-329.

Singha K, Banerjee A, Pati BR and Das Mohapatra PK. 2017. Eco-diversity, productivity and distribution frequency of mushrooms in Gurguripal eco-forest, Paschim Medinipur, West Bengal, India. *Curr Res Environ Appl Mycol.*, **7**(1): 8-18.

Sitotaw R, Mulat A and Abate D. 2015. Morphological and molecular studies on *Termitomyces* species of Menge district, Assosa zone, Northwest Ethiopia. *Sci Technol Arts Res J.*, **4**: 49-57.

Sofowora, A. 1993. Medicinal Plants and Traditional Medicine in Africa, second ed. Spectrum Books Ltd, Nigeria.

Sullivan R, Smith JE and Rowan NJ. 2006. Medicinal mushrooms and cancer therapy: Translating a traditional practice into Western medicine. *Perspect Biol Med.*, **49(2):** 159-170.

Thomson KS and Moland ES. 2000: The new β -lactamases of Gram-negative bacteria at the dawn of the new millennium (Review). *Microbes Infect.*, **2:** 1225-1235.

Udu-Ibiam OE, Ogbu O, Ibiam UA, Nnachi AU, Aga MV, Ukaegbu CO, Chukwu OS, Agumah NB and Ogbu KI. 2014. Phytochemical and antioxidant analyses of selected edible mushrooms, ginger and garlic from Ebonyi State, Nigeria. *IOSR J Pharm Biol Sci.*, **9(3)**: 86-91.

Udu-Ibiam OE, Ogbu O, Ibiam UA and Nnachi AU. 2015. Synergistic antibacterial activity of *Pleurotus* species (mushroom) and *Psychotria microphylla* (herb) against some clinical isolates. *Br J Pharm Res.*, **7(1):** 1-8.

Vakil V and Trappe W. 2019. Drug combinations: Mathematical modelling and networking methods. *Pharmaceutics*, **11**: 208.

Valverde ME, Hernández-Pérez T and Paredes-López O. 2015. Edible Mushrooms: Improving human health and promoting quality life. *Int J Microbiol.*, Article ID 376387, 1-14.

Wandati TW, Kenji GM and Onguso JM. 2013. Phytochemicals in edible wild mushrooms from selected areas in Kenya. *J Food Res.*, **2(3):** 137-144.

Wasser SP. 2002. Medicinal mushrooms as a source of antitumor and immunomodulatory polysaccharides. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol.*, **60**: 258-274.

Xu X, Xy L, Yuan G, Wang Y, Qu Y and Zhou M. 2018. Synergistic combination of two antimicrobial agents closing each other's mutant selection windows to prevent antimicrobial resistance. *Sci Rep.*, **8:** 7237.

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

Serum Levels of Interleukin 10, Interleukin 17A, and Calcitriol in Different Groups of Colorectal Cancer Patients

Ghassan M. Sulaiman^{1,*}, Raghad F. Al-ansari², Abdulnasser M. AL-Gebori³, Khalil A. A. Khalil^{4,5}, Salim Albukhaty⁶, Elsadig M. Ahmed^{4,7}, Mohamed T. A. Soliman⁴

¹ Division of Biotechnology, Department of Applied Sciences, University of Technology, Baghdad, Iraq; ²Department of Pharmacy, Al-Farabi University College, Baghdad, Iraq; ³Division of Applied Chemistry, Department of Applied Sciences, University of Technology, Baghdad, Iraq; ⁴Department of Medical Laboratories Sciences, College of Applied Medical Sciences, University of Bisha, Bisha,61922 P.O. Box 551, Saudi Arabia; ⁵Department of Medical Laboratory Sciences, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, University of Hodeidah, Yemen,⁶Department of Chemistry, College of Science, University of Misan, Maysan, Iraq;²Department of Clinical Chemistry, Faculty of Medical Laboratory Sciences, University of El Imam El Mahdi, Kosti,209 P.O. Box 27711, Sudan

Received: November 4, 2020; Revised: Revised 2, 2021; Accepted: February 18, 2021

Abstract

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is considered as the fourth prevalent reason of cancer deaths. Interleukin 10 (IL10) and interleukin 17A (IL-17A) act as anti-inflammatory and pro-inflammatory cytokines, respectively, both being able to exert antitumor or pro-tumor roles in cancer. Serum levels for IL-10, IL-17A, and calcitriol were measured by ELISA. The CRC patient sample (n =90) consisted of newly diagnosed, before surgery, and after surgery groups, the results of which were compared with those of healthy subjects (n=30). IL-10 levels demonstrated significantly lower (P<0.001), significantly higher (P<0.001) in all patient groups compared with healthy subjects, whereas calcitriol levels were significantly lower in most patients. In conclusion, low levels of IL-10 found in CRC patients at diagnosis could be used as a diagnostic marker for the disease. However, chemo-radiotherapy caused an increase in the levels of this cytokine, which were restored to normal following surgical intervention. In addition, a contribution of serum calcitriol in changing the levels of IL-10 in CRC patients was observed. High levels of IL-17A, regardless of patient group, indicated a strong association with CRC.

Keywords: Colorectal cancer, Interleukin 10, Interleukin 17A, Calcitriol, Serum.

1. Introduction

CRC is considered as a malignant neoplasm resulting from the transformation of the epithelial cells lining the large intestine into malignant cells, where adenocarcinoma grows from the adenomatous polyps (Ahuja and Nettles, 2014).CRC accounts for around 608,000 deaths worldwide, being the fourth prevalent reason of cancer deaths, with an overall contribution of 8%. Despite remarkable development in clinical protocols, about 50% and 95% of CRC patients have still been reported to die in stages III and IV, respectively (Heitman et al., 2009).A number of factors are possibly associated with higher susceptibility to CRC development, including exposure to chemical and physical carcinogens (Ahuja and Nettles 2014) as well as beingpositive for rhesus factor (Algudah et al., 2018). The treatment of CRC patients depends on several factors, including the stage of the disease; during stage I, approximately 95% of the patients are curable by surgical intervention, whereas this proportion declines to 65-80% in Stage II. In stages III and IV, more than one type of treatment is applied before surgical removal, such aschemo-radiotherapy (Ahuja and Nettles, 2014).

Some proteins secreted by immune cells are known to serve as biomarkers in cancer (Youssry et al., 2019). IL-10 is defined as an immunosuppressive protein that is produced in response to inflammatory adaptive and innate immune responses.IL-10 acts as a feedback regulator by preventing the production of cytokines by Т cell/macrophages and inhibiting their antigen presenting capacity (Mittal and Roche, 2015). This cytokine is produced by T helper 1 (Th1), T helper 2 (Th2), and T regulatory (T-reg) cells, but also by macrophages and monocytes (Tayloret al., 2006). In addition, T helper 17 (Th17) cells can control immune responses negatively by secreting some immunosuppressive factors, e.g. IL-10, and hence called non-pathogenic Th17cells (Wu et al., 2018). IL-10 can suppress the response of both pro-inflammatory Th17 cytokines and macrophages by inhibiting certain inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6 and IL-12. IL-10 deficiency leads to the stimulation of inflammatory responses, including the possibility of spontaneous tumor development in humans (Oft, 2014).

Several lines of evidence suggested the potential use ofIL-10 as a prognostic factor in CRC. High levels of IL-10 are associated with poor prognosis in CRC patients (Li

^{*} Corresponding author e-mail: ghassan.m.sulaiman@uotechnology.edu.iq; gmsbiotech@hotmail.com.

,2019). An earlier study also reported a decreased serum IL-10 level in these patients (Abtahi, 2017).

IL-17A isanotherprotein that isproducedby Th17 cells. Previously reported evidence suggested a dual role for IL-17 in cancer. It can act as an antitumor cytokine by promoting cytotoxic T cell responses, leading to regression of the tumor. In contrast, it can encourage angiogenesis and migration of cancer cells (Murugaiyan and Saha, 2009). The anti-tumor activity of IL-17 is mediated by decreasing IL-10 and IL-13 levels, along withincreasing those of other interleukins, such as IL-6 and IL-12 (Razi *et al.*, 2019).

IL-17A is produced by the epithelial cells in CRC patients, where it is inversely correlated with the expression of p53.IL-17 was also suggested as a valuable serum marker for CRC development (Radosavljevic *et al.*, 2010).

Calcitriol (1a,25-dihydroxy vitamin D3) can be classified as a seco-steroid hormone. Vitamin D3 in humans is converted to calcitriol as an active final vitamin D3 metabolism product (Feldman et al., 2018). Several studies indicated that the normal range of serum calcitriol fluctuates with different stages of age, having values of 18-64, 18-78, and 25-45 pg/mL in serum samples tested from elder males, elder females, and younger adults, respectively (Reynoldset al., 2016; Weil et al., 2018). The endocrine system for calcitriol was first discovered in animals, where the decreased calcium level in serum was demonstrated to cause an increased calcitriol production(Feldman et al., 2018).Calcitriol relationship with CRC has been investigated but with controvery in the reported results.For example, an earlier study found that calcitriol level in serum decreases as the CRC stages progress (Niv et al., 1999), while another report showed no association between calcitriol and CRC development (Lee et al., 2011). Calcitriol affects certain inflammatory processes that are known to be responsible for the development of cancer, including the expression of IL1β, IL6, and IL17 cytokines, as well as the activity of cyclooxygenase 2 enzyme (Van Harten-Gerritsen et al., 2015). Also, calcitriol can enhance the expression of IL-10 by T cells (Heine et al., 2008).

Overall, the previously published data about the possible associations between CRC development and the levels of IL-10, IL-17A, or calcitriol are either controversial or insufficient. Therefore, conducting this study was necessaryto clarify the relationship between the changes in serum IL-10, IL-17A, and calcitriol levels and status of CRC patientsin terms of chemo-radiotherapy and surgical intervention. It is also equally essential to seek the possibility of using these parameters as diagnostic markers for CRC development and to find the potential interrelationship among these chemical mediators.

2. Materials and Methods

The present study included 90 patients with primary colorectal adenocarcinoma of various disease and treatment stages (44females and 46 males, age range 28-62 years), along with30 healthy subjects (14females and 16males, age range 27-63 years). Tumor lymph node metastasis-based classification was applied for the staging of the patients. Three groups of equal numbers of CRC patients (n=30) were involved in this study. First, the

newly diagnosed group of patients who were not subjected to treatments and surgical intervention, involving all disease stages. Second, the before surgery group of patients who were subjected to chemo-radiotherapy, involving stages III, and IV. Third, the after surgery group of patients who were not subjected to any type of cancer treatment before and after the surgery, involving stages I and II. Patients with kidney failure, heart disease, diabetes, family history, chronic digestive problems, intestinal polyposis, smoking habit, and alcoholism were excluded from the study. Patients were diagnosed by medical consultant doctors. Permissions were obtained from the medical city hospitals in Baghdad, Iraq, and approved by the University of Technology's institutional ethical committee, Baghdad, Iraq (Ref. No. AS 1811-12-9- 2018) in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975 revised in 2000. All participants were informed about the study design and objectives and signed an informed consent before the collection of any data or samples. Table 1 lists the disease-related characteristics of the study participants.

 Table 1. Disease characteristics of CRC patients involved in the

 present study, with number of cases based on stage, grade, and

 tumor location.

TNM stage	Case (n)	Tumor location	Case (n)
Stage I	23	Cecum	4
Stage II	23	Ascending colon	11
Stage III	22	Hepatic flexure	5
Stage IV	22	Transverse colon	8
		Splenic flexure	6
Grade	Case (n)	Descending colon	15
Grade1	20	Sigmoid colon	12
Grade 2	58	Recto-sigmoid junction	10
Grade3	12	Rectum	19

Blood specimens were collected from CRC patients and healthy subjects then separated by centrifugation. Serum samples were stored at -40° C until analysis. Sandwich Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits were used to measure the serum levels of calcitriol (MyBioSource-U.S.A), IL-10, and IL- 17A (Elabscience-U.S.A). The method is based on the concept of the binding of the antigen (e.g., proteins or hormones) to its specific antibody, which allows its detection in a fluid sample with very small quantities (Gan and Patel, 2013).

3. Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed using the software package IBM SPSS Statistics version 24 for Windows 10. Parameterswere normally distributed and the results were shown as mean \pm SD. Differences between the groups were tested by means of one-way ANOVA test and independent t-test. Correlations were analyzed by Pearson's correlation coefficient. The receiving operating characteristic (ROC) curve was used to find cutoff values and the area under the curve (AUC). Data were considered significant at P < 0.05.

4. Results

All CRC patients were divided into groups depending on sex (female and male) and age (≤ 50 and >50 years). Serum levels of IL10, IL17A, and calcitriol showed no significant differences for sex and age when these groups were compared to each other .The results demonstrated that serum levels of IL-10, IL17A, and calcitriol were significantly higher (P < 0.001) in the before surgery group as compared to the newly diagnosed group, as shown in Table 2.

Table 2: Serum levels of IL-10, IL-17A and Calcitriol in CRC patients in terms of sex and age for all patient (n=90) and in terms of exposure to therapy (Chemo-radiotherapy) for 60 patients without tumor removal.

Group	Case (n)	IL-10 (Mean±SD)	p value	IL-17A (Mean±SD)	p value	Calcitriol (Mean±SD)	p value
		pg/mL		pg/mL		pg/mL	
Sex							
Female	44	18.02±3.35	>0.05	77.18±11.55	>0.05	56.21±7.66	>0.05
Male	46	19.62±2.22		85.09±10.34		52.79±6.09	
Age							
≤50	47	17.90 ± 3.77	>0.05	82.07±3.12	>0.05	55.33±5.30	>0.05
>50	43	19.76±3.87		80.19±2.24		53.69±4.55	
Therapy*							
Without	30	11.02 ± 2.98	< 0.001	71.61±12.15	< 0.001	48.85±5.57	< 0.001
With	30	28.12±3.70		85.14±9.87		55.99±4.98	
* 0 1 (0	CDC (·	(20 1			(20 1: (1	

* Only 60 CRC patients: Newly diagnosed group (n=30, no chemo-radiotherapy), before surgery group (n=30, neoadjuvant chemo-radiotherapy).

The results also showed that IL-10 levels were significantly lower in the serum of the newly diagnosed group (11.02 ± 2.98 pg/mL, P<0.001), but significantly higher in the before surgery group (28.12 ± 3.70 pg/mL, P<0.001) as compared to healthy subjects (17.41 ± 3.20 pg/mL). However, no significant difference was observed between the after surgery group (17.33 ± 3.37 pg/mL) and healthy subjects, as shown in Figure 1-A)

The results also revealed that serum IL-17A levels in the newly diagnosed, before surgery, and after surgery groups were significantly higher $(71.61\pm12.15,$ 85.14 \pm 9.87, and 86.67 \pm 6.84 pg/mL, respectively) as compared to those in healthy subjects (27.77 \pm 5.35 pg/mL, P < 0.001), as shown in Figure 1-B.

Calcitriol levels in the sera of the newly diagnosed and before surgery groups (48.85 \pm 5.57 and 55.99 \pm 4.98 pg/mL, respectively) were significantly lower compared to those in the healthy subjects (60.04 \pm 3.10 pg/mL; *P*<0.001 and *P*<0.05, respectively). No significant difference was found between healthy subjects and after surgery group (60.04 \pm 4.87 pg/mL vs 58.66 \pm 5.91 pg/mL, *P*>0.05), as shown in Figure 1-C.



Figure 1: Levels of IL-10, IL-17A, and calcitriol in serum samples of healthy subject and CRC patient groups;(**A**)IL-10 levels in the newly diagnosed group was significantly lower while in the before surgery group was significantly higher as compared to healthy subject. No significant difference was found between the after surgery and healthy subject groups. * P < 0.001, N.S: Non-significant. (**B**)IL-17A levels in all CRC patient groups. The level was significantly higher as compared to healthy subjects. * P < 0.001. (**C**)Calcitriol levels in the newly diagnosed group and before surgery group was significant lower as compared to healthy subject. No significant difference was found between after surgery group and healthy subjects. * P < 0.001, N.S: Non-significant difference was found between after surgery group and healthy subjects. * P < 0.001, N.S: Non-significant difference was found between after surgery group and healthy subjects. * P < 0.001, N.S: Non-significant difference was found between after surgery group and healthy subjects. * P < 0.001, N.S: Non-significant difference was found between after surgery group and healthy subjects. * P < 0.001, N.S: Non-significant difference was found between after surgery group and healthy subjects. * P < 0.001, N.S: Non-significant.

Analysis of the ROC curve was used for testing the possibility of using IL-10, IL-17A, and calcitriol levels in the serum to diagnose CRC disease in the newly diagnosed patient group. The results showed that, for IL-10, AUC value was 0.93, the 95%-confidence interval (CI) was from 0.87 to 0.99 at P<0.001, and Cutoff value was 14.39 pg/mL, calculated at maximum sensitivity and specificity (87% and 90%, respectively). For IL-17A, the results

showed an AUC value of 0.82, CI of 0.67 to 0.97 at P < 0.001, and Cutoff value of 67.18 pg/mL, calculated at maximum sensitivity and specificity (68% and 85%, respectively). Regarding calcitriol, the result showed an AUC of 0.80, CI of 0.64 to 0.98 at P < 0.001, and Cutoff value of 53.14 pg/mL, calculated at maximum sensitivity and specificity (82% and 69.7% respectively), as shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2: ROC curve for IL-10 (A), IL17A (B), and calcitriol (C); low levels of IL-10 and acalcitriol, also high levels of IL-17A, can give an indication for the presence of CRC and hence they can be used as diagnostic markers. Only one significant positive correlation was found, which was between serum levels of IL-10 and calcitriol (r = 0.71; P < 0.001), as shown in Figure 3, whereas correlations between levels of IL-17A and both IL-10 and calcitriol were non-significant, for all CRC patient groups. In the healthy subjects, all correlations between these parameters were non-significant. As shown in (Table 3), levels of IL-10, calcitriol and IL-17A showed non-significant correlations with the values of body mass index (BMI) of healthy subjects (18.6-24.2 kg/m²) and patients (18.3-24.8 kg/m²). In addition, significant correlations between the serum levels of these chemical mediators and age were absent, as shown in Table 4.



Figure 3: Significantly positive correlation between IL-10 and calcitriol in the serumof CRC patients.

 Table 3. Correlations between parameters in serum for CRC patients and Healthy subjects

Correlation between	Correlation between CRC Patients	
	r (p value)	r (p value)
IL-10 and Calcitriol	0.70 (<0.001)	0.45 (>0.05)
IL-10 and IL-17A	0.41 (>0.05)	0.05 (>0.05)
IL-17A and Calcitriol	0.02 (>0.05)	-0.34 (>0.05)

 Table 4. Correlations between both BMI and age with the tested

 parameters in sera of patients and Healthy subjects

Correlation between	CRC Patients r (p value)	Healthy subjects r (p value)
IL-10 and Age	0.28 (>0.05)	0.36 (>0.05)
IL-17A and Age	-0.05 (>0.05)	-0.33 (>0.05)
Calcitriol and Age	0.05 (>0.05)	-0.02 (>0.05)
IL-10 and BMI	0.18 (>0.05)	-0.04 (>0.05)
IL-17A and BMI	-0.03 (>0.05)	-0.27 (>0.05)
Calcitriol and BMI	0.21 (>0.05)	0.06 (>0.05)

5. Discussion

Colorectal cancer patients' groups showed no significant differences in terms of age and BMI, which excludes the effects of these two factors on the studied parameters. (Table 2, 4). Also, the levels of IL-10, IL-17A, and calcitriol measured in the sera of CRC patients in the present study confirm the results obtianed by other research groups in various populations (Abtahi, 2017, Niv et al., 1999, Di Caro et al., 2016, Karabulut et al., 2016).

Levels of IL-10 in CRC patient groups involved in this study revealed differences from those in healthy subjects (Figure 1-A). IL-10 levels were significantly lower in the newly diagnosed group. IL-10, cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2), and Interleukin 1 β (IL-1 β) are known to be involved in the same pathway. IL-1 β was reported to induce COX-2

synthesis through the activation of the nuclear factor κB (NF-kB), while IL-10 was reported to block the induction of IL-1ß to activate NF-kB in epithelial cells of the intestine (Al-Ashy et al., 2006, Andersen et al., 2013). COX-2 is an enzyme that increases prostaglandin secretion, where the high expression of this enzyme is associated with CRC in humans by affecting angiogenesis (Rao et al., 2004). Hence, the low levels of IL-10 in the serum reportedly lead to an increased risk of CRC disease, by elevating COX-2 expression. IL-10 deficiency increases the number of colon tumors in CRC mouse models (Tomkovich et al., 2017). A previous study showed that IL-10 level was low in the plasma of newly diagnosed CRC patients, but with non-significant differences compared with the control (Yamaguchi et al., 2019), whereas another work demonstrated significantly lower differences (Abtahi, 2017).

The present study recorded significantly highIL-10 levels in the before surgery group, which was subjected to more than one type of treatment. IL-10 tends to perform a protective function in CRC animal models, which is mediated by regulatory T cells.IL-10 was needed to decrease the tumor burden in mice (Erdman et al., 2005).

However, no significant differences were recorded in the levels of this cytokine in the after surgery group, in which tumor is completely removed without chemoradiotherapy or any type of treatment. In a study that described CRC patients who did not experience relapse after surgery, IL-10 levels in the serum were significantly loweras compared to their state before surgery (Di Caro et al., 2016).

IL-17 is known to have a dual role in cancer because it can act as an antitumor cytokine by promoting cytotoxic T cell responses, leading to the regression of tumor (Murugaiyan and Saha, 2009).IL-17 is considered as one of the most common cytokines that promotes angiogenesis and tumor development, where it isassociated with poor prognosis in CRC (Liu et al., 2011). It is involved in a potential mechanism of stimulating the growth of tumor due to its proangiogenic effect, through enhancing the production of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) which is considered as an important proangiogenic factor in many human cancer types (Razi et al., 2019).

The results of the present study showed significantly higher levels of IL-17A in the serum for all CRC patient groups (Figure 1-B). These results are consistent with those reported by previous studies related toIL-17A levels in the plasma and serum of newly diagnosed CRC patients (Yamaguchi et al., 2019, Wang et al., 2019), as well as those desribing patients before or after surgical removal (Radosavljevic et al., 2010, Karabulut et al., 2016).In the present study, the high levels of IL-17A in the after surgery group may be due to an uncompleted treatment plan, possibly involving the prescription of adjuvant chemotherapy doses to destroy the remaining cancer cells, if found.Also,the samples were collected from the patients after 21 days of surgical removal, which is a short period to restore a normal health state. In addition, there is a possibility of bacterial infection for some patients as a result of surgery (Al-Awaysheh, 2018).

Calcitriol synthesis occurs in the intestinal cells besides its synthesis in the kidney. Both receptors of vitamin D and calcidiol 1-monooxygenase can be expressed in the normal and malignant cells of the human colon (Matusiak et al., 2005). Also, a correlation exists between calcitriol levels in the serum and those in the colonic tissues in humans (Wagner et al., 2012). Calcitriol can inhibit the proliferation of the colonic epithelial cells. Therefore, low levels of calcitriol facilitate colorectal carcinoma development and affect its biological behaviour. Levels of $25(OH)D_3$ and calcitriol were reported to have different relationships in the same set of colorectal carcinoma patients. A previous study found that $25(OH)D_3$ in the serum of patients of all disease stages were higher as compared to those of the healthy individuals, whereas the levels of calcitriol were significantly lower in patients of advance stages (Niv et al., 1999).

The findings of the present work showed that calcitriol levels in the serum were significantly lower in thenewly diagnosed and before surgery groups, while the after surgery group showed no significant differences, when compared with the healthy subjects (Figure 1-C). For the newly diagnosed group, these findings confirm those published in an earlier study of CRC patients, where calcitriol level was lower in the serum (Niv et al., 1999). Various reasons can account for lower calcitriol levels in the serum. The before surgery group in this study received chemo-radiotherapy, whereas patients who received chemotherapy were less likely to be involved in outdoor activities and therefore have less exposure to sunlight. Other factors might involve modified diet regimes as well as the reported post-chemotherapy reduction of serum vitamin D levels in CRC patients (Fakih et al., 2009). The after surgery group, which included only Stage I and stage II patients, showed no significant differences in calcitriol levelsin comparison with healthy subjects. This may be due to the complete removal of the tumor before exposure toto chemo-radiotherapy regimes. A previous study showed that calcitriol levels in the serum are correlated negatively with CRC disease stages (Niv et al., 1999). The results of the current study suggest that the observed low levels of IL-10 and calcitriol in the serum of the newly diagnosed group can give an indication for the presence of the disease, hence these chemical mediator shave a good potential to be utilized as diagnostic markers(Figure 2-A,B).However, the observed low levels of IL-10 and calcitriol, which were lower than the cutoff values (14.39 pg/mL and 53.14 pg/mL, respectively), may contribute in the pro-tumorconditions and associate with an increased risk of developing CRC disease. Previous studies could not agree on a definite range of normal calcitriol value in the serum of humans. Also, several recent studies indicated an increase in the upper limits of the normal range, which reached 78 pg/ml (Feldman et al., 2018, Reynolds et al., 2016, Weil et al., 2018). Hence, this cutoff value can be regarded as acceptable to associate with the increased risk of CRC disease.

The present study showed that the high levels of IL-17A in the serum could be used to diagnose CRC disease (Figure 2- C).The recorded cutoff value (67.18 pg/mL) can aid in predictingthe magnitude of the risk to develop CRC. Previous studies also suggested that IL-17A level in the serum is an important diagnostic and prognostic marker for CRC disease (Radosavljevic et al., 2010, Wang et al., 2019).

This study also demonstrated a positive correlation between IL-10 and calcitriol (Figure 3, Table 3). A previous study showed that calcitriol could increase IL-10 expression by B cells in humans. B lymphocytes can produce the bioactive form of vitamin D (calcitriol) which enhances their expression of IL-10 Heine et al., 2008). In a study that examined the effects of calcitriol treatment on Th2 cell development in mice using an *in vitro* culture, it was found that IL-10 production was increased (Boonstra et al., 2001).

In the present study, IL-10, IL-17A, and calcitriol levels in the serum of CRC patients who were subjected to treatment (Before surgery group) were significantly higheras compared to untreated patients(Newly diagnosed group) (Table 2, Figure1). In breast cancer patients under neoadjuvant therapy, serum levels of IL-10 were significantly increased as compared to prior use of IL-10 (Jabeen et al., 2018). IL-10 showed some resistance to chemotherapy via autocrine IL-10 production from the tumor cells in breast cancer (Yang et al., 2015). In a previous study, IL-17A was used as a biomarker of the response to bevacizumab in CRC metastases cases, where the higher levels in serum were reported to lead to shorter progression-free survival (Lereclus et al., 2017). Resistance to cisplatin drug in CRC patients was also reported (Sui et al., 2019). The high calcitriol levelsin the before surgery group may be due to vitamin D supplements that are given to CRC patient as a part of the treatment plan.

6. Conclusion

Low levels of IL- 10 in the serum can be used as a diagnostic biomarker for CRC, whereas high levels of IL-10 result from the effects of chemo-radiotherapy. The association of calcitriol with IL-10 indicates that calcitriol contributes in changing the levels of IL-10 in CRC patients. High levels of IL-17A in the serum, regardless of CRC group type, indicates a strong association with the disease. Early surgical treatment in the early stages of CRC restores the normal levels of IL-10, and calcitriol. The cutoff values found by this study can be used to predict health conditions in which the individuals are at risk or already having CRC.

Acknowledgments

We thank CRC patients and healthy volunteers for their support and participation in this research study. Also, we would like to thank the staff of the Medical City/Ministry of Health and Environment, Iraq, for their assistance.

References

Abtahi S, Davani F, Mojtahedi Z, Hosseini SV, Bananzadeh A and Ghaderi A. 2017. Dual association of serum interleukin-10 levels with colorectal cancer. *J Cancer Res Ther*, **13**: 252-256.

Ahuja N, and Nettles BS. 2014. Johns Hopkins patients' guide to colon and rectal cancer, first ed. Jones and Bartlett,Burlington.

Al-Ashy R, Chakroun I, El-Sabban ME and Homaidan FR. 2006. The role of NF- κ B in mediating the anti-inflammatory effects of IL-10 in intestinal epithelial cells. *Cytokine*, **36**: 1-8.

Al-Awaysheh MM. 2018. Surgical site infections in a tertiary referral hospital in Amman: Causative bacteria and antibiotic susceptibility. *Jordan J Biol Sci*, **11**: 231 – 233.

Alqudah M, AllouhM, Hamouri S, Zaitoun A, Aladily TN, Kheirallah K, Qandeel H, Al-Keilani M, Saqan RS and Matalka I. 2018. Is Rh positivity a possible risk factor for lung cancer? *Jordan J Biol Sci*, **11**: 281 – 284.

Andersen V, Holst R, Kopp TI, Tjønneland A and Vogel U. 2013. Interactions between diet, lifestyle and IL10, IL1B, and PTGS2/COX-2 gene polymorphisms in relation to risk of colorectal cancer in a prospective Danish case-cohort study. *PloS one*, **8**: e78366.

Boonstra A, Barrat FJ, Crain C, Heath VL, Savelkoul HF, and O'Garra A. 2001. 1 α , 25-Dihydroxyvitamin D₃ has a direct effect on naive CD4+ T cells to enhance the development of Th2 cells. *J Immunol*, **167**: 4974-4980.

Di Caro G, Carvello M, Pesce S, Erreni M, Marchesi F, Todoric J, Sacchi M, Montorsi M, Allavena P and Spinelli A. 2016. Circulating inflammatory mediators as potential prognostic markers of human colorectal cancer. *PLoS One*, **11**: e0148186.

Erdman SE, Sohn JJ, Rao VP, Nambiar PR, Ge Z, Fox JG and Schauer DB. 2005. CD4+ CD25+ regulatory lymphocytes induce regression of intestinal tumors in ApcMin/+ mice. *Cancer Res*, **65**: 3998-4004.

Fakih M.G, Trump DL, Johnson CS, Tian L, Muindi, J and Sunga AY. 2009. Chemotherapy is linked to severe vitamin D deficiency in patients with colorectal cancer. *IntJColorectalDis*, **24**:219-224.

Feldman D, Krishnan AV, Swami S, Giovannucci E and Feldman BJ. 2014. The role of vitamin D in reducing cancer risk and progression. *Nat Rev Cancer*, **14**: 342-357.

Gan, S. D. and Patel, K. R. 2013. Enzyme immunoassay and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. *J Invest Dermatol*, **133**: e12.

Heine G, Niesner U, Chang HD, Steinmeyer A, Zügel U, Zuberbier T, Radbruch A and Worm M. 2008. 1, 25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 promotes IL-10 production in human B cells. *Eur J Immunol*, **38**: 2210-2218.

Heitman SJ, Ronksley PE, Hilsden RJ, Manns BJ, Rostom A and Hemmelgarn BR. 2009. Prevalence of adenomas and colorectal cancer in average risk individuals: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol*, **7**: 1272-1278.

Jabeen S, Zucknick M, Nome M, Dannenfelser R, Fleischer T, Kumar S, Lüders T, von der Lippe Gythfeldt H, Troyanskaya O, Kyte JA and Børresen-Dale AL. 2018. Serum cytokine levels in breast cancer patients during neoadjuvant treatment with bevacizumab. *Oncoimmunology*, **7**: e1457598.

Karabulut S, Usul Afsar C, Karabulut M, Kilic L, Alis H, Kones O, Bilgin E and Faruk Aykan N. 2016. Clinical significance of serum interleukin-17 levels in colorectal cancer patients. *J BUON*, **21**: 1137-1145.

Lee JE, Li H, Chan AT, Hollis BW, Lee IM, Stampfer MJ, Wu K, Giovannucci E and Ma J. 2011. Circulating levels of vitamin D and colon and rectal cancer: The Physicians' Health Study and a meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Cancer Prev Res*, **4**: 735-743.

Lereclus E, Tout M, Girault A, Baroukh N, Caulet M, Borg C, Bouché O, Ternant D, Paintaud G, Lecomte T and Raoul W. 2017. A possible association of baseline serum IL-17A concentrations with progression-free survival of metastatic colorectal cancer patients treated with a bevacizumab-based regimen. *BMC cancer*, **17**: 220.

Li B, Wang F, Ma C, Hao T, Geng L and Jiang H. 2019. Predictive value of IL-18 and IL-10 in the prognosis of patients with colorectal cancer. *Oncol Lett*, **18**: 713-719.

Liu J, Duan Y, Cheng X, Chen X, Xie W, Long H, Lin Z and Zhu B. 2011. IL-17 is associated with poor prognosis and promotes

angiogenesis via stimulating VEGF production of cancer cells in colorectal carcinoma. *Biochem Biophys Res Comm*, **407**: 348-354.

Matusiak D, Murillo G, Carroll RE, Mehta RG and Benya RV. 2005. Expression of vitamin D receptor and 25-hydroxyvitamin D $3-1\alpha$ -hydroxylase in normal and malignant human colon. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, **14**: 2370-2376.

Mittal SK and Roche PA. 2015. Suppression of antigen presentation by IL-10. *Curr Opin Immunol*, **34**:22-27.

Murugaiyan G and Saha B. 2009. Protumor vs antitumor functions of IL-17. *J Immunol*, **183**: 4169-4175.

Niv Y, Sperber AD, Figer A, Igael D, Shany S, Fraser G and Schwartz B. 1999. In colorectal carcinoma patients, serum vitamin D levels vary according to stage of the carcinoma. *Cancer*, **86**: 391-397.

Oft, M. 2014. IL-10: master switch from tumor-promoting inflammation to antitumor immunity. *Cancer Immunol Res*, **2**: 194-199.

Radosavljevic G, Ljujic B, Jovanovic I, Srzentic Z, Pavlovic S, Zdravkovic N, Milovanovic M, Bankovic D, Knezevic M, Acimovic LJ and Arsenijevic N. 2010. Interleukin-17 may be a valuable serum tumor marker in patients with colorectal carcinoma. *Neoplasma*, **57**:135.

Rao M, Yang W, Seifalian AM and Winslet MC. 2004. Role of cyclooxygenase-2 in the angiogenesis of colorectal cancer. *IntJ Colorectal Dis*, **19**: 1-11.

Razi S, Noveiry BB, Keshavarz-Fathi M, and Rezaei N. 2019. IL-17 and colorectal cancer: From carcinogenesis to treatment. *Cytokine*, **116**: 7-12.

Reynolds D, Yadav H and Utz J. 2016. 57-year-old man with hip pain and lytic bone lesions. *Mayo Clin Proc*, **91**: 35-40.

Sui G, Qiu Y, Yu H, Kong Q and Zhen B. 2019. Interleukin-17 promotes the development of cisplatin resistance in colorectal cancer. *Oncol Lett*, **17**: 944-950.

Taylor A, Verhagen J, Blaser K, Akdis M and Akdis CA. 2006. Mechanisms of immune suppression by interleukin-10 and transforming growth factor- β : the role of T regulatory cells. *Immunol*, **117**: 433-442.

Tomkovich S, Yang Y, Winglee K, Gauthier J, Mühlbauer M, Sun X, Mohamadzadeh M, Liu X, Martin P, Wang GP and Oswald E. 2017. Loco regional effects of microbiota in a preclinical model of colon carcinogenesis. *Cancer Res*, **77**: 2620-2632.

Trummer C, Schwetz V, Pandis M, Grübler MR, Verheyen N, Gaksch M, Zittermann A, März W, Aberer F, Lang A and Friedl C. 2017. Effects of vitamin D supplementation on IGF-1 and calcitriol: a randomized-controlled trial. *Nutrients*, **9**: 623.

Van Harten-Gerritsen AS, Balvers MG, Witkamp RF, Kampman E, and van Duijnhoven FJ. 2015. Vitamin D, inflammation, and colorectal cancer progression: a review of mechanistic studies and future directions for epidemiological studies. *Cancer Epidemiol PrevBiomark*, **24**: 1820-1828.

Wagner D, Dias AG, Schnabl K, Van der Kwast T, and Vieth R. 2012. Determination of 1, 25-dihydroxyvitamin D concentrations in human colon tissues and matched serum samples. *AnticancerRes*, **32**: 259-263.

Wang D, Yuan W, Wang Y, Wu Q, Yang L, Li F, Chen X, Zhang Z, Yu W, Maimela NR and Cao L. 2019. Serum CCL20 combined with IL-17A as early diagnostic and prognostic biomarkers for human colorectal cancer. *J Transl Med*, **17**: 253.

Weil EL, Richards LW and Salonen BR. 2018. 64-year-old woman with general malaise and hypercalcemia. *Mayo ClinProc*, **93**: 1144-1148.

Wu X, Tian J, and Wang S. 2018. Insight into non-pathogenic Th17 cells in autoimmune diseases. *Front Immunol*, **9**:1112.

Yamaguchi M, Okamura S, Yamaji T, Iwasaki M, Tsugane S, Shetty V and Koizumi T. 2019. Plasma cytokine levels and the presence of colorectal cancer. *PloS one*, **14**: e0213602.

Yang C, He L, He P, Liu Y, Wang W, He Y, Du Y and Gao F. 2015. Increased drug resistance in breast cancer by tumorassociated macrophages through IL-10/STAT3/bcl-2 signaling pathway. *Med Oncol*, **32**: 352.

Youssry SA, Hussein AE, El-Sheredy AG, Ramadan R and El-Sheredy HG. 2019. Clinical relevance of LC3B, CXCL10, and Bcl-2 in breast cancer. *Jordan J Biol Sci*, **12**: 471 – 476.

Medicinal Poisonous Plants of the Tomsk Region (Siberia)

A.N. Nekratova^{1,*}, N.S. Zinner^{1,2}

¹Siberian Botanical Garden, National Research Tomsk State University, Lenina-street, 36, Tomsk, Russia; ²Faculty of Pharmacy, Siberian State Medical University, Moscow tract, 2, Tomsk, Russia

Received: November 11, 2020; Revised: March 4, 2021; Accepted: March 28, 2021

Abstract

In this study, we presented new data on medicinal poisonous plants of the Tomsk region, used to treat various diseases in scientific and traditional medicine. As a result of the analysis of the distribution of wild poisonous medicinal plants on the territory of the Tomsk region, a list of species used for medical treatment has been formed. Based on the analysis of geobotanical descriptions, the occurrence and abundance of most of the flora species of the Tomsk region were studied, which is the basis for a quantitative assessment of their abundance and some other indicators. The medicinal poisonous species were collected based on previous literature sources and the authors' findings in Siberia. The systematic position of each species stated – the biologically active substances (BAS) that contain the use in medicine, the distribution inside Tomsk region, and the used tissue-part. The list includes 30 species of medicinal poisonous plants belonging to 24 genera and 11 families. The richest in the composition of medicinal poisonous plants used for treating various diseases are the following families: Ranunculaceae, Boraginaceae, Solanaceae, and Apiaceae. Out of 30 species of poisonous medicinal plants, 25 species are used in folk medicine, and 5 species belong to official medicinal plants. Medicinal plants can be an alternative to chemicals and become a source of raw materials for the pharmaceutical industry.

KeyWords: Siberian Botanical Garden; Poisonous plants; Pharmacopoeia species, Folk medicine.

1. Introduction

1.1. 1.1 History of the study of medicinal plants in Siberia

Nowadays, the potential of herbal medicine for the prevention and treatment of various diseases is increasingly expanding. Medicinal plants are efficient for various treatments, including cardiovascular, nervous, and cancer diseases. Clinical trials are introduced to medicinal plants into pharmacological practice. In this regard, it is of scientific interest to study their distribution on the territory of the Tomsk region, ecological and coenotic attribution, frequency of occurrence, distribution in the administrative regions of the Tomsk region, the content of biologically active substances (BAS), and practical value. The study of medicinal plants in Siberia was first initiated by Krylov at the beginning of the last century (since 1885) in the Siberian Botanical garden (Sviridova and Kuznetsova, 2012). The scientist gardener conducts botanical excursions and collects herbarium in the vicinity of Tomsk. He participated in collection missions for the Herbarium of Tomsk State University and published the summary "Flora of Altai and Tomsk province" (1903-1914).

The summary contains keys for defining species, describing morphological features and their ecological and coenotic attribution. The final publication of Flora of Western Siberia was completed in 1964. In the future, the study of the flora of the Tomsk region continued by researchers Prokopiev, Vyltsan, Lvov, etc. In 1985, botanists Polozhiy, Revushkin, and Baranova prepared the textbook "Determinant of plants of the South of the Tomsk region". In 1994, Vyltsan completed the creation of the first "Determinant of plants of the Tomsk region" (Vyltsan, 1994). The study provides information about 920 species of vascular plants from 406 genera and 99 families. Many findings of the Tomsk region were by Ebel. In 2014, a team of authors published the "Determinant of plants of the Tomsk region" (Ebel et al., 2014). For each species, this publication provides a number of characteristics: flowering time, ecological and coenotic attribution, frequency of occurrence, distribution in the administrative regions of the Tomsk region, and practical value.

1.2. 1.2 History and priority areas of the Siberian Botanical Garden

In the 1970s, the Siberian Botanical Garden of Tomsk State University collected new 500 medicinal plants under Revina. Sviridova, Zinner and co-authors found that introduced plants in the South of the Tomsk region in a number of economically valuable features are not inferior to wild species (Sviridova and Kuznetsova, 2012; Zinner, 2010; Zinner, 2011). Currently, botanists of the Siberian Botanical garden of Tomsk State University are engaged in issues of reproductive biology and search for prospective species of medicinal plants (Belyaeva et al., 2014; Kharina and Pulkina, 2016; Nekratova, 2016). The priority direction is the study of medicinal plants used for the treatment of socially significant diseases, including nootropic, antitumor, hemorheological, anti-ulcer effects in natural habitats and their introduction (Kharina and Pulkina, 2016;

^{*} Corresponding author e-mail: aqulegia@gmail.com.

Nekratova, 2016; Revina et al., 1983; Sviridova and Zibareva, 1989;Krylova et al.,2014; Zinner, 2011).

1.3. 1.3 Medicinal plants of the Tomsk region

In the work "Decorative herbaceous plants of Siberia in culture" Amelchenko, Revyakina (2007) provide information about 42 medicinal plants of the Tomsk region, among which predominate representatives of the Ranunculaceae families: Adonis apennina L., Aconitum barbatum Patrin ex Pers., Thalictrum foetidum L., Anemone altaica Fisch. exC.A.Mey., Anemone sylvestris L., Anemone patens L., Alfredia cernua (L.) Cass., Ligularia glauca (L.) O.Hoffm., Artemisia gmelinii Web. ex Stechm., Artemisia dracunculus L., Fragaria moschata Duch., Filipendula vulgaris Moench., Sibbaldianthe bifurca (L.) Kurtto & T.Erikss., Potentilla erecta (L.) Raeusch.

1.4. 1.4 Rare plants of the Siberian Botanical Garden

According to the data given in the monograph "Rare plants of the natural flora of Siberia ..." (2015) (Prokopiev et al., 2015), the Siberian Botanical garden has 289 species of rare plants of the Siberian flora belonging to 166 genera and 65 families. Of these, 74 species belong to medicinal plants growing in the Tomsk region, including *Athyrium filix-femina* (L.) Roth, *Matteuccia struthiopteris* (L.)Tod., *Aconitum volubile* Pallas ex Koelle, *Adonis apennina* L., *Adonis vernalis* L., *Anemone altaica* Fischer ex C.A. Meyer, *Anemone flavescens* Zucc.,*Thalictrum foetidum* L., Trollius asiaticus L., Paeonia anomala L., Dianthus deltoides L., Dianthus superbus L., etc.

1.5. Flora of the Tomsk region

The Tomsk region is still pointedly needed for more flora studies other Siberia regions because of the remote areas. According to the data provided in "Determinant of plants of the Tomsk region" (Ebel et al., 2014) vascular plants of the Tomsk region represented 1170 species belonging to 477 genera and 111 families. The spectrum of leading families is as follows: *Compositae*(142 species), *Poaceae* (113), *Cyperaceae* (72), *Brassicaceae* (61), *Rosaceae* (59), *Leguminosae*(54), *Ranunculaceae* (47), *Caryophyllaceae* (46), *Scrophulariaceae* (36), *Polygonaceae* (35), *Lamiaceae* (32), *Apiaceae* (29).

1.6. Red Book of the Tomsk region

The Red Data Book of the Tomsk Region (2013)includes 36 species of rare medicinal plants of Siberia (higher spore-bearing plants, gymnosperms and angiosperms: Botrvchium multifidum (S.G.Gmelin) Rupr., **Dryopteris** filix-mas (L.) Schott, Juniperus communis L., Aconitum anthora L. ,Actaea spicata L., Silene viscosa (L.) Pers., Persicaria vivipara (L.) Ronse. Decr., Hypericum ascyron L., Primula veris subsp. macrocalyx (Bunge) Ludi, Tilia cordata Miller, etc.

Here is a map of the research area (Tomsk region) (Figure 1).



Figure 1 Map of the Tomsk Region

2. Materials and Methods

The medicinal poisonous species were collected based on previous literature sources (Ebel et al., 2014; Amelchenko, 2010; Amelchenko and Revyakina, 2007) and the authors' findings in Siberia (Nekratova and Shilova, 2015; Nekratova, 2015; Nekratova and Shilova, 2016; Nekratova and Letchamo, 2018; Nekratova and Kosmodemyanskiy, 2019). Based on the analysis of geobotanical descriptions, the occurrence and abundance of most of the flora species of the Tomsk region were studied, which is the basis for a quantitative assessment of their abundance and some other indicators. The listed indicators are mainly among studies of the plant ecology and their resources, which constitute the scientific basis for the rational use of flora and vegetation of any region. In addition, the occurrence of species and their abundance made it possible to scientifically substantiate the identification of rare species in the flora of the Tomsk region, which is an initial and very important stage for organizing their practical protection.

3. Results and Discussion

As a result of the analysis of the distribution of wild medicinal poisonous plants on the territory of the Tomsk region, a list of species used for treatment in both folk and scientific medicine was formed (Table 1). To compile the list of species, the following literary sources were used (Amelchenko, 2010; Ebel, 2014; Minaeva, 1991; Nekratova, 2015; Prokopiev et al., 2015; Shilova et al., 2010; State Pharmacopoeia ..., 2018; Wild useful plants of Russia, 2001 etc.). To compile the list of species, 42 literary sources were used. All sources are listed in the bibliography.

The list includes 30 species of medicinal poisonous plants belonging to 24 genera and 11 families. The richest in the composition of medicinal plants used for the treatment of various diseases are the following families: *Ranunculaceae* (13 species), *Boraginaceae* (3 species), *Apiaceae* (2 species), Asparagaceae (2 species), Nymphaeaceae (2 species). Out of 30 species of medicinal poisonous plants, 25 species are used in folk medicine, 5 species belong to official medicinal plants (Table 1).

About some species used the aerial tissues in the medicine, others used the underground tissues, and some used particular organs. Of the entire list of medicinal plants, 17 species could classify as frequently occurring, common 1 species, rare 9 species, and the remaining species are infrequent and rare (Ebel et al., 2014).

The BAS content of Tomsk medicinal poisonous plants showed 16 species contain flavonoids: *Adonis apennina* L., *Anemone patens* L., *Chelidoniu mmajus* L., *Cicuta virosa* L., *Clematis alpina* subsp. *sibirica* (L.) Kuntze, *Conium maculatum* L., *Convallaria majalis* L., etc.

Tannins that are polyphenol complex with flavonoids found in 12 species of medicinal poisonous plants of the Tomsk region: *Actaea cimicifuga* L., *Cynoglossum* officinale L., Nuphar lutea (L.) Smith., Nymphaea candida C., Symphytum officinale L., Thalictrum flavum L., Thalictrum foetidum L., etc.

Most species of medicinal poisonous plants are alkaloid-containing (26 species): Aconitum anthora L, and other species of this genus, Actaea cimicifuga L., Adonis apennina L., Chelidonium majus L., Cicuta virosa L., Conium maculatum L., Cynoglossum officinale L.,Datura stramonium L., etc.

Six medicinal poisonous species having essential oils are *Chelidonium majus* L., *Cicuta virosa* L., *Conium maculatum* L., *Convallaria majalis* L., *Nymphaea candida* C. Presl, *Paeonia anomala* L.

Seven species vitamin-bearing are Adonis apennina L., Chelidonium majus L., Clematis alpina subsp. sibirica (L.) Kuntze, Conium maculatum L., Echium vulgare L., Polygonatum odoratum (Mill.) Druce, Xanthium strumarium L.

Fourteen medicinal poisonous species, including saponins are Actaea cimicifuga L., Clematis alpina subsp. sibirica (L.) Kuntze, Echium vulgare L., Paris quadrifolia L., Paeonia anomala L., Polygonatum odoratum (Mill.) Druce, Scrophularia nodosa L., etc.

Three medicinal poisonous species containing cardiac glycosides are: *Adonis apennina* L., *Clematis alpina* subsp. *sibirica* (L.) Kuntze, *Convallaria majalis*L.

However, there are very few species synthesizing ecdysteroids in the flora of poisonous medicinal plants of the Tomsk region: *Paris quadrifolia* L.

Table 1 - List of poisonous plants of the Tomsk region used in the treatment of diseases

No.	Species/Family	BAS	Application in	medicine	Status in Tomskregion	Tissues used
1.	Aconitum anthora L. Ranunculaceae	Alkaloids, phytosterols, fatty acids (Wild useful, 2001)	In folk medicine(Am 2007; Prokopiev <i>et a.</i> Antitumor agent. Ner (anticonvulsant, seda 1991). Rheumatism. Tinctur alcohol, 1 tablespoon (Balakirev <i>et al.</i> , 200	elchenko, Revyakina, <i>l.</i> ,2015). vvous diseases tive) (Minaeva, e 100 g / 1 liter of each for external use b6).	Very rarely (Ebel <i>et al.</i> , 2014)	Underground part
2.	Aconitum barbatum Patrin. ex Pers. Ranunculaceae	Alkaloids delasin, lycoctonine, tangorin, batocanin (Minaeva, 1991)	In folk medicine. Antitumor agent. Ner (anticonvulsant, seda 1991). Rheumatism. Tinctur alcohol, 1 tablespoon (Balakirev <i>et al.</i> , 200	tive) (Minaeva, e 100 g / 1 liter of each for external use 16).	Rarely (Ebel <i>et al.</i> , 2014).	Underground part
3.	Aconitumseptentrionale Koelle Ranunculaceae	Alkaloids, phytosterols, fatty acids (Wilduseful , 2001; Lapin <i>et al.</i> , 2004).	In folk medicine. Antitumor agent. Ner (anticonvulsant, seda 1991). Rheumatism. Tinctur alcohol, 1 tablespoon (Balakirev <i>et al.</i> , 200	tive) (Minaeva, tive) (M inaeva, re 100 g / 1 liter of each for external use 16).	Occasionally (Ebel <i>et al.</i> , 2014).	Underground part
4.	<i>Aconitum volubile</i> Pallas ex Koelle Ranunculaceae	Alkaloids, phytosterols, fatty acids(Minaeva, 1991)	In folk medicine. Antitumor agent. Ner (anticonvulsant, seda 1991). Rheumatism. Tinctu alcohol, 1 tablespoon (Balakirev <i>et al.</i> , 200	rvous diseases tive) (Minaeva, re 100 g / 1 liter of each for external use 16).	Occasionally (Ebel <i>et al.</i> , 2014).	Underground part

Cont. Table 1

			In fally modicing		
5.	Actaea cimicifuga L. Ranunculaceae	Triterpenoids, tannins, saponins, alkaloids, resins, phytosterols, salicylic and isoferulic acids (Minaeva, 1991; Wilduseful, 2001).	In folk medicine. Cardiovascular diseases (hypotensive, anti-sclerotic) (Minaeva, 1991). Antitumor agent (leukemia) (Wilduseful, 2001). Tincture 2/10 on 70% alcohol (Pashinsky, 1989)	Often (Ebel <i>et al.,</i> 2014).	Rhizomes withroots
6.	AdonisapenninaL. Ranunculaceae	Cardiac glycosides, alkaloids, flavonoids, and vitamin C (Minaeva, 1991).	In folk medicine (Amelchenko andRevyakina, 2007; Prokopiev <i>et al.</i> ,2015). Cardiovascular diseases. Nervous diseases (sedative) (Minaeva, 1991). Infusion of 1-2 teaspoons of dry raw materials for 1 glass of boiling water, take 1 tablespoon 3 times a day) (Balakirev <i>et al.</i> , 2006).	Rarely (Ebel <i>etal.</i> , 2014).	Aerialpart
7	Anemone patens L. Ranunculaceae	Anemonin, triterpenecompounds, flavonoids, phytoncides, phytosterols (Wild useful , 2001; Ulanova 1985).	In folk medicine(Amelchenko and Revyakina, 2007; Prokopiev <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> ,2015). Nervous diseases (asthenia, epilepsy). Cardiovascular diseases (hypertension). Antitumor agent (Minaeva, 1991; Wild useful, 2001). Infusion of 2 teaspoons of herbs in 1 glass of boiled water, drink in equal shares throughout the day (Balakirev <i>et al.</i> , 2006).	Often (Ebel <i>et al.,</i> 2014).	Aerialpart
8.	<i>Caltha palustris</i> L. Ranunculaceae	Protoanemonin, choline, berberine, carotene, triterpene glycosides (Minaeva, 1991).	Infolkmedicine. Antitumor effect. Nervous diseases (Minaeva, 1991). Infusion of 1/2 spoon of dry raw materials in 250 ml of hot water, take 50 ml 3 times a day before meals (Balakirev <i>et al.</i> , 2006).	Often (Ebel <i>et al.,</i> 2014).	
9.	Chelidonium majus L. Papaveraceae	Alkaloids, saponins, bitter and resinous substances, flavonoids, choline, histamine, methylamine, organic acids, essential oil, carotene, vitamin C (Minaeva, 1991).	Pharmacopoeia species (State Pharmacopoeia, 2018;Shikov <i>et al.</i> , 2021). Antitumor agent (external and internal tumors). Cardiovascular diseases (hypertension, angina). Nervous diseases (epilepsy) (Minaeva, 1991) Tincture (1/10) for 40% alcohol (Pashinsky, 1989). Infusion of 1 tablespoon of dry raw materials for 1 glass of boiling water, take 2 tablespoons 3 times a day before meals (Balakirev <i>et al.</i> , 2006).	Often (Ebel <i>et al.</i> , 2014).	Aerialpart
10.	<i>Cicuta virosa</i> L. Apiaceae	Cycutotoxin, alkaloids, polyacetylenecompounds, coumarins, essentialoil, flavonoids (Minaeva, 1991; Wilduseful, 2001).	In folk medicine. Nervous diseases (epilepsy, hysteria, neurasthenia) (Minaeva, 1991; Wild useful, 2001). One of the most poisonous plants in the Russian flora. Independent use is not recommended, only use in doses selected by the doctor (Balakirev <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2006).	Often (Ebel <i>etal.</i> , 2014).	Rhizomes withroots
11.	<i>Clematis alpina</i> subsp. <i>sibirica</i> (L.) Kuntze Ranunculaceae	Triterpenesaponins, protoanemonin, polysaccharides, flavonoids, caffeic and quinicacids, sugars, alkaloids, cardiac glycosides, vitamin C, microelements (Sdobnikova, Kovalevich, 1975; Kosichenko and Kozakova, 1980; Bokova <i>et al.</i> , 1982).	In folk medicine. (Prokopiev <i>et al.</i> ,2015). Antitumor agent. Cardiovascular diseases: nootropic effect (Shilova et <i>al.</i> , 2010); heart weakness (Minaeva, 1991). Infusion of 1 teaspoon of dry raw materials for 2 cups of boiling water, drink 1 tablespoon 3-4 times a day (Balakirev <i>et al.</i> , 2006).	Often (Ebel <i>et al.</i> , 2014).	Aerialpart

12.	Conium maculatum L. Apiaceae	Alkaloids, tannins, essential and fatty oils, flavonoids, vitamin C, carotene (Minaeva, 1991; Bulgakov <i>et al.</i> , 2016).	In folk medicine. Antitumor agent Nervous diseases (epilepsy, anticonvulsant) (Minaeva, 1991). Tincture of 50 grams of fresh flowers / 0.5 liters of alcohol (Balakirev <i>et al.</i> , 2006).	Often (Ebel <i>et al.</i> , 2014).	Aerialpart
13.	Convallaria majalis L. Asparagaceae	Cardiac glycosides, mayalin alkaloid, essential oil, choline, organic acids, sugars, starch, flavonoids (Komissarenko <i>et al.</i> , 1988).	Pharmacopoeia species (State Pharmacopoeia, 2018; Shikov <i>et al.</i> , 2021) Cardiovascular diseases (acute and chronic circulatory failure, myocardiodystrophy). Nervous diseases (in folk medicine): epilepsy, paralysis (Minaeva, 1991). Infusion of 2-6 grams of flowers	Rarely (Ebel <i>et al.</i> , 2014).	Aerialpart
14.	Cynoglossum officinale L. Boraginaceae	Alkaloidcynoglossin, glycosidin, coumarins, allantoin, choline, tannins, inulin, resins, carotene, litospermicacid, cinnamicacid, andfumaricacid (Minaeva, 1991; Yunusova <i>et al.</i> , 2012).	Infusion of 2 ogtenno from the per 1 glass of water, drink 1 tablespoon 3 times a day (Balakirev <i>et al.</i> , 2006). Infolkmedicine. Antitumor agent (tumors of the female genital area). Cardiovascular diseases (hypertension). Nervous diseases (sedative effect) (Minaeva, 1991). Infusion of 1 spoonful of raw materials for 1 glass of boiling water, take 1/2 teaspoon 3 times a day (Balakirev <i>et al.</i> , 2006). Pharmacopoeia species (State	Very rarely (Ebel <i>et al.</i> , 2014).	Roots
15.	Datura stramonium L. Solanaceae	Alkaloidatropine, scopolamine, carbohydrates, phenolicandfattyacids (Minaeva, 1991; Wild useful, 2001).	Pharmacopoeia, 2018; Shikov <i>et al.</i> , 2021). Nervous diseases (manic- depressive psychosis, epilepsy, hysteria). Antitumoragent (stomachcancer) (Minaeva, 1991; Wild useful, 2001). 1 drop of dope juice with 2	Very rarely (Ebel <i>et</i> al., 2014).	Fruits
16.	Echium vulgare L. Boraginaceae	Saponins, alkaloids, fattyoil, vitaminC, choline, phenolicandfattyacids (Minaeva, 1991; Wilduseful, 2001; Kruglov andSvechnikova, 2007).	tablespoons of water 3 times a day only under medical supervision (Balakirev <i>et al.</i> , 2006). In folk medicine. Nervous diseases (epilepsy, convulsions, fright) (Minaeva, 1991; Wild useful, 2001). Infusion of 10 grams of raw materials per 300 ml of boiling water, take 15 ml 3 times a day (Balakirev <i>et al.</i> , 2006).	Rarely (Ebel <i>et al.</i> , 2014).	Flowers and leaves
17.	Hyoscyamus niger L. Solanaceae	Atropine group alkaloids, glycosides, fatty oil, rutin flavonoid, phenolic and fatty acids, etc. (Minaeva, 1991; Wild useful, 2001).	Pharmacopoeia species (State Pharmacopoeia, 2018; Shikov <i>et al.</i> , 2021). Nervous diseases (manic- depressive psychosis, neurosis, hysteria) (Wild useful, 2001). Extract 0.25 grams of dry raw materials per 100 ml of boiling water. Take orally 2 drops of the extract per 1 tablespoon of water 3 times a day (Balakirev <i>et al.</i> , 2006).	Occasionally(Ebel <i>et al.</i> , 2014).	Leaves and seeds

In folk medicine. Cardiovascular diseases (hypertension). Alkaloids, phytosterols, Antitumor agent (Fedotcheva et carbohydrates, tannins, Nuphar lutea (L.) Smith. Often (Ebel et al., al., 2016). Nervous diseases phenolic and fatty acids 18. Nymphaeaceae 2014). Rhizomes (insomnia) (Minaeva, 1991; (Wilduseful ..., 2001; Wild useful..., 2001). Maksyutina et al., 1985; Infusion of 20 grams of dry raw Fedotcheva et al., 2016). materials per 1 liter of boiling water, take 1 tablespoon 3 times a day (Balakirev et al., 2006). In folk medicine. Nervous diseases (soothing, hypnotic effect). The alkaloid nymphein, Cardiovasculardiseases Nymphaea candida C. tannins, starch, glucose, Often (Ebel et al., (Minaeva, 1991). 19. Presl essential oil, and the 2014). Flowers A decoction of 1 teaspoon of glucosidenymphalin (Minaeva, Nymphaeaceae raw materials for 1 cup of 1991). boiling water, take 3 times a day, 1 teaspoon (Balakirev et al., 2006). In folk medicine. Cardiovascular diseases (heart failure, tachycardia, arrhythmia). Glycosides, alkaloids, Paris quadrifolia L. Often (Ebel et al., The nervous disorder saponins, ecdysterone, 20. Melanthiaceae 2014). Aerialpart (convulsions, somnolence) polypodine(Novoselskaya et (Minaeva, 1991). al., 1981). It is recommended to use only in dosages selected by a doctor and under the supervision of a doctor (Minaeva, 1991). In folk medicine(Amelchenko andRevyakina, 2007; Prokopievet al., 2015). Nervous diseases (sedative, anti-stress Essential oil, peonoside, effects in insomnia, peonoflorin, iridoids, salicylic neurasthenia, epilepsy) and gallic acids, flavonoids, Often (Ebel et al., (Romanovaet al., Underground Paeonia anomala L. saponins, sterols, tannins, 21. 2014). 2014).Cardiovascular diseases Paeoniaceae sugars, starch, salicin part (vegetative-vasculardisorders, glycoside, resins, etc. hypertension) (Minaeva, (Minaeva, 1991; Zaripova et 1991).Antitumoragent. al., 2005). Alcoholic 10% root tincture, 30-40 drops are used 3 times a day (Balakirev et al., 2006; Pashinsky, 1989). In folk medicine (Amelchenko, Alkaloids, steroids, Revyakina, 2007; Prokopievet carbohydrates, flavonoids, al.,2015). saponins, mucus, sugars, Polygonatum odoratum Often (Ebel et al., Cardiovasculardiseases 22. (Mill.) Druce vitamin C(Minaeva, 1991; Rhizomes 2014). (Minaeva, 1991). Wilduseful ..., 2001; Asparagaceae A decoction of 40-50 grams of Belenovskayaand Budantsev, raw materials per 0.5 liters of 2014;Strigina et al., 2003). water (Balakirev et al., 2006). In folk medicine(Prokopievet al.,2015). Antitumor agent. Alkaloid scrofularin, saponins, Nervous diseases (insomnia) Scrophularia nodosa L. iridoids, carbohydrates, Usually (Ebel et (Minaeva, 1991). 23. Scrophulariaceae flavonoids, coumarins, organic Roots al.,2014). Infusion of 1 teaspoon of raw acids, tannins (Minaeva, materials in a glass of boiling 1991). water, drink 1/3 cup during the day (Balakirev et al., 2006)

Cont. Table 1

24.	Symphytum officinale L. Boraginaceae	The alkaloid cynoglossin, glucoalkaloidconsolidated,iri doids, polysaccharides, steroid saponins, coumarinscopoletin, allantoin, tannins monoterpene glycosides, oxycoric acids (Minaeva, 1991; Lyashenko <i>et al.</i> , 2015).	In folk medicine. Nervous diseases (anticonvulsant activity). Antitumoragent (Minaeva, 1991). Infusion of 1 teaspoon of raw materials in a glass of boiling water, drink 1/3 cup during the day (Balakirev <i>et al.</i> , 2006).	Very rarely (Ebel <i>et al.</i> , 2014).	Rhizomes
25.	Thalictrum flavumL. Ranunculaceae	Triterpenesaponins, flavonoids, coumarins, resins, tannins, organic acids, alkaloids (berberine, talmin, glaucin, etc.) (Minaeva, 1991).	Infolkmedicine. Cardiovascular diseases (hypertension). Antitumor agent (Minaeva, 1991). Alcoholic tincture on 40% alcohol, 15-20 drops 2-3 times a day in the afternoon (Pashinsky, 1989).	Often (Ebel <i>et al.,</i> 2014).	Aerialpart
26.	<i>Thalictrum foetidum</i> L. Ranunculaceae	Triterpenesaponins, flavonoids, coumarins, resins, tannins, organic acids, alkaloids (berberine, talmin, glaucin, etc.) (Minaeva, 1991;Savelieva <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2016).	In folk medicine(Amelchenko and Revyakina, 2007; Prokopiev <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> ,2015). Cardiovascular diseases (hypertension). Antitumor agent (sarcoma and other tumors) (Minaeva, 1991). Alcoholic tincture on 40% alcohol, 15-20 drops 2-3 times a day in the afternoon (Pashinsky, 1989).	Often (Ebel <i>et al.,</i> 2014).	Aerialpart
27.	Thalictrum minus L. Ranunculaceae	Triterpenesaponins, flavonoids, coumarins, resins, tannins, organic acids, alkaloids (berberine, talmin, glaucin, etc.) (Minaeva, 1991).	In folk medicine. Cardiovascular diseases (hypertension).Antitumor agent (Minaeva, 1991). Alcoholic tincture on 40% alcohol, 15-20 drops 2-3 times a day in the afternoon (Pashinsky, 1989).	Often (Ebel <i>et al.,</i> 2014).	Aerialpart
28.	Thalictrum simplexL. Ranunculaceae	Triterpenesaponins, flavonoids, coumarins, resins, tannins, organic acids, alkaloids (berberine, talmin, glaucin, etc.) (Minaeva, 1991).	Infolkmedicine. Cardiovascular diseases (hypertension). Antitumor agent (Minaeva, 1991). Alcoholic tincture on 40% alcohol, 15-20 drops 2-3 times a day in the afternoon (Pashinsky, 1989).	Often (Ebel <i>et al.,</i> 2014).	Aerialpart
29.	<i>Veratrum lobelianum</i> Bernh. Melanthiaceae	Alkaloids, glycoside veratromarin, triterpenoids, amino acids, resins, gum, fatty oil, starch, sugars, mineral salts, coloring and tannins (Minaeva, 1991).	Pharmacopoeia species (State Pharmacopoeia, 2018; Shikov <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2021). Cardiovascular diseases (hypertension). Nervous diseases (epilepsy, melancholy) (Minaeva, 1991). It is recommended to use only in dosages selected by a doctor and under the supervision of a doctor (Minaeva, 100)	Often (Ebel <i>et al.,</i> 2014).	Rhizomes and roots
30.	Xanthium strumarium L. Compositae	Iodine, flavonoids, alkaloid, vitamin C, resins, saponins, terpenoids, xanthostrumarin (Minaeva, 1991; Wild useful , 2001, Bubenchikova <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2009).	In folk medicine. Antitumor agent (throat tumors) (Minaeva, 1991; Korepanov <i>et al.</i> , 2011). Infusion of 2 teaspoons of raw materials for 1 cup of boiling water, take 1/2 cup 3 times a day before meals (Balakirev <i>et al.</i> , 2006).	Very rarely (Ebel <i>et al.</i> , 2014).	The whole plant (aerial part and roots)

4. Conclusion

In this study, we presented new data on medicinal poisonous plants of the Tomsk region, used to treat various diseases in scientific and traditional medicine. Flora of poisonous medicinal plants of the Tomsk region includes 30 species belonging to 24 genera and 11 families. The Tomsk region is rich in medicinal and poisonous plants. This list may not include all species. We are planning to expand our list. However, Tomsk pharmacologists are actively studying medicinal plants of Siberia, and in the future we plan to expand the list with new types of medicinal plants. Medicinal plants can be an alternative to chemicals and become a source of raw materials for the pharmaceutical industry.

5. Conflict of interests

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest concerning this work or the preparation of the manuscript.

References

Amelchenko VP. 2010. Rare and endangered plants of the Tomsk region. Tomsk: Tomsk State University.

Amelchenko VP and Revyakina NV. 2007. Decorative herbaceous plants of Siberia in culture. Study guide. Barnaul: Stimul.

Balakirev GV, Gubanov IA, Kozina EM, Nepokoichitskiy GA, Samokhina EB, Taranova IA, Tugunova OO and Fedorenko NP. 2006. Complete encyclopedia. Medicinal plants in folk medicine. Moscow: Publishing house "ANS".

Belenovskaya LM and Budantsev AL. 2014. Component composition and biological activity of species of the genus Polygonatum (Convallariaceae) of the flora of Russia. *Plant resources*.**50** (3): 458-497.

Belyaeva TN, Kharina TG, Pulkina SV and Butenkova AN. 2014.Practical work on reproductive biology of seed plants. Tomsk: Tomsk State University.

Bokova VS, Krasnov EA and Wagner RP. 1982. Steroidal glycosides of *Atragene sibirica* L. *Plant resources*. **18** (3): 374-377.

Bubenchikova VN and Saleh Qasem Al-Ghafri. 2009. Polysaccharide composition of *Xanthium strumarium* L. *Kuban Scientific Medical Bulletin*.2: 46-48.

Bulgakov TV, Khasanova SR and Kudashkina NV.2016. Study of the chemical composition of the essential oil of the herb *Conium maculatum* L. In the collection: Biological features of medicinal and aromatic plants and their role in medicine. *Collection of scientific papers of the International scientific-practical conference dedicated to the 85th anniversary of VILAR.*

Ebel AL. 2014.Determinant of plants of the Tomsk region.Tomsk: Tomsk State University.

Fedotcheva TA, Sheichenko OP, Anufrieva VV and Sheichenko VI. 2016. Influence of the nuflein alkaloid from the yellow waterlily on the viability of human cervical cancer cells and rat skin fibroblasts. In the collection: Biological characteristics of medicinal and aromatic plants and their role in medicine. *Collection of scientific papers of the International Scientific and Practical Conference dedicated to the 85th anniversary of VILAR.*

Maksyutina NP, Komissarenko NF and Prokopenko AP. 1985.Herbal remedies. Kiev: Health.

Kharina TG and Pulkina SV. 2016. Study of representatives of the genus Eupatorium (Asteraceae) when introduced in the Siberian Botanical Garden of Tomsk State University. *Preservation of the diversity of flora in botanical gardens: traditions, modernity, prospects. Materials of the international conference.* Novosibirsk.

Komissarenko NF, Stupakova EP, Vinnik EV and Zinchenko VV. 1988. Flavonoids of lily of the valley leaves. *Second Republican Conference on Medical Botany*. Kiev: Naukova Dumka.

Korepanov SV, Openko TG and Veryaskina ND. 2011. In vivo study of the antitumor properties of a wild medicinal plant *Xanthium strumarium* L. *World of science, culture, education.***4**-2: 234-240.

Kosichenko NE and Kozakova NF. 1980. Anatomical structure of the stem of *Atragene sibirica* L. and the content of alkaloids and cardiac glycosides in it *Vegetable Resources*.**16** (4): 572-578.

Kruglov DS and Svechnikova OP.2007. Some biologically active substances of *Echium vulgare L. Fundamental research*.10: 71.

Krylova SG, Zueva EP, Zibareva LN, Amosova EN and Razina TG.2014. Antiulcer activity of extracts of ecdysteroid containing plant of genera Lychnis and Silene Caryophyllaceae family. *B EXP BIOL MED.***158** (8): 190-194.

Lapin A, Volodina SO, Volodin VV and ChadinIF. 2004. Alkaloids Aconitum septentrionale Koelle. Bulletin of the Institute of Biology of the Komi Scientific Center of the Ural Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences.3 (77).

Lyashenko SS, Yunusova SG and Denisenko ON.2015. Study of the composition of fatty acids of neutral lipids of seeds of *Symphytumofficinale L. In the collection: Development, research and marketing of new pharmaceutical products.* Pyatigorsk.

Minaeva VG. 1991. Medicinal plants of Siberia. Novosibirsk: Science.

Nekratova AN. 2015. Poisonous plants of Siberia as a source of the homeopathic raw material.*Res. RJPBCS.* **6** (3): 1744-1748.

Nekratova AN and Shilova IV. 2015. Ecological and geographical confinement of rare medicinal plants of forest flora of the KuznetskiAlatau in need of protection. *RJPBCS*. **6** (5): 708-714.

Nekratova AN. 2016. To the introduction of *Atragene sibirica* (Ranunculaceae) in the Siberian Botanical Garden. *Preservation of the diversity of the plant world in botanical gardens: traditions, modernity, prospects. Materials of the international conference.* Novosibirsk.

Nekratova AN and Kosmodemyanskiy LV. 2019. A study of Siberia's medicinal plants used in homeopathy. *Homeopathy*.108: 54-65.

Nekratova AN and Letchamo W. 2018. Medicinal plants of Siberia in homeopathy and other medicine. Monograph.Ekaterinburg: Publishing solutions.

Nekratova AN and Shilova IV. 2016. Vitamin plants of the forest flora of KuznetskiyAlatau. *RJPBCS*.7 (2): 781-786.

Novoselskaya IL, Horowitz MB and Abubakirov NK. 1981. Ecdysterone and polypodine B from *Paris quadrifolia*. *Chemistry of natural compounds*. **3**: 402-403.

Pashinsky GV. 1989. Plants in therapy and disease prevention. Tomsk: Tomsk State University.

Prokopiev AS et al. 2015.Rare plants of the natural flora of Siberia in the Siberian Botanical Garden.Tomsk: Publishing House.

Revina TA, Zibareva LN, Ignatenko NA and TaylashevaTY. 1983. Search for ecdysone-containing plants in the flora of Western Siberia. *Bulletin of the Siberian Botanical Garden*. Romanova RS, Shantanova LN and Mondodoev AG. 2014. Anticonvulsant action of dry extract of the roots of *Paeonia* anomala L. Bulletin of the East Siberian Scientific Center of the Siberian Branch of the Russian Academy of Medical Sciences. **5** (99): 60-62.

Savelieva EV, Shumova AS and Vladymyrova IM. 2016. The study of mineral content in *Thalictrum foetidum* L. herb and roots. *Actual nutrition of pharmaceutical and medical science and practice*. **1**(20): 57-59.

Sdobnikova LA and Kovalevich NV. 1975. The content of trace elements in *Atragene sibirica* growing in Kazakhstan. *Some problems of pharmaceutical science and practice*. Alma-Ata.

Shikov AN, Narkevich IA, Flisyuk EV, Luzhanin VG and Pozharitskaya ON. 2021. Medicinal plants from the 14 th edition of the Russian Pharmacopoeia. *J Ethnopharmacol.* **268**: 1-34.

Shilova IV, SuslovNIand SamylinaIA.2010. Chemical composition and nootropic activity of Siberian plants. Tomsk: Tomsk University Publishing House.

State Pharmacopoeia of the Russian Federation.2018. 14thedition.Volume 4.

Strigina LI, Likhatskaya GN and Gorovoy PG. 2003. Steroidal glycosides of species of the genus Polygonatum Mill. and their biological activity. *Plant resources.* **39** (3): 1-29.

Sviridova TP and Kuznetsova NP. 2012. Cultivation of medicinal plants in the Tomsk region. Tomsk: Tomsk State University.

Sviridova TP and Zibareva LN. 1989. Biological features and chemical composition of *Lychnis chalcedonica* L. grown in the Siberian Botanical Garden. *Bulletin of the Main Botanical Garden*.

Ulanova KP. 1985. Flavonols of some Far Eastern species of Pulsatilla Mill. *Plant resources*.

12 (1): 55-57.

Vyltsan NF. 1994. The determinant to plants of the Tomsk region.

Wild useful plants of Russia.2001. Executive editors BudantsevAL, LesiovskayaEE. St. Petersburg: Publishing house.

Yunusova SG, Khatmulina LI, Fedorov NI, Ermolaeva NA, Galkin EG and Yunusov MS. 2012. Polyunsaturated fatty acids of some plant species of the family of Boraginaceae. *Chemistry of natural compounds*. **3**: 329-333.

Zaripova AA, Bayburina RK,Shayakhmetov IF and Bashirova RM. 2005. *Paeonia anomala* L. a prospective producer of monoterpene glycosides and phenolic compounds. *In the collection: New and non-traditional plants and prospects for their use.Conference proceedings.*

Zinner NS, Vysochina GI, Kukushkina TA and Sviridova TP. 2010.Biologically active substances *Hedysarum alpinum* L. and *Hedysarum theinum* Krasnob. (*Fabaceae*) introduced into the Tomsk region. *Tomsk State University Journal of Biology*. 2010. **4**(12): 116-122.

Zinner NS. 2011. Biological features of *Hedysarum alpinum* L. and *Hedysarum theinum* Krasnob. when introduced in the forest zone of Western Siberia. Tomsk. Tomsk State University

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

Histopathological Analysis of Striped Catfish, Pangasianodon hypophthalmus (Sauvage, 1878) Spontaneously Infected with Aeromonas hydrophila

Md. Abdullah-Al Mamun^{1,2,*}, Shamima Nasren^{1,3}, Sanjay Singh Rathore¹ and M. M. Mahbub Alam²

¹Laboratory of Aquatic Health Management, Department of Aquaculture, College of Fisheries, Mangalore-575002, Karnataka Veterinary Animal and Fisheries Science University, Karnataka, India; ²Department of Fish Health Management, Sylhet Agricultural University, Sylhet-3100, Bangladesh; ³Department of Fish Biology and Genetics, Sylhet Agricultural University, Sylhet-3100, Bangladesh.

Received: November 27, 2020; Revised: March 19, 2021; Accepted: April 1, 2021

Abstract

Mass mortality of *Pangasianodon hypophthalmus* in cultured earthen pond was investigated. Infected *P. hypophthalmus* were characterized by number of clinical signs such as abnormal swimming behaviour, skin lesion, and local hemorrhages. Moribund samples were collected from Karnataka to investigate the etiological as well as histopathological changes. The causative agents of the diseased pangasius were identified as *Aeromonas hydrophila* using specific selective media, polymerase chain reaction (PCR) technique and through scanning electron microscopy (SEM). The amplified DNA product was 130bp for haemolysin genes of *A. hydrophila*. Scanning electron microscopy revealed straight rods with single polar flagellum of *A. hydrophila*. Histopathogical studies of different organs of diseased *P. hypothalamus* revealed cellular alteration such as necrosis and hemorrhages in the gill and liver, tubular degenerations in the kidneys, splenitis accompanied with hemosiderosis in spleen. Additionally, there was sloughed necrotic debris in intestinal lumen with increase in goblet cell number.

Keywords, Histopathology, Aeromonas hydrophila, Pangasianodon hypophthalmus, PCR, SEM

1. Introduction

Over the last few decades, aquaculture has played a vital and steadily rising role in food safety and monetary stability to the world (Houston et al., 2020). Aquatic animals derived from aquaculture became the fundamental source of high-quality protein for human consumption. World fisheries production had reached at apex in 2017, producing 172.6 million tons with aquaculture contributing approximately fifty percent and the rest from capture (FAO, 2019). The modern technology has heighted the production of economically profitable fish species such as carps and catfishes, and thus the aquaculture system transformed from extensive to intensive and super intensive system. Striped catfish, Pangasianodon hypophthalmus (P. hypophthalmus) is an exotic fish species introduced in India from Bangladesh in 1997. Since its entry to India, pangasius has been playing a major role in many aspects: employment generation, cash flow, protein source, utilization of derelict ponds without disturbing the environment and indigenous fish species. Due to its unique fast growth capacity, pangasius become the third most cultivable fish species after rohu and catla and is highly desirable in export market (Singh and Lakra, 2012). In domestic market, pangasius has reasonable market price and possessed highly quality protein,

essential amino acids, fatty acids, vitamins, and minerals in its flesh (Rahman *et al.*, 2020). Recently, it has made its entry into ornamental fish markets in different parts of the world. The IUCN Red List has listed the pangasius catfish, *P. hypophthalmus*, of the family Siluriformes, order Pangasiidae, as an endangered freshwater fish species native to the Mekong delta (Vidthayanon and Hogan, 2013). Viet Nam has ranked top in pangasius production, generating nearly 11, 41000 tons (Nguyen, 2013). Though *P. hypophthalmus* has been regarded as highly disease resistant fish, recent report revealed that several diseases affect this fish in juvenile (Kumar *et al.*, 2018; Mamun *et al.*, 2020) as well as adult stages (Kumar *et al.*, 2013; Kumar *et al.*, 2015) causing a significant economic loss in Indian aquaculture.

Many bacterial infections threaten this industry including *Edwardsiella icataluri* (Yuasa *et al.*, 2003; Ferguson *et al.*, 2001) and *Aeromonas* spp. especially with *A. hydrophila* (Subagja *et al.*, 1999; Crumlish *et al.*, 2010; Elgendy *et al.*, 2017)) in East Asia and *Enterobacter cloacae* (Kumar *et al.*, 2013) and *Aeromonas jandaei* (Kumar *et al.*, 2015) in India. However, reports were scanty on *A. hydrophila* infection in pangasius catfish from cultured ponds. Usually in pond aquaculture, the water management is not well controlled, and in dry season sometimes water level reaches below the optimum level. In turn, fish get affected by stress, and this leads to the

^{*} Corresponding author e-mail: mamunff@gmail.com.

severe disease outbreak. High stocking density, irregular feeding, over feeding accompanied with lack of scientific knowledge may exacerbate the disease condition in such levels where the recovery would become impossible. Proper isolation and identification of bacterial infection can provide essential knowledge to the farmers for prevention and health management. Moreover, histopathological examination of tissue biopsies for the identification of aeromonads infection is extremely important. Therefore, present study was carried out for the isolation, identification, and histopathological studies of naturally infected pangasius catfish collected from natural pond of Karnataka.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Bacterial isolation from diseased fish

Moribund fish samples (n=10) were collected from the cultural pond of Mudigere (Lat.13°07'19"N: Long.75°37'38"E.) to the College of Fisheries, Mangalore, Karnataka, India in packed plastic bags containing 1/3rd of habitat water and 2/3rd oxygen. Moribund fishes displayed several clinical symptoms: numerous haemorrhagic spot all over the body, surface, rectal distension, and anemic body (Fig. 1a-c). Diseased fish were euthanized, and alcohol washed in order to avoid contamination. Swab samples of lesions, body cavity, and kidney were taken and streaked on the Rimler-Shotts (RS) media for the presumptive isolation of A. hydrophila. The pure colonies from RS agar plates were randomly picked, cultured on 1.5% Tryptone Soya Broth (TSB) and stored as streaks in Brain Heart Infusion (BHI) agar (Himedia, Mumbai) slants.



Figure 1. Mass mortality of pangasius in earthen pond of Karnataka (A) Diseased fish showing haemorrhages in the belly and fin bases (B), rectal protrusion of *P. hypophthalmus* (C)

For DNA extraction, the bacterial isolates were grown on 1.5% tryoptone soya broth (Himedia) and harvested at OD 0.7 by centrifugation for 5 min at 4 °C at 5000 rpm.

Extraction of DNA was carried out by DNA-XPressTM Reagent (Himedia, Mumbai) and manufacturer's instruction were followed. Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) was performed in 0.2 ml micro-fuge tubes (Bio-rad, USA) in a programmable thermo cycler (C1000 TouchTM Bio-Rad, USA) using the haemolysinF: 5'- GCCGAGCGCCCAGAAGGTGAGTT-3' and haemolysinR : 5'- GAGCGGCTGGATGCCGTTGT-3' primers (Wang *et al.*, 2003). In PCR amplification, initial denaturation at 95°C for 5 min was maintained. Then, 39 cycles of denaturation, annealing, and extension steps were done at 95°C for 30 sec, 59°C for 30 sec and 72°C for 30 sec respectively. The final extension was carried out for 7 min at 72°C. The amplified PCR products were mixed with 6X-gel loading dye (Genei, Bangaluru) at 10:3 ratios and loaded onto 1.5% agarose gel and the product was electrophoresed at 130 V for 30 min. The amplicon was observed under U.V transilluminator (Major Science SmartView Pro Imager UVCI-2300, USA) and documented.

2.2. Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscopy

Bacterial species were characterized in FE-SEM according to the manufacturer's instruction. A small quantity of prepared bacterial broth was dispersed on a SEM specimen mount. Enough argon was maintained in the chamber so that the vacuum reads 0.08 mbar. Sample was coated with gold (Eiko 1B-3 at 0.15 torr) as appropriate for a specified period of time and current to obtain an acceptable coating. Finally, the sample was transferred back to the specimen box after coating for analyzing at Carl Zeiss Sigma VP Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscope in the Central Laboratory of DST-PURSE PROGRAMME, Mangalore University.

2.3. Histopathology of diseased P. hypophthalmus

For histopathological study, moribund fish were euthanized, and different organs such as gills, liver, kidney, spleen and intestine were cut-off, washed with physiological saline and fixed in 10% buffered formalin for 72 h. For each sample, 3 fish were taken. For intestine, up to 10 villi per slide and no less than five were considered in the present study. Following the fixation, dehydration was done in series of alcoholic solutions in lower to higher concentration. Tissue was embedded with paraffin wax and sectioned at 5-6 μ m (Thermo Scientific, Microm HM-325, USA). The counter stains, haematoxylin and eosin, were used in this study. All the histological procedures were followed as detailed by Bullock (1989). The tissues sections were photographed with the light microscope (Olympus, BX3-25ND25, Japan).

2.4. Challenge with A. hydrophila

Isolated *A. hydrophila* were revived from -40 °C and grown on to 1.5% TSB. The bacterial broth was harvested at OD 0.7 to achieve 10^7 CFU/ml. Juvenile pangasius catfish weighing 20.5 ±5.35 were used for challenge studies. Each juvenile fish (n=10) was challenged (intramuscular) with 0.2ml of bacterial broth (*A. hydrophila*) and for control (n=10) 0.2 ml PBS were injected. Challenged fish were monitored for 10 days to check the clinical symptoms. Fish were sacrificed prior to the approval of the animal ethics committee, College of Fisheries, Mangalore.
3. Results

3.1. Presumptive and molecular identification of A. hydrophila

Yellow colonies were grown on the RS medium. The DNA amplified product of the desired size was 130bp (Fig. 2).



Figure 2. Detection of *Aeromonas hydrophila* by PCR. Lane: M, 1000 bp ladder Marker; Lane 1: Positive control (A. hydrophila MTCC 1739), Lane 2: Negative control (*Vibrio parahaemolyticus* ATCC AQ4037 isolates) Lane 3-5: Samples.

3.2. Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)

The scanning electron microscopy showed straight rods with rounded ends having single polar flagellum (Fig. 3A-B)



Figure 3. Feild emission scanning electron microscopy revealed (**A:4000X**) rod shapped *A. hydrophila* (arrows) (**B: 10000X**) with polar flagellum (pf)

3.3. Histopathological studies of infected organs

Several histopathological abnormalities in gill tissues, such as loss of secondary gill lamellae, lamellar clubbing, cellular necrosis and hypertrophy were observed (Fig. 4A-B). The liver histopathology displayed hepatocyte necrosis, pyknotic nuclei and formation of Kupffer cells (Fig. 5A-B). Loss of hematopoietic tissues, destruction of Bowman's space, tubule degeneration, glomerular necrosis, tubular necrosis, infiltration of leukocyte cells detected in kidney section (Fig. 6A-B). was Histopathology of spleen showed macrophages and lymphocytes aggregated around ellipsoids accompanied with hemosiderosis (Fig. 7A-B). Though intestinal architecture was not altered in infected pangasius, sloughed necrotic debris in lumen increased goblet cells was noted (Fig. 8A-B).



Figure 4. Photomicrographs of the gill of infected *P. hypophthalmus* (A: 100x), showing thickening (th) of primary gill lamellae (pl) (B: 400x, H & E) Clubbing, vasodialation (vd) and loss of secondary gill lamellae (sl, red arrows) accompanied with hypertrophy and hyperplasia



Figure 5. Liver histological section of naturally infected pangasius, display (A: 100x), multifocal haemorrhages (fh) with necrotized hepatocytes (nh) (B: 400x) Numerous pyknotic nuclei (pk), aggregated Kupffer cells (kf)



Figure 6. Kidney histopathological changes of infected P. hypophthalmus showing (A: 100x), acute degeneration of hematopoietic tissues (dht), degeneration of both distal and proximal tubules (dt) glomerular necrosis (gn) and (B: 400x) destruction of Bowman's space (bs), tubular necrosis (tn), necrotic tubules (lk).



Figure 7. Photomicrographs of the infected spleen, (A: 100x) red and white pulp (pl) and ellipsoids (el) and numerous hemosiderosis (hd) (B: 400x) splenitis (st) with macrophages and lymphocytes aggregated around ellipsoids accompanied with hemosiderosis



Figure 8. Intestinal histopathology of spontaneously infected pangasius, (A:100x) normal architecture of villi (vl) with sloughed necrotic debris (nd) in its lumen (lu) (B: 400x) vacuolation (vc), damage of enterocytes (dem) and increased aggregated goblet cells (gc).





Figure 9. Juvenile pangasius were challenged with isolated *A. hydrophila* from naturally infected pangasius showing the (**A**) hemorrhagic fin bases (**B**) Reddish head with grayish (arrow) cotton wool patches on the tip of mouth and rectal protrusion.

3.4. Challenged studies

In challenged studies juvenile of pangasius showing the similar clinical signs (Fig. 9A-B) compared to the spontaneously infected adult *P. hypophthalmus* collected from earthen pond.

4. Discussion

Bacterial diseases are often regarded as the vicious circle in fish health management, in which administration of drug leads to many negative effects on living biota and may be exacerbated with the change of climate (Houston et al., 2020). Among the infectious diseases, bacterial diseases accounted for more than half (54.59%) routine outbreaks of diseases in finfish aquaculture (Dhar et al., 2014). Gram negative A. hydrophila infection known as 'motile aeromonas septicemia' is an opportunistic invader associated with epizootic ulcerative syndrome (EUS) and/or in stressful water environment (Roberts, 1993; Pathiratne et al., 1994; Lio-Po et al., 1998). Nowadays, traditional farmers are usually culturing pangasius catfish in an intensive system with frequent malicious aeromonads infection. This study was aimed to detect the causative agent and histopathological studies involved in the mass mortality of the pangasius in earthen pond of Karnataka, India.

There has been an increasing trend to use Rimler-Shotts (R-S) selective medium for the isolation pathogenic *A. hydrophila*. In the present study, yellow colonies were grown in overnight incubation of inoculated agar media. Rimlar-Shotts agar media supplemented with an antibiotic, novobiocin showed growth of yellow colonies on agar plates for the isolation of *A. hydrophila* from *Oreochromis niloticus* (Aboyadak *et al.*, 2017; AlYahya *et al.*, 2018), rohu (Siriyappagouder *et al.*, 2014), gold fish (Mamun *et al.*, 2019a), water samples (Davis and Sizemore 1981; Arcos *et al.*, 1988), frozen fish (Yogananth *et al.*, 2009) and from human (Khalaf *et al.*, 2005). Isolation of A. *hydrophila* through R-S medium was 94% valid for presumptive recognition in humans (Shotts and Rimler, 1973).

PCR based diagnosis are the confirmatory test for the identification of particular bacterial pathogens. In this

study, we used specific primers for the haemolysin genes to confirm A. hydrophila. Haemolysin is the virulent factor of A. hydrophila (Gonzalez-Serrano et al., 2002; Castro-Escarpulli et al., 2003). Also, an amplified DNA product of the expected size of 130bp was obtained by PCR. Identifying A. hydrophila isolates through molecular technique (PCR) which targets the haemolysin gene is more efficient, reliable, and faster compared to biochemical test (Wang et al., 2003) and has also been found extremely effective (Stratev et al., 2016). Several studies were conducted on the identification of pathogenic A. hydrophila targeting virulent gene such as haemolysin, lip and aerolysin (Xia et al., 2004; Kingombe et al., 1999; Yogananth et al., 2009). The scanning electron microscopy revealed straight rods with rounded ends having single polar flagellum. Our results are corroborated with Roberts et al (2012) who reported similar morphological features of A. hydrophila.

Harikrishnan and Balasundaram (2005) described many clinical symptoms such as reddish spot, abdominal dropsy, exophthalmia caused by aeromoniasis. In other studies, moribund fish samples exhibited rail and fin rots (Austin and Austin 1993), dermal ulceration and muscle necrosis (Bullock et al., 1971) and hemorrhagic bacteremia (Leung et al., 1995), is also evident in the present study. Motile aeromonas septicemia also known as hemorrhagic septicemia in aeromonads infection and diagnosed by several external symptoms such as red spot on the whole body, hemorrhagic fin bases, deep ulceration, rectal protrusion, peritoneal dropsy, sloughed off epidermis, pale gills, abrasive muscle and often bled in bottom of the dorsal fin (Harikrishnan and Balasundaram, 2005). The most prominent internal signs are swollen abdomen, anemic body and excess formation of body fluid which cause anal bulge resulting dysfunction to the inner organs (Jhingran and Das 1990). A. hydrophila were isolated and identified from diseased pangas (Parven et al., 2020; Nahar et al., 2016), stinging catfish (Goni et al., 2020, Rashid et al., 2008), Nile tilapia (Hamom et al., 2020), Indian major carp (Lakshmanan et al., 1986)

Histopathological section of gill tissue in the present study displayed several pathologies such as clubbing, disappearance of secondary gill lamellae, substantial hypertrophy, and hyperplasia at the nib of primary gill lamellae. Thickening of primary lamellae and vasodialation in approximately 90% of the area with congestion and lamellar joining in secondary gill lamellae was observed. Cellular necrosis, blood cells, congestion, hypertrophied and hyperplastic secondary gill lamellae were also seen from diseased pangasius. Gills are the first line of defense in fish, therefore recurrent bacterial infections resulted in significant changes in gill architecture and physiology. Channel catfish gills showed similar histopathological alteration such as fusion and thickening of gill lamellae after experimentally infected with virulent A. hydrophila (Abdelhamed et al., 2017). Similarly, authors of a recent study revealed secondary gill lamellar loss in addition to clubbing and hyperplasia from farmed pangasius in Maharashtra, India (Kumar et al., 2015). Histological changes offer a quick method to determine the effects of irritants, in various tissues and organs (Shraideh and Najjar, 2011).

The liver tissue sections of diseased pangasius revealed multiple hemorrhages on the hepatic tissues along with numerous pyknotic nuclei, dilated sinusoids, vacuolization of cytoplasm, cellular necrosis of hepatocytes and aggregated Kupffer cells. Supplementation of lead acetate caused hepatic necrosis and degenerative liver cell as well as upregulated the Kupffer cells numbers in other vertebrates (Albishtue et al., 2020). Mamun et al., (2019b) reported histopathological abnormalities in gill, liver, and kidney in pangasius fed A. hydrophila as oral vaccine. AlYahya et al. (2000) reported severe aggregation blood cells and accruement of pyknotic nuclei in the hepatopancreas of Blue nile tilapia artificially infected with A. hydrophila. Focal necrosis with lymphocyte infiltration, presence of melanomacrophage centres accompanied with necrotic hepatocyte (Faruk et al., 2012) indicated the cytotoxicity by A. hydrophila toxins (Donta and Haddow, 1978) could lead to the primary organ failure (kidney and liver). Histopathology of liver, kidney and spleen of natural infected barramundi was validated with severe pathologies such as macrophage aggregation with hepatitis, degeneration of hematopoietic tissues and granulomatous splenitis (Loach et al., 2017).

Renal histopathology revealed acute degeneration of hematopoietic tissues, and destruction of Bowman's space, glomerular necrosis, tubular necrosis, infiltration of leukocytes was detected. Our findings were corroborated with the symptoms reported in other teleosts (Islam et al., 2008; Kumar et al., 2016; AlYahya et al., 2000; Fergason et al., 2001; Abdelhamed et al., 2017). In the present study, among all organs the kidney become the most affected organ, and virtually lost its original anatomy. Fish kidney is a commonly targeted organ during bacterial sepsis due to the toxins released by aeromonads (Kumar et al., 2015). Severe histopathological changes were noticed in kidney such as degeneration of renal tubule with alteration of renal corpuscle, necrotic capillaries and loss of Bowman's capsule when fish were exposed to polluted water (Takashima and Hibiya 1995). Invasion and multiplication of pathogenic bacteria can damage the kidney and lead to the glomerulonephritis (Prasad et al., 2018).

Spleen is regarded as one of the vital organs that respond to fight microbial infection through innate and adaptive immune system. Extended ellipsoid with white and red pulp were observed in the present study. However, spleen section showed splenitis with aggregated macrophage cells and numerous hemosiderosis. During bacterial infection, macrophages congregate, resulting in erythrocyte phagocytosis in the spleen and iron deposition (hemosiderin), which leads to splenic hemosiderosis (Wang *et al.*, 2010). Spleen histopathology of experimentally infected channel catfish revealed degeneration of endothelial and reticular cells; in addition to pyknosis, cytolysis and accumulation of hemosiderosis (Abdelhamed *et al.*, 2017) is also evident in our study.

The gut morphology of the intestinal section did not alter in this study. However, several histological changes such as damage of enterocytes, vaculoation, necrotic enterocytes and infiltration of leukocyte cells were observed. Abundant goblet cells in the present study indicated excess production of mucus. The goblet cells are also known as mucous cells playing an important role in defense mechanism of host (Rathore *et al.*, 2019). It secrets the mucus to keep the gut environment healthy and protective (Cerezuela *et al.*, 2012). The goblet cells along with enterocytes can evoke the nonspecific immune system to enhance the phagocytosis process for the elimination of pathogenic bacteria from intestinal surfaces. Compared to the present findings, similar pathology such as vacuolation, necrosis, loss of villi and hemorrhages in mucosa and sub mucosal layers of experimentally infected *Heteropneustes fossilis* (Islam *et al.*, 2008) were also delineated. Similarly, histomorphology of gut of channel catfish revealed necrotized mucosal and enterocytes surface accompanied with bacterial accretion and enteritis (Abdelhamed *et al.*, 2017).

5. Conclusion

Aeromoniasis, known as motile aeromonas septicemia or red spot diseases, is one of the notorious problems in modern and traditional aquaculture farms in India. Acute A. hydrophila infection can cause a farmer to lose their entire crop. Early detection could provide the necessary clue for the prevention and disease management. The ubiquitous opportunistic pathogen, A. hydrophila has been potential threat to the pangasius farming, and care must be taken in order to control this disease with proper medications and prophylactic measures. Good aquaculture practices including effective water management in dry season can reduce the bacterial infection in traditional (earthen) pond aquaculture. The best weapon a farmer has to be follow is the basic biosecurity principles and adopting sustainable management practices towards maximum yield.

Acknowledgments

First two authors gratefully acknowledge the funding received towards their Ph.D. from the Indian Council of Agricultural Research for awarded of Netaji Subhas-ICAR International fellowship 2015-16.

Conflict of Interests

Authors have no conflict of interests to declare.

References

Abdelhamed H, Ibrahim I, Baumgartner W, Lawrence ML and Karsi A. 2017. Characterization of histopathological and ultrastructural changes in channel catfish experimentally infected with virulent *Aeromonas hydrophila*. *Front. Microbiol.*, **8**:1519.

Aboyadak IM, Ali NGM, Goda AMAS, Saad W and Salam AME. 2017. Non-selectivity of R-S media for *Aeromonas hydrophila* and TCBS media for *Vibrio* species isolated from diseased *Oreochromis niloticus. J. Aquac. Res. Dev.*, **8**:496-500.

Albishtue AA, Almhanna HK, Yimer N, Zakaria MZA, Haron AW and Almhanawi BH. 2020. Effect of edible bird's nest supplement on hepato-renal histomorphology of rats exposed to lead acetate toxicity. *Jordan J. Biol. Sci.*, **13**(2).213-2018.

AlYahya SA, Ameen F, Al-Niaeem KS, Al-Sa'adi BA, Hadi S and Mostafa AA. 2018. Histopathological studies of experimental Aeromonas hydrophila infection in blue tilapia, *Oreochromis aureus. Saudi J. Biol. Sci.*, **25**(1):182-185.

Arcos ML, de Vicente ANTONIO, Moriñigo MA, Romero PEDRO and Borrego JJ. 1988. Evaluation of several selective media for recovery of *Aeromonas hydrophila* from polluted waters. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **54**(11): 2786-2792.

Austin B and Austin DB. 1993. Bacterial fish pathogens in farmed and wild fish. $2^{nd} Edt$. Ellis Horwood Ltd, Chichester, England, pp 364.

Bullock AM. 1989. Laboratory methods. In Fish Pathology, ed. R. J. Roberts, 374–406. London: Bailliere Tindall

Bullock GL, Conroy DA and Snieszko SF. 1971. Bacterial diseases of fish. In: Disease of fishes (S.F. Snieszko and H.R. Axelrod, Eds.). Neuptune, New Jersey: T.F.H. Publications.

Castro-Escarpulli G, Figueras MJ, Aguilera-Arreola G, Soler L, Fernandez-Rendon E, Aparicio GO, Guarro J and Chacon MR. 2003. Characterization of *Aeromonas* spp. isolated from frozen fish intended for human consumption in Mexico. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.*, **8**4: 41–49.

Cerezuela R, Fumanal M, Tapia-Paniagua ST, Meseguer J, Moriñigo MÁ and Esteban MÁ. 2012. Histological alterations and microbial ecology of the intestine in gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata* L.) fed dietary probiotics and microalgae. *Cell Tissue Res.*, **350**(3):477-489.

Crumlish M, Thanh P, Koesling CJ, Tung VT and Gravningen K. 2010. Experimental challenge studies in Vietnamese catfish, Pangasianodon hypophthalmus (Sauvage, 1878) exposed to *Edwardsiella ictaluri* and *Aeromonas hydrophila*. J. Fish Dis., **33** (9):707–85.

Davis JW and Sizemore RK. 1981. Nonselectivity of Rimler-Shotts medium for *Aeromonas hydrophila* in estuarine environments. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **42**(3):544-545.

Dhar AK, Manna SK and Allnutt FT. 2014. Viral vaccines for farmed finfish. *Virus dis.*, **25**(1): 1-17.

Donta ST and Haddow AD. 1978. Cytotoxic activity of Aeromonas hydrophila. Infect. Immun., 21:989-993.

Elgendy MY, Soliman WS, Abbas WT, Ibrahim TB, Younes AM and Omara ST. 2017. Investigation of some virulence determents in *Aeromonas hydrophila* strains obtained from different polluted aquatic environments. *Jordan J Biol Sci*, **10**: 265-272.

Faruk MAR, Patwary ZP and Hasan MM. 2012. Clinical and histopathological investigations in exotic catfish *Pangasianodon hypophthalmus* (Sauvage, 1878) under culture condition. *Indian. J. Fish.*, **59**(4):183-185.

Ferguson WH., Turnbull JF, Shinn A, Thompson K, Dung TT and Crumlish M. 2001. Bacillary necrosis in farmed Pangasius hypophthalmus (Sauvage, 1878) from the Mekong Delta, Vietnam. *J. Fish Dis.*, **24** (9):509–13.

FAO. 2019. Food and Agricultural Organization. FAO Yearbook of Fishery and Aquaculture Statistics 2017.

Goni O, Alam MMM, Khalil SMI, Bari SM, Hamom A, Parven M and Mamun MAA. 2020. Identification of pathogenic bacteria from diseased stringing catfish *Heteropneustis fossilis* with their sensitivity to antibiotics. *Int. J. Fish. Aquat. Stud.*, **8**(1): 291-301.

Gonzalez-Serrano CJ, Santos JA, Garcia-Lopez ML and Otero A. 2002. Virulence markers in *Aeromonas hydrophila* and *Aeromonas veronii biovar sobria* isolates from freshwater fish and from a diarrhoea case. *J. Appl. Microbiol.*, **93**: 414–419.

Hamom A, Alam MMM, Iqbal MM, Khalil SMI, Parven M, Sumon TA and Mamun MAA. 2020. Identification of pathogenic bacteria from diseased Nile tilapia *Oreochromis niloticus* with their sensitivity to antibiotics. *Int J Curr Microbiol Appl Sci.*, **9**(3):716-1738.

Harikrishnan R and Balasundaram C. 2005. Modern trends in *Aeromonas hydrophila* disease management with fish. *Rev. Fish. Sci.*, **13**(4): 281-320.

Houston RD, Bean TP, Macqueen DJ, Gundappa MK, Jin YH, Jenkins TL and Davie A. 2020. Harnessing genomics to fast-track genetic improvement in aquaculture. *Nat. Rev. Genet.*, **21**:389–409.

Islam MT, Mostafa K and Rashid MM. 2008. Histopathological studies of experimentally infected Shing, *Heteropneustes fossilis* with *Aeromonas hydrophila* bacteria. *Progress. Agric.*, **19**(1):89-96.

Jhingran AG and Das MK. 1990. Epizootic ulcerative syndrome in fishes. Bulletin of the Central Inland Capture Fisheries Research Institute (No. 65). CIFRI, Barrackpore, India.

Khalaf HS, Ali ST and Dhahi SJ. 2005. The use of modified Rimler-Shotts agar as a selective medium for the isolation of *Aeromonas* species from children diarrhea in Mosul-Iraq. *Rafidain J. Sci.*, **16**(11):5-14.

Kingombe CIB, Huys G, Tonolla M, Albert MJ, Swings J, Peduzzi R and Jemmi T. 1999. PCR detection, characterization, and distribution of virulence genes in *Aeromonas* spp. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **65**(12): 5293-5302.

Kumar K, Prasad KP, Raman RP, Kumar S, Purushothaman CS. 2013. Association of *Enterobacter cloacae* in the mortality of *Pangasianodon hypophthalmus* (Sauvage, 1878) reared in culture pond in Bhimavaram, Andhra Pradesh, India. *Indian J. Fish.*, **60**(3): 147-149.

Kumar K, Prasad KP, Tripathi G, Raman RP, Kumar S, Tembhurne M, Purushothaman CS. 2015. Isolation, identification, and pathogenicity of a virulent *Aeromonas jandaei* associated with mortality of farmed *Pangasianodon hypophthalmus*, in India. *Isr J Aquac.*, **67**: 1-7.

Kumar R, Pande V, Singh L, Sharma L and Saxena, N. 2016. Pathological findings of experimental *Aeromonas hydrophila* infection in golden mahseer (*Tor putitora*). *Fish. Aquacult. J.* **7**: 160.

Kumar VS, Roy UK, Sarkar and Das AK. 2018. Occurrence of Ichthyophthiriasis in *Pangasianodon hypophthalmus* (Sauvage, 1878) cultured in net-cages of Maithon Reservoir, Jharkhand, India. *Natl Acad Sci Lett.*, **41**(5): 275-278.

Lakshmanan M, Sundar K and Lipton AP. 1986. Isolation and characterization of *Aeromonas hydrophila* sub sp *hydrophila* causing haemolytic disease in Indian major carp, *Labeo rohita* (Ham). *Curr. Sci.*, **55**(21): 1080-1081.

Leung KY, Low KW, Lam TJ and Sin YM. 1995. Interaction of the fish pathogen *Aeromonas hydrophila* with tilapia, *Oreochromis aureus* (Steindachner), phagocytes. J. Fish Dis., 18: 435–447.

Lio-Po GD, Albright LJ, Michel C and Leano EM. 1998. Experimental induction of lesions in snakeheads (*Ophicephalus striatus*) and catfish (*Clavias batvachus*) with *Aeromonas hydrophila*, *Aquaspivillum* sp., *Pseudomonas* sp. and *Streptococcus* sp. *J Appl Ichthyol.*, **14**(1-2): 75-79.

Loch TP, Hawke JP, Reichley SR, Faisal M, Del Piero F and Griffin MJ. 2017. Outbreaks of edwardsiellosis caused by *Edwardsiella piscicida* and *Edwardsiella tarda* in farmed barramundi (*Lates calcarifer*). *Aquaculture.*, **481**: 202-210.

Mamun MAA, Nasren S, Srinivasa KH, Rathore SS, Abhiman PB and Rakesh K. 2020a. Heavy infection of *Ichthyophthirius multifiliis* in striped catfish (*Pangasianodon hypophthalmus*, Sauvage 1878) and its treatment trial by different therapeutic agents in a control environment. J. Appl. Aquac., **32**(1):81-93.

Mamun MAA, Nasren S, Abhiman PB, Rathore SS, Naik MG, Sowndarya NS, Ramesh KS and Shankar KM. 2019. Investigation of production, formation and characterization of biofilm cells of Aeromonas hydrophila for oral vaccination of fish. J. Exp. Zool. India., **22**(2):1115-1123.

Mamun MAA, Nasren S, Abhiman PB, Rathore SS, Sowndarya NS, Ramesh KS and Shankar KM. 2020b. Effect of Biofilm of *Aeromonas hydrophila* oral vaccine on growth performance and histopathological changes in various tissues of striped catfish, *Pangasianodon hypophthalmus. Indian J. Anim. Res.*, **54**(5): 563-569.

Rashid MM, Hasan MA, Mostofa K and Islam MA. 2008. Isolation of *Aeromonas hydrophila* from EUS affected shing *Heteropeneustes fossilis* from a fish farm of Mymensingh. *Progress. Agric.*, **19**(1):117-124.

Nahar S, Rahman MM, Ahmed GU and Faruk MR. 2016. Isolation, identification, and characterization of *Aeromonas hydrophila* from juvenile farmed pangasius (*Pangasianodon hypophthalmus*). *Int. J. Fish. Aquat. Stud.*, **4**(4): 52-60.

Nguyen TP. 2013. On-farm feed management practices for striped catfish (Pangasianodon hypophthalmus) in Mekong River Delta, Viet Nam. In M.R. Hasan and M.B. New, eds. On-farm feeding and feed management in aquaculture, pp. 241–267. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper No. 583. Rome, FAO. 585 pp.

Parven M, Alam MMM, Khalil SMI, Hamom A, Goni O, Rahman MM and Mamun MAA. 2020. Identification of pathogenic bacteria from diseased Thai pangas *Pangasius hypophthalmus* with their sensitivity to antibiotics. *Microbiol. Res. J. Int.*, **30**(3): 7-21.

Pathiratne A, Widanapathirana GS and Chandrakanthi. 1994. Association of *Aeromonas hydrophila* with epizootic ulcerative syndrome (EUS) of freshwater fish in Sri Lanka. *J. Appl. Ichthyol.*, 10:204-208.

Prasad N and Patel MR. 2018. Infection-induced kidney diseases. *Front. Med.*, **5**:327.

Rahman MA, Ullah MR, Kabir MA, Alam MA, Rahman M and Hossen MF. 2020. Artificial propagation of indigenous yellowtail catfish (*Pangasius pangasius*): Experiences and challenges. *Aquaculture.*, 523: 735215.

Rathore SS, Murthy HS, Nasren S, Mamun MAA and Rakesh K. 2019. The role of vitamin C as growth promoter and its effect on intestinal histology in monosex nile tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus. J. Exp. Zool. India.*, **22**(1):639-644.

Roberts RJ. 1993. Motile Aeromonad Septicaemia. *In*: Bacterial diseases of fish *Edt*. Inglis V., Roberts R.J. and Bromage N.R. Blackwell scientific publications, Oxford, pp143-155.

Roberts RJ. 2012. The bacteriology of teleost. *In*: Fish Pathology. *Edt.* R. J. Roberts, Blackwell Publishing Ltd. West Sussex, UK, pp 339-381.

Shotts CB and Rimler R. 1973. Medium for the isolation of *Aeromonas hydrophila*. Appl. Microbiol., 26: 550-553.

Shraideh ZA and Najjar HN. 2011. Histological changes in tissues of trachea and lung alveoli of albino rats exposed to the smoke of two types of narghile tobacco products. *Jordan J. Biol. Sci.*, **4**(4):219-224.

Singh AK and Lakra WS. 2012. Culture of *Pangasianodon* hypophthalmus into India: Impacts and present scenario. *Pak. J.* Biol. Sci., **15** (1):19–26.

Siriyappagouder P, Shankar KM, Naveen Kumar BT, Patil R and Byadgi OV. 2014. Evaluation of biofilm of *Aeromonas hydrophila* for oral vaccination of *Clarias batrachus* – a carnivore model. *Fish Shellfish Immunol.*, **41**(2):581–585.

Stratev D, Gurova E, Vashin I and Daskalov H. 2016. Multiplex PCR detection of heamolysin genes in β -heamolytic *Aeromonas hydrophila* strains isolated from fish and fish products. Bulg. J. Agric. Sci., **22**:308-14.

Subagja J, Slembrouck J, Hung LT and Legendre L. 1999. Larval rearing of an Asian catfish *Pangasius hypophthalmus* (Siluroidei Pangasiidae): analysis of precocious mortality and proposition of appropriate treatments. *Aquat. Living Resour.*, **12**(1): 37-44.

Takashima, F. and Hibiya, T. 1995. An atlas of fish histology: normal and pathological features, 2nd Edition. Kodansha Ltd., Tokyo/ Fischer Verlag, Stuttgart/New York.

Vidthayanon C and Hogan Z. 2013. Pangasianodon hypophthalmus. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2013: e.T180689A7649971.

https://www.iucnredlist.org/species/180689/7649971.

Wang G, Clark C, Liu GC, Pucknell C, Munro CK, Kruk TM and Rodgers FG. 2003. Detection and characterization of the hemolysin genes in *Aeromonas hydrophila* and *Aeromonas sobria* by multiplex PCR. *J. Clin. Microbiol.*, **41**(3): 1048-1054.

Wang Y, Lv J, Ma X, Wang D, Ma H, Chang Y and Liang XJ. 2010. Specific hemosiderin deposition in spleen induced by a low dose of cisplatin: altered iron metabolism and its implication as an acute hemosiderin formation model. *Curr. Drug Metab.*, **11**(6): 507-515.

Xia C, Ma ZH, Rahman MH and Wu ZG. 2004. PCR cloning and identification of the β -haemolysin gene of *Aeromonas hydrophila* from freshwater fishes in China. *Aquaculture.*, **229**(1-4): 45-53.

Yogananth N, Bhakyaraj R, Chanthuru A, Anbalagan T and Nila KM. 2009. Detection of virulence gene in *Aeromonas hydrophila* isolated from fish samples using PCR technique. *Glob. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.*, **4**: 51-53.

Yuasa K, Edy BK, Panigoro N and Hatai K. 2003. First isolation of *Edwardsiella ictaluri* from cultured striped catfish *Pangasius hypophthalmus* in Indonesia. *Fish Pathol.*, **38**(4): 181-183.

100

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

Physiological Response and Detection of *Inh2* Gene in Dieng Red Potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) Affected by Frost

Wa Ode Kamillah^{*}, Hermin Pancasakti Kusumaningrum, Rejeki Siti Ferniah , Azalia Puspa Herida, Garinda Linggar Nasansia

Department of Biology, Faculty of Science and Mathematics, Diponegoro University, Semarang 50275, Indonesia

Received: December 8, 2020; Revised: March 9, 2021; Accepted: April 4, 2021

Abstract

In this study, the response of Dieng red potato plants to frost exposure was evaluated physiologically by testing electrolyte leakage and chlorophyll content, and molecularly by detection of *Inh2* gene. The physiological response shows an increased electrolyte leakage rate and a significant decrease in chlorophyll content in plants exposed to frost compared to those grown in normal temperatures. Sequencing of *Inh2* gene identifies four homologous *Solanum tuberosum* alleles. The difference in the order of *Inh2* lies in the gap of 12 bp. Phylogenetic analysis shows that *inh2* gene is in a cluster with INH2 α *C allele and has evolved slowly from a common ancestor with *S. lycopersicum*. This is the first study on the physiological mechanisms of frost tolerance and the sequencing of *Inh2* gene in Dieng red potatoes. Hopefully, this study will provide useful information for the breeding of low-sugar Dieng red potatoes.

Keywords: Dieng, electrolyte leakage, chlorophyll, Inh2, frost

1. Introduction

Potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) includes thousands of varieties that vary in size, shape, pigment, and other characteristics. One of the pigmented potatoes that has been widely cultivated is red potato plant. The glycemic index (GI) value of potato tubers varies widely and depends on the type, storage and serving. Red potato tubers have a lower GI value than other types of potato tubers. The low GI value in red potato tubers reaches 56 when served by boiling and consumed when cold (Eleazu, 2016). Red potato tubers also contain potential nutritional sources in the form of carbohydrates, minerals, vitamins C and B₁ (Beals, 2019). Therefore, choosing red potato tubers to serve as diet food is the best choice. Furthermore, there are pre-harvest factors that affect red potato tubers, namely the temperature of their growing period. Potato plants are very sensitive to frost, so temperature is one of the factors that affect the productivity of red potatoes.

Potato plants cannot tolerate low temperatures and will immediately show symptoms of freezing damage (Che *et al.*, 2020). Potato plants are not able to tolerate the formation of ice in its tissues, either extracellular or intracellular. Leakage of electrolytes from cells often occurs after frost injury (Arvin and Donnelly, 2007; Rooy *et al.*, 2017). Another damage that occurs after an electrolyte leak is a reduction in photosynthesis. Chlorophyll content of plants has a good correlation with the ability of photosynthesis. The reduction in chlorophyll contents in potato plants has been shown to slow down the rate of photosynthesis (Harb and Lahham, 2013; Li *et al.*, 2021). Potato plants exposed to low temperatures will also cause the accumulation of reducing sugars, namely glucose and fructose or cold-induced sweetening, CIS (Datir *et al.*, 2019). Acid invertase activity was the most significant factor in determining the accumulation of fructose and glucose (Stein and Granot, 2019). Acid invertase activity can be controlled post translation by invertase inhibitors. Invertase inhibitor is of two types, the apoplastic invertase inhibitor encoded by *Inh1* gene and the vacuolar invertase inhibitor encoded by *Inh2* gene (Datir, 2020). According to Liu *et al.* (2010), the interaction between acid invertase and vacuolar invertase inhibitor may play an important role in controlling reducing sugars.

Understanding the response of potato plants to frost is essential for the development of cold-resistant crops. Red potatoes used in this research come from the Dieng. This is because air temperature in Dieng during the dry season (June-August) is very low and can reach freezing point in the morning, thus causing frost. The objectives of this study was to determine the physiological response of red potato plants to the amount of electrolyte leakage and chlorophyll content based on its resistance after exposure to frost and to analyze the sequence and compile the phylogenetic tree of Inh2 gene of Dieng red potato plants. The results of this study are expected to be used as supporting data and a first step to breed cold-tolerant red potato plants so that they can be used as diet food by producing low-sugar potatoes through the mechanism of potato plants in inhibiting the formation of reducing sugar.

^{*} Corresponding author. e-mail: no crossponding auther.

2. Materials and Methods

The materials used in this study were a tuber and leaves of Dieng red potato obtained with permission from the Kejajar District Agricultural Extension Center. For determination of electrolyte leakage and chlorophyll content, plants were divided into three groups. Group one, a tuber was planted in a pot and grown at normal temperature 24/31° C (day/ night temperature) in conditions of long days (16 hours of light) and a relative humidity of 65-95%. In the other two groups, plant leaves were taken directly in the field, namely in the Dieng area, and had been exposed to natural frost in the early hours. The two groups exposed to frost were taken at different altitudes, namely 2.110 m above sea level on the hill and 2.064 m above sea level in the valley. Leaf samples taken were immediately put in liquid nitrogen, stored in a styrofoam box filled with ice and testing was carried out immediately. For Inh2 gene detection, healthy red potato leaves were selected, one month old, and very young leaves were taken from the shoot tips. The samples were put in a perforated ziploc bag and put into a styrofoam box filled with ice.

2.1. Determination of Electrolyte Leakage

The method for determining electrolyte leakage follows the method of Campos *et al.* (2003). Potato leaves were cut into discs with an area of 0.5 cm² in each group. The first group came from plants grown at normal temperatures, and the other two groups from plants that grew in nature and were exposed to frost. The leaf discs were then placed in 25 mL of demineralized water, incubated with a room temperature shaking incubator at 200 rpm for two hours. The electrolyte conductivity value C1 is measured with a conductivity meter (ExStih II, EC500, Extech, US). The sample was then heated in an oven for 30 minutes and cooled. The electrolyte conductivity value C2 was measured. Conductivity measurements are carried out 3-5 repetitions. The results of electrolyte leakage are expressed in relative conductivity (C%).

2.2. Determination of Chlorophyll Content

The method of determining chlorophyll content follows the method Liang *et al.* (2017). Potato leaves were prepared 100 mg from each group. The first group came from plants grown at normal temperatures and the other two groups from plants that grew in nature and exposed to frost. The leaves were crushed and homogenized at 10 mL of 80% acetone. Samples were centrifuged for 15 minutes at 10,000 rpm. The supernatant formed was then used to measure the absorbance at 633 nm and 645 nm against the solvent blank (acetone) using a spectrophotometer (UH5300 Spectrophotometer, Hitachi, Japan) with three repetitions. The concentrations of chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b and total chlorophyll were calculated using the following equation from Arnon (1949).

2.3. Genomic DNA Isolation

Genomic DNA isolation from 0.5 g of red potato leaves. Genomic DNA was isolated using the modified

Doyle and Doyle (1987) CTAB method. The quantity of DNA was determined using the Nanodrop 2000 Spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific).

2.4. DNA Amplification

PCR Mix compositions were made in 50 µL. DNA was primer (5'amplified using Inh2 forward CCTTCATCAACTTCTCATTTCTTC-3'), Inh2 reverse primer (5'-GTGCATTGAACGGCAAATTA-3') (Datir et al., 2019). PCR mix is made with Mytaq HS Red Mix as much 50 µL starting with mixing 25 µL Mytaq HS Red Mix; the forward and reverse primers each are 3 µL; DNA template, 2 µL; and ddH₂O, 15µL. The PCR conditions used were 30 seconds of pre-denaturation at 98° C, 15 seconds of denaturation at 98° C, 30 seconds of annealing at 55° C, 30 seconds of elongation at 72° C, and 10 minutes of post-elongation at 72° C carried out in 35 cycles. The PCR product was then subjected to electrophoresis 1% agarose (1x TAE buffer), stained with florosafe and visualized with Gel documentation XR+ system (Bio-Rad).

2.5. DNA sequencing

Analysis of potato DNA sequences using the company 1st BASE and Genetics Science services. The results of the sequences were then analyzed to compare the similarities of sequences available to GenBank through the Basic Alignment Search Tool (BLAST) on NCBI. The putative mRNA and protein sequence using MEGA X and Geneious Prime software. Phylogenetic analysis uses the molecular application ClustalX to align the sample sequences with other organism sequences available on the NCBI website and the MEGA X application to construct phylogenetic trees.

3. Result

3.1. Electrolyte Leakage

In this study, potato plants exposed to frost were taken in two different places, namely at an altitude of 2,100 m above sea level i.e. on a hill and 2,064 m above sea level, i.e. in a valley. Potato sampling in two different places was based on a research done by Chung *et al.* (2006) that cold air from the slopes will descend the slopes and settle in the valley. As a result, frost zones will tend to accumulate at the bottom of the valley. So, it is expected that potato plants that grow in valleys will show higher electrolyte leakage due to the amount of frost compared to potato plants that grow on hills with little frost.

The conductivity test showed that the leaf electrolyte leakage increased due to exposure to frost as shown in Figure 1. There is a significant difference at normal temperature, and the average electrolyte leakage value is around 39,4%. Potato plants exposed to frost in the valleys showed an increase in electrolyte leakage of 96,4%, while potato plants in the hills only reached 85,8%.



Figure 1. Results of electrolyte leakage (%) leaves of Dieng red potato plant leaves due to frost exposure, and plants not exposed to frost. Information: C1= initial conductivity value, C2 = conductivity value after heating and C% = relative conductivity value

3.2. Chlorophyll content

Plants optimize light absorption and photosynthesis through adequate chlorophyll content. Stress at low temperatures is known to affect photosynthesis and reduce the ability of plants to absorb light (Liu *et al.*, 2013). The results of determining the chlorophyll content of potato plants in Figure 2 exposed to frost both in the valley and the hill showed low chlorophyll contents compared to those of potato plants that were not exposed to frost; namely chlorophyll contents reached 7,21 mg.g⁻¹FW. Chlorophyll contents were seen to decrease in potato plants in the valley, namely 1,01 mg.g⁻¹FW compared to those in the hill, namely 1,79 mg.g⁻¹FW.



Figure 2. Results of chlorophyll content (mg.g⁻¹FW) leaves of Dieng red potato plant leaves due to exposure to frost, and plants not exposed to frost

3.3. The Inh2 Gene

The amplification results show good DNA quality with clear bands. The agarose gel showed an invertase inhibitor PCR amplicon of about \pm 600 bp (Figure 3). The size of the potato *S. tuberosum inh2* gene varies widely. The result of DNA amplification in this study is by the report of Datir *et al.* (2019) and Liu *et al.* (2010). Therefore, the actual size of the *Inh2* gene in this study needs to be proven by means of amplified *Inh2* sequencing.

The purpose of Inh2 gene sequencing is to determine the sequence of nucleotide bases and the size of the gene. The sequencing results are then combined, namely the unification of the primary forward Inh2 and reverse Inh2 primary sequences to obtain a complete sequence. The results of the second contig of Inh2 primers showed that the length of the nucleotide base of the Inh2 gene was 630 bp (Figure 4). The sequencing results were then aligned using the NCBI Blast Alignment Search Tool (BLAST) to determine the percentage of homology of the red potato Inh2 gene base sequence obtained with the Inh2 gene sequence database contained in the GenBank (Table 1). The BLAST results show that there are 11 *Solanum* species that have a maximum of 613 nucleotides out of 630 nucleotides.

Probability of mRNA and protein prediction were analyzed using MEGAX and Geneious Prime. The INH2 sequences of Dieng red potatoes were aligned and compared with our identified Inh2 homology (Table 1). The next analysis is to compile a phylogenetic tree which aims to determine the kinship of a species, the amino acid sequences of the Inh2 homologs identified by us (Table 2). The ClustalX software is used for aligning sequences and the software for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. The phylogenetic tree formed in Figure 5 consists of four species (Table 2), namely Dieng red potato, S. tuberosum, S. lycopersicum and Manihot esculenta as an outgroup. Dieng red potatoes are in the same clad with S. tuberosum for INH2α* C. Dieng red potato along with S. tuberosum and other wild potatoes appear to have ancestry from S. lycopersicum (Slugina et al., 2020). Genetic distance shows the kinship relationship between each sequence. The smaller the number of genetic distances, the more linked the sequence is. The genetic distance results of Inh2 gene showed that Dieng red potatoes were closely related to the S. tuberosum INH2alpha* C and INH2alpha* D alleles with a genetic distance of 0.054 and 0.060. This was further followed by S. tuberosum INH2alpha* A, INH2alpha* B.



Figure 3. Visualization of PCR products from the Dieng red potato plant of *Inh2* geneDescription: Line 1; Marker 1 kb; Line 2; Dieng red potato *Inh2* gene

1 eetteateaa titteteatti titteaattit eaaaaaaaa aagtaaaaa aatggagaaa 61 titatteeee atatggage taateeeea titggeeee aacaacgata acaacaaa 121 caacaataat tataateeea taecacgaag taacgaggg gaeeeeatat acteeetatg 181 teteaceee etaaateeg ateeacgag taacgaggt gaggggag aceeetata acteeetatg 181 teteaceace etacaateeg ateeacgag taacgaggt gaggggag ateeetata 241 caeeetagge eteateetgg tggaegeggt gaaateaaag teeatagaaa taatggaaaa 301 aataaaagag etagagaaat egaaceetga giggegggee eeaettagee agtgitaege 361 ggegtataae geegteetae gageetgatg aaeggtagee gitgaageet taaagaagg 421 tgeeeetaa titgeegaag atggeatgga tgatgitgt gitgaageee aaaettgiga 481 gatagitti aattatata ataaatigga titteeaatt teeaattiga giagggaaat 541 aattgaaeta teaaaagitg etaaateeat aatagaatg tittitagaa gggggaaaaa 601 aaagtitggg gittaattig eegiteaatg

Figure 4. The sequence of Inh2 gene in Dieng red potato plant

Table 2. BLAST results of Dieng red polato plant <i>Inn2</i> gene on NC	1 NCE	gene on	Inh2	plant	potato	ieng red	s of]	results	AST	BL	ble 2.	T
--	-------	---------	------	-------	--------	----------	--------	---------	-----	----	--------	---

Organism	Description	Query coverage	Percent identity	Accession
S. tuberosum	Inh2alpha*C	100%	97,30%	FJ810208
S. tuberosum	Inh2alpha*D	99%	97,29%	FJ810209
S. tuberosum	Inh2alpha*B	99%	95,44%	FJ810207
S. tuberosum	Inh2alpha*A	99%	95,30%	FJ810206
S. lycopersicum	Inh2	92%	88,85%	NM_001329220

Table 3. Predictions of amino acid composition, molecular weight and isoelectric point of Vacuolar Invertase Inhibitor

Organism	Description	Amino acid	Molecular weight	Isoelectric point	Accession
Dieng Red Potato	Inh2	179	20.28	5.3	
S. tuberosum	Inh2a*A	181	20.51	4.57	ACO35697
S. tuberosum	Inh2a*B	180	20.37	4.69	ACO35697
S. tuberosum	Inh2a*C	178	20.14	4.57	ACO35697
S. tuberosum	Inh2a*D	178	20.13	4.47	ACO35697
S. lycopersicum	Inh2	175	19.90	5.00	ACO35697



0.20

Figure 5. Phylogenetic tree of Dieng red potato Inh2 gene

Table 4. Genetic range of Dieng red potato Inh2 gene with several Solanum comparators from NCBI.

1 ubl									
No	Species	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
1	S. tuberosum Inh2alpha*A (FJ810205.1)								
2	S. tuberosum Inh2alpha*B (FJ810207.1)	0,000							
3	S. tuberosum Inh2alpha*C (FJ810208.1)	0,123	0,123						
4	S. tuberosum Inh2alpha*D (FJ810209.1)	0,060	0,060	0,118					
5	M. esculenta (KM979346.1)	1,543	1,543	1,530	1,507				
6	S.lycopersicum (NM001329220.1)	0,270	0,270	0,280	0,298	1,373			
7	Dieng Red Potato	0,073	0,073	0,054	0,060	1,596	0,254		

4. Discussion

In this study, Dieng red potatoes affected by frost were analyzed physiologically and molecularly. Physiologically, electrolyte leakage and chlorophyll content were estimated. When plants experience frost stress, the cell membrane structure will be damaged. The level of damage to the cell membrane can be observed from the electrolyte leakage value using a conductivity meter. Relative conductivity is an effective indicator to evaluate the responsiveness of plants to low temperature stress (Liu *et al.*, 2013). Potatoes exposed to frost cause the cell membrane to change from a relatively liquid state to a more rigid state, resulting in reduced membrane permeability. For such experiments, the plants are subjected to frost compared to normal temperatures. The relative electrolyte leakage of leaves increases rapidly in the presence of frost as shown in Figure 1. Research on electrolyte leakage in potato plants due to low

temperatures was started by Lindstrom and Carter (1985). Temperatures -4 ° C indicates a large number of electrolyte leakage (80-90%) for each potato crop compared to controls stored at 0° C. In 2007, Arvin and Donnelly reported that the average value of potato electrolyte leakage due to cold stress was 61,9% for several cultivars of S. *tuberosum* and reached 47,9% for wild potato species. Plasma membrane is considered to be the site of the main attack when cold injury occurs (Huang *et al.*, 2014). As a result, lipids in the plasma membrane will undergo a transition phase. Liquid crystals or the formation of liquid into a gel or solid will affect the membrane permeability when the temperature drops (Huang *et al.*, 2014; Al-Shuneigat *et al.*, 2015).

Injury due to low temperatures also causes a decrease chlorophyll content thereby affecting plant in photosynthesis (Liu et al., 2013). In plants that are cold tolerant, a decrease in photosynthesis will affect cold acclimation and prevent the attainment of maximum freezing tolerance. This is because the cold acclimation process requires a lot of energy due to changes in metabolism resulting from exposure to low temperatures. Potato plants are very sensitive to frost and cannot tolerate coldness (Chang et al., 2014). As a result, there will be a decrease in chlorophyll content (Figure 2). The decrease in chlorophyll content of leaves exposed to frost in the valley was higher than that of the leaves on the hill. This is suitably described Chung et al. (2006) that the valley floor area accumulates more frost, so that the presence of frost causes the accumulation of chlorophyl to be low. Results of determination of potato chlorophyll content in this study are in line with research published previously by Li et al. (2021) which showed a similar reduction in chlorophyll content after exposure to low temperatures. The results of research by Li et al. (2021) showed that the total chlorophyll content decreased with increasing treatment duration, indicating that chlorophyll synthesis was inhibited during low temperatures.

Inh2 gene encodes the vacuolar invertase inhibitor protein that plays a role in inhibiting the activity of invertase acid. The BLAST results show the maximum percent identity is 97,30%, and the query coverage is 100%. Dieng red potato inh2 gene along with the alleles INH2alpha* A, INH2alpha* B, INH2alpha* C, and INH2alpha* D of the species S. tuberosum shows similarities to the sequence starting at base 42. The difference in the next Inh2 sequence lies in the gap of 12 bp. Analysis of the predicted protein sequences in Dieng red potatoes showed 178 amino acid residues with a calculated molecular mass of 20.28 kDa and an isoelectric point of 8,866. The INH2 protein prediction of S. tuberosum did not show different variations; INH2alpha*A (181aa, 20,51 kDa), INH2alpha*B (180aa, 20,37 kDa), INH2alpha*C (178aa, 20,14 kDa), INH2alpha*D (178aa, 4,47 kDa) with isoelectric point values between 4,47 to 4,69. The high isoelectric point value in Dieng red potatoes is due to the presence of amino acid groups, namely lysine, arginine and histidine which are incompatible with S. tuberosum. The isoelectric point value is strongly influenced by the ionized amino acid groups, namely arginine, aspartate, cysteine, histidine, glutamate, lysine, and glutamate (Mohanta et al., 2019). The point of electricity of a protein is very important in understanding the biochemical function of proteins.

Phylogenetic tree shows groupings with a bootstrap value of 10000 (Figure 5). The *Inh2* gene was first sequenced in the tobacco plant (Greiner *et al.*, 1998). Currently, the *Inh2* gene has been identified in many plants, such as *Arabidopsis* (Link *et al.*, 2004), corn (Bate *et al.*, 2004), soybeans, sweet potatoes, rice, and tomatoes (Rausch and Greiner 2004; Tymowska-Lalanne and Kreis, 1998). The *Inh2* gene is found in all parts of potato plant. During cold storage on potatoes, vacuolar invertase inhibitors accumulate in CIS-resistant cultivars rather than susceptible cultivars. Increasing the amount of vacuolar invertase inhibitor can contribute to suppressing the activity of invertase acid and preventing the cleavage of sucrose (Datir *et al.*, 2019).

5. Conclusion

Dieng red potato is a crop that is sensitive to frost. Frost injury causes changes in membrane fluidity and decreased photosynthetic capacity. This study shows that the exposure to frost led to increase in electrolyte leakage and decreases leaf chlorophyll levels. Plants that have been exposed to frost in the valley and on the hill show no significant value for physiological changes. This study provides an understanding of the physiological responses of Dieng red potato plants after exposure to frost on a field scale. Further research should include other physiological parameters on a laboratory scale.

The Inh2 gene can be found in the Dieng red potato plant and evolutionary analysis shows that Inh2 Dieng red potato is in the same clad as *S. tuberosum*, so its role is very important in inhibiting invertase acid activity and regulating sucrose metabolism. Studying the diversity of Inh2 gene sequences is very important, especially Dieng red potatoes. This is because the demand for Dieng potatoes will increase every year so that a good cultivar is needed, especially one that can cope with stress due to frost. It is hoped that our research results contain information that can be used further by plant breeders to develop good potato cultivars.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by funding by the Master's Thesis Grant from the Directorate General of Higher Education, Ministry of Education and Culture of the Republic of Indonesia. Dieng red potato plants are supplied from District Agricultural Extension Center. Kejajar, Central Java, Indonesia.

References

Al-Shuneigat JM, Al-Tarawneh IN, Al-Qudah MA, Al-Sarayreh SA, Al-Saraireh YM and Alsharafa KY. 2015. The chemical composition and the antibacterial properties of *Ruta graveolens* L. essential oil grown in Northern Jordan. *Jordan J Biol Sci*, **8** (2): 139-143.

Arnon DI. 1949. Copper enzymes in isolated chloroplasts. Polyphenoloxidase in *Beta vulgaris*. *Plant Physiol*, **24** (1): 1-15.

Arvin MJ and Donnelly DJ. 2008. Screening potato cultivars and wild species to abiotic stresses using an electrolyte leakage bioassay. *J Agric Sci Technol*, **10** (1): 33-42.

Bate NJ, Niu X, Wang Y, Reimann KS and Helentjaris TG. 2004. An invertase inhibitor from maize localizes to the embryo surrounding region during early kernel development. *Plant Physiol*, **134** (1): 246-254.

Beals KA. 2019. Potatoes, nutrition and health. *Am J Potato Res*, **96** (2): 102-110.

Campos PS, Quartin V, Ramalho JC and Nunes MA. 2003. Electrolyte leakage and lipid degradation account for cold sensitivity in leaves of *Coffea* sp. plants. *J Plant Physiol*, **160** (3): 283-292.

Chang DC, Sohn HB, Cho JH, Im JS, Jin YI, Do GR, Kim SJ, Cho HM and Lee YB. 2014. Freezing and frost damage of potato plants: a case study on growth recovery, yield response, and quality changes. *Potato Res*, **57** (2): 99-110.

Chung U, Seo HH, Hwang KH, Hwang BS, Choi J, Lee JT and Yun JI. 2006. Minimum temperature mapping over complex terrain by estimating cold air accumulation potential. *Agr Forest Meteorol*, **137** (**1**-2): 15-24.

Che Y, Zhang N, Zhu X, Li S, Wang S and Si H. 2020. Enhanced tolerance of the transgenic potato plants overexpressing Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase to low temperature. *Sci Hortic*, **261**: 1-6

Datir SS. 2020. Invertase inhibitors in potato: towards a biochemical and molecular understanding of cold-induced sweetening. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr*, 1-15.

Datir SS, Mirikar D and RaviKumar A. 2019. Sequence diversity and in silico structure prediction of the vacuolar invertase inhibitor gene from potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) cultivars differing in sugar content. *Food Chem*, **295**: 403-411.

Doyle JJ and Doyle JL. 1987. A rapid procedure for DNA purification from small quantities of fresh leaf tissue. *Phytochem Bull*, **19** (1): 11-15.

Eleazu CO. 2016. The concept of low glycemic index and glycemic load foods as panacea for type 2 diabetes mellitus; prospects, challenges and solutions. *Afr Health Sci*, **16** (2): 468-479.

Greiner S, Krausgrill S and Rausch T. 1998. Cloning of a tobacco apoplasmic invertase inhibitor: proof of function of the recombinant protein and expression analysis during plant development. *Plant Physiol*, **116** (2):733-742.

Harb AM and Lahham JN. 2013. Response of Three Accessions of Jordanian *Aegilops Crassa* Boiss and Durum Wheat to Controlled Drought. *Jordan J Biol Sci*, **6** (2):151-157.

Huang B, DaCosta M and Jiang Y. 2014. Research advances in mechanisms of turfgrass tolerance to abiotic stresses: from physiology to molecular biology. *Crit Rev Plant Sci*, **33** (2-3): 141-189.

Li H, Luo W, Ji R, Xu Y, Xu G, Qiu S and Tang H. 2021. A Comparative Proteomic Study of Cold Responses in Potato Leaves. *Heliyon*, **7** (2): 1-12

Liang Y, Urano D, Liao KL, Hedrick TL, Gao Y and Jones AM. 2017. A nondestructive method to estimate the chlorophyll content of *Arabidopsis* seedlings. *Plant Methods*, **13** (1): 1-10.

Lindstrom OM and Carter JV. 1985. Injury to Potato Leaves Exposed to Subzero Temperatures in The Absence Of Freezing. *Planta*, **164** (**4**): 512-516.

Link M, Rausch T and Greiner S. 2004. In *Arabidopsis thaliana*, the invertase inhibitors AtC/VIF1 and 2 exhibit distinct target enzyme specificities and expression profiles. *FEBS Lett*, **573** (1-**3**):105-109.

Liu W, Yu K, He T, Li F, Zhang D and Liu J. 2013. The low temperature induced physiological responses of *Avena nuda* L., a cold-tolerant plant species. *Sci World J*, **2013**: 1-8

Liu X, Song B, Zhang H, Li XQ, Xie C and Liu J. 2010. Cloning and molecular characterization of putative invertase inhibitor genes and their possible contributions to cold-induced sweetening of potato tubers. *Mol Genet Genomics*, **284** (3): 147-159.

Mohanta TK, Khan A, Hashem A, Abd_Allah EF and Al-Harrasi A. 2019. The molecular mass and isoelectric point of plant proteomes. *BMC Genomics*, **20** (1): 1-14.

Nosratti I, Heidari H, Muhammadi G and Saeidi M. 2016. Germination and emergence characteristics of annual ground cherry (*Physalis divaricata*). *Jordan J Biol Sci*, **9** (2): 131-138.

Rausch T and Greiner S. 2004. Plant protein inhibitors of invertases. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, **1696** (2): 253-261.

Rooy SSB, Salekdeh GH, Ghabooli M, Gholami M and Karimi R. 2017. Cold-induced physiological and biochemical responses of three grapevine cultivars differing in cold tolerance. *Acta Physiol Plant*, **39** (**12**): 1-13.

Slugina MA, Kochieva EZ and Shchennikova AV. 2020. Polymorphism and Phylogeny of the Vacuolar Invertase Inhibitor Gene INH2 Homologs in Solanaceae Species. *Biology Bull*, **47** (5): 474-481.

Tymowska-Lalanne Z and Kreis M. 1998. Expression of the *Arabidopsis thaliana* invertase gene family. *Planta*, **207** (2): 259-265.

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

Antibacterial Activity of The Fungal Metabolite *Trichoderma longibrachiatum* against Multidrug-Resistant *Klebsiella pneumoniae* and Methicillin-Resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*

Sri Sedjati ^{1,4,*}, Ambariyanto Ambariyanto^{1,2}, Agus Trianto ^{1,2}, Ali Ridlo¹, Endang Supriyantini¹, Agus Sabdono ^{1,3}, Ocky Karna Radjasa^{1,3}, Teguh Firmansyah²

¹Marine Science Department, Faculty of Fisheries and Marine Science; ²Integrated Laboratory,³Tropical Marine Biotechnology Laboratory, Diponegoro University, Semarang, Central Java 50275, Indonesia; ⁴Marine Science Techno Park, Diponegoro University, Jepara, Central Java 59427, Indonesia

Received: December 10, 2020; Revised: March 6, 2021; Accepted: March 15, 2021

Abstract

Extracts from sponge-associated fungus *Trichoderma longibrachiatum* have been studied and contain antibacterial compounds which can inhibit several pathogenic multidrug-resistant organisms. This study aims to determine the active fraction of the extract which is antibacterial against the gram-negative Multi Drug-Resistant *Klebsiella. pneumoniae* pathogen and gram-positive Methicillin-Resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. In this study, the fungus was cultivated using solid media of malt extract agar (MEA) for 6-9 days (24 hours dark, static, pH 5.6, 60 % salinity, and 27 °C). The mycelia and media were macerated by methanol and then partitioned using ethyl acetate. Active fraction tracing was carried out using the bioautography method and then isolated by the open column chromatography method. Antibacterial activity testing was done using the Broth Dilution method to determine the Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC). The results of the study showed that ethyl acetate extract contained one active fraction (R_f value = 0.14), which has reactive characteristics on vanillin reagent and absorbed ultraviolet light (λ 375.5 nm absorbance peak). The active fraction was able to inhibit the growth of MDR *K. pneumoniae* and MRSA bacteria at the same MIC value, i.e. 256 µg mL⁻¹. In conclusion, an active fraction of *T. longibrachiatum* can be developed as an antibacterial against MDR *K. pneumoniae* and MRSA.

Keywords: Sponge-Associated Fungus, Active Fraction, Antibacterial, Minimum Inhibitory Concentration

1. Introduction

Klebsiella pneumoniae (K. pneumoniae) is an opportunistic pathogen which can be categorized in gramnegative group, non-motile, facultatively anaerobic, and rod-shaped bacterium. These bacteria produce Extended Spectrum *β*-Lactamases (ESBL) which can degrade certain antibiotics (\beta-lactam group), such as penicillin and cephalosporin, so they become inactive (Farhat et al., 2009). Also, it is protected by a capsule (composed of polysaccharides), both of which will further increase its pathogenicity. The infectious diseases caused by them are such as liver abscess, bacteremia, lung infection, acute leukemia, meningitis, and the bacteria may even cause death (Turton et al., 2010; Adwan et al., 2020)). Hospitalized patients with weak immunity are the main target for this bacterial attack. In current conditions, there is a tendency to increase the prevalence of infection caused by K. pneumonia along with the decrease in sensitivity to antibiotics used to treat the infection (Li et al., 2014; Santana et al., 2016). According to Adwan et al. (2020), the prevalence of capsular polysaccharide genes among K. pneumoniae and high level of drug resistance will make bacterial infections are increasingly widespread, both in Staphylococcus aureus (S. aureus) is another cause of some dangerous infection. S. aureus is gram-positive, coccus-shaped, non-spore-forming, non-motile, facultative anaerobes, and forms a biofilm. In particular, biofilm formation by Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) infection makes difficult treatment and causes a hard prognosis (Sato *et al.*, 2019). For a long time, the infection has been treated by such semi-synthetic penicillin antibiotics as methicillin, and it is considered the first representative of multidrug-resistant bacteria (MDR) since 1961s (Gajdács, 2019). MRSA incidence and prevalence are more likely to occur in health care/hospital settings area than in the community environment. These bacteria produce enterotoxins (exotoxins), ESBL enzymes, and immune modulators (Abbas *et al.*, 2015).

According to Narendran and Kathiresan (2016) as well as Basiriya *et al.* (2017), some species of *Trichoderma* sp. have been screened and eventually have the ability to synthesis some antibacterial compounds. Moreover, some studies reported that ethyl acetate extract of *Trichoderma* sp. has antibacterial activity against pathogens (*Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Escherichia coli, Bacillus cereus*, and *S. aureus*,). These fungi isolated from the

the hospital environment and community which leads to failure of treatment.

^{*} Corresponding author e-mail: sedjati69@gmail.com.

mangrove rhizosphere could be used as a producer of secondary metabolites to be developed into a new antibiotic against resistant bacteria. This was also stated by Synytsya et al. (2017) who investigated antibacterial compounds derived from ethanol and petroleum ether extracts. Some other researchers stated that the potential of antibacterial compounds produced by Trichoderma sp., such as trichodin A and B, pyridoxatin have antibacterial activity against Staphylococcus epidermidis and S. aureus (Wu et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2020), and trichodermaquinone to be antibacterial compound against MRSA (Khamthong et al., 2012). There are many classes of secondary metabolite considered as antibacterial compounds from marine fungi, such as glycopeptides, peptides, proteins, lipopeptides, aminolipopeptides, polyketides, polybrominated biphenyl ether, cyclic depsipeptides, terpenes, pentaketides, alkaloids. diketopiperazins, anthraquinones, chromones, steroids, lactones, quinolone derivatives, trisindole derivatives, macrolactam, and phenol derivatives (Thomas et al., 2010; Nalini et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2020).

A review by Li *et al.* (2019) showed that *Trichoderma* spp. can produce many metabolites with different bioactivities. These fungi are commonly distributed in many ecosystems, including the sea. The investigation by Sedjati *et al.* (2020) proved that ethyl acetate extract of sponge-association fungus *T. longibrachiatum* contains compounds that have antibacterial activity against MRSA and *K. pneumoniae*. Based on these findings, this study aims to determine the active fraction in ethyl acetate extract of *T. longibrachiatum* using bioautographical methods by the guidelines of its bioactivity test results.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Fungus Isolate

The sample used in the study was from the spongeassociated fungus obtained from Falajava Beach, Ternate Island, North Maluku, Indonesia $(00^{\circ}47'09.12"$ N; $127^{\circ}23'21.76"$ E coordinates) with TE-PF-03.1 code. The fungi have been identified molecularly using Internal Transcribed Spacer (ITS) rDNA sequence, and confirmed as *T. longibrachiatum* macro and microscopically (Sedjati *et al.*, 2020).

2.2. Bacterial Pathogen

The test bacteria used in this experimental study were MDR *K. pneumoniae* obtained from Microbiology Laboratory, Diponegoro National Hospital, and MRSA from the University of Indonesia. Before being used for antibacterial tests, pathogenic bacteria were recultured first. The process was done by taking bacterial stock colonies and transferring them into Mueller-Hinton Broth (MHB; Oxoid) and further incubated at 37°C for 24 hours.

2.3. Fungus Cultivation

Fungus cultivation according to the method by Sedjati *et al.* (2020). *T. longibrachiatum* isolate coded TE-PF-03.1 was subcultured using Malt Extract Agar (MEA; Merck). Then, the mycelia were taken about 2 mm in diameter and cultivated on new MEA media. The treatment of cultivation periods was carried out at 6,7,8, and 9 days (static, 24 hours in dark, pH 5.6, salinity 60‰,

temperature 27°C). MEA preparation was conducted by using sterile seawater (solid, 20 mL media/Petri dish).

2.4. Extraction and Determining Extract Weight

After the cultivation period finished, the media and the mycelia were cut into small pieces and then macerated with methanol (1:1v/v), filtered using Whatman paper no. 42 and the filtrate were evaporated at a rotary evaporator with 40°C and low pressure. Furthermore, partitioning of the fungal extract was done using methanol-distilled water (50%) and ethyl acetate (1:1v/v). Moreover, each fraction was evaporated using rota vapor to be methanol and ethyl acetate extracts, and then these were weighed.

2.5. Profiling of Secondary Metabolites

The Thin Layer Chromatography (TLC) method (Harborne, 1984) was used for profiling chemical extracts. There were in total 10 µl of extract solution in methanol (1 mg mL⁻¹) was spotted on the baseline of the TLC plate (Merck, silica gel 60 F254). The mobile phases used were sequential based on polarity levels, i.e. a mixture of nhexane and ethyl acetate (4:1; 3:2; 2:3; 1:4, and 0:5). Spot identification using the value of Rf (Retention Factor) and spraying with staining reagents. After the elution process, TLC was visualized by UV light (365 nm), 2% vanillin-H₂SO₄, 0.25% ninhydrin in acetone, and 1% ferric (III) chloride in methanol (Harborne, 1984; Sen et al., 2012; Trianto et al., 2019). Furthermore, the TLC plate was heated at 110 °C for 2-3 minutes. The same method was used to detect the active antibacterial fraction after the isolation process, along with an additional absorption profile against UV light (λ200-400 nm) using a UV-Vis spectrophotometer.

2.6. Antibacterial Activity Test

The antibacterial activity test was conducted using a disc diffusion assay method to determine the inhibition zone against pathogen growth. Pathogenic bacteria were cultured on Mueller-Hinton Agar (MHA; Oxoid) with an initial density equivalent to 0.5 McFarland (1.5 x10⁸ CFU mL⁻¹). Extract in the dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) solvent was tested against pathogenic bacteria. 10 μ L of extract solution was dropped onto the sterile disc paper (6 mm diameter; Oxoid) with 500 μ g disc⁻¹ concentration. The negative control used was DMSO, while the positive control used was chloramphenicol (30 μ g disc⁻¹; Oxoid). The inhibition zone was measured after 24 hours of incubation at 37 °C (Trianto *et al.*, 2017).

2.7. Bioautography Test

The bioassay was done using contact techniques (Contact Bioautography) as the method done by Sakunpak and Sueree (2018) with minor modifications. Pathogenic bacteria were cultured on MHA media with 1.5×10^8 CFU mL⁻¹ initial density. The extract in ethyl acetate solvent (10 µL, 10 mg mL⁻¹ concentration) was spotted on the TLC surface baseline and eluted with a suitable mobile phase to produce perfectly separated spots. The TLC plate was applied with silica surface attached to the MHA media surface (facing downward) and left for 60 minutes. Furthermore, the TLC plate was removed from the test bacteria medium and the Petri dishes were closed. All processes were carried out for 24 hours at 37 °C and the formation of the inhibition zone around the TLC spot was

carefully observed. The spots around which the next inhibition zone appears were called an active fraction.

2.8. Active Fraction Isolation

The active fractions found were isolated using the open column chromatography method with the appropriate mobile phase (referring to the TLC profile). The column was filled with silica gel (60–120 mesh) mixed with nhexane: ethyl acetate (2:3) solvent. The extract was dissolved in the solvent and was slowly being loaded on the top surface of the silica gel. The extract was then eluted using a solvent sequence based on the polarity increase. Furthermore, the eluate coming out was collected using a test tube (every 10 mL of eluate), checked again using the TLC method, and the same eluates were put together. The eluates containing active fraction were concentrated at a rotary evaporator for further testing.

2.9. Minimum Inhibitory Concentration Test

Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC) test was conducted based on the Broth Dilution method. MIC determination refers to the method proposed by Sowjanya et al. (2015) and Fajarningsih et al. (2018) using 96-well microplates with resazurin (Sigma-Aldrich) as an indicator of the viability of the test bacteria (REMA assay). A total of 100 µL of the extract solution in the DMSO solvent with the highest concentration (2,048 μ g mL⁻¹) was filled in the first well in certain rows. The next well was filled with 50 µL of sterile MHB nutrients. The 50 µL test material was transferred from the first well to the next well to reach serial dilution (at wells no. 1-10). Then, 30 µl of resazurin solution (0.02% in distilled water) was added to each well. At last, 10 µl of the bacterial suspension (1.5 x10⁸ CFU mL⁻¹) was added to each well. Chloramphenicol was used as a positive control (the highest concentration was at 64 μ g mL⁻¹) and DMSO as a negative control (at well no. 11). The well contained MHB without extract as growth media control (at well no. 12). The microplate was incubated at 37 °C for 24 hours. After the incubation period, the well functioning as growth control would appear pink. The MIC value was determined based on the lowest concentration which could inhibit the growth of the tested bacteria.

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Assessment of Antibacterial Potential

T. longibrachiatum species is one of the fungi species which are easy to cultivate. It can grow well in MEA and modified media. The modified media is prepared by replacing malt extract with a cheaper material, namely fish and cassava extracts. All of them produce secondary metabolites that have antibacterial activities, but the best is obtained from ethyl acetate extract of fungus cultivated with MEA. The best antibacterial potential achieved is against pathogens K. pneumoniae and MRSA (Sedjati et al., 2020). Data from the results of this study indicated that the secondary metabolite product of T. longibrachiatum cultivated in MEA was mostly in the form of methanol extract (polar compound) and only a small part of them was ethyl acetate extract (semi-polar to non-polar compound). The weight of fungal extract is based on the polarity of its secondary metabolites after 6-9 days cultivation periods described in (Figure 1a). Ethyl acetate

extract was produced in only small amounts. On the other hand, the ethyl acetate extract has antibacterial activity against these two pathogens as shown in (Figure 1b). The greatest potential as an antibacterial was seen in the ethyl acetate extract from the fungus which had been cultivated for 9 days.



Figure 1. Characteristics of *T. longibrachiatum* extracts: (a) Extract weight on polarity basis; (b) Antibacterial potential of ethyl acetate extract against MDR pathogens *K. pneumoniae* and MRSA at a concentration of 500 μ g disc⁻¹ (note: CP= Chloramphenicol, at a concentration of 30 μ g disc⁻¹)

Some synthesized fungal secondary metabolites are only in small amounts because they are not for the main energy supply needed by the fungus and are only made at suboptimal conditions as a response to environmental pressure (Nielsen and Nielsen, 2017). The peak of secondary metabolite production in this study occurs when the fungal life cycle was in a stationary phase. This statement conforms to several research results stating that the fungus has entered a stationary period on day 6 to 9 after being cultivated (Gliseida et al., 2013; Arumugam et al., 2015). Methanol extract seemed to predominate over the extract of T. longibraciatum. However, when tested for antagonists against K. pneumoniae and MRSA at a concentration of 500 µg disc⁻¹, they did not show antibacterial activity. This fact is similar to the research result of Leylaie and Zafari (2018). In general, the ethyl acetate extract metabolite of the T. longibrachiatum is more likely to be antibacterial than its methanol extract. According to the statement of Chamekh et al. (2019), methanol extract is presumed to contain enzymes

synthesized by *T. longibrachiatum* for external digestion, along with several units of saccharides, amines/peptides, fatty acids/glycerol which are hydrolysis results of organic compounds in the media. Polar metabolites dissolved in methanol consist of enzymes (such as amylase, protease, and lipase) which are synthesized by fungi to degrade the nutrients in the media. Based on the research of Massadeh *et al.* (2010), the fungi can utilize a variety of carbon sources and produce various ligninolytic and cellulolytic enzymes. Added by Muthulakshmi *et al.* (2011), protease is produced by fungi from the first day of cultivation and reaches its peak on the 7th day (wheat bran as a media, pH 5.0, temperature 30^oC)

3.2. Secondary Metabolite of Fungal Extract

Chemical compounds contained in ethyl acetate extract of *T. longibraciatum* which was cultivated for 9 days can be traced based on its TLC profile as shown in Figure 2. Only ethyl acetate extract was used for the next stage of research since methanol extract is not potentially antibacterial. The best spot separation was seen in the results of TLC with a mobile phase of n-hexane and ethyl acetate (2:3) as seen in Figure 2. Based on the number of spots that appeared, at least 5 compounds were detected with R_f values: 0.14, 0.26, 0.57, 0.71, and 0.89. As congenial with the order of R_f values, the compound with the smallest R_f is the most non-polar.



Figure 2. TLC Profile of ethyl acetate extract using mobile phase of n-hexane and ethyl acetate (2:3): (a) Visualization results with 2% vanillin-H₂SO₄; (b) Visualization results with 365 nm UV light

Compound prediction in ethyl acetate extract of T. longibrachiatum was traced based on previous studies' references. The spot looks fluorescent blue when exposed to UV light indicating that the organic compound has a double bond (polyene or conjugated compound). The increased wavelength of the UVs (200-400 nm) absorbed indicates that the number of double bonds also increased (Hamilton-Miller, 1973; Mohammed, 2018). Besides, compounds reacting positively with the vanillin indicates the presence of carbonyl functional groups that contain a carbon-oxygen double bond (aldehydes, ketones). Accordingly, these compounds probably are from terpenoids, fatty acids/essential oils, steroids, flavonoids, or phenolic groups. A compound that reacts negatively to ninhydrin shows that it is not a nitrogen compound or its derivative. In contrast, negative to ferric (III) chloride indicates that the compound does not have a phenol functional group (Harborne, 1984; Jork, 1990). In this study, several spots in the TLC profile of ethyl acetate extract reacted positively to 365 nm UV light and vanillin reagent, but all of them reacted negatively to ninhydrin and ferric (III) chloride (as shown in Figure 2).

3.3. 3.3. Active Fraction as Antibacterial Against K. pneumoniae and MRSA

After an bioautography test was conducted on *K*. *pneumoniae* and MRSA pathogens, it was found that the spot with the smallest R_f (0.14) was the active fraction as antibacterial. The results of the bioautography test will help detect the presence of antibacterial compounds by the formation of an inhibition zone around the active spot as shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Determination of active fraction as antibacterial : (a) Bioautographical results of ethyl acetate extract against MRSA and MDR *K. pneumoniae*, (b) Characteristic of antibacterial active fraction based on spectra patterns towards UV light absorbance

The active fraction was reactive to vanillin and 365 nm UV light on TLC visualization results and was strengthened by the active fraction spectra pattern using a UV-Vis spectrophotometer which has λ 375.5 nm absorption peak (illustrated in Figure 3b). Based on the description of this characteristic, the active fraction is likely thought to have a carbonyl group and contain conjugated double bonds.

3.4. Minimum Inhibitory Concentration of Active Fraction

The cell wall of gram-negative bacteria is thinner, composed of peptidoglycan, 2 layers of phospholipids, and is protected by a lipopolysaccharide capsule. Grampositive bacteria have thicker walls composed of peptidoglycan and lipoteichoic acid, and 1 layer of phospholipids (Lima *et al.*, 2013). Antibacterial activity of the active fraction against MDR *K. pneumoniae* and MRSA pathogens resulted in a similar MIC value, i.e. at 256 µg mL⁻¹. *K. pneumoniae* bacteria are categorized as gram-negative bacteria, while MRSA is gram-positive. Both bacteria are still sensitive to chloramphenicol

antibacterial since their MIC value is less than 8 μ g mL⁻¹ (CLSI, 2017).

Chloramphenicol is a commercial broad-spectrum antibacterial. Moreover, chloramphenicol can damage important metabolic pathogens by binding the 50S ribosome subunit and blocking essential ribosomal function. The interaction of the nitrobenzyl functional group from chloramphenicol and the bacterial RNA nitrogen base may interfere with the formation of peptides during the process of protein biosynthesis done by bacteria (Kostopoulou *et al.*, 2011).

The active fraction resulted from this study had a carbonyl group and also alternating double bonds (conjugation). The aldehyde and ketone carbonyl groups are highly polarized because carbon is less electronegative than oxygen. Carbon contains a partial positive charge (δ^+), while oxygen has a partial negative charge (δ). Hence, the carbonyl group can function as a nucleophile and an electrophile. The conjugation of a double bond to the carbonyl group will transmit the electrophilic character of the carbonyl to the beta-carbon of the other double bonds, or popularly called charge delocalization (Sarker and Nahar, 2007). Charged compounds ions will make them easier to interact with bacterial cell wall so that they can penetrate the cytoplasm membrane.

The mechanism of action of the active fraction as an antibacterial is assumed to be related to its ability to form electrophile sites, i.e. C with δ^+ partial charge which will electrostatically interact with the phospholipid head (PO₄⁻) on the surface of the bacterial cell wall. According to Malanovic and Lohner (2016), a positive charge is essential for the initial binding to the surface of the bacterial membrane with a negative charge, which allows it to enter the bacterial cell membrane. Furthermore, these active compounds can affect the metabolic activity of bacterial cells which will eventually cause growth retardation or even death of pathogens.

T. longibrachiatum fungus does not only live in association with sponges in the sea. However, it has also been previously found in soft corals from the water of Panjang Island, Central Java. In addition, its ethyl acetate extract was able to inhibit the growth of MDR-S. haemolyticus and produced a 12.2 mm inhibition zone at a concentration of 300 µg disc⁻¹ (Sabdaningsih et al., 2017). The secondary metabolite from the same fungus has been published by Sperry et al. (1998). The ethyl acetate extract of T. longibrachiatum is associated with Haliclona sp. from Sulawesi water sponge containing an epoxysorbicillinol (C₁₄H₁₆O₅), is a member of sorbicillinoids (vertinoids) polyketide compounds. According to Harned and Volp (2011); Meng et al. (2016); Salo et al. (2016), sorbillinoids are secondary metabolites of hexaketide that undergo cyclization at the carboxylate terminus. Its chemical structure has several double bonds and carbonyl groups. The results of a study from Corral et al. (2018) showed that some of these have antibacterial activity, such as sorbicillin (C14H16O3), sorbicillinol $(C_{14}H_{16}O_4),$ dihydrosorbicillin $(C_{14}H_{18}O_4),$ oxosorbicillinol (C₁₄H₁₆O₅), bisvertinol (C₂₈H₃₄O₈), and bisvertinolone (C₂₈H₃₂O₉). These compounds can inhibit pathogens Acinetobacter baumannii, P. aeruginosa, S. aureus, and K. pneumoniae.

4. Conclusion

T. longibrachiatum fungi extracts contain an active fraction that can be developed as an antibacterial against gram-negative pathogens *MDR K. pneumoniae* and grampositive MRSA. The active fraction is assumed to contain a carbonyl functional group and a conjugated double bond. The mechanism of its antibacterial action is related to the formation of electrophile sites on carbon. Thus, electrostatic interactions occur with negative charges on the cell walls of both gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria making it possible to penetrate the cytoplasmic wall. The active fraction of ethyl acetate extract was antibacterial against pathogens MDR *K. pneumoniae* and MRSA with the same MIC value, i.e. 256 µg mL⁻¹.

Acknowledgment

This scientific paper was written based on a research study supported by the Grant Program of Faculty of Fisheries and Marine Science, Diponegoro University. The funding was intended for research activities from the Fiscal year 2020 with contract number: 026/UN 7.5.10.2/PP/2020.

References

Adwan GM, Owda DM and Abu-hijleh AA. 2020. Prevalence of capsular polysaccharide genes and antibiotic resistance pattern of *Klebsiella pneumoniae* in Palestine. *Jordan J Biol Sci.*, **13(4)**: 475–482.

Abbas A, Nirwan P and Srivastava P. 2015. Prevalence and antibiogram of hospital acquired-methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* and community acquired-methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* at a tertiary care Hospital National Institute of Medical Sciences. *Community Acquir Infect.*, **2**(1): 13-15.

Arumugam GK, Srinivasan SK, Joshi G, Gopal D and Ramalingam K. 2015. Production and characterization of bioactive metabolites from piezotolerant deep sea fungus *Nigrospora* sp. in submerged fermentation. *J Appl Microbiol.*, **118(1)**: 99–111.

Basiriya R, Anuswedha A and Kalaiselvam M. 2017. Antibacterial efficacy of crude extracts of *Trichoderma* spp. isolated from mangrove rhizosphere. *Int Res J Pharm.*, **8**(8): 70– 73.

Chamekh R, Deniel F, Donot C, Jany JL, Nodet P and Belabid L. 2019. Isolation, identification and enzymatic activity of halotolerant and halophilic fungi from the Great Sebkha of Oran in northwestern of Algeria. *Mycobiology*, **47**(2): 230–241.

CLSI. 2017. **Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing**, 27th ed. CLSI supplement M100. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, Wayne.

Corral P, Esposito FP, Tedesco P, Falco A, Tortorella E, Tartaglione L, Festa C, D'Auria MV, Gnavi G, Varese GC and de Pascale D. 2018. Identification of a sorbicillinoid-producing *Aspergillus* strain with antimicrobial activity against *Staphylococcus aureus*: a new polyextremophilic marine fungus from Barents Sea. *Mar Biotechnol.*, **20(4)**: 502–511.

Fajarningsih ND, Munifah I and Zilda DS. 2018. Evaluation of antibacterial assays for screening of marine invertebrate extracts. *Squalen Bull Mar Fish Postharvest Biotechnol.*, **13**(1): 1-8.

Farhat U, Malik SA and Jawad A. 2009. Antibiotic susceptibility pattern and ESBL prevalence in nosocomial *Escherichia coli* from urinary tract infections in Pakistan. *Afr J Biotechnol.*, **8**: 3921–3926.

Gajdács M. 2019. The continuing threat of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Antibiotics*, **8**(2): 25-52.

Gliseida B, Melgar Z, Vanessa F, Assis S De, Coutinho L, Fanti SC and Sette LD. 2013. Growth curves of filamentous fungi for utilization in biocatalytic reduction of cyclohexanones. *GJSFR*, **13(5)**: 1-8.

Hamilton-Miller JMT. 1973. Chemistry and biology of the polyene macrolide antibiotics. *Bacteriol Rev.*, **37**(2): 166–196.

Harborne JB. 1984. Phytochemical Methods: A Guide to Modern Techniques of Plant Analysis, second ed. Chapman and Hall, London.

Harned AM and Volp KA. 2011. The sorbicillinoid family of natural products: Isolation, biosynthesis, and synthetic studies. *Nat Prod Rep.*, **28**(**11**): 1775-1870.

Jork H, Funk W, Fisher W and Wimmer H. 1990. Thin-Layer Chromatography: Reagents and Detection Methods, Vol.1a. VCH, Weinheim.

Khamthong N, Rukachaisirikul V, Tadpetch K and Kaewpet M. 2012. Tetrahydroanthraquinone and xanthone derivatives from the marine-derived fungus *Trichoderma aureoviride* PSU-F95. *Arch Pharm Res.*, **35**(**3**): 461–468.

Kostopoulou ON, Kourelis TG, Mamos P, Magoulas GE and Kalpaxis DL. 2011. Insights into the chloramphenicol inhibition effect on peptidyl transferase activity, using two new analogs of the drug. *Open Enzym Inhib J.*, **4**(1): 1–10.

Leylaie S and Zafari D. 2018. Antiproliferative and antimicrobial activities of secondary metabolites and phylogenetic study of endophytic *Trichoderma* species from vinca plants. *Front Microbiol.*, **9**: 1–16.

Li B, Zhao Y, Liu C, Chen Z dan Zhou D. 2014. Molecular pathogenesis of *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. *Future Microbiol.*, **9**(9): 1071–1081.

Li MF, Li GH and Zhang KQ. 2019. Non-volatile metabolites from *Trichoderma* spp. *Metabolites*, **9(3)**: 1-4.

Lima TB, Pinto MFS, Ribeiro SM, Lima LA De, Viana JC, Júnior NG, Cândido EDS, Dias SC dan Franco OL. 2013. Bacterial resistance mechanism: What proteomics can elucidate. *FASEB J*, **27(4)**: 1291–1303.

Malanovic N and Lohner K. 2016. Gram-positive bacterial cell envelopes: The impact on the activity of antimicrobial peptides. *Biochim Biophys Acta - Biomembr.*, **1858(5)**: 936–946.

Massadeh M, Fraija A and Fandib K. 2010. Effect of carbon sources on the extracellular lignocellulolytic enzymetic system of *Pleurotus Sajor-Caju. Jordan J Biol Sci.*, 3(2): 51–54.

Meng J, Wang X, Xu D, Fu X, Zhang X, Lai D, Zhou L and Zhang G. 2016. Sorbicillinoids from fungi and their bioactivities. *Molecules*, **21(6)**: 715-734.

Mohammed AM. 2018. UV-Visible spectrophotometric method and validation of organic compounds. *Eur J Eng Res Sci.*, **3**(3): 8-11.

Muthulakshmi C, Gomathi D, Kumar G, Ravikumar G, Kalaiselvi M and Uma C. 2011. Production, purification and characterization of protease by *Aspergillus flavus* under solid state fermentation. *Jordan J Biol Sci.*, **4(3)**: 137–148.

Nalini S, Richard DS, Riyaz SUM, Kavitha G and Inbakan D. 2018. Antibacterial macro molecules from marine organisms. *Int J Biol Macromolecules*, **115**: 696–710.

Narendran R and Kathiresan K. 2016. Antimicrobial activity of crude extracts from Mangrove-derived *Trichoderma* species against human and fish pathogens. *Biocatal Agric Biotechnol.*, **6**: 189–194.

Nielsen JC and Nielsen J. 2017. Development of fungal cell factories for the production of secondary metabolites: Linking genomics and metabolism. *Synth Syst Biotechnol.*, **2**(1): 5–12.

Sabdaningsih A, Cristianawati O, Sibero MT, Nuryadi H, Radjasa OK, Sabdono A and Trianto A. 2017. Screening antibacterial agent from crude extract of marine derived fungi associated with soft corals against MDR-*Staphylococcus haemolyticus*. Proceedings of the Second ICTCRED Conference. Bali, Indonesia.

Sakunpak A and Sueree L. 2018. Thin-layer chromatographycontact bioautography as a tool for bioassay-guided isolation of anti-*Streptococcus mutans* compounds from *Pinus merkusii* heartwood. *J Planar Chromatogr - Mod TLC*, **31**(5): 355–359.

Salo O, Guzmán-Chávez F, Ries MI, Lankhorst PP, Bovenberg RAL, Vreeken RJ and Driessen AJM. 2016. Identification of a polyketide synthase involved in sorbicillin biosynthesis by *Penicillium chrysogenum. Appl Environ Microbiol.*, **82(13)**: 3971–3978.

Santana R de C, Gaspar GG, Vilar FC, Bellissimo-Rodrigues F and Martinez R. 2016. Secular trends in *Klebsiella pneumoniae* isolated in a tertiary-care hospital: Increasing prevalence and accelerated decline in antimicrobial susceptibility. *Rev Soc Bras Med Trop.*, **49**(2): 177–182.

Sarker SD and Nahar L. 2007. Chemistry for Pharmacy Students General : Organic and Natural Product Chemistry, first ed. John Wiley & Sons, London.

Sato A, Yamaguchi T, Hamada M, Ono D, Sonoda S, Oshiro T, Nagashima M, Kato K, Okazumi S, Katoh R, Ishii Y and Tateda K. 2019. Morphological and biological characteristics of *Staphylococcus aureus* biofilm formed in the presence of plasma. *Microb Drug Resist.*, **25**(5): 668–676.

Sedjati S, Ambariyanto A, Trianto A, Supriyantini E, Ridlo A, Bahry MS, Wismayanti G, Radjasa OK and McCauley E. 2020. Antibacterial activities of the extracts of sponge-associated fungus *Trichoderma longibrachiatum* against pathogenic bacteria. *Squalen Bull Mar Fish Postharvest Biotechnol.*, **15**(2): 81-90.

Sen S, Sarkar S, Kundu P and Laskar S. 2012. Separation of amino acids based on thin-layer chromatography by a novel quinazoline based antimicrobial agent. *AJAC*, **3(9)**: 669–674.

Sowjanya P, Srinivasa BP and Lakshmi NM. 2015. Phytochemical analysis and antibacterial efficacy of *Amaranthus tricolor* (L) methanolic leaf extract against clinical isolates of urinary tract pathogens. *African J Microbiol Res.*, **9(20)**: 1381–1385.

Sperry S, Samuels GJ and Crews P. 1998. Vertinoid polyketides from the saltwater culture of the fungus *Trichoderma longibrachiatum* separated from a *Haliclona* marine sponge. J Org Chem., **63(26)**: 10011–10014.

Synytsya A, Monkai J, Bleha R, Macurkova A, Ruml T, Ahn J and Chukeatirote E. 2017. Antimicrobial activity of crude extracts prepared from fungal mycelia. *Asian Pac J Trop Biomed.*, **7(3)**: 257–261.

Thomas TRA, Kavlekar DP and Lokabharathi PA. 2010. Marine drugs from sponge-microbe association - A review. *Mar Drugs*, **8**(4): 1417–1468.

Trianto A, Widyaningsih S, Radjasa OK and Pribadi R. 2017. Symbiotic fungus of marine sponge *Axinella* sp. producing antibacterial agent. Proceedings of the Second ICTCRED Conference. Bali, Indonesia. Trianto A, Sabdono A, Radjasa OK, Pramesti R, Putrajaya NTS, Bahry MS, Triningsih DW, Sulistiowati S and Afriyanto R. 2019. Optimization production of antifungal substance from a sponge associated *Trichoderma harzianum* cultivated in the tofu dregs and rice bran. *Res J Biotechnol.*, **14(10)**: 68-73.

Turton JF, Perry C, Elgohari S and Hampton CV. 2010. PCR characterization and typing of *Klebsiella pneumoniae* using capsular type-specific, variable number tandem repeat and virulence gene targets. *J Med Microbiol.*, **59**(**5**): 541–547.

Wang J, Zhang R, Chen X, Sun X, Yan Y, Shen X and Yuan Q. 2020. Biosynthesis of aromatic polyketides in microorganisms using type II polyketide synthases. *Microb Cell Fact.*, **19(1)**: 1–11.

Wu B, Oesker V, Wiese J, Schmaljohann R and Imhoff JF. 2014. Two new antibiotic pyridones produced by a marine fungus, *Trichoderma* sp. strain MF106. *Mar Drugs*, **12**(3): 1208–1219.

Table 1. MIC value of active fraction and chloramp	heni	col	
against MDR K. pneumoniae and MRSA pathogens			

Tested bacteria	Value of MIC (µg mL ⁻¹)				
	Active fraction	Chloramphenicol (positive control)			
MRSA	256	4			
K. pneumoniae	256	4			

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

Gene Expression of Heat Shock Protein 90 (HSP90AA1 and HSP90AB1) in Thyroid Disorders Patients

Alaa Shaker Mahmood^{1,*}, Muthanna M Awad¹, Nidhal Abdul mohymen²

¹Department of Biology, College of Sciences, University of Anbar, Anbar, Iraq; ² Department of Molecular and Medical Biotechnology, College of Biotechnology, Al-Nahrain University, Baghdad, Iraq

Received: December 14, 2020; Revised: February 19, 2021; Accepted: February 26, 2021

Abstract

The thyroid gland can produce a standard amount of thyroid hormone in response to serum Thyroid Stimulating Hormone (TSH). Hormones of the thyroid gland control the metabolism of cells and their activity speed. Also, they regulate the rate of oxygen consumption. During this study, the gene expression of HSP90AA1 and HSP90AB1 from non-treated hypo and hyperthyroid patients diagnosed by clinical examinations and paraclinical data were compared with a control group. The study included 120 samples collected from patients who suffer from thyroid disorders and 100 samples collected from healthy people as a control group. The age ranged from patients and healthy individuals having (17-79) years. The hormones were measured by ELISA methods; gene expression of HSP90 was measured by RT-PCR using SYBR Green Master after RNA was isolated and converted to cDNA. Significant changes were observed in the level of hormones, in hypothyroidism TSH increased while decreased in hyperthyroidism, whereas triiodothyronine (T3) and Thyroxine (T4) increased in hyperthyroidism. Results of HSP90AA1 gene expression showed the mean of folds was nonsignificantly increased in patients compared with control; while the results of HSP90AB1 were high in hyperthyroidism and low in hypothyroidism but these differences were nonsignificant compared with a control group. The expression of HSP90 genes can be used as a risk factor in the diagnosis of thyroid disorders.

Keywords: Folding, TSH, Chaperone, HSP90, HSP90AA1 gene, HSP90AB1gene.

1. Introduction

In humans, the thyroid gland consists of Tow lobes that are lateral and inferior to the anterior part of the larynx and are connected by an isthmus across the larynx to create a U-shaped form, in adults the gland with an average weight of 30 gm (Chiasera, 2013). Thyroxine (T4) and 3,3 ', 5triiod-L-thyronine (T3) hormones are secreted from the thyroid gland and stored therein. Thyroid hormones control homeostasis of energy, cell proliferation, and metabolism of carbohydrates, fats and proteins (Wallis *et al.*, 2010). Among the most common endocrine diseases are thyroid gland disorders. Thus, the study of T3 and T4 thyroid hormones has important biological and medical implications (Demir *et al.*, 2020).

Proteins called heat shock proteins (HSPs) are produced when cells exposed to high temperatures become temporarily resistant to subsequent heat shock. HSPs are molecular chaperones that are conserved and grouped by their molecular mass and a high degree of amino acid homology between microbes and humans (Kim and Yenari, 2017). The HSPs range from 15 to 110 kDa in molecular weight. There are groups of binding proteins with a high molecular weight of about: 100, 90, 70, and 60kDa. Also they are classified as small HSPs with a low molecular weight of 12-43 kDa. 80-100 amino acids contain small HSPs (Tkáčová and Angelovičová, 2012). Heat shock protein 90 (HSP90) is essential for activating several signaling proteins in eukaryotic cells as a molecular chaperone. The structural and biochemical study of HSP90, which promotes the stimulation of HSP90's clientele, has shown a complex mechanism of ATPase-coupled conformation variations and interactions with cochaperone proteins. While recent progress has been made, key aspects of HSP90's ATP-coupled mechanism remain controversial, and therefore the nature of the changes produced by HSP90 in client defense are unknown (Pearl and Prodromou, 2006).

The present study aimed to evaluate changes in HSP90 gene expression and its relationship with thyroid disorders.

2. Methods

2.1. Blood Samples Collection

Ten ml of venous blood were collected from a suitable vein. 3 ml of blood samples were put in a dry EDTA tubes and shaken gently then used for moleculare diagnosis. The residual part of the blood sample was transferred to a glass tube (anticoagulation-free) and allowed to coagulate for serum separation for 5 minutes using a 4000 rpm centrifuge. In a sterile, clean white tube, the extracted serum was collected and stored at -20 °C for thyroid hormones measurement.

^{*} Corresponding author. e-mail: alaashmahmood@uoanbar.edu.iq.

116

2.2. Measurement of the Hormones levels

Accu-Bind ELISA microwell kit (Monobind Inc, USA) was used for the quantitative determination of Total Triiodothyronine (tT3), and total thyroxine (tT4) concentration in human serum by microplate Enzyme immunoassay. The quantitative immune enzymatic assay of TSH was based on the ELIFA technique by Mini VIDAS according to the manufacturer protocol (Bio Merieux, France).

2.3. Measurement of gene expression of HSP90 by quantitative real-time PCR

Total RNA was isolated from sample blood using Trizol reagent (Invitrogen, USA) according to the protocol of the manufacturer.; The concentration of extracted RNA was estimated by the protocol for quantitating RNA in a single tube using the Quantus fluorometer (Promega, USA). After that, RNA was reverse transcribed for use as a template in the PCR reaction into complementary DNA (cDNA). The reaction to Real Time (RT) was carried out using Accu Power Rocket Script RT PreMix (Bioneer, Korea). This kit is a ready-to-use lyophilized master mix containing all components from the RNA template for first-strand cDNA synthesis.

Table 1. Primer sets for genes analyzed by qRT-PCR.

GAPDH F	5'-GAAGGTGAAGGTCGGAGTC-3'
GAPDH R	5'-GAAGATGGTGATGGGATTTC-3'
HSP90AA1 F	5'- TGGAATGACCAAGGCTGACT -3'
HSP90AA1 R	5'- TGAGGACTCCCAAGCGTACT -3'
HSP90AB1 F	5'- TGATGAGGCAGAGGAAGAGAA -3'
HSP90AB1 R	5'- TCTGGTCCAAATAGGCTTGG -3'

The real-time fluorescent quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR) process with GAPDH as a control was used to study the mRNA expression levels of HSP90AA1 and HSP90AB1 in blood samples. The RT-qPCR was carried out according to the SYBR Green Master kit manufacturer's protocol. Table 1 lists the HSP90 gene primers for RT-qPCR. The dissociation curve was evaluated to ensure an apparent amplification peak and validate it. The expression levels of HSP90AA1 and HSP90AB1 were determined using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta}$ Ct method and subjected to statistical analysis (Schmittgen and Livak, 2008).

2.4. Statistical

In order to detect the effect of different variables on study parameters, the Statistical Analysis System- SAS (2012) software was used. The least significant difference-LSD test (Analysis of Variation-ANOVA) was used to compare the means significantly.

3. Result

3.1. Levels of Hormones in hypo and hyperthyroidism

The present study showed (Table 2) a significant difference (P \ge 0.01) in the level of TSH in control,

hypothyroidism, and hyperthyroidism. The mean of the TSH level of hyperthyroidism (0.288 μ IU/ml) was lower than that of hypothyroidism (7.31 μ IU/ml) and control group (2.78 μ IU/ml), while the mean of TSH level of hypothyroidism was higher than that of control and hyperthyroidism. Also, the present study showed a significant difference in the level of T3 and T4 in control, hypothyroidism, and hyperthyroidism (P \geq 0.01). The mean of the level of the hormones in hypothyroidism was lower than that of control and control group, while the mean of T3 and t4 levels in hyperthyroidism was higher than that of control and hypothyroidism; the T3 means for three groups were 1.71 ng/ml, 0.49 ng/ml, and 3.87ng/ml; and for T4 were 5.84 μ g/ml, 1.41 μ g/ml, and 10.81 μ g/ml respectively.

 Table 2. Distribution of the Hormones in Thyroid Disorders

 Patients

Group	T3 (ng/ml)	T4 (µg/ml)	$TSH \ (\mu IU/m)$
Control	$5.84{\pm}~0.064~b$	$1.71{\pm}~0.053~b$	$2.78\pm0.26\ b$
Hypothyroidism	$1.41{\pm}~0.038~c$	$0.49{\pm}~0.062~{\rm c}$	$7.31 \pm 0.71~a$
Hyperthyroidism	$10.81{\pm}~0.12~a$	3.87 ± 0.045 a	$0.288{\pm}0.021{c}$

Means having the different letters in the same column differed significantly. ** ($P \le 0.01$).

3.2. Gene Expression of HSP90 in hypo and hyperthyroidism

The positive results showed amplification at CT (threshold cycle) value were in range 15.9–18.48 for housekeeping gene and 19.02-21.69 for HSP 90AA1 gene and 17.71–20.66 for HSP 90AB1 gene in hyperthyroidism, while in hypothyroidism the CT value was in range 15.74–16.91 for housekeeping gene (Figure 1) and 18.97-20.06 for HSP 90AA1 gene and 17.13–24.67 for HSP 90AB1 gene. The results for the control group showed amplification at CT value was in the range 15.84–16.34 for housekeeping gene and 18.96-19.94 for HSP 90AA1 gene and 17.67–22.69 for HSP 90AB1 gene.

The melting temperature (Tm) values obtained for the patients samples of hyperthyroidism, hypothyroidism, and control; the melting temperature was in the range 85.23-85.93, 85.53-85.93, 85.73-86.23°C respectively for housekeeping gene (Figure 1), HSP90AA1was in the range of 81.54-82.24, 81.64-82.04, 81.74-82.34 °C respectively, HSP90AB1 was in the range of 79.15-79.84, 79.54-79.84, 79.44- 80.04 respectively.

The results of HSP90 genes expression in Figure (2) showed an increase in gene expression of HSP90AA1 in hypothyroidism and hyperthyroidism, but the increase was nonsignificant differences compared with control group. The mean of folds in hypothyroidism, hyperthyroidism, and control was 0.92 ± 0.34 , 0.96 ± 0.33 , and 0.82 ± 0.28 respectively. While the results of HSP90AB1 (Figure 2) show a high in gene expression in hyperthyroidism and low gene expression in hypothyroidism, these differences were nonsignificant compared with a control group; the mean of folds was 1.82 ± 0.43 (hypothyroidism), 4.84 ± 2.72 (hyperthyroidism), and 3.81 ± 1.29 (control).



Figure 1. Curve of cycling and melting for housekeeping GAPDH gene



Figure 2. Expression levels of HSP90AA1 and HSP90AB1 gene

4. Discussion

Hyperthyroidism is a clinical condition due to an excessive increase in thyroid hormones, particularly triiodothyronine (T3) and thyroxine (T4). Research by Sugimoto and Mori (2012) showed that in hypothyroidism, TSH levels are raised, owing to the lack of a suppressive action of the T3 and T4. The most common cause of hyperthyroidism is toxic goiter or Graves' disease (Gilles et al., 2008). The hypophysis tells the thyroid how much hormone is needed to produce. It will not be ready to give the thyroid the correct instructions if the pituitary is damaged by injury, a tumor, radiation, or surgery, and so the thyroid may stop producing enough hormones (Dunn and Turner, 2016). Iodine deficiency is the most common cause of hypothyroidism worldwide; and it is the most prevalent cause of hypothyroidism; and too much iodine can also cause or exacerbate hyperthyroidism (Al Hadid et al., 2018).

HSP works on protein transport and assembly, and proper folding of peptide chains, thus playing a crucial role in protecting cells, and ultimately affecting cell survival (Chen *et al.*, 2018), and much research in recent years has demonstrated that HSP is related to cell apoptosis (Zhang *et al.*, 2017). HSP90 exists in the thyroid follicular epithelial cells and follicular cavities (Calderwood, 2018; Yan *et al.*, 2019).

HSP90 is a molecular chaperone that interacts with client proteins (Hertlein et al., 2010), thereby preventing

their degradation. For example, because of the stress response to hypoxic, acidic, and nutrient-deprived hostile microenvironment characteristics, expression of HSP90 is increasing in many cancers and correlates with poor prognosis (Bagatell and Whitesell, 2004; Pick *et al.*, 2007). HSP90 levels increase in stressed cells, and it is unclear whether cell stress is necessary for the efficacy of HSP90 inhibitors; and Yu-bao *et al.*, (2014) suggest that HSP90 expression is relative to the disease.

5. Conclusion

The present work illustrates that the expression of the two HSP90 genes changes in both hypothyroidism and hyperthyroidism. Also, the HSP90AA1 gene and HSP90AB1 gene correlate with TSH and Thyroid hormones; thus these genes can be used as risk factors in the diagnosis of thyroid disorders.

Authors' Contributions

ASM, MMA, and NAM contributed to the study design and analyzed data. All authors contributed to the manuscript drafting and revising and approved the final submission.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests associated with this article.

References

Al Hadid LA, AlRajabi OZ and Al Barmawi MA. 2018. The relationship between iodine nutrition, thyroid function and obstetrical outcomes for Jordanian pregnant women. *Jordan J of Biol Sci.*, **11(3):** 285-292.

Bagatell R, and Whitesell L. 2004. Altered Hsp90 function in cancer: a unique therapeutic opportunity. *Mol Cancer Ther.*, **3(8)**, 1021-1030.

Calderwood SK. 2018. Heat shock proteins and cancer: intracellular chaperones or extracellular signalling ligands? *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B, Biological Sciences.*, **373(1738)**: 1-8.

Chen B, Feder ME, and Kang L. 2018. Evolution of heat-shock protein expression underlying adaptive responses to environmental stress. *Mol. Ecol.*, **27**(15): 3040-3054.

Chiasera JM. 2013. Back to the basics: thyroid gland structure, function and pathology. *Clin Lab Sci.*, **26**(2): 112-117.

Demir F, Hasbek Z, Erselcan T and Turgut B. 2020. The role of anti-thyroglobulin antibody in treatment and follow up of differentiated thyroid cancer. *Anna clin anal med.*, **11(3)**: 207-210.

Dunn D, and Turner C. 2016. Hypothyroidism in Women. *Nurs Womens Health.*, **20(1):** 93–98.

Gilles R, den Heijer M, Ross AH, Sweep FC, Hermus AR, and Wetzels JF. 2008. Thyroid function in patients with proteinuria. *Neth J Med.*, **66(11):** 483-485.

Hertlein E, Wagner AJ, Jones J, Lin TS, Maddocks KJ, Towns WH, Goettl VM, Zhang X, Jarjoura D, Raymond CA, West DA, Croce CM, Byrd JC, and Johnson AJ. 2010. 17-DMAG targets the nuclear factor-kappaB family of proteins to induce apoptosis in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: clinical implications of HSP90 inhibition. *Blood*, **116**(1): 45-53.

Kim JY, and Yenari M. (2017). Heat Shock Proteins and the Stress Response. In L. R. Caplan, J. Biller, M. C. Leary, E. H. Lo, A. J. Thomas, M. Yenari, & J. H. Zhang (Eds.), Primer on Cerebrovascular Diseases, Academic Press, pp. 273–275.

Pearl LH, and Prodromou C. 2006. Structure and mechanism of the Hsp90 molecular chaperone machinery. *Annu Rev Biochem.*, **75:** 271–294.

Pick E, Kluger Y, Giltnane JM, Moeder C, Camp RL, Rimm DL, and Kluger HM. 2007. High HSP90 expression is associated with decreased survival in breast cancer. *Cancer Res.*, **67**(7): 2932–2937.

SAS. 2012. Statistical Analysis System, User's Guide. Statistical. (Version 9.1th ed).

Schmittgen TD, and Livak KJ. (2008). Analyzing real-time PCR data by the comparative CT method. *Nat Protoc.*, **3(6):** 1101–1108.

Sugimoto K, and Mori K. (2012). Thyroid-Stimulating Hormone Regulation and Transcription in Hypothyroidism. In D. Springer (Ed.), Hypothyroidism. IntechOpen, Rijeka, pp121-127.

Tkáčová J, and Angelovičová M. (2012). Heat Shock Proteins (HSPs): a Review. *Anim. Sci. Biotechnol.*, **45(1):** 349–353.

Wallis K, Dudazy S, van Hogerlinden M, Nordström K, Mittag J, and Vennström B. 2010. The thyroid hormone receptor alpha1 protein is expressed in embryonic postmitotic neurons and persists in most adult neurons. *Mol Endocrinol.*, **24(10)**: 1904-1916.

Yan MM, Zhang MD, Sheng MM, Zhang MM, Diao MM, and Zheng P. 2019. The Significance of Heat Shock Protein 70 Expression in Benign Thyroid Nodules During Thermal Ablation. *AUDT.*, **3(3):** 103-108.

Yu-bao L, Juan L, Zhi-liang W, and Si-dang L. 2014. Study on Hsp90 Expression in Different Tissues and Its Antibody in Serum of Chickens Infected with Marek's Diseases. *J Integr Agric.*, **13(6)**: 1355-1362.

Zhang XH, Wu H, Tang S, Li QN, Xu J, Zhang M, Su YN, Yin B, Zhao QL, Kemper N, Hartung J, and Bao ED. 2017. Apoptosis in response to heat stress is positively associated with heat-shock protein 90 expression in chicken myocardial cells in vitro. *J Vet Sci.e*, **18**(2): 129-140.

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

Sinensetin Contents of Purple and White Purple Variety of Orthosiphon aristatus (Blume) Miq

Fahrauk Faramayuda^{1,2,*}, Totik Sri Mariani³, Elfahmi^{1,4}, Sukrasno¹

¹School of Pharmacy, Institut Teknologi Bandung (ITB), Bandung, West Java, Indonesia, 40132; ²Faculty of Pharmacy Universitas Jenderal Achmad Yani (UNJANI), Cimahi, West Java, Indonesia, 40532; ³School of Life Sciences and Technology, Institut Teknologi Bandung (ITB), Bandung, West Java, Indonesia, 40132; ⁴Biosceinces and Biotechnology Research Center, Institut Teknologi Bandung (ITB), Bandung, West Java, Indonesia, 40132.

Received: January 21, 2021; Revised: February 23, 2021; Accepted: March 11, 2021

ABSTRACT:

Context: The cat's whiskers (Orthosiphon aristatus (Blume) Miq) plant has been widely used for traditional medicine both in preventive measures and companion therapy. The color of the O. aristatus flower is divided into purple, white-purple, and white varieties. To ensure the quality of the O. aristatus it is necessary to make standardization efforts. Specific standardization parameters are the identification and determination of marker compound levels. Sinensetin is a marker compound in O. aristatus. The research aimed to analyze qualitatively and quantitatively the content of sinensetin in the acetone extract of the purple and white-purple varieties of O. aristatus Extraction was carried out using maceration, which began with determining the ratio of the number of leaves and stem simplicia of two varieties of O. aristatus and acetone solvent. Sinensetin compound identification was carried out on acetone extract and subfraction. Determination of the levels of sinensetin in acetone extract was carried out by thin-layer densitometry chromatography (TLC-Densitometry). Based on the optimization results using TLC, the weight ratio of the simplicia and the amount of solvent is 1 g of simplicia in 15 mL of solvent. Sinensetin compounds were detected in the leaves' acetone extract and stem of two varieties of O. aristatus. The highest sinensetin content was in the acetone extract of purple variety leaves with levels of 0.51% w/w. The acetone extract of the purple variety leaves was further separated by vacuum liquid chromatography and preparative thin-layer chromatography. The results showed a sinensetin compound in the acetone sub-fraction. This study's results can be the basis for the specific characterization of O. aristatus especially those grown in Indonesia, to ensure product quality consistency from traditional medicinal plants.

Keywords: O. aristatus, purple and white-purple varieties, standardization, sinensetin, qualitative and quantitative analysis.

1. Introduction

O. aristatus is one of the medicinal plants which, based on the results of the research, has various pharmacological activities, including antiviral (Ripim et al., 2018; Faramayuda et al., 2021^a), prevention and treatment of cancer (Pauzi et al., 2018 rheumatoid treatment and osteoarthritis arthritis (Adawiyah et al., 2018), treating cardiovascular disorders (Abraika et al., 2012), Anti epilepsy (Kar et al., 2012), enhancing memory (George et al., 2015), antioxidants (Alshawsh et al., 2012; antidiabetic (Mohamed et al., 2011; Mohamed et al., 2010), antiobesity (Yam et al., 2009), treatment of overcome gastric disorders (Yuniarto, et al., 2017). Some studies also report that O. aristatus have passed clinical trials (Adnyana et al., 2013; Premgamone et al., 2001). Safety testing of O. aristatus extracts in male rats that all animals survived and showed no signs of toxicity. (Muhammad Husin et al., 2001).

Some of the active secondary metabolites of O. *aristatus* are sinensetin, eupatorin and rosmarinate acid (Faramayuda et al., 2021^{b}), and danshensu

(Nuengchamnong et al., 2011). *O. aristatus* that grow in Indonesia are classified into three varieties, namely purple, intermediate (white-purple), and white (Faramayuda et al., 2021°). The difference between the three varieties can be seen from the morphology of the flower (Faramayuda et al., 2021^{d}).

Sinensetin is included in the class of flavonoid compounds, and if they are classified, more specifically are polymethoxy compounds produced by secretory tissue and stored inside or outside the oil glands in plants. Flavone polymethoxy compounds have several pharmacological activities and are part of the plant chemical defense mechanism (Berim and Gang, 2016). The results of a study conducted by Hossain and Ismail in 2016 reported that the level of sinensetin in acetone: water (70:30) extract was 0.32% higher than other solvents (Hossain and Ismail, 2016).

The *O. aristatus* plant has been widely used as raw material for traditional medicine, especially in Indonesia, but many people and industry practitioners use this plant without paying attention to the varieties used. According to Faramayuda, in 2021^b, the methanol extract of the purple variety *O. aristatus* had higher levels of sinensetin

^{*} Corresponding author e-mail: ramayuda.f@gmail.com.

compared to other varieties. Qualitative and quantitative analysis of sinensetin compounds from acetone extract of two varieties of *O. aristatus* that grow in Indonesia has never been reported. This research can be a reference basis for the specific standardization parameters of the acetone extract of two varieties of *O. aristatus*. Standardization of raw materials is necessary to ensure consistency in the quality of traditional medicinal products.

2. Material and Methods

2.1. Chemicals and reagents:

The chemicals used have the quality of use analysis (pro analysis, p.a), sinensetin (Sigma[®]), ethyl acetate (Merck[®]), chloroform (Merck[®]), acetone (Merck[®]), silica gel plate pre-coating 60 F254 (Merck[®]), aqua dest, and silica gel 60 GF254 (Merck[®]).

Instrumentation:

Glass tools are commonly used in laboratories, macerators, analytical scales (Shimadzu), chambers, ovens (memert), rotary evaporators (Heidolph), vacuum liquid chromatography, and TLC-Densitometry (Camag, Switzerland).

Collection O. aristatus plants

The purple and white-purple varieties of leaves and stems of *O. aristatus* were collected from the Manoko experimental garden, Lembang, West Bandung, Indonesia. The plants were identified at the School of Life Science and Technology, Bandung Institute of Technology. With letter number 6115 / I1.CO2.2 / PL / 2019.

2.2. Preparation of Extraction

The two varieties of leaves and stems of *O. aristatus* were weighed 1 g each and then added 5 mL of acetone, then let stand for 24 hours. The second day the TLC filtrate I profile was observed, and then the residue was added again with 2.5 mL of acetone. On the third day, the TLC filtrate II profile was observed, and then the residue was added again with 2.5 mL of acetone. Day Four was observed profile of TLC filtrate III. The mobile phase used in TLC observation is chloroform: ethyl acetate 60:40 (Figure. 1).



Figure 1. Extraction optimization scheme with maceration

2.3. Extraction of Plant Material

The solvents used to extract plant material are acetone. 100 g of leaves and stems of *O. aristatus* purple variety transferred to macerators, and each added with 1,5 L acetone solvent then macerated for 24 hours. The filtrate was collected, then evaporated using a *rotary evaporator* and concentrated using water baths to form a thick extract.

2.4. Quantitative Analysis

Preparation of standard and sample solutions

Stock solutions of 1 mg / mL of sinensetin in methanol were prepared. The stock solution was diluted with methanol at five concentrations ranging from 60 to 100 μ g/mL to create standard solutions. Extracts of acetone from two types of *O. aristatus* were prepared by dissolving 15 mg of each extract in 1 mL of methanol for 45 min as a sample solution.

Instrumentation

Monitoring was carried out in the CAMAG analyzer at a wavelength of 365 nm. Data analysis was carried out using the WinCATS app.

Chromatographic conditions

Standards and samples were applied to a TLC plate with a height of 10 cm and a length of 20 cm. Application volume of 5 mL was performed at a distance of 1 cm from the TLC plate's edge. Toluene mobile phase: ethyl acetate: formic acid: water (3: 3: 1: 0,2) was pre-saturated in the chamber. Observed at a wavelength of 365 nm with densitometry.

2.5. Further separation of the purple variety of O. aristatus acetone extract

Vacuum Liquid Chromatography

The acetone extract was separated by vacuum liquid chromatography using silica gel 60 stationary phases, and 5 g extract was used. The mobile phase used is chloroform: ethyl acetate (60:40) with an isocratic system. The extract was crushed with a small amount of silica gel 60. It then placed it at the top of the column, elution with a mobile phase. Subfraction solutions coming out of the column are collected by volume, which is held every 60 mL. A thin layer chromatography profile was monitored in UV light of 366 nm to the subfraction.

TLC-Preparative and sinensetin Identification

The stationary phase is prepared by mixing 25 grams of silica gel 60 F254 with 50 mL aqua dest (1: 2), shaking in Erlenmeyer (\pm 90 seconds) until homogeneous. The stationary phase is then poured and flattened on a glass plate measuring 20x20 cm, then allowed to stand for 24 hours in the oven at 100°C for 30-60 minutes. The mobile phase of chloroform and ethyl acetate 60:40 (Hossain and Ismail, 2016) is put into the chamber and left for 60 minutes, then the subfraction specks on the silica plate. In the elution stage, a plate containing the sample is put into the chamber. The band formed is scraped and dissolved by the mobile phase. The filtrate was evaporated, and monitored the purity of the isolates with TLC.

Analysis of data

Determine the levels of the sinensetin using TLC-Densitometry. All test samples were prepared in three replications. The data are expressed as a mean \pm SD. Data processing was carried out by one-way ANOVA, followed by a multiple-range test by Duncan using SPSS 22 software. P values <0.05 have been considered statistically significant.

3. Result

3.1. Optimazation extraction

Based on the results of the determination of two plant samples identified *O. aristatus* purple flowers and *O.aristatus* white-purple flowers. The optimization of sinensetin extraction with monitoring parameters of the TLC profile showed that on the fourth day, fluorescence from sinensetin was fading on acetone extract of leaves and stems of two varieties of *O. aristatus*. The dry matter ratio used with solvents to maximize sinensetin withdrawal is 1 g: 15 mL (figure 2).



Figure 2. Extraction optimization with TLC profile parameter. Stationary phase silica gel 60 F254, mobile phase chloroform: ethyl acetate (60:40), Rf sinensetin : 0.61. S: sinensetin, LW: leaf extract white-purple, LP: leaf extract purple, SW: stem extract white-purple, SP: stem extract purple.

3.2. Quantitative Analysis

The analysis of sinensetin levels in the acetone extract of the *O. aristatus* leaves and stems used densitometric instruments. The regression equation of the variation in sinensetin's standard concentration is y = 86.872x - 4438.5with an r^2 value of 0.9954. Three repetitions were carried out for each sample, and the sinensetin compound was detected at Rf 0.57 (figure 3).



Figure 3. 3D-TLC chromatogram of the acetone extract of two varieties *O. aristatus* and the standard sinensetin. Track 1: sinensetin 60 μ g / mL, 2: sinensetin 70 μ g / mL, 3: sinensetin 80 μ g / mL, 4: sinensetin 90 μ g / mL, 5: sinensetin 100 μ g / mL, 6-8: purple variety leaves acetone extract (3 replications), 9-11: white-purple variety leaves acetone extract (3 times replications), 12-14: purple variety stem acetone extract (3 replications), 15-17: white-purple variety stem acetone extract (3 times replication).

 Table 1. Levels Determination of sinensetin acetone extract of two varieties O. aristatus with TLC-densitometry

 Sample
 Sinensetin (% w/

 Sample
 Sinensetin (% w/

	w) \pm SD (n = 3)
purple variety leaves acetone extract	$0.51\pm0.01^{\texttt{a}}$
white-purple variety leaves acetone extract	$0.48\pm0.01^{\text{a}}$
purple variety stem acetone extract	$0.43{\pm}0.01^{\text{b}}$
white-purple variety stem acetone extract	$0.39\pm0.02^{\text{b}}$



Figure 4. Comparison sinensetin levels of acetone extracts of two varieties of *O. aristatus.* PLA = purple variety leaves acetone extract, WPLA = white-purple variety leaves acetone extract, PSA = purple variety stem acetone extract, WPSA = white-purple variety stem acetone extract

3.3. Further separation of the purple variety of O. aristatus acetone extract

In the separation stage using vacuum liquid chromatography using a mobile phase of chloroform: ethyl acetate 60: 40 with an isocratic system, eight subfractions were obtained. Sub-faction 1-5 contains a sinensetin compound (Rf 0.45), but what is continued to the separation stage is sub-faction 5 (SF5) because there is not too much chlorophyll, so it is easier to isolate (Figure 5). Further separation of SF5 was using preparative thin-layer chromatography (PTLC) with the mobile phase of chloroform: ethyl acetate 60: 40 obtained two bands. The second band is separated by scraping and then dissolved in a mobile phase to filter further and identify the filtrate (figure 6).



Figure 5. TLC Profile Sub Fraction 1-8 of *O. aristatus*. Stationary phase silica gel 60 F254, mobil phase = chloroform : ethyl acetate 60 : 40. S: Sinensetin, SF1 = sub-faction 1, SF2 = sub-faction 2, SF3 = sub-faction 3, SF4 = sub-faction 4, SF5 = sub-faction 5, SF6 = sub-faction 6, SF7 = sub-faction 7, SF8 = sub-faction 8.



Figure 6. TLC Preparative Profile of subfraction 5. Stationary phase silica gel 60 F254, mobile phase chloroform: ethyl acetate 60: 40



Figure 7. TLC Profile of isolate. Stationary phase silica gel 60 F254; mobile phase chloroform: ethyl acetate 60: 40. S: Sinensertin and I: Isolate

Band 2 filtrate was identified using TLC and Sinensetin standard; the results showed the same Rf between isolate and standard (figure 7).

4. Discussion

4.1. Optimazation extraction

From monitoring the TLC profile, the fluorescence of the sinensetin purple variety is brighter than the whitepurple variety; this shows that the purple variety level is higher than that of the white-purple variety. Earlier research reports that the purple variety of sinensetin levels were higher than white varieties (Lee, 2004). According to research conducted by Faramayuda in 2021, it was reported that the population of purple varieties of cat whiskers is decreasing (Faramayuda et al., 2021e). Therefore, it is necessary to propagate plants, one of which is the plant tissue culture method. Several studies have reported that the propagation technique with modified in vitro culture has succeeded in producing seeds of Phalaenopsis amabilis (L.) Blume (Mose et al., 2020), Artemisia herba-alba (Shibli et al., 2017), Chrysanthemum morifolium (Shatnawi et al. al., 2010).

4.2. Quantitative Analysis

The sinensetin compound's content in the acetone extract of the purple variety *O. aristatus* was 0.51% w/w, while the white-purple variety was 0.48% w/w. Statistically, there was no significant difference. Two varieties of sinensetin cat whiskers were detected with

130

131

levels of 0.43% w / w on the purple variety and 0.39% w/w on the white-purple variety (table 1; figure 4). Sinensetin levels in purple varieties were more significant than those in white-purple varieties. This result was in line with those reported by Febjlasmi in 2018, where the levels of sinensetin from the purple variety O. aristatus were greater than the white and white-purple varieties. The levels of sinensetin in the acetone extract of the purple variety cat whiskers were more significant than that reported by previous researchers, where the sinensetin content of the acetone: water extract (70:30) cat whiskers was 0.32% w / w and methanol: water (1; 1) 0.15. % w / w (Hossain et al., 2016). Cai (2018) explains that the levels of sinensetin in the 50% ethanol extract of cat whiskers are 0.27% w / w and in the stem is 0.01% w / w. The average concentration of the sinensetin compound in the purple variety cat whiskers extract that grows at 18 locations in Indonesia is 0.043% w / w. Methanol extract: water (50: 50) of cat whiskers that grow in Malaysia is 0.0057% w / w (Guo et al., 2019). Sinensetin content of 70% ethanol extract of purple variety cat whiskers is 0.0182% w / w (Batubara et al, 2020). Sinensetin, which is lipophilic, is more stable in low polar solvents such as isopropanol, chloroform, and acetone (pang and gimbung, 2014). Based on the chemical structure, sinensetin is a polymethoxy (pentamethoxyflavone) flavone group, the methoxy group substitution at positions 5, 6, 7, 3 '4' (Han Jie et al., 2021). The presence of this methoxy group makes sinensetin less polar.

4.3. Further separation of the purple variety of O. aristatus acetone extract

In the Further separation, the plant used is purple variety leaves. The acetone solvent selection in sinensetin isolation was based on Hossain's research, and Ismail in 2016 reported that the acetone extract: water has higher sinensetin levels than other extracts (Hossain and Ismail, 2016). The yield of acetone extract is 18.5% w / w. The isolates suspected of being sinensetin were obtained as much as 1.8 mg from 100 gr of simplicia O. aristatus purple varieties. The optimization of sinensetin separation by VLC will be better if the elution were performed by gradient elution with n-hexane-ethyl acetate. In this research the solvent used for VLC was too polar. Several studies on the isolation and identification of sinensetin have been reported, including sinensetin obtained from the ethyl acetate fraction of O. aristatus, which was separated using column chromatography and then eluted with 100% hexane, followed by up to 100% hexane: ethyl acetate and up to 100% ethyl acetate: methanol (Samidurai et al., 2019). The methanol extract of the leaves was extracted with-hexane, chloroform, ethyl acetate, and butanol. The chloroform fraction was purified, and six compounds were obtained, one of which is sinensetin (Hossain and Mizanur Rahman, 2015). Two methoxy flavonoids were isolated and identified from the leaves of Orthosiphon stamineus, Benth, which are known as sinensetin and flavones 5,7,8,4' tetra methoxy, extraction with Soxhlet using ethyl acetate as a solvent followed by liquid-liquid extraction with CuCl₂ and NaOH to reduce the effect chlorophyll content in the isolation process (Febriani et al., 2017). The HPLC method was developed for the separation and determination of three methoxylated flavones: sinensetin, eupatorium, and 3'-hydroxy-5,6,7,4'-tetramethoxyflavone

in Orthosiphon stamineus. All compounds were separated using reverse phase C18, Lichrosorb column with methanol-water mobile phase -tetrahydrofuran 45: 50: 5 v / v (Akowuah, et al., 2004). This study provides additional information regarding the composition of the number of simplicia and solvents, which can then be developed for the basis of production or optimization of the isolation of sinensetin from O. aristatus. Several previous studies reported attempts to isolate sinensetin, including 4 kg of simplicia of the cat's whiskers producing 75 mg of sinensetin (Tezuka et al., 2000). Isolation of sinensetin from 500 g of O. aristatus using an LH-20 Sephadex column resulted in an isolate of 3.03 mg (Yuliana et al., 2009). Hossain and Mizanur Rahman (2015) reported that from 1 kg of plant material, O. aristatus produced 2.6 mg of sinensetin isolate.

5. Conclusion

The acetone extract of the leaves and stem of the purple variety *O. aristatus* had higher sinensetin levels than the white-purple variety.

Acknowledgments

This research was funded by the Ministry of Research and Technology / National Agency for Research and Innovation through "Penelitian Disertasi Doktor" contract number 2/E1/KP.PTNBH/2020

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Reference

Abraika OSS, Atangwho IJ, Sadikun A, Asmawi MZ and Hussain EA. 2012. In vitro activity-guided vasodilatory effect of *Orthosiphon stamineus* leaves. *J. Exp. Integr. Med*, **2**(3): 255–261.

Adawiyah R, Nur B, Che A, Tantowi A, Fong S and Suhaila L. 2018. Java Tea (*Orthosiphon stamineus*) is protected against osteoarthritis by mitigating inflammation and cartilage degradation: a preclinical study. *Inflammopharmacology*. **26**(4):939-949.

Adnyana IK, Setiawan F and Insanu M. 2013. From Ethnopharmacology To Clinical Study of *orthosiphon Stamineus* Benth. *Int. J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci*, **5**(3).

Akowuah G, Ismail Z, Norhayati I, Sadikun A and Mohd K. 2004. Sinensetin, eupatorin, 3'-hydroxy-5, 6, 7, 4'-tetramethoxyflavone and rosmarinic acid contents and antioxidative effect of *Orthosiphon stamineus* from Malaysia. *Food Chem*, **87**: 559–566.

Alshawsh M, Abdulla M, Ismail S, Amin Z, Qader S, A Hadi H and Harmal N. 2012. Free Radical Scavenging, Antimicrobial and Immunomodulatory Activities of *Orthosiphon stamineus*. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)*, **17**: 5385–5395.

Batubara I, Komariah K, Sandrawati A and Nurcholis W. 2020. Genotype selection for phytochemical content and pharmacological activities in ethanol extracts of fifteen types of *Orthosiphon aristatus* (Blume) Miq. leaves using chemometric analysis. *Sci. Rep*, **10**(1): 1–11.

Berim A and Gang DR. 2016. Methoxylated flavones: occurrence, importance, biosynthesis. *Phytochem Rev.* Springer Netherlands.

Cai X, Xiao C, Xue H, Xiong H, Hang Y, Xu J and Lu Y. 2018. A comparative study of the antioxidant and intestinal protective effects of extracts from different parts of Java tea (*Orthosiphon stamineus*). *Food Sci. Nutr*, **6**(3): 579–584.

Faramayuda F, Mariani TS, Elfahmi, Sukrasno S. 2021^a. Potential of *Orthosiphon aristatus* blume miq as antiviral : A review. *Trop. J. Nat. Prod. Res*, **5**(03): 410–419.

Faramayuda F, Mariani TS, Elfahmi, Sukrasno. 2021^b. Identification of secondary metabolites from callus *Orthosiphon aristatus* (Blume) miq by thin layer chromatography. *Sarhad J. Agric*, **37**(3): 1081–1088.

Faramayuda F, Mariani TS, Elfahmi, Sukrasno. 2021^c. Micropropagation and secondary metabolites content of whitepurple varieties of Orthosiphon aristatus Blume miq. *Pak. J. Biol. Sci*, **24**(8): 858–867.

Faramayuda F, Mariani TS, Elfahmi, Sukrasno. 2021^d. Chemical compound identification of two varieties cat whiskers (*Orthosiphon aristatus* Blume Miq) from in vitro culture. *Sarhad Journal of Agriculture*, **37**(4): 1355-1363.

Faramayuda F, Mariani TS, Elfahmi, Sukrasno. 2021^e. A comparative pharmacognostic study of the two *Orthoshipon aristatus* (blume) miq. Varieties. *J. Exp. Biol. Agric. Sci*, **9**(2): 228-223.

Febriani Y, Fidrianny I, June M, June M. 2017. Isolation of Two Methoxy Flavonoid Compounds from Kumis Kucing (*Orthoshipon stamineus*) a Popular Plant in Indonesian Herbal Medicine Jamu. *Res. j. pharm. Biol*, **8**(3): 1640.

George A, Chinnappan S, Choudhary Y, Choudhary VK, Bommu P and Wong HJ. 2015. Effects of a Proprietary Standardized *Orthosiphon Stamineus* Ethanolic Leaf Extract on Enhancing Memory in Sprague Dawley Rats Possibly via Blockade of Adenosine A 2A Receptors. *Evid. Based Complement. Alternat. Med.* **1**(9).

Guo Z, Liang X and Xie Y. 2019. Qualitative and quantitative analysis of the chemical constituents in *Orthosiphon stamineus* Benth. using ultra high-performance liquid chromatography coupled with electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry. *J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal.*, **164**: 135–147.

Han Jie L, Jantan I, Yusoff SD, Jalil J and Husain K. 2021. Sinensetin: An Insight on Its Pharmacological Activities, Mechanisms of Action and Toxicity. *Front. Pharmacol*, **11**: 553404.

Hossain MA and Ismail Z. 2016. Quantification O. aristatus ion and enrichment of sinensetin in the leaves of Orthosiphon stamineus. Arab. J. Chem, 9: S1338 – S1341.

Hossain MA and Mizanur Rahman SM. 2015. Isolation and characterisation of flavonoids from the leaves of medicinal plant *Orthosiphon stamineus. Arab. J. Chem*, **8**(2): 218–221.

Kar B, Choo M, Kundap UP, Kumari Y, Hue S, Othman I and Shaikh MF. 2012. *Orthosiphon* stamineus Leaf Extract Affects TNF- α and Seizures in a Zebrafish Model. *Front. Pharmacol.* 23 (9): 139.

Lee W. 2004. Micropropagation and cell culture of misai kucing (Orthosiphon stamineus Benth.) And detection of rosmarinic acid in the in vitro cultures. Thesis. Universiti Sains Malaysia.

Mohamed E, Mohamed AJ, Abdullah M, Sadikun A, Saad Ebrika O and Yam M. 2011. Antihyperglycemic Effect of *Orthosiphon Stamineus* Benth Leaves Extract and Its Bioassay-Guided Fractions. *Molecules*, **16**: 3787–3801.

Mohamed E, Pin Lim C, Saad Ebrika O, Abdullah M, Sadikun A and Yam M. 2010. Toxicity evaluation of a standardized 50% ethanol extract of *Orthosiphon stamineus*. J. Ethnopharmacol, **133**: 358–363.

Mose M, Daryono SB, Indrianto A, Purwantoro A, Semiarti E. 2020. Direct Somatic Embryogenesis and Regeneration of an Indonesian orchid *Phalaenopsis amabilis* (L.) Blume under a Variety of Plant Growth Regulators, Light Regime, and Organic Substances. *Jordan J Biol Sci*, **13**(4): 510-517.

Muhammad Hussin, Sulaiman SA, Ismail Z and Paumgartten FJR. 2001. Study on the developmental toxicity of a standardized extract of *Orthosiphon stamineus* in rats. *Rev. Bras. Farmacogn*, **23**(3): 513–520.

Nuengchamnong N, Krittasilp K and Ingkaninan K. 2011. Characteristics of phenolic antioxidants in an aqueous extract from *Orthosiphon grandiflorus* tea by LC-ESI-MS / coupled to DPPH assay. *Food Chem*, **127**(3): 1287–1293.

Pang SF, Yusoff M and Gimbun J. 2014. Extraction and Microencapsulation of Polyphenols from *Orthosiphon stamineus* Leaves. J. Mech. Eng. Sci, **7**: 1033–1041.

Pauzi N, Mohd KS, Hidayah N, and Halim A. 2018. Orthosiphon stamineus Extracts Inhibits Proliferation and Induces Apoptosis in Uterine Fibroid Cells. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev, **19**: 2737–2744.

Premgamone A, Sriboonlue P, Disatapornjaroen W and Maskasem S. 2001. A Long-Term Study On The Efficacy Of A Herbal Plant, *Orthosiphon grandiflorus*, And Sodium Potassium Citrate In Renal Calculi Treatment. *Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health*, **32**(3).

Ripim M, Fazil N, Ibrahim K, Bahtiar A, Wai C, Ibrahim N, and Nor M. 2018. Antiviral Properties of *Orthosiphon stamineus* Aqueous Extract in Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Infected Cells. *Sains Malays*, **47**(8): 1725-1730.

Samidurai D, Pandurangan A, Kumar Krishnamoorthi S, Perumal M and Nanjian R. 2019. Sinensetin isolated from *Orthosiphon aristatus* inhibits cell proliferation and induces apoptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Process Biochem*, **88**.

Shatnawi M, Al-Fauri A, Migdadi H. 2010. In Vitro Multiplication of *Chrysanthemum morifolium* Ramat and it is Responses to NaCl Induced Salinity. *Jordan J Biol Sci*, **3**:101-110.

Shibli AR, Sharaf AS, Kasrawi AM, Al-Qudah ST. 2017. In Vitro Multiplication of the White Wormwood, Artemisia herba-alba asso. *Jordan J Biol Sci*, **11**(3): 268-271.

Tezuka Y, Stampoulis P, Banskota AH, Awale S, Tran KQ, Saiki I. 2000. Constituents of the Vietnamese medicinal plant *Orthosiphon stamineus. Chem. Pharm. Bull*, **48**: 1711–1719.

Yam M, Fung Ang L, Salman I, Ameer O, Vuanghao, Man Ong L, Ahmad M, Asmawi M and Basir R. 2009. *Orthosiphon* stamineus Leaf Extract Protects Against Ethanol-Induced Gastropathy in Rats. *J. Med. Food*, **12**: 1089–1097.

Yuniarto ARI, Susilawati E, Khairunnisa I, Juanda D and Setiawan F. 2017. Antioxidant and Gastric Ulcer Healing Effect of *Orthosiphon stamineus* (Benth.) Leaves Extract In Aspirin-Induced Rats. *Asian J. Pharm. Clin. Res*, **10** (2): 2–4.

Yuliana ND, Khatib A, Link-Struensee AM, Ijzerman AP, Rungkat-Zakaria F, Choi YH. 2009. Adenosine A1 receptor binding activity of methoxy flavonoids from *Orthosiphon stamineus*. *Planta Med*, **75**: 132–136. Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

Lactobacillus reuteri and Lactobacillus salivarius, Two Prevalent Vaginal Species Isolated from Healthy Women in Western Algeria.

Bechelaghem Nadia^{1,*}, Djibaoui Rachid², Ergün Yaşar³, Ettalhi Mehdi⁴.

¹ Laboratory of Microbiology and Plant Biology, Department of Biology, Faculty of Natural Sciences and Life, University of Abdelhamid Ibn Badis, Mostaganem, Algeria; ² Laboratory of Microbiology and Plant Biology, Department of Biology, Faculty of Natural Sciences and Life, University of Abdelhamid Ibn Badis, Mostaganem, Algeria; ³Mustafa Kemal University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Tayfur Sokmen Campus, TR-31000 Hatay-Turkey; ⁴Health Public Department, Public Hospital of Aïn-

Tedeles, Mostaganem, Algeria.

Received: April 14, 2021; Revised: August 7, 2021; Accepted: August 22, 2021

Abstract

Background & objectives: Lactobacillus species or their metabolites (such as lactic acid or bacteriocin) are known to protect the vagina from urogenital infections and to maintain vaginal hygiene. The goal of the current study was to identify lactobacilli species for a possible probiotic and postbiotic perspective. In Mostaganem city (Algeria), an effective molecular detective technique for lactobacilli in the vagina of women is seriously lacking. Therefore, our current studies promise to contribute to molecular diagnostic.

Materials and Methods: 37 samples of vaginal lactobacilli from 32 healthy women were isolated. By using polymerase chain reaction (PCR), strains were identified. For identification, genus specific, group specific and species-specific PCR protocols were implemented.

Results: All isolates were confirmed as spp. *Lactobacillus*. All 37 isolates belonged to Group IV of the *Lactobacillus* genus and were further divided into two *L. reuteri* and *L. salivarius* species.

Result interpretation & conclusion: In this study, the prevalent species in vagina were *L. reuteri* (70, 27%), followed by *L. salivarius* (29,73%). The probiotic potential of *L. salivarius* and *L. reuteri* from vaginal origin has not been fully exploited yet but studies to date have shown that these two species may be reliable candidates for use as new probiotics or as 'postbiotic' metabolites.

Keywords: Vaginal lactobacilli; Multiplex PCR; Lactobacillus reuteri; Lactobacillus salivarius; Probiotics; Postbiotics.

1. Introduction

The presence of beneficial bacteria which product lactic-acid- in the vaginal area, particularly from the *Lactobacillus* genus, is what defines vaginal eubiosis. *Lactobacillus* spp. can produce vaginal eubiosis by killing healthy and pathogenic bacteria by lactic acid, either natively or as probiotics. Other antimicrobial factors can also be released, such as bacteriocins (Aroutcheva et al., 2001; Selle and Klaenhammer, 2013).

Recent studies have shown that lactic acid (O'Hanlon, 2011; Gong et al., 2014) is the key antimicrobial factor produced by lactobacilli. It was proposed by Gil et al. (2010) that *L. salivarius* was the top source of lactic acid. The benefits of *L. reuteri* have also been enumerated by various reports as a probiotic (Indrio et al., 2008; Spinler et al., 2008; Hou et al., 2015). *L. reuteri* in both bacteriocidal and bacteriolytic forms, produced an antimicrobial agent (bacteriocin) which was active against sensitive cells (Kawai et al., 2001). Bacteriocins generation by *L*.

salivarius has been also identified (Barrett et al., 2007; Strahinic et al., 2007; Busarcevic et al., 2008).

A clearer understanding of each population's natural vaginal biota seems important in order to suggest improved probiotics. Some studies have analyzed vaginal microbiota and reported numerous findings from different populations (Vasquez et al., 2002; Zhou et al., 2007). Some studies have confirmed that *L. crispatus*, *L. gasseri*, *L. jensenii*, and *L. iners* were predominated in healthy vaginal microbiota (Ravel et al., 2011), but different findings were documented in other studies (Garg et al., 2009; Damelin et al., 2011).

Within the *L. acidophilus* the closely related species it is really challenging. and often hard to distinguish *acidophilus* complexes by phenotypic techniques (Klein et al.,1998). Furthermore, so many of the distinctions of vaginal *Lactobacillus* observed in numerous researches may be due to the lack of effective detection methods (Redondo-Lopez et al., 1990; Zhong et al., 1998). Accurate molecular biological methods are therefore required to identify the presence or type of vaginal

^{*} Corresponding author. e-mail: nadia.bechelaghem@univ-mosta.dz.

Lactobacillus, not just for infection therapy, but also to restore the natural microbiota in a variety of conditions.

Multiplex PCR methods have also been used for the simultaneous identification and discriminating of a large number of bacteria. Multiplex PCR was performed utilizing 16S rRNA or 16S-23S rRNA intergenic spacer region (ISR) primers based on sequences unique to each species encompassing the 16S rRNA or 23S rRNA flanking region (Schleifer et al., 1995).

Probiotics, particularly *Lactobacillus* species, have gained prominence in recent years. There are few studies on *L. salivarius* and *L. reuteri* from the human vagina and their use as a probiotic or its 'postbiotic' metabolites to prevent or treat vaginal disorders, opening the door to this important public health issue.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Specimen collection

Vaginal isolates were collected by a midwife from 32 volunteer women working in Oued El Kheir public health unit in Mostaganem city (Algeria), who were premenopausal, non-menstruating between the ages of 18 and 45. For these experimental purposes, volunteer consent was obtained. With cotton swabs, vaginal samples were taken aseptically.

2.2. Lactobacillus strains isolation from vaginal swabs

Once vaginal swab samples were collected, they were sent to the bacteriology laboratory of Aïn-Tedeles Public Hospital, in Mostaganem city (Algeria). The swabs were inoculated into 5 ml MRS (de Man, Rogosa, and Sharpe) broth and allowed to enrich for 24 hours at 37 °C. MRS plates were streaked with the enhanced bacterial suspension and incubated at 37 °C for 48 hours under anaerobic conditions (Gordana et al., 2011).

2.3. Phenotypic characterization

All isolates were first examined for colony shape, Gram stain, catalase, and oxidase activity. These studies were carried out in the city of Mostaganem's Microbiology and Plant Biology laboratory (Algeria). All isolates that were gram-positive and catalase-negative, were stored in 30 percent glycerol at -80 °C.

2.4. Molecular Diagnosis

Genotypic identification of the lactobacilli isolates was carried out at Microbiology Laboratory in the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine at Mustafa Kamel University, Antakya city (Turkey).

2.5. Genomic DNA extraction:

Isolates were streaked on MRS agar for nucleic acid isolation. Only one colony from each type of strain resuspended in 500 μ l of sterile PBS (phosphate buffer saline pH: 7.2) after an overnight incubation at 37°C in microaerophilic conditions. Bacterial cells were collected by centrifugation at 3000 x g for 10 minutes, then resuspended in 350 μ l TE buffer [10 mM tris chloride, 1 mM EDTA (pH8.0)] with 20 mg of lysozyme (Sigma, USA) per ml and incubated at 37°C for 60 minutes. Every 15 minutes, each tube was vortexed. Then 350 μ l 10 percent SDS was added, along with 100 g proteinase-K (Vivantis Technologies, Malaysia) per ml, then incubated for 60 minutes at 37°C. According to Sambrook and Russell, (2001) the phenol/chloroform extraction technique was employed for nucleic acid extraction. The precipitate of DNA was diluted in 100 μ l of TE buffer [10 mM Tris chloride-1 mM EDTA (pH 8.0)], and kept at -20°C till use.

2.6. PCR analysis

2.6.1. Genus Specific PCR:

Amplification using the genus-specific primer LbLMArev (5' CTC AAA ACT AAA CAA AGT TTC3') and the universal primer R16-1 (5' CTT GTA CAC ACC GCC CGT TCA3') was used to identify each isolate at the genus level. Each PCR was carried out in a 25 μ l volume of the reaction comprising 2 μ l of DNA that has been extracted, 2.5 μ l of the Taq buffer (10X, Vivantis, Malaysia), 200 μ M of each of the deoxynucleotide triphosphates (dNTP), 20 μ M of each of the forward and reverse primers, and 1 U of the Taq DNA polymerase (Vivantis, Malaysia).

The reaction protocol was set at initial denaturation at 94°C for 5 minutes was followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 seconds, annealing at 55°C, and extension at 72°C for 30 seconds and 7 minutes (Dubernet and Desmasures, 2002).

2.6.2. Group Specific Multiplex PCR

After verifying the genus and to establish which group an isolate belonged to, multiplex PCR-G was employed using a primer mixture that contains equimolar amounts of forward primers, Ldel four 7(5'ACAGATGGATGGAGAGCAGA3'), LU-1'(5'ATTGTAGAGCGACCGAGAAG3'), LU LU-5' 3'(5'AAACCGAGAACACCGCGTT3'), (5'CTAGCGGGTGCACTTTGTT3') and 1 common reverse primer Lac-2 (5'CCTCTTCGCTCGCCGCTACT3') as per Song et al. (2000).

Each PCR was carried out in a 25 μ l reaction volume containing 2 μ l of extracted DNA, 2.5 μ l of the Taq buffer, 200 μ M of each dNTP, 20 μ M of each of reverse and forward primers, and 1 U of the Taq DNA polymerase. for group specific PCR, a program of denaturation at 95°C for 1 minute, then 35 cycles of denaturation at 95°C for 20 seconds, annealing at 55°C for 2 minutes, and extension at 72°C for 30 seconds and 7 minutes thereafter, was employed.

2.6.3. Species Specific Multiplex PCR

After group detection, a species-specific multiplex PCR was used according to Song *et al.* (2000), using the primers shown in **table 1**. Each PCR was carried out in a 25 μ l the volume of the reaction containing 2 μ l of the DNA that has been extracted, 2.5 μ l of the Taq buffer, 200 μ M of each dNTP, 20 μ M of each of the forward and reverse primers, and 1 U of the Taq DNA polymerase. PCR program for species specific multiplex PCR was employed at denaturation at 95°C for 3 minutes then, 35 cycles of denaturation for 20 second at 95°C, annealing for 60 second at 60°C and extension for 60 sec at 72°C and thereafter 7 minutes for final extension.

Table 1: Species that have been identified by PCR

		~ .	
Program	Primer (5'-3' sequence)	Species	Amplicon
			(bp)
	Lsal-1	L.	
	AATCGCTAAACTCATAACCT	salivarius	411
	Lsal-2		
	CACTCTCTTTGGCTAATCTT		
	Lreu-1		
	CAGACAATCTTTGATTGTTTAG	L. reuteri	303
	Lreu-4		
PCR- IV	GCTTGTTGGTTTGGGCTCTTC		
	Lpla-3	<i>L</i> .	
	ATTCATAGTCTAGTTGGAGGT	plantarum	
	Lpla-2		248
	CCTGAACTGAGAGAATTTGA		
	Lfer-3		
	ACTAACTTGACTGATCTACGA	<i>L</i> .	192
	Lfer-4	fermentum	
	TTCACTGCTCAAGTAATCATC		

2.7. Agarose Gel Electrophoresis and Imaging

Electrophoresis of aliquots of the amplified products in TAE buffer (40 mM Tris acetate, 1 mM EDTA, pH 8.2) on 2% agarose gels was performed. Ethidium bromide was used to stain the gels, which were then viewed under UV light. As a molecular mass marker, a 100-bp polymer was employed (Vivantis).

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Molecular identification

The results of genus specific PCR are shown in **fig.1**, which indicates that all vaginal isolates tested gave an amplicon of about 200 bp long. In the results of group specific PCR, all isolates detected belong to group IV with amplicons of 350 bp and in the species-specific PCR detection two different species were identified. The amplification products of group and species-specific PCR were shown in **fig.2**.

In the analyses of species, 26 (70, 27%) of isolates were found to be *L. reuteri* (303 bp) and 11 (29, 73%) *L. salivarius* (411 bp). These 2 species of *Lactobacillus* belong to group IV (**fig.2**).



Figure 1. Genus-specific PCR results that are representative of 5 isolates on 2% agarose gel.



Figure 2 Agarose gel electrophoresis of PCR products from multiplex PCR-G and species-specific multiplex PCR.

It was necessary to first identify the *Lactobacillus* species that colonize women in this region before administering exogenous *Lactobacillus* or their metabolites to preserve vaginal health in west Algerian women.

Vaginal isolates were characterized in our sample base d on cell morphology and physiological and biochemical studies.

Our finding reveals difficulties in separating these isolates on the basis of tests for the fermentation of carbohydrates, which are also supported by Chagnaud et al. (2001) who also reported the reference *L. salivarius* UCC43321 strain as *L. Paracasei* with this technique. Thus, phenotypically characterized strains, even those with a good level of identification, could be misidentified. According to Song et al. (1999), API tests typically identify *L. acidophilus* isolates as belonging to the species *L. crispatus*.

Molecular techniques, such as PCR, can reduce observer-dependent errors and offer more comprehensive and precise findings than biochemical approaches (Yan et al., 2009). On the basis of Gram positivity and catalase negativity, genomic DNA was amplified from 37 vaginal isolates of 32 women cultured on MRS medium and identified as *Lactobacillus*. By genus-specific PCR (**Fig 1**), all of the isolates examined had an amplicon of around 200 bp, indicating that they all belonged to the *Lactobacillus* genus (Garg et al., 2009).

The group-specific PCR utilized a combination of one reverse primer and forward primers to distinguish *Lactobacillus* into classes I, II, III, and IV. A total of 100% of the isolates with a 350 bp amplicon were found to belong to group IV (**Fig 2**).

In a study conducted by Garg et al. (2009), 80 vaginal *Lactobacillus* isolates using group-specific PCR were examined. They found that 80% of isolates belonged to Group IV, 13.75% to Group II, and 6.25% to women's Group III. There was no isolate belonging to Category I.

All the 37 isolates were analyzed at species level, by species specific primers. These species were identified as *L. reuteri* and *L. salivarius*. These two species which are part of the usual vaginal microbiota were tested for their essential characteristics as possible probiotics (data not shown). Garg et al. (2009) found that *L. salivarius* (16.25%), *L. fermentum* (25%), and *L. reuteri* (32.5%) were the most frequent species in women's vaginal

Lactobacillus species in Delhi, northern India, when they used the same primers, we used.

While the species *L. crispatus* and *L. jensenii* were discovered in Mysore, southern India, and are similar to those identified in American women studied by Pavlova et al (2002), such variations imply that vaginal *Lactobacillus* species can differ across Indian subpopulations. *Lactobacillus crispatus*, *L. gasseri*, and *L.jensenii* are the most widely cultivated vaginal lactobacilli, according to studies from throughout the world (Chaban et al., 2014; Mendes-Soares et al., 2014; Van de Wijgert et al., 2014).

L. acidophilus and L. fermentum dominated the vaginal biota of healthy women in the past, L. brevis, L. jensenii, and L. casei are the next species., and other species (Lachlak et al., 1996). It is also worth noting that the quantity of prevalent lactobacilli differs significantly between women from various ethnic groupings. For example, L. crispatus, L. iners, L. gasseri, and L. jensenii were found in 91%, 75%, 67%, and, 43% of healthy Chinese women, respectively (Yan et al., 2009). But the abundance of these lactobacilli in Iranian women was 66.7%, 55%, 29.6% and, 29.6% respectively for the same species (Motevaseli et al., 2013).

We also note major variations in Algeria, with two species, *L. iners* and *L. delbrueckii*, identified in the study conducted by Alioua *et al.* (Alioua *et al.*, 2016) on 15 pregnant women in Annaba, eastern Algeria. Although *L. gasseri* and *L. plantarum* were found in Jijel, northeastern Algeria, they were obtained from 60 healthy women (Bouridane *et al.*, 2016). *L. fermentum* was the dominant species identified by Ouarabi *et al.* (2017), followed by *L. plantarum* in 10 healthy women from Bejaia, another region in eastern Algeria.

It is crucial to understand that the presence of certain health-promoting LAB (Lactic Acid Bacteria) genera in the vaginal canal, such as *L. reuteri*, could be a source for inoculation of newborn babies' guts during vaginal delivery for initial colonization of the neonates' colon with these beneficial bacteria (Al-Balawi and Morsy, 2020).

4. Conclusion

This study shows that there are similarities and variations between the vaginal lactobacilli composition found in Algeria and those in environments that are markedly different.

The vaginal biota of Algerian women is little studied., and particularly in the western region, so our research fills a gap in the literature. The results of this study also indicate that *L. reuteri* and *L. salivarius* are promising candidates for probiotics or postbiotics that are usually isolated from healthy Algerian women.

These findings suggest that further research is needed into the microbial variety of women's vaginal biota in different regions of the world and how it impacts vaginal health. Because of the current study's limitations, metagenomic research to identify the whole vaginal microbiome may be performed in the future. Our results will need to be verified in a larger study utilizing molecular techniques and long-term research designs paired with data on participants' activities in order to further characterize this important defense and to help women suffering from vaginal ecosystem disruptions.

Acknowledgments

The authors are thankful to women who took the time and effort to participate in this study and provide us with the samples.

Data availability statement

This published paper contains all of the data collected or evaluated during this investigation.

Contribution of the Author

BN conceived the presented idea, developed the theory, and wrote the manuscript with support from EY and DR. EM's encouragement to begin this work.

Funding

The work was performed according to the Ministry of High Education and Scientific Research of Algeria and funded by University of Abdelhamid Ibn Badis, Mostaganem, Algeria under project no. 160011. The work was also sponsored by Mustafa Kemal University in Hatay, Turkey where most of the experiments were performed.

Declarations

Conflict of interest: The authors state that no commercial or financial ties were present throughout the research. Therefore, a conflict of interests does not exist.

Ethical approval

The individuals who provided us with their samples for this study had given their consent. There were no animals involved in this study.

References

Al-Balawi M and Morsy FM. 2020. *Enterococcus faecalis* is a better competitor than other lactic acid bacteria in the initial colonization of colon of healthy newborn babies at first week of their life. *Front. Microbiol.*, **11**:2017.

Alioua S, Abdi A, Fhoula I, Bringel F, Boudabous A, Ouzari IH. 2016. Diversity of vaginal lactic acid bacterial microbiota in 15 Algerian pregnant women with and without bacterial vaginosis by using culture independent method. *JCDR.*, **10** (9):23-27.

Aroutcheva A, Gariti D, Simon M, Shott S, Faro J, Simoes JA, Gurguis A, Faro S.2001. Defense factors of vaginal lactobacilli. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.*, **185**:375 -9.

Barrett E, Hayes M, O'Connor P, Gardiner G, Fitzgerald GF, Stanton C, Ross RP, Hill C. 2007. Salivaricin P, one of a family of two-component antilisterial bacteriocins produced by intestinal isolates of *Lactobacillus salivarius*. *AEM.*, **73**: 3719 -3723.

Bouridane H, Sifour M, Idoui T, Annick L, Thonard P. 2016. Technological and probiotic traits of the lactobacilli isolated from vaginal tract of the healthy women for probiotic use. *Iran J Biotech.*, **14**(**3**): e1432.

Busarcevic M, Kojic M, Dalgalarrondo M, Chobert JM, Haertle T, Topisirovic L.2008. Purification of bacteriocin LS1 produced by human oral isolate *Lactobacillus salivarius* BGHO1. *Oral Microbiol Immunol.*, 23:254 -258. Chaban B, Links MG, Jayaprakash TP, Wagner EC, Bourque DK, Lohn Z, Albert AY, van Schalkwyk J, Reid G, Hemmingsen SM, Hill JE, Money DM. 2014. Characterization of the vaginal microbiota of healthy Canadian women through the menstrual cycle. *Microbiome.*, **2**, 23.

Chagnaud P, Machinis K, Coutte LA, Marecat A, Mercenier A.2001. Rapid PCR-based procedure to identify lactic acid bacteria: application to six common *Lactobacillus* species. *J Microbiol Methods.*, **44**:139-48.

Damelin LH, Paximadis M, Mavri-Damelin D, Birkhead M, Lewis DA, Tiemessen CT.2011. Identification of predominant culturable vaginal *Lactobacillus* species and associated bacteriophages from women with and without vaginal discharge syndrome in South Africa. *J Med Microbiol.*, **60**(**Pt 2**):180-3.

Dubernet S and Desmasures N.2002. A PCR based method for identification of *Lactobacillus* at genus level. *FEMS Microbiol Lett.*, **214**, 271-5.

Garg KB, Ganguli I, Das R, Talwar GP.2009. Spectrum of Lactobacillus species present in healthy vagina of Indian women. *Indian J Med Res.*, **129(6)**:652-7.

Gil NF, Martinez RC, Gomes BC, Nomizo A, De Martinis EC.2010. Vaginal lactobacilli as potential probiotics against *Candida* spp. *Braz J Microbiol.*, **41**: 614.

Gong Z, Luna Y, Yu P, Fan H. 2014. Lactobacilli inactivate Chlamydia trachomatis through lactic acid but not H_2O_2 . PLoS One., **9**:107758.

Gordana Z, Zeljka R, Valentina V, Jelena B, Topisirovic L, Ivana S .2011. Characterization and antimicrobial activity of vaginal *Lactobacillus* isolate. *Arch Biol Sci Belgrade.*, **63** (1) 29-35.

Hou C, Zeng X, Yang F, Liu H, Qiao S.2015. Study and use of the probiotic Lactobacillus reuteri in pigs: a review. *J Anim Sci Biotechnol.*, **6**:14.

Indrio F, Riezzo G, Raimondi F, Bisceglia M, Cavallo L, Francavilla R. 2008. The effects of probiotics on feeding tolerance, bowel habits, and gastrointestinal motility in preterm newborns. *J Pediatr.*, **152**:801-806.

Kawai Y, Ishii Y, Uemura K, Kitazawa H, Saito T, Itoh T .2001. *Lactobacillus reuteri* LA6 and *Lactobacillus gasseri* LA39 isolated from faeces of the same human infant produce identical cyclic bacteriocin. *Food Microbiol.*, **18** :407-415.

Klein, G, Pack A, Bonaparte C, Reuter G.1998. Taxonomy and physiology of probiotic lactic acid bacteria. *Int J Food Microbiol.*, **41**:103-125.

Lachlak N, Ageron E, Zampatti O, Michel G, Grimont PA.1996. Composition of the *Lactobacillus acidophilus* complex isolated from vaginal biota. *New Microbiol.*, **19(2):**123-32.

Mendes-Soares H, Suzuki H, Hickey RJ, Forney LJ. 2014. Comparative functional genomics of *Lactobacillus* spp. reveals possible mechanisms for specialization of vaginal lactobacilli to their environment. *J Bacteriol.*, **196**: 1458-1470.

Motevaseli E, Shirzad M, Raoofian R, Hasheminasab SM, Hatami M, Dianatpour M, Modarressi MH .2013. Differences in vaginal lactobacilli composition of Iranian healthy and bacterial vaginosis infected women: A comparative analysis of their cytotoxic effects with commercial vaginal probiotics. *Iran Red Cres Med J.*, **15**(3): 199-206. DOI: 10.5812/ircmj.3533.

O'Hanlon DE, Moench TR, Cone RA .2011. In vaginal fluid, bacteria associated with bacterial vaginosis can be suppressed with lactic acid but not hydrogen peroxide. *BMC Infect Dis.*, **11**:200.

Ouarabi L, Ait Chait Y, Ait Seddik H, Drider D, Bendali F.2017. Newly isolated lactobacilli strains from Algerian Human vaginal microbiota: *Lactobacillus fermentum* strains relevant probiotic's candidates. *Probiotics Antimicrob. Proteins.*, **11**:43-54.

Pavlova SI, Kilic AO, Kilic SS, So J S, Nader-Macias M E, Simoes JA, Tao L.2002. Genetic diversity of vaginal lactobacilli from women in different countries based on 16S rRNA gene sequences. *J Appl Microbiol.*, **92**: 451-459.

Ravel J, Gajer P, Abdo Z, Schneider GM, Koenig SS, McCulle SL, Karlebach S, Gorle R, Russell J, Tacket C O, Brotman RM, Davis CC, Ault K, Peralta L, Forney LJ.2011. Vaginal microbiome of reproductive-age women. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 108 Suppl., 1:4680-7.

Redondo-Lopez V, Cook RL, Sobel JD.1990. Emerging role of lactobacilli in the control and maintenance of the vaginal bacterial microbiota. *Rev Infect Dis.*, **12**:856-872.

Sambrook J and Russell W.2001. **Molecular Cloning: A** Laboratory Manual. 3rd ed., Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, NY.

Schleifer KH, Ehrmann M, Beimfohr C, Brockmann E, Ludwig W, Amann R. 1995. Application of molecular methods for the classification and identification of lactic acid bacteria. *Int Dairy J.*, **5**: 1081-1094.

Selle K and Klaenhammer TR .2013. Genomic and phenotypic evidence for probiotic influences of *Lactobacillus gasseri* on human health. *FEMS Microbiol Rev.*, **37**:915-35.

Song YL, Kato N, Liu CX, Matsumiya Y, Kato H, Watanabe K .2000. Rapid identification of 11 human intestinal Lactobacillus species by multiplex PCR assays using group and species-specific primers derived from the 16S-23S rRNA intergenic spacer region and its flanking 23S rRNA. *FEMS Microbiol Lett.*, **187**:167-73.

Song YL, Kato N, Matsumiya Y, Liu CX, Kato H, Watanabe K.1999. Identification of *Lactobacillus* species of human origin by a commercial kit, API 50CHL. *J Rapid Methods Autom Microbiol.*, **10**:77-82.

Spinler JK, Taweechotipatr M, Rognerud CL, Ou CN, Tumwasorn S, Versalovic J .2008. Human-derived probiotic *Lactobacillus reuteri* demonstrate antimicrobial activities targeting diverse enteric bacterial pathogens. *Anaerobe.*, **14**: 166-171.

Strahinic I, Busarcevic M, Pavlica D, Milasin J, Golic N, Topisirovic L.2007. Molecular and biochemical characterizations of human oral lactobacilli as putative probiotic candidates. *Oral Microbiol Immunol.*, **22**:111-117.

Van de Wijgert JH, Borgdorff H, Verhelst R, Crucitti T, Francis S, Verstraelen H, Jespers V. 2014. The vaginal microbiota: what have we learned after a decade of molecular characterization? *PLoS One* 9, e105998.

Vasquez A, Jakobsson T, Ahrne S, Forsum U, Molin G.2002. Vaginal *Lactobacillus* biota of healthy Swedish women. *J Clin Microbiol.*, **40**(8):2746-9.

Yan DH, Lu Z, Su JR .2009. Comparison of main *Lactobacillus* species between healthy women and women with bacterial vaginosis. *Chin Med J (Engl).*, **122(22):**2748-51.

Zhong W, Millsap K, Bialkowska-Hobrzanska H, Reid G .1998. Differentiation of *Lactobacillus* species by molecular typing. *Appl Environ Microbiol.*, **64**:2418-2423.

Zhou X, Brown CJ, Abdo Z, Davis CC, Hansmann MA, Joyce P, Foster JA, Forney LJ .2007. Differences in the composition of vaginal microbial communities found in healthy Caucasian and black women. *ISME J.*, **1**(2):121-33.
Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

Enhanced cell Viability with Induction of Pathogenesis Related Proteins Against *Aspergillus niger* in Maize by Endo-Rhizospheric Bacteria

Yachana Jha*

N.V.PatelCollege of pure & Applied Sciences, S. P.University, V. V. Nagar, Anand (Gujarat), India. Ph. No-+91-9426282152 Received: August 13, 2020; Revised: December 15, 2020; Accepted: March 16, 2021

Abstract

Two endorhizospheric bacteria were isolated from the root of saline tolerant plant *Suaeda nudiflora* wild mosque by using nitrogen free selective medium and identified as *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Bacillus megaterium* by the various biochemical and molecular analysis. The isolates were assayed for the production of the secondary metabolite/antibiotics and also analyzed for its infection antagonizing potential against the pathogen *Aspergillus niger*. The growth promotion potential of the isolates was analyzed on maize plant for enhanced plant growth/yield by induction of chitinase, catalase production and reduced programmed cell death (PCD) for acquiring resistance against pathogen *Aspergillus niger*. Comparative analysis of secondary metabolite production was studied in healthy and infected maize by GCMS analysis. The results showed that isolates were able to induce defense enzymes prior to infection and its activity further increased on pathogenic interaction. The isolates also induced PR proteins as well as expression of catalase like gene in the infected plant. The isolated endorhizospheric bacteria also modulate the types and level of secondary metabolites in maize plant for the better survival of maize under stress.

Keywords: Endorhizospheric, Chitinase, Catalase, Programmed cell death, Secondary metabolite, GCMS analysis, Gene expression.

1. Introduction

Ecological factors like biotic and abiotic ones continuously effect the growth of plant in agricultural farms. A co-evolution takes place between plants and microbes, which establish synergistic and antagonistic relations with microbes and the plant pathogen. A multilayered process is mediated by the pathogen for its establishment; at the same time, plant-derived metabolites as sugars, lipo-polysaccharides and proteins are produced by the plant to develop resistant against such stress (Boyd et al., 2013). Numerous self-governing and wellelaborated mechanisms have been developed by the plant pathogens to penetrate the plant cell and retrieving the plant cell contents. Zandalinas et al., (2017) reported, that during infection the penetration of pathogens usually depends on the precise time-course of the pathogen interaction with the host plant cells, which initiate various biochemical reactions, resulting in production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), secondary metabolites, and PR proteins. Sometime all these mechanism employed altogether in combination by the plant, to activate specific defense mechanism against the pathogen infection. A plant, when assessed by the pathogens, will stimulate production of several biochemical compounds like the oxidation of phenolic compounds, accumulation of secondary metabolites and many mechanisms related with defense in plants, upsurge specially during fungal infections (Zhou et al., 2016). The oxidation of phenolic compounds develops a tendency for the formation of insoluble complexes with proteins, which act as enzyme inhibitors or are responsible for the oxidation of toxic elements to inhibit the pathogen infection. The most imperative protective response of plants towards the pathogenic factors is the production of pathogenesisrelated proteins (PR proteins). The pathogenesis-related proteins are the group of plant encoded proteins responsible for specific forms of resistance to pathogens and related stress (Jha, 2019). The hydrolytic proteins like chitinase and catalase have some basic property and have three main functions in protecting plant from pathogens. Firstly, the hydrolysis of the particular substrates are catalyzed by such enzymes, thus releasing biologically active oligosaccharides (elicitors and suppressors) proficient of managing the immune status of plant tissues. Secondly, as the main constitution of fungal pathogen cell walls is chitin, such an enzyme has the ability to hydrolyze the cell walls of pathogenic fungi. Third, it also modulates the concentration of defense enzyme like peroxides to control the pathogen spread and initiate programmed cell death (PCD) (Park et al., 2018). In the healthy plant, the PR proteins are present in insignificant amount and are induced at certain stages of growth only. Programmed cell death is accountable for the removal of undesirable damaged/dangerous cells and is an important genetically controlled process. PCD is critically for different aspects of plant life cycle, and also involved in hypersensitive response (HR) for the biotic defenses toward plant

^{*} Corresponding author e-mail: yachanajha@ymail.com.

pathogens attack. Many bacteria, fungi, protozoa, algae like numerous microorganisms reside together in the plant rhizosphere, among them bacteria are the most abundant. Being the most abundant microorganism in the rhizosphere, bacteria directly influence the plants metabolism and physiology. There is a tough competition among the rhizospheric bacteria and pathogenic microorganism for root exudates/colonization (Barriuso et al., 2008). The pathogen-induced production of PR proteins and systemic response in the plants and induction of systemic response resulted in accumulation of PR proteins not only at pathogen invasive site, but systemically induced in entire plant. Maize production in the field is constrained by both abiotic and biotic stress factors. In the present study, we investigate the efficiency of endorhizospheric bacteria to develop resistance against the fungal pathogen Aspergillus niger in maize through induction of PR proteins, secondary metabolites, phenolic content and gene expression. The effect of endorhizospheric bacteria has been analyzed on the degree of programmed cell death in infected/uninfected maize plant.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Isolation and identification of bacteria

Bacterial strains were isolated from root of plant Suaeda nudiflora wild mosque by serial dilution techniques as our published method (Jha and Subramanian, 2014). The selection of bacteria for further experiment was done on the basis of their ability to solubilize phosphate (Chen et al., 2014), produce siderophore (Ferreira et al., 2019), modulate indole-acetic acid (IAA) (Mohite, 2013), gibberellins, and utilizes 1-aminocyclopropane-1carboxylic acid (ACC) as sole nitrogen source (Polko and Kieber, 2019). Morphology and Gram properties were determined using a light microscope (1,000X) (Zeiss, Argentina S.A). Pellicle-forming ability and aerobic N2dependent growth were assessed in semisolid nitrogen free semi-solid medium (NFb) (Himedia, Mumbai, India) with different carbon sources. For this purpose, malate was replaced by fructose, glucose, glycerol or sucrose. All the isolates were biochemically characterized for utilization of metabolites and enzymes such as Urease, Lysine Decarboxylase, Ornithine Decarboxylase, Esculin, Adonitol, Rhamnose, Mannitol, Sorbitol, Cellobiose, Melibiose, Glucuronate, Mannose, Maltose, Trehalose, Indole, Malonate, Phenylalanine desaminase, Sucrose, 5-Ketogluconate, Palatinose, Galacturonate, Colistin, Coumarate, Tetra thionatereductase, a-Galactosidase, Indoxylphosphate, Raffinose, o- NitroPhenyl N-Acetyl B -D Glucosaminide, P- Nitrophenylβ - D Galactopyranoside, Oxidase tests as per the standard methods (Patra et al., 2020).

2.2. Molecular identification of bacterial isolates

The molecular identification of the isolates were done by 16s rDNA analysis with 16s rDNA primers 16S F: 5'AGAGTTTGATCCTGGCTCAG3' and 16S R: 5'AGGTTACCTTGTTACGACTT3' for PCR amplification of the DNA, with1kb ladder BLUE from GeneON, followed by sequencing (Bangalore, GeNei). The DNA sequences were compared with the sequence obtained from the nucleotide database. The sequences were aligned with the CLUSTAL-W program, and evolutionary distances were generated. Alignment gaps and ambiguous bases were not taken into consideration for comparison. Phylogenetic trees were constructed using the neighbor-joining method and the maximum likelihood method in PHYLIP package.

2.3. Compatibility between bacterial isolates and fungus

Bacterial isolates were tested for its compatibility with each other by streaking parallel on Yeast Extract Glucose Agar medium and incubated in incubator at 28 °C. Compatibility was tested by overgrowth or inhibition of growth after 72 hrs of incubation. Antagonism between bacteria and fungus was in-vitro determined by inoculating both organisms on the same Yeast Extract Glucose Agar plate at 28 °C in incubator for a week, and antagonistic effects were tested by inhibition of growth of fungus by bacteria.

2.4. Antibiotic production ability assay

The antibiotic production ability of the selected isolates was assessed by extracting and testing toxicity of metabolites produced by them. The strains were grown for 48 hrs in 5 ml of N broth with glucose (2% w/v). The culture was centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 10 min and filtrate was collected. The metabolites from the filtrates were extracted with an equal volume of chloroform. The metabolites were also extracted from pellet and pooled. The upper aqueous layer was discarded and to remaining chloroform phase, a pinch of sodium sulphate was added to dry off water. It was again centrifuged at 8,000 rpm for 10 min to palettes out sodium sulphate. The clear layer was discarded, and chloroform was removed by flushing air. The residue was re-dissolved in 200 ml of acetone, and 70 µl was spotted on to TLC plate (Silica gel 60 F254, 20*20 cm, 0.2 mm thickness, Merck). The plate was chromatogrammed using chloroform: acetone (9:1) as solvent system. Later the plates were observed under UV light at 254 nm. The metabolites were eluted and redissolved in acetone: water (1:10) 100 µl of eluted portions were centrifuged to pellet. The silica gel clear suspension was further analyzed for toxicity against test pathogen. The percentage inhibition of individual antibiotic produced by each strain was calculated with known concentration of antibiotics Streptomycin.

2.5. Plant inoculation and treatment

Certified seeds of maize variety GM4 were obtained from the Gujarat state seed cooperation and were inoculated with endorhizospheric bacteria (Jha and Subramanian, 2015). After 4 weeks of inoculation, plants were infected with *Aspergillus niger* by spore suspension with a spore load of 10^4 conidia ml⁻¹, which caused more than 75% infection under greenhouse condition. Plants inoculated with bacteria and infected or non-infected with fungus were transplanted in pot, having five transplants per pot holding 10 kg soil and allowed to grow without additional nutrient for 5 weeks at 20 to 25 °C in the greenhouse.

2.6. Effect on total phenolic content after inoculation and infection

The total phenolic content of leaf extracts was measured using colorimetric Folin-Ciocalteu method

(Kaur and Kapoor, 2002). The leaf extract (1ml) was mixed with 5ml of distilled water and 250 μ l of 1N folinciocalteau reagent. The mixture was covered and allowed to stand for 3 min at 25°C. In this mixture, 1ml of saturated Na₂CO₃ and 1ml of distilled water were added. The mixture was incubated for 1 hr at 25°C to develop color and measured at 725 nm using spectrophotometer. Standard graph was prepared by using different concentration of phenol crystals.

2.7. Assay of defense enzymes

Plant leaf tissues were collected after 2 weeks of inoculation and infection with pathogen. Leaf samples were homogenized with liquid nitrogen in a pre-chilled mortar and pestle. One gram of leaf sample was homogenized with 0.1 M sodium citrate buffer (pH 5.0) at 4°C. The homogenate was centrifuged for 20 min at 10, 000 rpm. The supernatant was used as a crude enzyme extract for enzyme assay.

2.8. Estimation of chitinase

One gram of leaf tissue was homogenized in 5 ml of 0.1 molL⁻¹ sodium citrate buffer (pH 5.0). The homogenate was centrifuged for 10 min at 10,000 g at 4 °C and the supernatant was used in the enzyme assay. Colloidal chitin was prepared by taking 2 g of crab-shell chitin (Sigma, USA). It was slowly added to 35 ml of cold concentrated hydrochloric acid with vigorous stirring and placed at 4°C for 24 h. The mixture was filtered through glass wool into ethanol (200 ml) with rapid stirring. The resultant chitin suspension was centrifuged at 10,000 g for 20 min and the chitin pellets were washed repeatedly with distilled water until the pH became neutral. The commercial lyophilized snail gut enzyme chitinase was used as standard for colorimetric assay. The reaction mixture consist 10 ml of 1 molL⁻¹ sodium acetate buffer (pH 4.0), 0.4 ml of enzyme extract and 0.1 ml colloidal chitin (1 mg) in an eppendorf tube. After 2 h at 37°C, the reaction was stopped by centrifugation at 1000 g for 3 min. An aliquot of the supernatant (0.3 ml) was pipetted into a glass reagent tube containing 30 ml of desalted snail gut enzyme for 1 h. After 1 h the reaction mixture was brought to pH 8.9 by adding 70 ml of 0.1 M sodium borate buffer (pH 9.8). The mixture was incubated in a boiling water bath for 3 min and then rapidly cooled in an ice bath. After the addition of 2 ml of 3-(dimethylamino) benzoid acid (DMAB), the mixture was incubated for 20 min at 37°C and immediately thereafter the absorbance was measured at 585 nm. N-Acetyl glucosamine (GlcNAc) was used as a standard. The enzyme activity was expressed as nmolGlcNAc equivalents per min per mg of protein (Kumar et al., 2018).

2.9. Estimation of Catalase (CAT) activity

CAT activity was assayed by Chioti and Zervoudakis, (2017) method by measuring the initial rate of disappearance of H_2O_2 . The reaction mixture contains of 0.1 ml enzyme from plant source, 0.1 mM EDTA and 3% (v/v) H_2O_2 in 0.05 M Na-phosphate buffer (pH 7). The activity was expressed as µmol H_2O_2 consumed per min by taking optical density at 240 nm.

2.10. Analysis of programmed cell death

Caspase-like activity was assayed in the maize leaves after 2 weeks of infection treatment using the method of Sueldo and van der Hoorn, (2017). The leaf (200 mg) was ground in liquid nitrogen into a fine powder and homogenized in 2 ml of assay buffer containing 100 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.2), 5 mM MgCI₂,2m MEDTA, 10%(v/v) glycerol, 10 mM \beta-mercaptoethanol and 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF). This mixture was centrifuged at 13,000 g for 30 min at 4 °C to obtain tissue extract, and 25 µl of the tissue extract was incubated in70 µl of assay buffer at 37 °C for 5 min, followed by addition of 10 µl of 5 mM N-acetyl-Asp-Glu-Val-Asp-pnitroanilide (Ac-DEVD-pNA) as substrate (dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide) for caspase-like activity to a final concentration of 0.5 mM. A blank reaction was set up in which Ac-DEVDpNA was substituted with 10 µl of DMSO. These reaction mixtures were incubated at 37 °C for 60 min, within which caspase-like activity was followed by measuring absorbance at 405 nm every 20 min during the 60-min incubation period. Caspase-like activity was calculated using the extinction coefficient of $9.6 \text{ mM}^{-1} \text{ cm}^{-1}$ for the p-nitroaniline.

2.11. Agarose gel analysis of DNA for programmed cell death

Hundred milligram of leaf tissue from each treatment was frozen in liquid nitrogen immediately after sampling and ground with a mortar and pestle to a fine powder. Isolation of DNA was performed using a DNeasy plant mini kit (QIAGEN, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) according to the manufacturer's instructions. To observe DNA fragmentation, samples (0.5 μ g ml⁻¹ lane⁻¹, final concentration) were run on 1%ethidium bromide agarose gel at a constant 50 V.

2.12. GCMS analysis for secondary metabolites production

Analysis by GC-MS was performed using a Thermo Gc-Trace Ultra Ver: 5.0, Pyrolysis auto sampler interfaced to a Perkin Elmer Turbomass Gold equipped with a fused silica capillary column (J & W; DBI; 30m length x 0.25 mm id. film thickness 0.25 µm). The fraction was pyrolysed at 610 °C and then introduced to the GC column. The transfer line was held at 280 °C and the source temperature was maintained at 180 °C and ionization energy was set at 70eV. Helium was employed as carrier gas (1 mL/m). The GC oven temperature was programmed: The column held initially at 70 °C/ m (isothermal) and then increased by at 8 °C/m to 260°C/ m min⁻¹ (isothermal). Qualitative identification of the different constituents was performed by composition of the relative retention times and mass spectra with those of authentic reference compounds by retention indices (RI) and mass spectra. Interpretation on mass spectrum of GC-MS was done using the database of National Institute Standard and Technology (NIST) having more than 62,000 patterns (Jha et al., 2014).

2.13. RNA extraction and RT-PCR from isolated RNA

The bacterized plant material without infection was used for the isolation of total mRNA and the RT-PCR was done using a GeNei RT PCR Kit with certain modifications related with cyclic variation in time. 100 ng mRNA was incubated at 65° C for 10 min at room temperature, subsequently with oligo (T) primers, 0.25 mM deoxynucleotide triphosphates (dNTP's), 5 mM 1,4dithiothreitol (DTT), 4 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 20 mM KCl, 0.02 0.1% (v/v) EDTA, Polyoxyethylene mΜ µl M-MULV sorbitanmonolaurate (Tween 20), 0.5 reverse transcriptase and 9µl nuclease free water for the synthesis of cDNA. The mixture was incubated at 37 °C for 1 h. Temperature was then raised to 95 °C for 2 min to denature RNA-DNA hybrid. The catalase gene was amplified by using forward primer 5'-TTAATCAGCCATGGATCCt-3' and reverse primer 5'-TTAATCAGCCATGGATCCT-3' and documentation was done by Gel Documentation System (Alpha Digi Doc RT, USA). All PCR with different primer combinations were performed in duplicate.

2.14. Statistical data analysis

All the data were analyzed for significance using analysis of variance ANOVA followed by Fisher's least significant difference test (P 0.05), using SAS software (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA).

3. Results

Thirty-five bacterial isolates were obtained from the root of *Suaeda nudiflora* plant, collected from coastal region of Gujarat using semi-solid nitrogen-free medium (Nfb). Out of 35, two isolates were selected on the basis of their growth promotion efficiency, by analyzing their ability to solubilize phosphate, produce siderophore, indole-acetic acid (IAA), gibberellins, and utilizes ACC as sole nitrogen source. It was also analyzed for their ability to overcome or suppress infection by producing β -1, 3-glucanases and chitinases and was identified on the basis of biochemical tests and sugar fermentation behavior as described in Bergey's Manual of Determinative Bacteriology (Table -1).

The total genomic DNA was isolated from both isolates for molecular identification and amplified by 16S rDNA specific primers. Nucleotides homology and phylogenetic analysis of the isolate was used for identification and isolate was identified as as Pseudomonas aeruginosa (Gene Bank Accession Number: JQ790515) and other as Bacillus megaterium (GeneBank Accession Number: JQ790514). The two bacterial isolates were compatible to each other as observed on nutrient plate. B. megaterium and P. aeruginosa were also tested for its compatibility with the phyto-pathogenic fungus A. niger, and results indicate that both isolates were remarkably suppressed the growth of fungus in its vicinity. A clear zone of inhibition was observed around the both B. megaterium and P. aeruginosa and it was larger in P. aeruginosa than the B. megaterium (Fig.1).

The ability of the isolates for the production of antibiotic showed that the *P.aeruginosa* (S1) had more variation in bands of antibiotic in compared to *B. megaterium* (R1-R4) on TLC plate. Antibiotic(s) produced by *P.aeruginosa* (S1) do not migrate on TLC plate and that fraction does not show any zone of inhibition, so it may be some other metabolite having no effect on pathogen, while antibiotic produced by *B. megaterium* (R1-R4) were different Rf value and showed significant variation in zone of inhibition. The isolates fraction of antibiotic on TLC were analyzed for their efficacy against *A. niger* and most

of the antibiotics fraction showed the efficacy against *A.niger* (Table-2) by formation of zone of inhibition.

 Table 1.Biochemical properties of the isolates to be used as biocontrol agent.

S.No	Biochemical Tests	B.megaterium	P.aeruginosa
1	Urease	-ve	-ve
2	Lysine Decarboxylase	-ve	-ve
3	Ornithine Decarboxylase	-ve	-ve
4	Esculin	-ve	+ve
5	Arabinose	-ve	-ve
6	Adonitol	-ve	-ve
7	Rhamnose	-ve	-ve
8	Mannitol	-ve	-ve
9	Sorbitol	-ve	-ve
10	Cellobiose	-ve	-ve
11	Melibiose	+ve	-ve
12	Glucuronate	-ve	-ve
13	Mannose	-ve	+ve
14	Maltose	+ve	+ve
15	Trehalose	-ve	+ve
16	Indole	-ve	+ve
17	Malonate	-ve	+ve
18	Phenylalanine desaminase	-ve	-ve
19	Sucrose	+ve	+ve
20	5 Ketogluconate	-ve	-ve
21	Palatinose	-ve	-ve
22	Galacturonate	-ve	-ve
23	Colistin	-ve	+ve
24	Coumarate	-ve	+ve
25	Tetra thionate reductase	-ve	-ve
26	α- Galactosidase	-ve	-ve
27	Indoxylphosphate	-ve	-ve
28	Raffinose	-ve	-ve
29	O-Nitro phenyl N- Acetylβ-D Glucosaminide	-ve	-ve
30	p- Nitrophenyl β-D Galatopyranoside	-ve	+ve
31	Oxidase	-ve	-ve
32	Phosphate Solubilization	+ve	+ve
33	Siderophore production	+ve	+ve
34	Indoleacetic acid (IAA)	+ve	+ve
35	ACC Utilization	+ve	+ve
36	β-1, 3-glucanases	+ve	+ve
37	Chitinggog	+1/0	+1/0

Note- The +ve sign indicate presence and -ve sign indicate absence of activity.



Figure 1. Endophytic bacteria showing antifungal activity against *A.niger* as the formation of Zone of clearance around the culture A = P. *aeruginosa* and B = B. *megaterium*.

The efficacy of the isolated antibiotics (from TLC) had been determined by comparing the zone of inhibition with known standard antibiotics (streptomycin). The zone of inhibition the isolated fractions of antibiotics from the TLC plate showed remarkable variation and the highest efficacy (73%) was shown by the fourth fraction of antibiotics of *P. aeruginosa*.

Plant phenols are secondary metabolites that encompass several classes of structurally diverse products arising from the shikimate-phenylpropanoid pathways. Plants use phenolic compounds for pigmentation, growth, reproduction, and resistance to pathogens. In the present study, the endorhizospheric bacteria considerably enhanced the phenolic compounds in plant under both conditions, i.e. inoculated with isolates alone and infected with the *Aspergillus niger*. The endorhizospheric bacteria alone able to induced production of sufficient amount the phenolic in inoculated plant, while when such inoculated plant get infected with fungal pathogen *Aspergillus niger*, enhanced production of the phenolic was recorded as shown in Table 2.

Table 2. Analysis of antibiotic(s) production by endophytic bacteria on TLC and their efficacy against *A. niger*.

Endophytic Strain	Antibiotic	Rf values	Zone Of Inhibition, ZOI (mm)	Antibiotic efficacy (%)
B. megaterium	S1	Absent	Absent	00
P.aeruginosa	R1	0.20	12	67%
P.aeruginosa	R2	0.515	8	54%
P.aeruginosa	R3	0.656	Absent	00
P.aeruginosa	R4	0.781	15	73%

In the present study, the protective enzymes considerably enhanced after inoculation with endorhizospheric bacteria in the plant and infection by *Aspergillus niger*, further changed in its activity. A simultaneous increase was recorded in chintase and catalase activity in the plant inoculate with endorhizospheric bacteria alone or in mixture and infected with fungal pathogen *Aspergillus niger*. Chitinase belong to the glycosyl hydrolase family, which catalyzes the hydrolysis of glycosidic bonds of chitin.

However, the CAT activity was significantly decreased in bacterized plant up to (22.2 nmol/min/g) at normal condition, but after infection with pathogen its concentration further increased upto (38.2nmol/min/g) (Table 3). So, the CAT activity remarkably increased after fungal infection in non-inoculated plants compared to plants inoculated with endophytic bacteria.

Table 3: Effect of endophytic bacteria on the phenolic, catalase

Treatment	Phenolic (mgg ⁻¹		CAT	Chitinase
			(nmol	(nmol of NAG
	of the gallic		$\min^{-1}g^{-1}$)	$\min^{-1}g^{-1}$)
	acid			
	equivalent)			
	Norm	nal		
	m	mm		
Control	0.93 ^{cd}		0.34 ^d	0.21 ^d
Control+B. megaterium	1.61 ^{bc}		0.47 ^{bc}	0.28 ^c
Control + P.aeruginosa	1.88^{ab}		052 ^b	0.27 ^b
Control+ B.megaterium+	2.11 ^a		0.61 ^a	0.34 ^a
P.aeruginosa				
Infected				
Control	1.21 ^{cd}		0.83 ^d	0.29 ^d
Control+B. megaterium	1.87 ^c		0.53 ^{ab}	0.37 ^b
Control + P.aeruginosa	2.14 ^b		0.51 ^a	0.41
Control + <i>B.megaterium</i> + <i>P. aeruginosa</i>	2.45 ^a		0.41 ^c	0.51 ^{bc}
Signification	**		*	ns

 $^{ns}P > 0.05$ (not significant), *P < 0.05 (significant) and **P < 0.05 (highly significant), m- mean. For each Parameter, values in columns followed by the same letter are not significantly different

columns followed by the same letter are not significantly different at (P \leq 0.05).

GCMS analysis of leaf extract of inoculated and noninoculated plants after infection showed significant difference in the types and number of secondary metabolites and the results revealed the presence of different phytocompounds in the plant inoculated with selected bacteria. The healthy-inoculated plant showed 8 secondary metabolites (Table 4), while plant inoculated and infected showed 12 different secondary metabolites (Table 5) belong to phenols and terpenoids group. The compounds like androstane-3,17-dione, methyl dihydroisosteviol, isosteviol methyl ester in healthy and androstan-17-one, 3-ethyl-3-hydroxy-, (5.alpha.), 1h-3a,7methanoazulene, octahydro-1,4,9,9-tetramethyl, aromadendrene oxide-(2) belong to phenols and terpenoids group in infected plant.

Fungal infection can trigger activation of caspase-like activity in the infected leaves. On this basis, we investigated the level of caspase-like enzymatic activity differed in maize plant inoculated with endorhizospheric bacteria and infected with fungal pathogen *Aspergillusniger*. Cell caspase-like enzymatic activity increased for both the inoculated plant with endophytes and infected with pathogen and more in non-inoculated infected plants (Fig. 2).

Hit	Rev	For	Compound Name	MW	Formula	CAS
1	812	565	2,4-DIBROMOETIOCHOLA-3,17-DIONE	444	C19H26O2Br2	900251-89-1
2	787	576	ANDROSTANE-3,17-DIONE	288	C19H28O2	5982-99-0
3	750	512	ISOSTEVIOL METHYL ESTER	332	C21H32O3	900256-08-8
4	741	521	1,3,6-HEPTATRIENE, 2,5,5-TRIMETHYL	136	C10H16	29548-02-5
5	724	489	METHYL ISOLITHOCHOLATE	390	C25H42O3	5405-42-5
6	720	509	METHYL DIHYDROISOSTEVIOL	334	C21H34O3	202577-02-4
7	715	538	ALPHAFARNESENE	204	C15H24	502-61-4
8	714	478	TRILOSTANE	329	C20H27O3N	13647-35-3

Table 4. Different secondary metabolites in endophytes inoculated maize leaves extract identified in GC-MS analysis.

Where hit means attempt Number, Rev Reverse match of peak, For Forward match of Peak, M.W. Molecular weight of compound, CAS Chemical Abstract service.

Table 5. Different secondary metabolites in endophytes inoculated maize leaves extract identified in GCMS analysis after fungal infection.

Hit	Rev	For	Compound Name	M.W	Formula	CAS
1	798	601	3-KETO-ISOSTEVIOL	332	C20H28O4	900255-38-4
2	779	561	3-HYDROXY-12-KETOBISNORCHOLANIC ACID	362	C22H34O4	900252-01-9
3	749	553	3-HYDROXY-11-KETOCHOLANIC ACID	390	C24H38O4	910-28-1
4	738	543	1-PROPENE, 2-NITRO-3-(1-CYCLOOCTENYL)	195	C11H17O2N	80255-21-6
5	722	531	PSEDUOSARSASAPOGENIN-5,20-DIEN	414	C27H42O3	900214-84-5
6	715	538	ALPHAFARNESENE	204	C15H24	502-61-4
7	714	478	TRILOSTANE	329	C20H27O3N	13647-35-3
8	713	425	ANDROSTAN-17-ONE, 3-ETHYL-3-HYDROXY-, (5.ALPHA.)-	318	C21H34O2	57344-99-7
9	703	506	1-NAPHTHALENECARBOXYLIC ACID, DECAHYDRO-1,4A- DIMETHYL-6-METHYLENE-	316	C21H32O2	10178-35-5
10	703	522	1H-3A,7-METHANOAZULENE, OCTAHYDRO-1,4,9,9- TETRAMETHYL	206	C15H26	25491-20-7
11	702	501	AROMADENDRENE OXIDE-(2)	220	C15H24O	900151-98-6
12	699	537	GAMMAELEMENE	. 204	C15H24	339154-91-5

Where hit means attempt Number, Rev Reverse match of peak, For Forward match of Peak, M.W. Molecular weight of compound, CAS Chemical Abstract service.



Normal Infected

Figure 2. Effect of inoculation with *B. megaterium*, *P. aeruginosa* alone and in combination on cell caspase-like activity in maize in normal and infected condition (n=5).

Genomic DNA was isolated from leaves of all different treatment and separated in agarose gel electrophoresis to analyze programmed cell death (Fig. 3). Fungal infection showed extensive DNA fragmentation as detected in both the inoculated or non-inoculated maize. Less fragmentation of DNA was observed in the plants inoculated with endophytes only. To characterize the induction of catalase gene in maize inoculated with endorhizospheric bacteria, the RT-PCR-amplified product

was observed as 1.8 kb bands on agarose gel electrophoresis (Fig. 4) uniformly by inoculated with either single isolate or in combination.



Figure 3: Effect of *B. megaterium*, *P. aeruginosa* alone and in combination on programmed cell death in in maize in healthy and infected condition (n=5). Where L1-infected inoculated with both the isolates, L2- infected inoculated with *B. megaterium*, L3-infected inoculated with *P. aeruginosa*, L4- Infected Control, L5-Pure control, L6- inoculated with both the isolates, L7-inoculated with *B. megaterium*, L8- inoculated with *P. aeruginosa*.



Figure 4. Agarose gel showing induction of gene catalase. Lane M=1kb *ladder* BLUE from GeneON Bioscience is composed of 13 individual *DNA* fragments, Lane A= plant inoculated with *B. megaterium*, and Lane B= plant inoculated with *P. aeruginosa*, Lane C= plant inoculated with *B. megaterium* and *P. aeruginosa*.

4. Discussion

Many interactions of microbes with plants takes place in the endosphere, due to the occurrence of rich and diverse microbial food source, so it is the most active ecological niches, (Jha and Subramanian, 2016). Such interaction of plant with endorhizospheric bacteria helps in maintaining the plant health by improving nutrient status, developing resistant against phyto-pathogen and tolerance towards the environmental stress. The plant root colonized by endorhizospheric bacteria has numerous mechanisms to employ favorable effect on plant growth and development, i.e. by associative nitrogen fixation, solubilization of phosphorus and potassium, production of siderophores, and by modifying the cell permeability (Qessaoui et al., 2019). Such isolates also enhance bioavailability of nutrients, modify root proton efflux, directly motivate plant ion uptake and/or plant transport system and enhance the overall biomas production. In this study, Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Bacillus megaterium, were two bacterial isolates obtained from root of Suaeda nudiflora wild mosque plant, and it is well reported that bacterial genera such as Pseudomonas, Bacillus and Brevibacillus are well known to endorse plant growth and yield in diverse groups of non-leguminous plant under normal as well as stress conditions (Karlidag et al., 2007).

Antibiotics are generally low molecular weight organic compounds produced by microbes, to inhibit the growth of other microbes. Antibiosis plays an active role in the biocontrol of plant disease and often acts in concert with competition and parasitism. The result of present study showed that the antibiotic produced by the isolates has the potential to suppress the growth of fungal pathogen and ultimately help in plant growth promotion. Olanrewaju et al., (2017)has also been reported that Bacillus and Pseudomonas produce a variety of antibiotic metabolites which serve as antifungal, antibacterial, antihelminthic, antiviral, antimicrobial, phytotoxic, antioxidant and cytotoxic agents. The bio-control potential

and induced response of these isolates is an effective tool for yield management in economically important crops.

The phenolics normally produced by the plant to strengthen the plant cell wall also have fungicidal activity. In the present study, healthy as well as maize plants infected with fungal pathogen showed better induction of phenolic compounds after being inoculated with endorhizospheric bacteria. Induction/accumulation of phenolics takes place prior to pathogens attack or pathogen infection to protect the plant from pathogens as well as to check the complete hold pathogen on the host plant (Nicaise et al., 2009). In this study, production of phenolics induced in the endophytes inoculated maize plant helps the plant to overcome phytopathogenic infection. The results of the present study showed higher induction of phenolic compounds in the plants colonized with beneficial microorganisms after pathogen infection, compared to healthy controls and are responsible for inducible protection in plant, to maintain plant health for much longer time as also reported by Wallis and Galarneau, (2020).

In response to biotic stress, plants implement a vast range of mechanisms like modification of specific metabolites/up regulation of defense-related proteins to develop resistant over pathogen. Pathogenesis-related proteins include a huge family of plant proteins, which induced in response to pathogen invasion and are developmentally controlled. Pathogen induced SAR is similar to endorhizospheric bacteria mediated ISR to develop resistant towards a wide range of plant pathogens and enhance resistant to uninfected plant parts also (Choudhary et al., 2008). Induction of defence enzymes chitinase and catalase take place more efficiently in maize plant inoculated with endorhizospheric bacteria, to develop resistant against the phytopathogens. Chitinase is an important hydrolytic enzyme, which has been induced frequently in plants upon infection by diverse group of pathogens. The amount of chitinase considerably increases in the maize plant inoculated with endophytes in this study and has an effective role in plant defense against fungal pathogen, as it is responsible for degradation of fungal cell wall. Daulagala and Allan- Atkins, (2015) reported, about the chitinolytic activities of endophytic bacteria isolated from symptom-free chinese cabbage leaves, which clearly indicated that the induction of defence enzyme by such bacteria alone is sufficient for the host plant protection. The main structural component of fungal cell wall is chitin, substrate for chitinase enzyme. Pathogen infection in plant can result in generation of reactive oxygen, which has direct impact as antimicrobial action and plays critical role in inducing various other defense mechanisms, like production of phyto-alexin, lignin deposition, peroxidation of lipid and hypersensitive cell death or PCD.

Catalase is an essential enzyme have major role in plant defense against pathogens. In this study, plant inoculated with endorhizospheric bacteria showed significantly enhanced catalase activity, but it reduced after infection by fungal pathogen. The reduced catalase activity may cause the suppression of H_2O_2 scavenging activity, perhaps has a major role in modulating H_2O_2 homeostasis, as accumulation of threshold levels of H_2O_2 is necessary for the activation of vigorous programmed cell death for pathogen clearance (Lapshina *et al.*, 2016). In the plant's life cycle, cell death is a crucial process, and two main approaches for action in plants are programmed cell death (PCD) and necrosis. PCD is genetically controlled and has some common characteristic features with apoptotic cell death of the cell like cytoplasmic condensation, cell shrinkage and DNA fragmentation (Greenberg and Yao, 2004).

Pathogen induced host cell destruction observed as enhanced DNA fragmentation in infected plant and plant inoculated with endophytes showed reduced DNA fragmentation, which indicates the role of endophytic bacteria in managing cell activity. During the plant pathogen interaction, at the site of pathogen attack an oxidative burst occur with initiation of cell death at the site of pathogen attack and such localized cell death restrict the spread of the pathogen infection to the healthy plant cell/part.

In the GC-MS analysis there are eight different metabolites/compounds obtained in the leaf extracts of plant inoculated with endophytes alone and twelve different metabolites in infected plant inoculated with endophytes. Among these twenty different metabolites ten metabolites exhibit antioxidant, antibacterial and antimicrobial activity as also reported by Nivas and Boominathan, (2015). Several bioactive natural compounds having antimicrobial activity are induced by the endophytes, which help host plant to acquire resistant against pathogen. The pathogenic intrusion regulated by modulation of secondary metabolites by the endophytes, to develop resistance against pathogen in the host plants. Many such secondary metabolites having antimicrobial activity belong to diverse structural classes such as alkaloids, peptides, steroids, terpenoids, quinines, flavonoids and phenols are reported has been induced by endophytes (Yu et al., 2010). In this present study, the production of diverse types and number of secondary metabolites in the endophytes inoculated plants in presence and absence of pathogen was observed during GCMS analysis.

Suppressing the fungal pathogen by initiating the plant defense mechanism by endorhizospheric bacteria is known as "Induced Systemic Resistance". Plants immune system activates upon interaction of plant with endorhizospheric bacteria remain active throughout the life by inducing the defense gene. The endophytes alone are able to induce the defense gene like catalase in the plant as observed in the present study. Ramos Solano et al., (2008) also reported about the induction of defense-related marker genes by some strains of Chryseobacterium and Bacillus in host plant. The plant growth and yield in the radish, potato, sugar beet, ground nut and mango increased by the Pseudomonas, in addition to disease management has been reported by Liu et al., (2017). The major effects of inoculation of plant with such bacteria may be similar to treatment with pathogenic microorganisms or abiotic agents, ensued in the induction of systemic resistance for bacterially induced resistance and systemic acquired resistance for the other forms. The development of bioagents using such bacterial strains is an emerging trend in crop protection to reduce the economic loss caused by pathogen.

5. Conclusion

The endorhizospheric bacteria having ability for the induction of phenolic production, PR protein and secondary metabolites with antimicrobial activity in the host plant, can serve as a potential biocontrol agent against wide range of phytopathogen. Such secondary metabolites belong to diverse structural classes such as alkaloids, peptides, steroids, terpenoids, quinines, flavonoids and phenols. The present study strongly supports the development of bio-control strategies on the basis of *invitro* effect of the isolates against the fungal pathogen and production of other biologically active metabolites using such endorhizospheric strain, to reduce the damage caused by plant pathogens in economically important crops.

Conflict of Interest

There is no conflict of interest to declare.

References

Barriuso J, Solano BR, Lucas JA, Lobo AP, Villaraco AG and Mañero FJG. 2008. Ecology, Genetic Diversity and Screening Strategies of Plant Growth Promoting Rhizobacteria (PGPR). In: Ahmad I., Pichtel J., Hayat S. (eds): WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim.,1–17.

Boyd LA, Ridout C, O'Sullivan DM, Leach JE and Leung H. 2013. Plant-pathogen interactions: disease resistance in modern agriculture. *Trends Genet.*, **29**: 233–240.

Chen Q, Liu S, Bai Y, Li Y, Gao C and Zhang Q. 2014. Screening and identification of phosphate-solubilizing bacteria from reclaimed soil in Shanxi mining area. *Plant Nutr. Fertilizer Sci.*, **20**: 1505–1516.

Chioti Vasileia and Zervoudakis George.2017. Is Root Catalase a Bifunctional Catalase-Peroxidase? *Antioxidants*. 6: 39.

Choudhary DK, Johri BN and Prakash A. 2008. Volatiles as priming agent that initiate plant growth and defense responses. *CurrSci.*, **94**:595-604.

Daulagala PWHKP and Allan- Atkins Eunice J. 2015. Chitinolytic activities of endophytic bacteria isolated from symptom-free chinese cabbage leaves. *Asian Jr. of Microbiol. Biotech. Env. Sc.*, **17 (3)** : 603-609.

Ferreira CMH, Vilas-Boas and Sousa CA. 2019. Comparison of five bacterial strains producing siderophores with ability to chelate iron under alkaline conditions. *AMB Expr.*, **9**: 78.

Greenberg JT and Yao N. 2004. The role and regulation of programmed cell death in plant-pathogen interactions. *Cell Microbiol.*,**6**:201-11.

Jha Y and Subramanian RB 2016. Rhizobacteria enhance oil content and physiological status of *Hyptis suaveolens* under salinity stress. *Rhizosphere.*, **1**:33-35.

Jha Y and Subramanian RB. 2014. Under saline stress plant growth promoting bacteria affect growth, photosynthesis and antioxidant activities in paddy. *IJAEB*.**7** (2):205-212.

Jha Y, Subramanian RB and Sahoo S. 2014. Antifungal potential of fenugreek coriander, mint, spinach herbs extracts against *Aspergillus niger* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* phyto-pathogenic fungi. *Allelopathy Journal.*, **34**: 325-334.

Jha Y and Subramanian RB. 2015.Reduced cell death and improved cell membrane integrity in rice under salinity by root associated bacteria. *Theor Exp Plant Phys.*, **3**:227-235. Jha Y. 2019. The Importance of Zinc-Mobilizing Rhizosphere Bacteria to the Enhancement of Physiology and Growth Parameters for Paddy under Salt-Stress Conditions. *Jordan J Biol Sci.*, **12**: 167-173.

Karlidag H, Esitken A, Turan M and Sahin F. 2007. Effects of root inoculation of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) on yield, growth and nutrient element contents of leaves of apple. *SciHort.*,**114**: 16-20.

Kaur C and Kapoor HC. 2002. Anti-oxidant activity and total phenolic content of some Asian vegetables. *Int J Food SciTechnol.*,**37**: 153 - 161.

Kumar Manish, Brar Amandeep, Yadav Monika, ChawadeAakash, Vivekanand V and Pareek Nidhi. 2018. Chitinases—Potential Candidates for Enhanced Plant Resistance towards Fungal Pathogens. *Agriculture.*,**8**: 88.

Lapshina LA, Reunov AV and Nagorskaya VP. 2016. Effects of exogenous H_2O_2 on the content of endogenous H_2O_2 , activities of catalase and hydrolases, and cell ultrastructure in tobacco leaves. *Biol Bull.*,**43**: 419.

Liu K, Newman M, McInroy JA, Hu CH and Kloepper JW. 2017. Selection and Assessment of Plant Growth-Promoting Rhizobacteria for Biological Control of Multiple Plant Diseases. *Phytopathology.*,**107(8)**:928-936.

Mohite B. 2013. Isolation and characterization of indole acetic acid (IAA) producing bacteria from rhizospheric soil and its effect on plant growth. *J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.*, **13** (3): 638-649.

Nicaise V, Roux M and Zipfel C. 2009. Recent advances in PAMP-triggered immunity against bacteria: pattern recognition receptors watch over and raise the alarm. *Plant Physiol*.**150**: 1638–1647.

Nivas RK and Boominathan M. 2015. Antimicrobial evaluation of selected south indian medicinal plants against Streptococcus pneumoniae. *Int J Curr Microbiol Appl Sci.*,**4**(3): 835–840.

Olanrewaju OS, Glick BR and Babalola OO. 2017. Mechanisms of action of plant growth promoting bacteria. *World J Microbiol Biotechnol.*, **33(11):**197.

Park Eunsook, Nedo Alexander, Caplan Jeffrey L, Dinesh-Kumar, Savithramma P. 2018.Plant-microbe interactions: organelles and the cytoskeleton in action. *New Phytol.*, **217**: 1012–1028.

Patra JK, Das G, Das SK and Thatoi H. 2020. Isolation, Culture, and Biochemical Characterization of Microbes. In: A Practical Guide to Environmental Biotechnology. Learning Materials in Biosciences. Springer, Singapore.

Polko JK and Kieber JJ. 2019. 1-Aminocyclopropane 1-Carboxylic Acid and Its Emerging Role as an Ethylene-Independent Growth Regulator. *Front. Plant Sci.*, **10**:1602.

Qessaoui R, Bouharroud R and Furze JN. 2019. Applications of New Rhizobacteria *Pseudomonas* Isolates in Agroecology via Fundamental Processes Complementing Plant Growth. *Sci Rep.*, **9**: 12832.

Ramos Solano B, Barriuso Maicas J, Pereyra de la Iglesia MT, Domenech J and Gutiérrez Mañero FJ. 2008. Systemic disease protection elicited by plant growth promoting rhizobacteria strains: relationship between metabolic responses, systemic disease protection, and biotic elicitors. *Phytopathology.*,**98**: 451-457.

Sueldo Daniela J and van der Hoorn Renier AL. 2017. Plant life needs cell death, but does plant cell death need Cys proteases? *The FEBS J.*, **284**:1577–1585.

Wallis CM and Galarneau ER-A. 2020. Phenolic Compound Induction in Plant-Microbe and Plant-Insect Interactions: A Meta-Analysis. *Front. Plant Sci.*, **11**:580753

Yu H, Zhang L, Li L, Zheng C, Guo L and Li W. 2010.Recent developments and future prospects of antimicrobial metabolites produced by endophytes. *Microbiol Res.*, **165**:437–449.

Zandalinas SI, Sales C, Beltrán J, Gómez-Cadenas A and Arbona V. 2017. Activation of Secondary Metabolism in Citrus Plants Is Associated to Sensitivity to Combined Drought and High Temperatures. *Front. Plant Sci.*,**7**:1954.

Zhou Y, Yang Z and Gao L. 2016. Changes in element accumulation, phenolic metabolism, and antioxidative enzyme activities in the red-skin roots of *Panax ginseng*. J Ginseng Res., **41(3)**:307-315.

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences

Characterization, Biofilm and Plasmid Curing Effect of Silver Nanoparticles Synthesis by Aqueous Extract of *Myristica fragrans* Seeds

Sabah Mahdi Hadi¹*, Alaa Mohammed Etheb², Afrah Hatem Omran², Shamia Hussain Hassan¹

¹University of Baghdad, College of Science, Biology Department, Baghdad, Iraq, ²University of Baghdad, College of Science, Chemistry Department, Baghdad, Iraq

Received: October 28, 2020; Revised: February 6, 2021; Accepted: March 16, 2021

Abstract

Nowadays nanoparticles are used in many fields of life all over the world, and there are numerous ways to obtain them: chemical, physical and biological processes. In recent times, the biological method for the synthesis of nanoparticles associated with using plant extract is widely spread.

Optimal conditions for synthesis of silver nanoparticles using aqueous seeds extract of *Myristica fragrance* were highlighted in this research, such as type of plant extract, weight of extracted plant material, volume ratio of plant extract to AgNO₃ and temperature of reaction.

The study proved that the optimal status for AgNPs synthesis by using 10 g of *M. fragrance* seeds powder were added to 100 mL boiled distilled water, then homogenized and filtered after 24 hours. Aliquot of 5 mL of hot aqueous extract were added to 45 mL of $1*10^{-3}$ M AgNO₃ solution in the water bath with a magnetic stirrer for the bio-reduction process at 60 °C. The biological activity of AgNPs nanoparticles was evaluated by using well diffusion method and biofilm formation for G+ and G- bacteria including *Escherichia coli*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Staphylococcus epidermidis* and *Klebsiella pneumonia*, while the effect of AgNPs nanoparticles on plasmid curing was investigated for *Escherichia coli* and *Staphylococcus aureus* only.

Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM) images proved that Ag particles are in nanometer- size and have granular shape, the size of silver nanoparticle is (74.55 nm) for the sample taken after 16 min of the reaction.

Nanoparticles of various concentrations have proven effective in inhibiting bacterial growth after antimicrobial activity test, biofilm formation and plasmid curing as they exhibited a remarkable effect in inhibiting the growth of both Gram-positive and negative bacteria.

Keywords: silver nanoparticles, green method, biofilm, plasmid curing, Myristica fragrans,

1. Introduction

Nanotechnology today is one of the most interesting fields of sciences because of its multifunctional properties, specifically the size range from (1-100) nm (Zia *et al.*, 2016 and Sithara *et al.*, 2017).

The unique size of nanoparticles allowed using them in various fields of applications such as medicine, food, biomedical, electronics, mechanical industries, biotechnology and environmental because of their many properties (Ahmed *et al.*, 2016; Khatoon *et al.*, 2017 and Henríquez *et al.*, 2020). The properties of NPs relay on the specific parameters like shape, size and surface of molecules; while achieved nanoparticles quality is based on their synthesis methods (Kuppusamy *et al.*, 2016 and Sithara *et al.*, 2017).

Song and Kim (2009) reported on the synthesis of Ag nanoparticles by the reduction of Ag+ using Pine, Persimmon, Ginkgo, Magnolia and Platanus leaves broth.

The time courses of AgNPs synthesis with different reaction temperatures were studied.

The best reducing agent in the duration of synthesis rate and diversion to silver nanoparticles was Magnolia leaf extract, where the AgNPs was synthesized during 11 min of reaction time and a reaction temperature at 95 °C.

Heydari and Rashidipour (2015) studied the effect of different concentrations of Jaft aqueous extracts (*Quercus infectoria*) on the synthesis of silver nanoparticles; the results showed that increasing the concentration of Jaft aqueous extract led to synthesize more silver nanoparticles.

The classical methods for nanoparticles formation are chemical and physical methods, but they are not ecofriendly because of using many toxic chemical compounds (Carrillo-Lopez *et al.*, 2016 and Kambale *et al.*, 2020). Today, the green method includes the use of plant extracts which is preferable over other methods as they provide reducing agents of secondary metabolites such as flavonoids, alkaloids, phenolics, tannins and terpenoids. Availability of plant sources makes this method easy and

^{*} Corresponding author e-mail: sabahbitech2013@gmail.com.

cost effective (Carrillo-Lopez *et al.*, 2016; Sithara *et al.*, 2017 and Khan *et al.*, 2018).

The Ag nanoparticles are considered as one of the important metallic nanoparticles because of their unique characteristics like catalytic activity, chemical stability and good conductivity, so it is commonly used as anti-bacterial, antifungal, anti-viral and anti-inflammatory (Zhang *et al.*, 2014; Ibrahim, 2015 and Liao *et al.*, 2019). In this study, *Myristica fragrance* seeds called nutmeg belonging to the Myristicaceae family were used for Ag nanoparticles formation.

This aromatic plant has a wide range of active phytochemicals such as alkaloids, terpenoids, phenolic, lignins, tannins, steroids, flavonoids, etc. (Saxena and Patil, 2012; Bindu and Kumar, 2013 and Gupta *et al.*, 2013). The aim of this study is to identify the optimal conditions of AgNPs synthesis such as type of plant extract, temperature, time and the concentration of Ag NO_3 to achieve the best concentration of nanoparticles.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Preparation of cold, boiling and hot M. fragrance aqueous seed extracts

M. fragrans seeds were bought from local market in Baghdad, grinded in electrical grinder for 5-7 min, then 10 g of seeds powder was added to 100 mL of boiling distilled water to prepare hot aqueous extract, while to prepare cold aqueous extract, 10 g of seed powder was soaked in 100 mL distilled water.

A quantity of 10 g of *M. fragrans* seeds powder was added to 100 mL distilled water then heated for 1 hour at 95 °C to prepare the boiling aqueous extract. The three extracts were homogenized by using magnetic stirrer for 3 hours then left overnight at 4 °C. The extracts were filtered using Whitman paper No.1 then centrifuged at 8000 rpm for 10 min and stored at 4 °C until use (Banerjee *et al.*, 2014 and Owaid *et al.*, 2018).

2.2. Preparation of silver nanoparticles using plant extract

AgNPs was synthesized by adding 45 mL of $1*10^{-3}$ M of AgNO₃ (Sigma-Aldrich) solution in a dark flask placed in a water bath with stirring continuously till the temperature stabilized at 60 °C then 5 mL of seed extract was added (AL-Azawi *et al.*, 2018), 2 mL was taken from the reaction mixture every 2 and 5 min for 20 and 30 min respectively. All samples were measured using UV spectrophotometer; gradually, the change of color to dark brown from light yellow was observed after 2-3 days.

2.3. Characterization of AgNPs

2.3.1. UV spectrophotometer measurement

Preliminary characterization of the AgNPs was carried out using UV-vis spectroscopy. The UV-vis absorption spectra of the AgNPs were measured at room temperature on a spectrophotometer (UV-Spectrophotometer-Shimadzu UV-1800) in 1 cm optical path quartz cuvette. The optical behavior of the biosynthesized AgNPs aliquots of samples were analyzed every 2 min in the range of a wavelength from 190 - 1100 nm (Jain and Mehata 2017).

2.3.2. Fourier Transforms Infrared Spectrophotometer (FTIR) measurement

FTIR measurements were carried out to identify various functional groups in *M. fragrans* extract which are responsible for reducing and stabilizing the synthesized AgNps. The samples of AgNPs and *M. fragrans* extract were prepared by dropping 3 mL from each sample directly on a glass slide and left to dry at room temperature. The dried samples were grinded with KBr and analyzed on using Shimadzu IR-Affinity⁻¹. (Shanan *et al.*, 2018 and Fatema *et al.*, 2019).

2.3.3. Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM) measurement

The surface morphology of AgNPs was studied by using AFM (Angstrom AA2000, contact mode, atmospheric conditions, USA) images, which clarifying topological images at high magnification of surface morphology. Aliquot of 0.5 mL of AgNPs sample was centrifuged using eppendrof tube for 5 min at 10000 rpm. A few drops from the sample were placed on the slide, air dried and characterized by using atomic force microscopy (Karoutsos, 2009 and Carapeto *et al.*, 2019).

2.4. Identification the optimal conditions for synthesis silver nanoparticles

2.4.1. Evaluation of the optimal temperature in AgNPs synthesis

The optimum temperature for synthesis of AgNPs was determined by added 45 mL of $1*10^{-3}$ M AgNO₃ solution to 5 mL of hot aqueous extract of *M. fragrans* in a flask placed in a water bath with continuous stirring at different temperatures (40, 50, 60 and 70) °C every time, 2 mL was taken from the reaction mixture every 2 min for 20 min; all samples were measured using UV spectrophotometer immediately and after 15 days (Verma and Mehata, 2016).

2.4.2. Evaluation of the ratio of hot aqueous plant extract to AgNO₃ solution in AgNPs synthesis

Different volumes of hot aqueous plant extracts and AgNO₃ solution were used in synthesis of AgNPs by adding 45, 25 and 5 mL of $1*10^{-3}$ M AgNO₃ to (5, 25 and 45) mL of hot aqueous plant extract respectively. All the samples were placed in a water bath at 60 °C with continuous stirring then measured using UV spectrophotometer (Ibrahim, 2015 and Ahmed *et al.*, 2016).

2.4.3. The effect of difference in plant material weight on the preparation of M. fragrans hot aqueous extract in AgNPs synthesis

The hot aqueous extracts of *M. fragrans* were prepared using different weights of seeds powder (6, 8 and 10) g then extracted in 100 mL of boiling distilled water. AgNPs was synthesized by adding 45 mL of AgNO₃ solution to 5 mL of plant extract every time of reaction as mentioned above; 2 mL was taken from the reaction mixture every 5 min for 20 min then all samples were measured using UV spectrophotometer (Sithara *et al.*, 2017).

2.5. Biological activity

2.5.1. Antimicrobial activity

The antimicrobial activity of silver nanoparticles was investigated using the well diffusion method on Mueller-Hinton agar (MHA) (Merck). The inhibition zones were reported in millimeter (well size was 6 mm) against various sorts of bacteria like gram negative bacteria (*Escherichia coli*, *Klebsiella pneumoniae*) and gram positive bacteria (*Staphylococcus aureus*, *Staphylococcus epidermidis*).

MHA agar plates were inoculated with bacterial strain under aseptic conditions and wells were filled with 50 μ L at various concentrations of AgNPs (100, 75, 50 and 25) % and incubated at 37 °C for 24 hours. After the incubation period, the inhibition zones were measured (Ibrahim, 2015).

2.5.2. Determination of minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC)

AgNPs was used to determine MIC for planktonic cells of *E. coli, K. pneumonia, S. aureus* and *S. epidermidis* bacteria. MIC test was conducted in 96- well microtiter plate; each test well was filled with 100 μ L Trypton soya broth (TSB) (Merck) + 1% w/v glucose (BHD). Aliquot of 100 μ L of AgNPs was added to the first test well then mixed well to prepare a double series of dilutions across the plate.

Aliquot of 10 μ L of bacterial suspension was placed in each well plate to achieve a final inoculum size of 4×10^5 CFU / mL. The positive control was achieved by adding TSB and bacterial inoculum without adding AgNPs to the well. Negative control was achieved by adding AgNPs without inoculum. After incubation for 18- 24 h at 37 °C, the microbial growth in the well was examined by turbidity. The MIC value was described as the lowest AgNPs concentration inhibits 80% of microbial growth, relative to the negative and positive controls (Christensen *et al.*, 1995).

2.5.3. Biofilm activity

Biofilm formation test was achieved by using 96- well microtiter plate (Sánchez *et al.*, 2016). *E. coli, K. pneumonia, S. aureus and S. epidermidis* bacteria were cultured in Trypton soya (TS) broth for 24 h then the resulting culture was diluted to 1:100 TSB (Merck) + 1% w/v glucose (BHD). Each well of microplate was loaded with 100 μ L of TSB and 100 μ L of AgNPs produced from 12 and 16 min except the control well without AgNPs, then microplate, was incubated at 37 °C for 24 h, and each concentration was carried out in triplicate.

The planktonic bacteria were removed by washing the microtiter plate with sterile distilled water for 3 times; subsequently, 0.1% w/v crystal violet solution was added to each well then left to stain for 10 min at 25 °C. The crystal violet dye was removed by immersing the plate in a water tray, then inverting on paper towels to remove excess liquid and left to air dry. The plate was treated with ethanol 96% for 10-15 min at 25 °C to solubilize the dye bound, and then absorbance was measured at 630 nm (AL-Azawi *et al.*, 2019).

2.5.4. Plasmid curing

The bacterial DNA plasmid was extracted by using alkaline lysis method. The pathogenic bacteria *E. coli* and *S. aureus* were inoculated into 5 mL Nutrient broth (Merck) tubes after being treated with different concentrations (0.5, 1, 3 and 6) % of silver nanoparticles of the samples 12 and 16. All the tubes were incubated for 24 hours at 37 °C with shaking except the control tubes (without AgNPs). The extraction of plasmid DNA was

carried out according to the Green and Sambrook, (2012) method.

3. Results and Discussion

Differences in physical and chemical conditions such as type of extraction, temperature, reaction period, weight of plant material and reactants concentration significantly affected the form, size and the morphology of Ag nanoparticles.

2.6. Visual observation of AgNPs

At the beginning of the reaction between *M. fragrance* extract and $AgNO_3$ solution, the reaction mixture was transparent, but over time the solution changed to light yellow and then to light brown. The chromatic change in the solution indicates the formation of AgNPs (Pirtarighat *et al.*, 2019). After about two weeks, the color of the solution turns dark brown with increasing color intensity as shown in Figure 1.

Increasing incubation time of the solution enhanced the growth of silver nanoparticle, and this result corresponds with the result of Ibrahim, 2015. Also, the presence of secondary metabolites in the plant extracts such as alkaloids and flavonoids that provide the electronic capacity of reduction Ag^+ to Ag^o as mentioned by Sharma *et al.*, 2014; Verma and Mehata, 2016; Izah *et al.*, 2018 and Khan *et al.*, 2018.



Figure1. The change in color of AgNPs solution over time after adding *M. fragrance* seeds extract to 10^{-3} M AgNO₃ (A) Left: 10^{-3} M aqueous silver nitrate. Right: AgNO₃ with *M. fragrance* seed extract forming AgNPs after two weeks. (B) Left: *M. fragrance* seeds aqueous extract 100 g/L. Right: 10^{-3} M AgNO₃ with the seed extract forming AgNPs after two months.

2.7. Characterization of AgNPs biosynthesis and the effect of reaction time on the formation of silver nanoparticles

2.7.1. UV-vis spectrophotometric analysis was carried out as first identify for AgNP formation.

Different components may contribute to the reduction of Ag ions during AgNPs biosynthesis by using plant extract. Figure 2 shows the visible spectrum of ultraviolet radiation for AgNPs obtained from the reaction of *M. fragrance* hot extract and 10^{-3} M AgNO₃ recorded 200 to 800 nm at regular intervals every two minutes. The maximum absorption observed and represented the extreme energy is 416 nm as obtained by Sharma *et al.*, 2014 and Ibrahim, 2015 showing that the synthesized of AgNPs are smaller with steady size distribution. It is noted from Figure 2 the absorption spectra due to the rapprochement of reaction time.



Figure 2. Absorption spectra of silver nanoparticales at various reaction time intervals of 10^{-3} M AgNO₃ with *M. fragrance* seed extract.

Time represents an important factor in the formation of silver nanoparticles. Figure 3 represents the absorption spectra of silver nanoparticles at 60 °C and at various reaction time intervals, every 5 min which was measured after 7 days of reaction. No visible peaks were observed.



Figure 3. Absorption spectra of AgNPs at various reaction time intervals of *M. fragrance* hot aqueous extract and 10^{-3} M AgNO₃ at 60 °C after 7 days of reaction.

Ten days after the reaction, we observe the appearance of absorption spectra of nanoparticles and for all reaction times. The UV-vis data in Figure 4 shows a distinct peak at 416 nm is observed at all times of reaction (5-30) min. The figure also shows that the peaks at all times are identical with each other and similar to the absorption spectra in Figure 1. This indicates the formation of silver nanoparticles at all reaction times, and this is consistent with the results of Song and Kim, 2009; Verma and Mehata, 2016 and Sithara *et al.*, 2017.



Figure 4. Absorption spectra of AgNPs at various reaction time intervals of *M. fragrance* hot aqueous extract and 10^{-3} M AgNO₃ at 60 °C after 15 days of reaction.

From the UV-VIS analysis, in Figure 5 that showed an increase in the absorbance with time indicating an increase in the forming of AgNPs a broad-spectrum bell-shaped curve was obtained in the range 350-550 nm. A Distinct peak at 416 nm showed a sharp surface plasmon resonance (SPR), which was specified for silver nanoparticles (Mahendran and Kumari, 2016; Owaid *et al.*, 2018 and Pirtarighat *et al.*, 2019).



Figure 5. Absorption spectra of silver nanoparticales and *M. fragrance* hot aqueous extract.

The effect of using different plant extraction methods in AgNPs synthesis

The results in figure 6 show increasing synthesis rate of AgNPs by using the hot aqueous extract of *M. fragrance*, then the boiling and cold plant extract. The extraction method may be the reason for this behavior which is due to the ionization of secondary compounds existing in aqueous extract and responsible for the reduction of silver salt to silver ions as a reducing agent, specially the essential oil and phenolic compounds found in nutmeg in large quantities (Raphael *et al.*, 2010; Enabulele *et al.*, 2014).



Figure 6 . Absorption spectra of AgNPs obtained from different aqueous extract methods for *M. fragrance* seeds with 10^{-3} M AgNO₃.

It is observed (Figure 6) that nanoparticles are formed clearly by using the three different aqueous extracts of *M. fragrance* seeds after interaction with silver salt (Sharma *et al.*, 2014; Verma and Mehata, 2016).

The effect of using different temperatures on AgNPs synthesis

The reaction mixture was exposed to different temperatures varying from 40 °C to 70 °C. The varying temperatures with the variation in absorbance of AgNPs synthesis were observed (Figure 7) indicating that temperature has altered the rate of AgNPs reaction. The highest rate of spectra value was at 60 °C then 40 °C but the lowest rate of spectra was at 50 °C and 70 °C.

The optimum temperature for AgNPs formation was recorded at 60 °C, indicating that small Ag nanoparticles are formed at this temperature (Zia *et al.*, 2016). As the temperature of reaction increased, both the rate of synthesis and the final conversion of silver nanoparticles increased (Song and Kim, 2009 and Ibrahim, 2015).



Figure 7. Absorption spectra of AgNPs prepared at different reaction temperatures of 40, 50, 60 and 70 °C.

The effect of using different plant weights on AgNPs synthesis

For complete reduction of Ag ions to silver nanoparticles, three different weights of *M. fragrance* seeds were used to prepare the hot aqueous extract then mixed separately with a fixed volume of 10^{-3} M AgNO₃. The outcome in Figure 8 shows that at high concentration of 10 g / 100 mL of hot extract led to synthesizing more silver nanoparticles better than 6 and 8 g / 100 mL (Heydari and Rashidipour, 2015), which indicates there is a direct interconnection between the extract concentration and the synthesis of silver nanoparticles.



Figure 8. Absorption spectra of AgNPs at different weights of *M. fragrance* seeds extracts and 10^{-3} M AgNO₃.

The increase in extract concentration leads to rising in the rate of secondary compounds and thus increasing the reduction of silver salt to silver ions.

The effect of using different volumes of aqueous hot broth on AgNPs synthesis

Another important variable that determines the optimal volume of the extract reacts with silver salt to produce nanoparticles. Figure 9 shows the UV-visible spectra of nanoparticales obtained from the reaction of three different quantums of *M. fragrance* seeds hot extract and 10^{-3} M AgNO₃.

When increasing the volume of seed extract to silver nitrate to the ratio 45:5, 25:25 mL, no absorption band was observed. While decreasing the volume in the reaction mixture to 5:45 mL, the absorption was observed at 416 nm, indicating the enhancement in the synthesis of silver nanoparticles (Heydari and Rashidipour, 2015).



Figure 9. Absorption spectra of AgNPs at various volumes of *M. fragrance* hot aqueous extracts and 10^{-3} M AgNO₃ (25:25, 45:5, 5:45) mL.

2.7.2. FTIR spectroscopy analysis

FTIR measurement was carried out to identify various functional groups in *M. fragrans* seed extract and predicting their role in the synthesis of Ag NPs. The FTIR spectra of nutmeg extract and AgNps is shown in Figure 10 (a), (b) and (c) showing strong and broad range peak at 3441 cm^{-1} , that assigned for OH stretching in alcohols and phenolic compounds (Sharma *et al.*, 2014 and Sivaprakash *et al.*, 2019).

Shifting to the lower frequency 3442 cm⁻¹ and 3439 cm⁻¹ for silver nanoparticles at 12 and 16 min respectively may indicate the involvement of the O-H functional group in the synthesis of nanoparticles. The absorption peak at 1627 cm⁻¹ could be assigned to the σ C=N stretching in the amide group in the seeds extract. The shift in this peak from 1627 cm⁻¹ to 1635 cm⁻¹ and 1637 cm⁻¹ of AgNps that synthesized at 12 and 16 min respectively indicates the possible involvement of amide group in *M. fragrans* seed extract in nanoparticle synthesis.

The peak at 1066 cm⁻¹ may attributed to the C-O group in crude seeds extract which shifted to 1062 cm⁻¹ and 1060 cm⁻¹ in silver nanoparticles at 12 and 16 min respectively after the reduction of silver. The FTIR results displayed that the biological molecules performed dual functions of synthesis and stabilization of AgNPs in the aqueous broth (Erjaee *et al.*, 2017; Khan *et al.*, 2018).



2.7.3. Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM) analysis

AFM analysis is used to study the surface morphology of nanoparticles (Shkryl *et al.*, 2018). AFM images can determine the size, conglomerate, and surface roughness of silver nanoparticles (Majeed *et al.*, 2015 and Fatema *et al.*, 2019). The circumstances of an experiment are highly influence nanoparticles distribution and differences in size, and capability for aggregation. Many shapes of ANPs appeared after synthesis by using the green method, like spheres, plates, rods and needles. The form of silver nanoparticles depends on the kind of plant and the concentration of plant broth, the rate of adding the plant extract and silver salt to the reaction, time of reaction, temperature, pH, etc.(Fatema *et al.*, 2019).



Figure 11. AFM topography for Ag nanoparticles (**a**) 2D & 3D AFM images of AgNPs that synthesized at 60 °C after 12 min of reaction. (**b**) Granularity distribution of AgNPs that synthesized at 60 °C after 12 min of reaction.



Figure 12. AFM topography for Ag nanoparticles (a) 2D & 3D AFM images of AgNPs that synthesized at 60 °C after 16 min of reaction. (b) Granularity distribution of AgNPs that synthesized at 60 °C after 16 min of reaction.

AFM images in Figure 11 (a) and 12 (a) show that Ag particles are in nanometer- size and granular shape. The size of silver nanoparticles were 87.71 nm and 74.55 nm for the samples taken after 12 min and 16 min of reaction as shown in Figure 11 (b) and 12 (b) respectively. The grain size rate decreasing with increasing the reaction time by increasing the silver salt reduction due to the ionization of secondary compounds as stated by AL-Azawi *et al.*, (2018).

2.8. The biological activity results

2.8.1. Antimicrobial activity of Ag NPs samples

Antibacterial activity of AgNPs samples a (12) and b (16) was studied against gram negative bacteria (*Escherichia coli, Klebsiella pneumoniae*) and gram positive bacteria (*Staphylococcus aureus, Staphylococcus epidermidis*). The results show that the size of the

nanoparticles and the kinds of bacteria under consideration have a great effect on the inhibition zone size. Figure 13 a shows that AgNPs sample (12) at the concentrations 100, 75, 50 and 25% caused the highest inhibition effect against S. epidermidis bacteria, and these results are compatible with the results of Netala, et al., (2014) while the lowest inhibition effect for silver nanoparticles in all concentrations was against S. aureus. Both E. coli and K. pneumoniae bacteria achieved almost the same inhibition zone against using the nanoparticles in all its concentrations. Figure 13 b displays AgNPs sample 16 at 100% concentration exhibiting the highest inhibition effect against E. coli bacteria, and this is consistent with the results of Paul and Sinha, (2014). While S. epidermidis bacteria showed the highest inhibition zone when treated with silver nanoparticles at the concentrations 75, 50, and 25%, then E. coli bacteria at the same concentrations. While K. pneumoniae and S. aureus resulted in the same inhibition effect when tested in the presence of AgNPs sample 16 in all the concentrations.



Figure 13. The effect of Ag NPs samples a (12) and b (16) on biological activity of pathogenic bacteria by using different concentrations (1) 100%, (2) 75%, (3) 50%, (4) 25% from silver nanoparticles.

2.8.2. Estimation of AgNPs effect on the biofilm formation inhibition by pathogenic bacteria

The influence of Ag nanoparticles on biofilm formation inhibition was clear for gram negative and positive pathogenic bacteria. The results confirm that there was an inverse relationship between the concentration of nanomaterials and the inhibitory effect of biofilm formation.

The lower the silver concentration, the more inhibiting effect on bacteria biofilm formation. The results also

proved that the lowest size of Ag nanoparticles sample (b) 16 (74.55) nm had a better inhibition effect on all bacterial strains than Ag nanoparticles sample (a) 12 (87.71) nm. It was observed that the highest effect of the biofilm inhibition for both nanoparticle samples 12 and 16 belonged to *K. pneumoniae* as shown in Figure 14.



Figure 14. The effect of AgNPs samples a (12) and b (16) on inhibition of biofilm formation by pathogenic bacteria using different concentrations (1) (control) normal growth of pathogenic bacteria without AgNPs (2) 100%, (3) 75%, (4) 50%, (5) 25% from silver nanoparticles.

Both *E. coli* and *S. aureus* exhibited a convergent inhibition effect, while *S. epidermidis* bacteria showed the lowest inhibition effect compared with the control. AgNPs at the concentration 25% achieved the highest inhibition effect to biofilm formation among all the pathogenic bacteria, while the concentration 100% showed the lowest inhibition effect to biofilm formation among all pathogenic bacteria.

The best inhibiting biofilm effect of *K. pneumoniae* bacteria by using AgNPs was at the concentrations 25, 50, 75 and 100% respectively compared with the control while *S. epidermidis* showed less inhibition effect to biofilm formation at all the concentrations of AgNPs. The effect of AgNPs on Gram negative bacteria was better than the effect on Gram-positive bacteria. The mechanism of AgNPs activity occurs due to the correlation of AgNPs to the bacteria cell wall and then generating the free radicals (Pirtarighat *et al.*, 2019). Silver nanoparticles bind to the cell membrane, forming pores that increase membrane permeability and cause cell death (Netala *et al.*, 2014; Verma and Mehata, 2016 and Pirtarighat *et al.*, 2019).

2.8.3. Estimation the effect of AgNPs on plasmid curing of pathogenic bacteria

The AgNPs samples (12 and 16) displayed a clear inhibition effect on both Gram positive and negative bacteria as antiplasmid DNA activity shown in Figure 15.

S. aureus bacteria exhibited the highest inhibition effect for the entire concentrations (0.5, 1, 3 and 6) % for both samples 12 and 16 of silver nanoparticles compared with the control. E. coli bacteria followed the same behavior after being treated with the AgNPs samples 12 and 16 in all concentrations except 0.5% from sample 12 which displayed less effect as anti plasmid.



Figure 15. Agarose gel electrophoresis profile of plasmid DNA for *E. coli* and *S. aureus* bacteria after being treated with different concentrations (0.5, 1, 3 and 6) % from 12 and 16 samples of AgNPS, left: *E. coli* bacteria, right: *S. aureus* bacteria.

The results also proved that the lowest size of Ag nanoparticles sample (b) 16 (74.55) nm caused a better inhibitory effect as antiplasmid on pathogenic bacteria strains than Ag nanoparticles sample (a) 12 (87.71) nm.

3. Conclusion

The green synthesis of nanoparticles by using a green reduction agent is an ecofriendly, cheap, and effective method. In this study, AgNPs nanoparticles were synthesized by using the hot aqueous extract of *M. fragrance*. The chromatic change in the solution confirmed the formation of silver nanoparticles.

UV-vis spectra displayed a special peak for silver at 416 nm which was conformable to the surface plasmon peak of Ag nanoparticles; in addition, formation of silver nanoparticles occurred at all reaction times. The use of hot aqueous extract of *M. fragrance* increased the synthesis rate of Ag nanoparticles, especially after using 10 g / 100 mL from plant seeds to prepare the hot aqueous extract. The convenient temperature for AgNPs formation was

60 °C, which indicates that a small Ag nanoparticle was formed at this temperature. While the optimal volume of the extract that reacts with silver salt to produce nanoparticles was 5:45 ml.

The FTIR results showed that the biological molecules are forming dual functions of synthesis and stabilization of AgNPs in the aqueous broth. AFM images prove that Ag particles were nanometer-size and had a granular shape.

The grain size rate decreased with increasing the time of reaction, the size of silver nanoparticle was 74.55 nm for the sample taken after 16 min of the reaction. The Ag nanoparticles in the samples 12 and 16 in all concentrations showed the highest inhibition effect as antibacterial against *S. epidermidis* bacteria.

The influence of Ag nanoparticles on biofilm formation inhibition showed that the lowest size of AgNPs sample 16 (74.55) nm caused a better inhibition effect on all bacterial strains, while the highest effect of the biofilm inhibition for both nanoparticle samples 12 and 16 belonged to *K. pneumoniae*. The results proved that the lowest size of Ag nanoparticles sample (b) 16 (74.55) nm had a better inhibitory effect as anti plasmid on *S. aureus* bacteria strains than Ag nanoparticles sample (a) 12 (87.71) nm.

Acknowledgement

The authors acknowledge the Postgraduate Laboratory staff, Department of Biology, and College of Science at the University of Baghdad.

References

Ahmed S, Ahmad M, Swami BL and Ikram S. 2016. A review on plants extract mediated synthesis of silver nanoparticles for antibacterial application: A green expertise. *J Adv Res.*, **7**: 17-28.

AL-Azawi MT, Hadi SM and Mohammed CH. 2018. Ag-SiO₂ nanoparticales prepared by Sol-Gel methods for antibacterial effect. *Iraqi J Physics.*, **16**: 135-151.

AL-Azawi MT, Hadi SM and Mohammed CH. 2019. Synthesis of silica nanoparticles via green approach by using hot aqueous extract of thuja orientalis leaf and their effect on biofilm formation. *Iraqi J Agric Sci.*, **50**:245-255.

Banerjee P, Satapathy M, Mukhopahayay A and Das P. 2014. Leaf extract mediated green synthesis of silver nanoparticles from widely available Indian plants: synthesis, characterization, antimicrobial property and toxicity analysis. *Bioresources Bioprocessing.*, **1**: 1-10.

Bindu NHS and Kumar SR. 2013. In-Vitro assimilation of trimyristin in the seeds of *Myristica fragrans* and in poly herbal ayurvedic formulation by ufle method. *Asian J Pharm Clin Res.*, **6**: 140-145.

Carapeto AP, Ferraria AM and Botelho AM. 2019. Silver nanoparticles on cellulose surfaces: quantitative measurements. *Nanomaterials.*, **9**:780-788.

Carrillo-López LM, Soto-Hernández RM, Zavaleta-Mancera HA and Vilchis-Néstor AR. 2016. Study of the performance of the organic extracts of chenopodium ambrosioides for Ag nanoparticle synthesis. *J Nanomater.*, **2016**: 1-13.

Christensen GD, Simpson WA and Younger JA. 1995. Adherence of coagulase negative Staphylococci to plastic tissue cultures: a quantitative model for the adherence of Staphylococci to medical devices. *Clin Microbiol.*, **22**: 996-1006.

Enabulele SA, Oboh FOJ and Uwadiae EO. 2014. Antimicrobial, nutritional and phytochemical properties of *Monodora Myristica* seeds. *IOSR J Pharm Biol Sci.*, **9**: 01-06.

Erjaee H, Rajaian H and Nazifi S. 2017. Synthesis and characterization of novel silver nanoparticles using Chamaemelum nobile extract for antibacterial application. *Adv Nat Sci: Nanosci Nanotech.*, **8**:1-9.

Fatema S, Shirsat M, Farooqui M and Arif PM. 2019. Biosynthesis of silver nanoparticle using aqueous extract of *Saraca asoca* leaves, its characterization and antimicrobial activity. *Int J Nano Dimens.*, **10**:163-168.

Green MR and Sambrook J. 2012. **Molecular Cloning**, fourth ed. Cold Spring Harbor, New York.

Gupta AD, Bansal VK, Babu V and Maithil N. 2013. Chemistry, antioxidant and antimicrobial potential of nutmeg (*Myristica fragrans* Houtt). J Genet Eng Biotech., **11**: 25-31.

Henríquez LC, Aguilar KA, Álvarez JU, Fernández LV, Oca-Vásquez GM and Baudrit JR. 2020. Green synthesis of gold and silver nanoparticles from plant extracts and their possible applications as antimicrobial agents in the agricultural area. *Nanomaterials.*, **1763**: 2-24.

Heydaril R and Rashidipour M. 2015. Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using extract of oak fruit hull (Jaft): synthesis and in vitro cytotoxic effect on MCF-7 cells. *Int J Breast Cancer.*, **2015**: 1-6.

Ibrahim HM. 2015. Green synthesis and characterization of silver nanoparticles using banana peel extract and their antibacterial activity against representative microorganisms. *J Radiat Res App Sci.*, **8**: 265-275.

Izah SC, Zige DV, Alagoa KJ, Uhunmwangho EJ and Iyamu AO. 2018. *EC Pharmacol Toxicol.*, **64**: 291-295.

Jain S and Mehata MS. 2017. Medicinal plant leaf extract and pure flavonoid mediated green synthesis of silver nanoparticles and their enhanced antibacterial property. *Sci Rep.*, **7**: 1-13.

Kambale EK, Nkanga CI, Mutonkole BI, Bapolisi AM, Tassa DO, Liesse JI, Krause RWM and Memvanga PB. 2020. Green synthesis of antimicrobial silver nanoparticles using aqueous leaf extracts from three Congolese plant species (*Brillantaisia patula*, *Crossopteryx febrifuga* and *Senna siamea*). *Heliyon.*, **4493**: 1-9.

Karoutsos V. 2009. Scanning probe microscopy: instrumentation and applications on thin films and magnetic multilayers. *J Nanosci Nanotech.*, **9**: 6783–6798.

Khan MZH, Tareq K, Hossen MA and Roki MN. 2018. Green synthesis and characterization of silver nanoparticles using *Coriandrum sativum* leaf extract. *J Eng Sci Tech.*, **13(1)**: 158 – 166.

Khan SU, Saleh TA, Wahab A, Khan MHU, Khan D, Khan WU, Rahim A, Kamal S, Khan FU and Fahad S. 2018. Nanosilver: new ageless and versatile biomedical therapeutic scaffold. *Int J Nanomed.*, **13**: 733-762.

Khatoon N, Mazumder JH and Sardar M. 2017. Biotechnological applications of green synthesized silver nanoparticles. *J Nanosci Curr Res.*, **2**: 1-6.

Kuppusamy P, Yusoff MM, Maniam GP and Govindan N. 2016. Biosynthesis of metallic nanoparticles using plant derivatives and their new avenues in pharmacological applications – an updated report. *Saudi Pharm J.*, **24**: 473-484.

Liao C, Li Y and Tjong SC. 2019. Bactericidal and cytotoxic properties of silver nanoparticles. *Int j Mol Sci.*, **20**: 449-496.

Mahendran G and Kumari BDR. 2016. Biological activities of silver nanoparticles from *Nothapodytes nimmoniana* (Graham) Mabb. Fruit extracts. *Food Sci Human Wellness.*, **5**: 207-218.

Majeed S, Abdullah MS, Dash GK and Nanda A. 2015. Facile and green synthesis of silver nanoparticles from *Penicillium italicum* and its antimicrobial property in combination with Sparfloxacin. *J Chem Pharma Res.*, **7**: 27-33.

Netala VR, Kotakadi VS, Nagam V, Bobbu P, Ghosh SB and Tartte V. 2014. First report of biomimetic synthesis of silver nanoparticles using aqueous callus extract of *Centella asiatica* and their antimicrobial activity. *Appl Nanosci.*, DOI 10.1007/s13204-014-0374-6.

Owaid MN, Muslim RF and Hamad HA. 2018. Mycosynthesis of silver nanoparticles using *Terminia sp.* desert truffle, pezizaceae, and their antibacterial activity. *Jordan J Bio Sci.*, **11**(4): 401-405.

Paul D and Sinha SN. 2014. Extracellular synthesis of silver Nanoparticles using *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* KUPSB12 and its antibacterial activity. *Jordan J Bio Sci.*, **7**:245-250.

Pirtarighat S, Ghannadnia M and Baghshahi S. 2019. Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using the plant extract of *Salvia spinosa* grown in vitro and their antibacterial activity assessment. *J Nan Chem.*, **9**: 1-9.

Raphael EC, Gideon OL and Perpetua NU. 2010. Biochemical characteristics of the african nutmeg *Mondora myrisyica*. *Agric J.*, **5**: 303-308.

Sánchez E, Morales CR, Castillo S, Rivas CL, Becerra LG and Martínez DMO. 2016. Antibacterial and antibiofilm activity of methanolic plant extracts against nosocomial microorganisms. *Evidence-Based Complement and Alternat Med.*, **2016**: 1-8.

Saxena, R. and Patil, P., 2012. Phytochemical studies on *Myristica* fragrance essential oil. Biological Forum – An Int J., 4: 62-64.

Shanan ZJ, Hadi SM and Shanshool SK., 2018. Structural analysis of chemical and green synthesis of CuO nanoparticles and their effect on biofilm formation. *Baghdad Sci J.*, **15**:211-216.

Sharma G, Sharma AR, Kurian M, Bhavesh R, Nam JS and Lee SS. 2014. Green synthesis of silver nanoparticle using *Myristica fragrans* (nutmeg) seed extract and its biological activity. *Digest J Nan Biostructures.*, **9**: 325-332.

Shkryl YN, Veremeichik GN, Kamenev DG, Gorpenchenko TY, Yugay YA, Mashtalyar DV, Nepomnyaschiy AV, Avramenko TV, Karabtsov AA, Ivanov VV, Bulgakov VP, Gnedenkov SV, Kulchin YN and Zhuravlev YN. 2018. Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using transgenic Nicotiana tabacum callus culture expressing silicatein gene from marine sponge *Latrunculia oparinae*. Artificial Cells, *Nanomed Biotech.*, **46**: 1646–1658.

Sithara R, Selvakumar P, Arun C, Anandan S and Sivashanmugam P. 2017. Economical synthesis of silver nanoparticles using leaf extract of *Acalypha hispida* and its application in the detection of Mn(II) ions. *J Adv Res.*, **8**: 561-568.

Sivaprakash G, Mohanrasu K, Ravindran B, Chung WJ, AL Farraj DA, Elshikh DS, AL Khulaifi MM, ALKufeidy RM and Arun A. 2019. Integrated approach: Al2O3-CaO Nanocatalytic biodiesel production and antibacterial potential silver nanoparticle synthesis from *Pedalium murex* extract. *J of King Saud University – Sci.*, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jksus.2019.12.004.

Song JY and Kim BS. 2009. Rapid biological synthesis of silver nanoparticles using plant leaf extracts. *Bioprocess Biosyst Eng.*, **32**:79–84.

Verma A and Mehata MS. 2016. Controllable synthesis of silver nanoparticles using Neem leaves and its microbial activity. *J Rad Res App Sci.*, **9**: 109-115.

Zhang C, Liang Z and Hu Z. 2014. Bacterial response to a continuous long-term of silver nanoparticles at sub-ppm silver concentrations in a membrane bioreactor activated sludge system. *Water Res.*, **50**: 350-358.

Zia F, Ghafoor N, Iqbal M and Mehboob S. 2016. Green synthesis and characterization of silver nanoparticles using *Cydonia oblong* seed extract. *Appl. Nanosci.*, **6**: 1023-1029.

Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences						
ឆ្លី 🖞 An International Peer — Reviewed Research Journal	1905					
Published by the Deanship of Scientific Research, The Hashemite University, Zarqa, Jordan						
Name:						
Specialty:	التخصص:					
Address:	العنوان:					
P.O. Box:	صندوق البريد:					
City &Postal Code:	المدينة: الرمز البريدي:					
Country:	الدولة:					
Phone:	رقم الهاتف					
Fax No.:	رقم الفاكس:					
E-mail:	البريد الإلكتروني:					
Method of payment:	طريقة الدفع:					
Amount Enclosed:	المبلغ المرفق:					
Signature:	التوقيع:					
Cheque should be paid to Deanship of Research and Graduate St	idies – The Hashemite University.					
I would like to subscribe to the Journal	One Year Subscription Rates					
For	Inside Jordan Outside Jordan Individuals JD10 \$70					
\Box One year \Box Two years	Students JD5 \$35					
□ Three years	Institutions JD 20 \$90					
Correspondence						
Subscriptions and sales:						
The Hashemite University P.O. Box 330127-Zarqa 13115 – Jordan Telephone: 00 962 5 3903333 Fax no. : 0096253903349 E. mail: jjbs@hu.edu.jo						

المجلة الأردنية للعلوم الحياتية Jordan Journal of Biological Sciences (JJBS) http://jjbs.hu.edu.jo

المجلة الأردنية للعلوم الحياتية: مجلة علمية عالمية محكمة ومفهرسة ومصنفة، تصدر عن الجامعة الهاشمية وبدعم من صندوق دعم البحث العلمي والإبتكار – وزراة التعليم العالي والبحث العلمي.

هيئة التحرير

رئيس التحرير الأستاذ الدكتورة منار فايز عتوم الجامعة الهاشمية، الزرقاء، الأردن

الأعضاء

الأستاذ الدكتور خالد محد خليفات جامعة مؤتة الأستاذ الدكتورة طارق حسن النجار الجامعة الأرينية / العقبة الاستاذ الدكتور عبد اللطيف علي الغزاوي الجامعة الهاشمية

مساعد رئيس التحرير

الدكتور مهند عليان مساعدة الجامعة الهاشمية، الزرقاء، الأردن

الاستاذ الدكتور ليث ناصر العيطان جامعة العلوم و التكنولوجيا الأرينية

الأستاذ الدكتور وسام محمد هادي الخطيب *الجامعة اليرموك*

> الاستاذ الدكتور نضال احمد عودات جامعة البلقاء التطبيقية

فريق الدعم:

<u>المحرر اللغوي</u> الدكتور شادي نعامنة

تنفيذ وإخراج

م. مهند عقده

ترسل البحوث الى العنوان التالى: رئيس تحرير المجلة الأردنية للعلوم الحياتية الجامعة الهاشمية ص.ب, 330127 , الزرقاء, 13115 , الأردن هاتف: 0096253903333

E-mail: jjbs@hu.edu.jo, Website: www.jjbs.hu.edu.jo









للعلوم الحياتية

تمكيم قيمالذ قيملذ قليم

تحدر بدعم من حندوق دعم البديم العلمي و الابتكار



http://jjbs.hu.edu.jo/